Friends Not Masters

A POLITICAL AUTOBIOGRAPHY

MOHAMMAD AYUB KHAN

PRESIDENT OF PAKISTAN

‘Peaple in developing countries seck assistance,
but on the basis of mutual respect; they want

to have friends not masters.’



DEDICATED
TQ THOSE WHO HAVE WORKED FOR THE BUILDING OF

PAKISTAN
AS A PROGRESSIVE AND MODERN STATE
AND TO
THOSE WHO HAVE DEFENDED IT
WITH SUCH DISTINGTION



A
In the name of Allah,
the Beneficent, the Merciful.

P Y IR e VS S WA VRN AT | Y
Surely Allah changes not the condition of a people, until they change
their own condition.



PREFACE

This is essentially a spoken book. After I had defined the broad scope
and outlines of the book I asked some friends to prepare questions on the
theme of different chapters. The question-and-answer sessions began
in June 1964 and continued till the end of the year. The tape-recordings
of these sessions came to nearly thirty hours and the transcript covered
more than goo pages. I got the transcript some time in 1g65. Since then
1 have been going over it and revising it from time to time.

It is not customary for a2 man in office to write his life story. Apart
from the limitations imposed by the consciousness of responsibility
there is always the danger that any suggestion of success would be inter-
preted as an attempt at image-building. Let me say, therefore, that the
credit for whatever may have been achieved in terms of political stability
or economic development should go to those who were associated with
me in the implementation of various reforms. I may have presented
new ideas but these were refined and put into execution by my col-
leagues in Government and by able and dedicated men in the Services.
Above all, the willing support and co-operation of the people of Pakistan
helped to lift the nation from_the social and political ss. of the
fiftes to its present Jevel of prosperity and growth.

The narrative covers cvents up to the Presidential Elections in 1963,
though there are references to later events particularly in the chapter
relating to Foreign Affairs. While revising the manuscript I made use of
my notes and other documents but situations and conversations have
been largely reconstructed from memory. There may be some errors in
my recollection of chronological and other details but these should not
affect the line of argument.

I undertook this exercise without quite realizing how Jlong and
arduous it was going to be. I also did not know that the people I had
chosen for preparing and asking the questions would prove so persistent.
Still, it has been a refreshing and rewarding job. I have tried, as dis-
passionately as possible, to revaluate the past and interpret significant
developments which have infiuenced the history of Pakistan. This
history is still in the making but I think it bas taken a positive direction
and a stage has been reached from where one can laok back and see an
integrated picture. I hope this account explains the process through
swhich T evolved some of my ideas and will help towards a better under-
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standing of what I have attempted to do since becoming the President
of Pakistan.

I have tried to keep the nmarrative candid and objective, concen-
trating on problems and events rather than on personalities. Here and
there I have had to give my impressions and assessment of certain people
who were at the helm of affairs before the Revolution. Whatever I have
said is intended to substantiate my interpretation of political situations
and not to hurt the feelings of any individual, and I hope it will be read
in that spirit.

It is a story of struggle—struggle to get new ideas accepted. Who-
ever presumes to act as a pioneer in the field of ideas must be prepared
to face criticism and resistance. I have had a good deal of both. But my
conviction of the need and validity of the changes which I have tried to
bring about in the social and political life of the country remains as
fervent and unfaltering as ever. We gained freedom after a long period
of domination which left in its wake a legacy of old attitudes and habits.
The problem was to change these attitudes and habits and to bring
about a more direct and intimate awareness of contemporary realities.
I venture to think we have made progress in many fields. I have not
hesitated to admit failures. Progress is a long and tortuous process, full
of trials and errors,

1 have viewed problems as a Pakistani, a Muslim, and an Asian.
Pakistan is my passion, my life. A look of happiness on the faces of
people thrills and sustains me. Just as a shade of anxicty in their eyes
causes me anguish. I have woken up from sleep to sec whether the
sound on the window panes is of the long-awaited rain. I fecl parched
inside when I sce a drought-stricken field. The soil of Pakistan fascinates
me, for it is my soil, I belong toit.

Every moment of my life I have dedicated to theservice of my people,
never for a moment yielding to any pressure or disappointment.
Pakistan has to establish a distinct national identity of her own in
moral, social, intellectual, and political terms and all my endeavours
have been devoted to this objective. While we may learn from the ex-
perience of others, we have to work out our own solutions and our own
sifvation. I have always pursued the possible in a2 pragmatic and

“iﬁ’(?ﬂ?:—r:ﬁananncr, conscious of the limitations inherent in our situation.
And I have never introduced emotion in the presentation of problems
10 Ty people. We have a weakness for the dramatic and the sensational
mﬁéﬁ'ﬁ?\"to avoid. Too often we mistake the emotional for the ideal.
For us, the ideal should be to develop a rational approach to life. We
cannot allow our vision to be clouded by memories of past glory. It is
the present, with all its complexities, on which we must conccn(ntc,
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and it is the future, with all its promise, for which we must work. Our
present destiny-isto-move from crisis to crisis. For us there can be no
Test or relaxation. T
—-"*Intcmally, the major problem for us has been to establish political
institutions and stable instruments of government. These institutions
and instruments had to be fashioned according to our own thinking,
temperament, and needs. The process has not been easy. In the carlier
years, the whole approach was on a personal basis and problems were
rarely seen in the broad national perspective, This, inevitably, re-
tarded progress. The political system which we inherited had no
relevance to our conditions, Lhe result was that the system was misused
and exploited to serve limited interests. It nceded a revolution to replace
the system by one which reflected the traditions of the people and
responded to their aspirations.

I cannot claim that the new system has found universal acceptance,
but it has taken roots and people are beginning to recognize its ad-
vantages. We have yet to develop a strong sense of nationalism, which
means rising above the personal aud the parochial and evolving a
“Fiature mode of dealing With the problems of the couniry.

AS a Muslim my sole anxiety has been to unite the people of
Pakistan in the light of their faith and ideology. This ideology I under-
stand in terms of certain_immutable principles: the unity of God,
equality and brotherhood of Man, pro gress to hugher levels of existence,
and adherence to the fundamentals of 1 Islarn. Our society is torn by a
number of schisms; the most Jundamental is the one which scparatces the
cducated classes from the traditional groups. It is vital that under-
standing and communication between these two sections should be
restored. This can come about through a proper interpretation of
Islamic principles and their application to the present-day problems.
Unless this happens the gulf will grow which may eventually isolate
the traditional groups from the modern educated classes and alicnate
the Iatter from Islam.

In dealing with world affairs, I have viewed problems as an Asian.
It is within the Asian community that we have to establish for ourselves
a permancnt place of respect and strength. This is what our national
intcrests demand. And this is why we continue to work for peace and
stability in this part of the world. We have been able to establish normal
relations with our neighbours (with the unfortunate exception of India)
while maintaining our traditional contacts with western powers,
particularly with the United States of America. In this matter our
thinking has been guided as much by our own interests as by the limita-
tions of our political and cconomic resources. We are dedicated to
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peace because peace alone will give us the time which we need for our
development. Our endeavour is to remain out of the orbit of major
power conflicts. This we can achieve only through honest and straight-
forward dealings with others.

A number of fateful events have taken place since 1g65. I have not
dealt with them in this volume because some of the events are too much
a part of the present to permit a dispassionate interpretation at this
time. I hope I shall be able to deal with them on some fature occasion.

I am grateful for the assistance which I have received in the pre-
paration of this book from various people. I must alse acknowledge the
kindness of the Government of Pakistan in the Ministry of Foreign
Affairs and the Cabinet Division in permitting me to make usc of
official documents in order to complete some of the details,

FreLp MarsHaL Mowmammap Avus Kaax
RawarLpmvpr
28 February 1967
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Youth

People have often asked me to write about my life. How does one do
that while in the thick of it? Then there is an element of demonstration
in writing for public consumption, which is alien to my nature. All my
life, whatever I have done in response to the call of duty, I have done
silently and quietly, not even keeping a regular diary of my experiences.

I have been associated closely with the government since 1951 when
I became Commander-in-Chief of the Pakistan Army and I have been
responsible for running the government since the Revolution in October
1958. Many things have happened during this period, both good.and
bad, and it might be useful to re-state them. The problem has been to
find time to revaluate the past. This was resolved by a period of forced
leisure when I was convalescing in Murree after an operation in June
1964.

iifc for me has always been busy, crowded with events. One of the
few spells of inactivity that I can remember is an hour that I spent
sitting, all by mysclf, one evening in the compound of 2 rest house in
Cox’s Bazar. I sat still, absorbing the silence around me. In the distance
the sca-waves noisclessly rolled over the soft shores of the Bay of Bengal
and for 2 moment the tumult of life subsided. Apart from a few such
brief experiences, life has been a relentless pressure of duty.

I was born in the village of Rehana on 14 May 1907. It was the day
before some popular festival and the whole family was preparing to
celebrate it. My father had had four children by his first wife,
who died, and I was the first child by his second wife. Rehana is a
picturesque little village about fifty miles north of Rawalpindi in West
Pakistan, It is surrounded by an undulating range of fow hills, with the
pine-covered slopes of the Himalayas in the distance. My forefathers
settled in this area after emigrating from Afghanistan.

One of my earliest memories is of a bird which uscd to call at day-
break. It was the signal to go to school, which meant getting pulled out
of bed, a hurried wash, and a four-mile ride on the back of a mule. Even
now, whenever I hear this bird T get restless.
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My mother was a simple woman who spent all her life in the village.
She continued to live in our modest ancesiral home 4ll her death, doing
whatever she could do to help the village folk. She was a strong-willed
person and remained mentally alert till the last. I remember the birth
of my youngest brother, I was then about two and a half years old, I
saw this child lying by the side of my mother. I seized a stick and wanted
to beat him. I was taken away. It was a great torture secing another
child sleeping by the side of my mother and it took me a long time to
get over that feeling. I remember it vividly to this day.

While 1 was deeply attached to my mother, it was my father who
had the greatest influence of all on my character, outlook, and attitude
towards life, He was a Risaldar Major in Hodson’s Horse. Physically
he was a powerful man; his presence in the village would inspire awe
and respect. But I remember him as a friend, extremely gentle, pious,
and affectionate. He had a sensitive and understanding mind and 1
always found great mental satisfaction in his commpany, He had a vague
but strong sense of Muslim nationalism. I remember on one occasion
in 1919 or 1920 an &’lim (religious scholar) from Mansehra came to
him and said: ‘India is darul harb, The rulers of this part of the world
are kafirs (non-believers), we should therefore migrate from here.” My
father said: ‘Maulvi Sahib, my only desire is to die under the flag of
Islam but where is that flag? There is no Muslim country today which
is free. They are all dominated by colonial powers.’

My father was a deeply religious man. He never missed his prayers
and would say his fahafjud regularly. I remember once waking up in the
middle of the night. I could feel his tall figure standing by my bed, his
head bowed in prayer. I knew he was praying for me but I did not str
in my bed lest I should disturb him.

1t was from my father that I learnt most of my family history. We
belong to the Tarin tribe which ruled over parts of Hazara and Camp-
bellpur districts and was involved in a long and bitter struggle against
the Sikhs and the British. The people of this tribe came from Pishin
{now in Baluchistan) which was originally 2 patt of the Afghan Empire.

I would be fascinated to know more about the life story of onc of
our ancestors, Sardar Mohammad Khan Tarin. He was a man of in-
domitable courage and had great strength of character. He was the
cldest son of Sardar Najibullah Khan Tarin and became ruler of the
State and settled in Guidheri, The local tribes, Guijars, Dalazaks,
Jodoons, and Utmanzais, gave him a Iot of trouble but he established
his control over them by crushing their revolts. In the carly decades
of the nincteenth century he faced 2 number of Sikh invasions. In 1822
Hari Singh Nalva, the Sikh Governor of Kashmir, entered Hazara to
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defeat the Tarin Sardar, but failed in his attermpt. This failure infuri-
ated Maharaja Ranjit Singh who himself invaded Hazara with a large
force. Sardar Mohammad Khan was captured and taken to Lahore.
Harl Singh purchased him for fifty thousand rupees and brought him
to Rewat in Rawalpindi district. Hari Singh wanted him to accept the
Sikh rule in his area. This was not acceptable to Sardar Mohammad
Khan, so he was thrown into a dried-up well. He was fed on salted
bread and was given no water to drink: he died of thirst and starvation,
but refused to yield to the Sikhs.

Later, when the British tried to oceupy Hazara district, our people
resisted them too. The head of the family and his associates were
arrcsted and taken to the Allahabad Fort. I saw their graves in 1926.
The head of the family, I was told, was blown off the mouth of a gun,
while the others were subjected to great torture,

My father had a large family, and the income from his army pension
and the land was limited. But he was determined that I should get a
proper cducation. More than that, he was anxious for me to have
a grounding in Islam and Muslim thought. He wanted me to become a
Hafizee-Quran. The village Maulvi was chosen for this purpose. There
was great excitement in the house the first day I was sent to the mosque
to learn the Qur’an. I was then four vears four months and four days
old. Sweets were distributed and I was placed under the charge of the
Maulvi. The experiment was not much of a success. Whatever part of
the Qur’an I was able to memorize during the two or three months 1
spent with the Maulvi was based on an incorrect pronunciation. The
Maulvi did not like me very much because I wanted to know the
meaning of what I was being taught. On one such occasion he slapped
me and I slapped him back. My response was not in the best of taste
and it brought our brief association to an abrupt end.

I was then sent off to another village called Koka about two miles
away. In Koka there was another Maulvi Sahib, a revered old man,
who inspired in me great respect and also great fear. I studied under
him for a while and managed to learn as much of the Qur’an as a child
of my age could do. By then my father had decided that whatever else
I might make I was unlikely to become a Hafiz-e-Qur’an.

The family decided that it was time for me to go to a regular school.
T was admitted to a school in Sarai Saleh which was four miles from
our house. It was a tough routine to be woken up day after day and to
be placed on the back of a mule early in the moraing. My mother used
to put my primer and other school books, along with what she called
my ‘ration’, in a bag. It was a beautiful winding road but the pranks
of the mule gave me little opportunity to appreciate the vast stretching

rML—2
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fields and the soft clouds nestling in the hills. I would get back home by
about three o’clock in the afternoon, hungry and tired, Fortunately my
grandmother persuaded my father to move me to a school in Haripur
and let me live with her in Darvesh, which was close to the school.

I was not a very bright student, nor did I find studies a particularly
absorbing occupation. I loved outdoor life. A relative of mine kept
hawks and dogs and that was excuse enough for me to slip away from
school to look after his hawks. The result was that I failed in my tests
in the sixth class when I was eleven years old, My father discovered
what had been going on and gave me a sound thrashing, after which it
became easier to attend to my studies. I managed to complete my
schooling with a good second division and without much effort. I was
not too good at mathematics or geometry; algebra was the thing I
understood better, and I enjoyed geography, English, Persian, and
Urdu. There was no provision for games at the school but I found
enough diversion in kabaddi, gulli dands, and marbles. Later I lcarnt
to play hockey.

Riding, however, was in my blood and the early morning mule rides
provided all the training that I required. In those days the Army would
buy young horses from zamindars and my father kept a string of them.
One day when I was eight or nine years old I took a polo pony, without
my father’s permission, and rode it to a near-by village to sec my sister.
That part of the world is rather rugged along the foothills. As I was
coming back downhill, all of 2 sudden a bird fluttered out of a bush.
The horse took fright and reared. As I fell off my left foot was caughtin
the stirrup and I was dragged for quitc a distance through thorny
bushes. Luckily, the clip in the stirrup straightened, the stirup came
out, and my foot was freed. I lay on the ground unconscious for several
hours. When the horse got home, rideriess and with a stirrup missing, a
search was organized and I was recovered from the bushes, still un-
conscious. Had I been dragged for a few more minutes I would have
been killed. My bones were intact but my back was badly bruised and
for the next six months I had to slecp on my chest.

On the whole I found school life quite enjoyable. The school was
run by the Sikhs and the teachers were very kindly and considerate,
except for Master Sujhan Singh who was a tartar, He did not need much
excuse or provocation to beat up the wholc class, including the monitor,
a position to which I was often elevated. Whenever anything went
wrong it was the monitor who was the first to be punished for it. 1
remember a cold rainy day when Master Sujhan Singh did not turn up.
We hoped to God he was dead. I was deputed by the class to go and find
out what had happened. I found the Master surveying the debris
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of his house, which had collapsed under the rain, looking as alive as ever
but a trifle disconcerted. I conveyed to him the concern of the class and
suggested that we should all come and help him rebuild the house.
He brusquely turned down the offer and asked me to go back to school,
which I did, anxious to communicate the good news to my companions
without loss of time. He could not attend the school for a fortnight and
we found that a great relief.

The Sikhs were large-hearted people. I found their rituals and their
songs in Punjabi absorbing. I still remember a line which fascinated me
at that time:

vl u‘:-r: S s <l Ly >

—life is 2 great spectacle of colours; one sees so much of it and yet one
has an insatiable desire for more. I learnt something very important at
school. It was that I should never judge a man by his locality, colour, or
vintage. All my life I have been unconscious of these considerations. It
has been an article of faith with me that a man should be judged on
merit., On one occasion, much later, I had to tell one of my own
brothers, who was 2 Major in the army and had committed a serious
irregularity, thathe must either resign or face 2 court martial. Heresigned.

While I was still at school my father would ask me, “Would you like
to go to Aligarh ?’ I hardly knew what Aligarh meant or where it was.
He explained to me that it was a famous Muslim college, in the United
Provinces, beyond Delhi. It was an Islamic institution and it had been
cstablished by the Muslims at great cost. He wanted me to go to Ali-
garh so that I could learn to feel like a Muslim. As soon as he heard
that I had passed my matriculation examination, in 1922, he told me
to go to Aligarh. He was in such a hurry that he sent me 2 month before
the university opened.

When I arrived in Aligarh, with a servant, I found a group of four
empty hostels, called Minto Circle, set in a very isolated area. It was
almost a jungle and for company, apart from some chowkidars (watch-
men), we had only jackals, pye dogs, and wild animals. We inquired of
a ckowkidar where we could get a couple of ¢harpoys (beds). The chow-
kidar opened one of the rooms and we found a lot of ckargays, none of
which had any adraans {the string which holds the woven bed taut to
the frame). The chowkidar explained that when the boys Ieave they take
out the edreans to tie up their luggage. So we had to sleep on those
ckarpoys with our legs hanging down. We lived there virtually alone and
we had to travel quite a distance every day to get food. My servant
suggested that we return home as the university was not due to open for
another month. I would have liked to do that but I did not have the
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courage to face the old man and convince him that I had not run away
from Aligarh. ‘No, sir, I cannot go back!” So I stayed on till the uni-
versity opened and, as time passed, I began to develop a great affection
for the people and the institution.

Aligarh was unique in many respects. I found there boys from all
parts of India, Iran, and the African countries. They were drawn from
widely differing social backgrounds and they spoke different dialects
and languages; but they all had to leamn to adjust themselves to the
atmosphere of Aligarh. Some of them found life too hard and exacting,
and ran away. But for those who stayed, there was a great feeling of
equality, brotherhood, and camaraderie. And there were some who
never wanted to leave the place, like Aslam Sahib who was in the tenth
class and had a son in the ninth. He sat for his examination regularly
and when I saw him he bad already failed nine times. He would say,
‘I am the only one here who takes his examinations without any per-
sonal motive.’ The place had a charm of its own. I suffered from one
handicap, my pronunciation and accent in Urdu were a little odd and I
would mix my genders. At home I used to speak Hindko, which is a
variation of Punjabi. Some of the students were amused but T could
never understand the cause of their amusement. I would feel quite un-
happy at times, but gradually I improved my Urdu pronunciation and
they got accustomed to it.

Discipline and behaviour in Aligarh was largely the concern of
the students themselves. There was little real contact between the
teachers and the younger students. The masters were kind and helplul
but they concentrated on teaching. The routine duties, including
the arrangements for food, as well as dress and behaviour, were the
responsibility of the senior students. And they were hard task-masters
and very severe on anyone who did not maintain the standards and
traditions of Aligarh. Inevitably, there was a considerable amount of
ragging. The popular mode was ‘dove-tailing’ which meant that in the
middle of the night your bed was overturned and you were plastered
with muck. I knew my turn would come and I was dreading it. T am a
light steeper. One night I heard some slight noise and woke up to find
four or five fellows armed with buckets standing close to my bed. I made
a lunge at onc of them and hit him as hard as I could. T kicked the next
one. They had not bargained for this, so they pacified mc by declaring
that I was one of them and there was no necd to create trouble.

I don’t know how much I lcarnt in the way of academic studies but
I did learn how to live with people of differing origins and backgrounds
and how to understand their points of view. Aligarh has always re-
mained a place of pilgrimage for me.
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Later in life I was able to help the university when I was aide-de-
camp to the British Resident in Hyderabad, Deccan, in 1931. Sir Ross
Masood was the Vice-Chancellor of Aligarh at that time and he came
to Hyderabad to get a donation for the university from the Nizam. The
Nizam was so much under British influence that he did not dare to do
anything without the Resident’s permission. Sir Ross came to see the
Resident but did not find him sympathetic. After some time he came
again and I had an opportunity to meet him. I was deeply impressed by
his devotion to the cause of Aligarh. The Resident was getting a little
impatient with Sir Ross so I found an occasion to put in a word for
him. T told the Resident, “You might think this man is making a
nuisance of himself, but he is utterly dedicated to the institution. His
grandfather established it and his father spent his life there. The Nizam
will only waste his money. Why not let him do something for a good
cause?’ In the end the Resident agreed and Sir Ross Masood got his
donation from the Nizam. In the process he became quite friendly with
me; I would go and see him quite often and though he was a much
older man he treated me with great consideration. I wrote to him once
that there was excellent soldier-material among the Muslims and the
university should encourage them to join the training corps. Indeed, I
urged him to make the university responsible for training suitable young
men for the army.

Toward the end of my stay at Aligarh a commission led by General
Skeen, who was Adjutant-General of the Army, visited the university
with two or three Indian officers. They were looking for suitable officer-
material for the army. There was considerable complaint in the
country at that time that Indians were not getting fair representation
among officers in the army. General Skeen and his advisers held a
general darbar in Strachey Hall, This was early in 1926 and I was a
member of the University Training Corps. General Skeen asked me,
“Would vou like to go into the armyv?’ I said, *Of course 1 would like
to go into the army’. He asked me why, and when I explained my
family background and my father’s service record, he advised me to
submit my application. Later, I was interviewed by the Deputy Com-
missioner and then by the Governor of the Province. The final ex-
amination and interviews took place at Simla, which used to be the
General Headquarters of the army in summer.

Major Dane, who was Principal of the Intermediate College at
Aligarh, coached me for the Sandhurst examination. This came about
in a curious way. One day as I was coming out of the class-room,
Major Dane accosted me in the cormidor. ‘Are you still here?’ he
shouted. ‘Did I not tell you to Ieave at once?” I was taken aback. “You
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did not tell me to leave. Why should I1? What for 2 It was now his turn
to feel surprised. He called three or four other students to identify me
and realized that he had made 2 mistake. Some other student who
looked like me had been rusticated from the university. Major Dane
was very upset and wanted to find some opportunity to make amends.
One day he walked up to me in the middie of the theology class. Qur
Maulvi had a huge paunch and a big beard, which made him look like
Santa Claus. He did not teach us much. Major Dane said to him:
‘Maulana Sahib, will you kindly stop your lecture?” He then turned to
me and szid, ‘T want to apologize to you for that silly mistake I made
the other day’. So Major Dane offered to coach me for the Sandhurst
examination. He gave me two or three hours of his time daily for about
three or four months, took an immense amount of interest in my work
and would come to my room or take me to his house.

Eventually, in June 1926, I was informed that I had been selected to
go to Sandhurst and naturally I was excited at the prospect. I also
had a sense of relief that I would not have to take my B.A. examina-
tion. But apart from my personal feelings and my interest in the army,
I realized that there were too few Indians, and fewer Muslims, who held
commissioned ranks. I knew that when Independence came it would
have to be defended and that meant that my training at Sandhurst
would be fully utilized by my country.

The decision to go to Sandhurst was my own. My father would have
preferred me to finish my education and then choose a civilian pro-
fession. One factor which worried him was the large expenditure
involved: I wounld need about 25,000 rupees for the Sandhurst coursc.
My father worked his lIands well but he had several children to educate
and it was not casy to spare such a large sum of money for me. His
answer to the problem was typical: he said he would sell all his land and
property so that I could fulfil my ambition. Fortunately, I did well at

Sandhurst and won several scholarships and the sacrifice was not
necessary.



2
Early Days in the Army

I

I sailed for England in July 1926. I still remember how excited I was
when I boarded the S.S. Rawalpindi in Bombay en route to Sandhurst,
This was during the monsoon, and soon after leaving port the weather
became very stormy. Many of the passengers were sea-sick. I was too, but
Iwentondeck withmy bedding and stayed there for three days and nights
until we reached Aden. After that everything changed dramaticaily,
the weather was good, the sea calm, and we had a very pleasant voyage.

There were six of us, selected for Sandhurst, travelling together from
India. When we arrived we found that the college had not opened and
we stayed for ten days in a litde hotel called The Duke of York. In
charge was an old Jady who was determined that we should bchave
ourselves, She gave us long sermons on what we must and must not do
and every evening she would get us all together for another sermon. I
remember that we thought we would have to be very careful and very
correct in England.

I did not expect life to be easy at Sandhurst but it was much harder
and much tougher than any of us had suspected. At first I wondered
if 1 wonld be 2ble to stand it, but I quickly adjusted myself to it, I wasin
excellent physical condition and soon began to thrive on the demanding
Sandhurst life and even enjoyed the fificen-mile run, During our first
fortnight the senior cadets gave us a demonstration of arms drill. We
were astonished at their skill and precision and vet within 2 month we
won 2 competition in arms drill against them. And although the life
was spartan, it had its lighter moments, I had an orderly named King
and he was very much the ‘old soldier’ in many ways. One day we had
been on parade untl about nine o’clock at night, and after supper I lay
down on my bed still in my uniform. I was very tired and soon fell
asleep. Next morning King came along and found me lving there fully
dressed and sound asleep. In shocked tones he told me: “Mr, Khan, you
are going to be no bloody good as an officer.’ Then he pulled me out of
bed and helped me to get ready for our first parade.
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There was a sizeable community of Indian cadets at Sandhurst at
that time and we clung to one another. Somehow we all sensed that we
were regarded as an inferior species. The British did not practise the
colour bar in a blatant manner, as in some countries, but they were no
less colour conscious. In those days anyone coming from a subject race
was regarded as an inferior human being and this I found terribly
galling. The tragedy of belonging to a subject race depressed us more
poignantly in the free air of England. My relations with the British
remained formal, by and large. I was reserved and aloof by nature and
the sense ofisolation which we all experienced at Sandhurst was not con-
ducive to mixing with the British. Among my own age group we had a
lot of fun, laughing and tumbling together, but there was never any close
understanding,

At Sandhurst I was the first foreign cadet to be promoted Corporal
and given two stripes. The Company Sergeant-Major said to me in his
usual gruff voice, ‘Mr. Khan, you will report to the Commandant’s
office at 10.30.” The Commandant was a Major-General and poor Mr.
Khan a mere cadet. Still wondering what I had done and what my fate
would be, I was marched into the Commandant’s office. Facing me ata
table and wearing full ceremontal dress was the Major-General, the
Assistant Commandant, who was a full Colonel, and my Company
Commander. I stood rigidly to attention, a bemused and worried cadet,
until the Commandant addressed me very solemnly: ‘Gentleman Cadet
Avub Khan, we are going to repose great trust in you. We hope you
will justify the trust. We have today broken our tradition and dccided
to grant you two stripes and make you a Corporal. We are doing this
as an experimental measurc to see whether foreign cadets can discharge
the heavy burden of this responsibility.’ I was flabbergasted, not know-
ing what the responsibilities were going to be. I discovered that the
trust so solemnly reposed in me meant that while the rifles of other
cadets were inspected cvery day, minc was exempt from inspection. 1
had no command over anybody. I was an honorary corporal and not
allowed to command any British cadets. That was the sum total of the
trust placed in me, While I was busy discharging the obligations, my
rifle suffered through neglect. The other cadets would keep constantly
polishing their rifles, giving the barrels 2 high shine. One day our arms
cxpert suddenly arrived to examine our rifies. He condemned most of
them because constant cleaning and rubbing with metal polish had
worn the rifling off the barrels; my rifie, even though a little dirty, was
still serviceable.

On the whole we had an interesting though hard time at Sandhurst,
We had plenty of leave and a group of us, mostly Indian cadets, would
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travel on the Continent, usually in France and Switzerland. I made no
close friends among the cadets. I used to know Nasir, Bhonsle, Nagar,
and several others. Choudhry, who later became Commander-in-Chicf
of the Indian Army, was in the same platoon as I was. He was a good
cadet, intelligent and hard-working, but for some reason he was not
accepted by the Indian cadets.

I did fairly well in my examinations and passed about 6Goth in a
class of 123 cadets. One is judged by one’s overall performance and
power of command. I was first among the Indian cadets: this may well
have been due to the distinction of being a corporal.

While I was in Switzerland on leave,about a month before the results
of our course were known, I received a letter from my mother, telling
me that my father had died. It also revealed that he had died threc
months before I received the letter—in September 1927. This was
terrible news and afterwards I found out what had happcned. Just
before his death he was almost blind with cataract and he would get
someone to write his regular weekly letters to me, He had asked that in
* the event of his death I was not to be informed until I had finished my
course at Sandhurst; letters were still to be sent to me cach week.

I felt the loss of my father acutely. I was conscious of the responsi-
bilities as head of thc family, particularly in respect of my younger
brothers and sisters. I went to the officer who used to act as a guardian
for some of us overseas cadets and asked for his advice. He got in touch
with the India Office, which in turn consulted the War Office. They
confirmed that I had done well in my examinations and would be
commissioned. I was given six weeks’ leave and was able to return home.
I travelled by a ship called the Neuralia. 1 remember the journcy
between Aden and Bombay: the sca was like an artificial lake, calm
and serene. Throughout the day I used to see fish of all kinds and
colours playfully jumping out of the water and diving back without a
splash. At night I stood on the deck and it scemed that someone had
magically arranged an llumination of the ocean. In the calm of the
night and amidst the colours of the sea the thought of my father’s death
weighed heavily on me.

I spent my leave with the family. After that I was sent to a British
regiment, the Royal Fusiliers, who were stationed in Ambala in the
castern Punjab. This was a trial period for junior officers before they
joined the Indian Army, and for the British officers it was an oppor-
tunity to learn Urdu before their posting to an Indian unit. The Royal
Fusiliers were largely recruited in and around London. Although they
were townsmen, they were good soldiers. I was impressed by the high
standard of their discipline and by their behaviour under very difficult
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conditions of climate and of terrain. The British officers were a lively
crowd and we got along very well. They had able senior officers and I
made some good friends among them. When I was posted to the Indian
Army, my Commanding Officer reported that I would make a good
officer in any army.

An interesting incident occurred early in my service. Every year a
unit had to go through an exercise set by the Brigade Commander, the
object of which was to test the Unit Commander. We were in Auranga-
bad in sounthern India and I must have been in the third year of my
service. I was put in charge of the ‘enemy’ forces and there were to be
two exercises. My Commanding Officer led the home forces. In both
exercises I encircled him; I completely stymied him and frustrated his
plans. At the end there was a conference in which the Brigade Com-
mander commented on the exercise and the conduct of the Battalion
Commander. He pointed out where things had been mishandled and
where correct action was taken. He turned round to me and said, ‘I
have a real word of prajse for the enemy Commander.’ My Com-
manding Officer never forgave me after this; nothing I did seemed right
to him. Instead of taking the whole thing in a sporting spirit, he chased
me z2bout and for a couple of years I had a difficult time.

In the Indian Army my first regiment was the 1st/i4th Punjab
which was raised from one of the Ranjit Singh units; the Sikhs used to
call it the ‘Sherdal’ battalion. We called it ‘Sherdil’ {the lion-hearted)
later. Like many other units of the British-Indian Army, it had four
groups or classes: Pathans, Punjabi Mussalmans, Sikhs, and Dogras,
all equally distributed. There were scveral Indian officers with me,
including the late Colonel Khurshid who became the first Pakistani
governor of the North-West Frontier Province. Among the others
were Colonel A, S. B, Shah, and Dhillon, who later became a General
in the Indian Army. I was soon aware of a certain amount of friction
betwween the junior British officers and the senior Indian officers.
Politically, events were moving gradually towards the granting of
independence and not unnaturally there were suspicions and mis-
understandings between the two groups. The Indian officers were all
deeply interested in these developments and when the Indian National
Congress stepped up its campaign for frecdom, we Muslims began to
wonder what would happen to us, Freedom, as far as we were con-
cemned, meant freedom from both the British and the Hindus,

This political conseiousness and the consequent strain was restricted
to the officers; among the men there was great fellow fecling. Friction
among the jawans was usually over questions of promotion, and right
up to the time of partition the army remained a closely-knit force.
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Even the earliest riots did not affect the rank and file until it became
clear that two sovereign countries would emerge after the withdrawal
of the British and that the army would be divided. When senseless
killing started at the time of partition, communal feelings among the
ranks did run high. Itwas feared at that time that the two factions might
come to an open fight but fortunately this was avoided.

The ill fecling between the British and Indian officers before the
war, in my experience, manifested itself in 2 number of ways and arose
at times over seemingly trivial incidents. There was trouble in the Mess
because the British officers would not let us have the food we wanted,
particularly curry which was served only on Mondays, Thursdays, and
Sundays. Then there was dissension over the question of music, when
we wanted Indian records as well as western ones in the Mess. At one
stage some Sikh and Hindu officers called 2 meeting to boycott certain
British officers. 1 urged them not to quibble over little things, but these
small arguments created a continual if slight strain.

i1

Despite these differences, the Indian Army was 2 well-trained and
disciplined fighting force which cxpanded swiftly after war was declared
in September 1939. I was playing tennis with some friends at Bannu on
the North-West Frontier when news came that Germany had invaded
Poland and we realized that this meant a world war. Soon we were all
separated.

The army started growing rapidly because of its commitments in
the Middle and the TFar East, and I was sent to New Delhi to raise a
territorial battalion. Then I went to the Staff College at Quetta and,
after completing my course, was posted to Army Headquarters in
Delhi, as a staff officer. My next move was to the headquarters of 15
Corps at Barrackpore just outside Calcutta, where we worked in the
office of the Governor’s House drawing up plans for the defence of
India against a Japanpese invasion. As 1 moved around the arca with its
hot, humid climate I became increasingly depressed and disenchanted
by that part of India, vet several vears later when I went to East
Pakistan as G.O.C. I developed a great liking for the area.

Around the time that 15 Corps entered the Amkan to fight the
Japanese, I wes made Second-in-Command of the 15t Assam Regiment.
The Nagas, who had 2 hard time both during and after the war, were
part of this regiment. We moved into Burma and were soon involved
in heavy fighting as we crossed the Chindwin river and advanced to the
Irrawaddy. After crossing the Irrawaddy river we fought our way to
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Mandalay. It was hard, bitter, hand-to-hand fighting in the jungle.
It used to rain incessantly and we found refuge in foxholes when the
tents became too wet to provide any comfort. But even there we had no
escape from the mosquitoes. We spent our time warding them off and
nursing our blotches. The only thing that saved us was DDT and
mepacrine. Rations used to be adequate but the frozen chickens from
Australia which were dropped by three Dakotas one fine morning
were specially welcome. It was only Jater that we discovered the supplics
were intended for a British regiment as Christrnas gift. There was hell to
pay in the way of explanations but there was little we could do about it!

The Japanese attacked us day after day, night after night, and often
1 would see scores of dead bodies around me. One afternoon, while the
guns were booming, I saw a peculiarly dressed man making his way to-
wards me, He turned out to be an American G.I. who had received
fifteen days’ leave and was looking for a Japanese souvenir. He felt that
without such a souvenir it would be no use going on leave, I had a small
Japanese flag in my pocket which I gave him. He wasso delighted that
he left his jeep to supplement our transport!

I was in Burma for about eighteen months before I was transferred
to the North-West Frontier of India, in the spring of 1945. There I was
given command of a battalion of the 15th Punjab Regiment which was
stationed at Landi Kotal in the Khyber Pass. While I was away my
old battalion of the ist/14th Punjab had been sent to Malaya and
captured by the Japanese. I was stunned when I heard the news. Some
of our officers who were captured joined the Indian National Army, a
Japanese-inspired force,

When the war ended I was sent to the training centre of the regi-
ment at Ferozepur to re-raise my old battalion. There some of these
former war prisoners came back to join us and I found that they were
still in a bad state, both physically and mentally. They had been reduced
to skeletons and their faces showed marks of ill-treatment. I noticed,
too, that they had become very cunning and suspicious, and were wary
of everyone and very carcful of what they said.

For them, as for the rest of vs, the war had ended; vyet, although
we did not realize it at the time, another struggle, this time for our
own independence, was approaching its climax. I was then President
of the Army Sclection Board at Dehra Dun where we sclected officers
for permancent commissions in the British-Indian Army. There was a
large number of failures as the required qualifications and standards
werc very high. The political climate at that time was beginning to be
reflected cven in the army, and I was accused by certain Hindu and
Sikh officers of deliberately failing their people as potential regular army
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officers. Of course, even as President, I had, like the other members on
the Selection Board, only one vote, and so I could not by myself accept
or reject any candidate for a2 permanent commission. In spite of this un-
pleasantness, I found my spell of service on the Selection Board ex-
tremelyinterestingand agreat trainingand experiencein assessing people.

But myv service on the Selection Board was the lull before the
storm. With almost no warning the horrors of communal foting burst
upon us. The communal situation in the Punjab deteniorated rapidly.
After the Viceroy's announcement of the Partition Plan on 3 June 1047
there was some slhight improvement. But the Sikhs soon started a
vigorous agitation against the notonal division of the Punjab des-
cribed in the Plan. They were hoping to form a separate State of their
own after driving out the Muslims from Sikh areas. On Tucsday 22
July 1947 members of the Partition Council decided to set up a Special
Military Command from r August, to protect the population of Sialkot,
Gujranwala, Sheikhupura, Lyallpur, Montgomery, Lahore, Amritsar,
Gurdaspur, Hoshiarpur, Jullundur, Ferozepur, and Ludhiana—
civil districts of the Punjab covering in all over 29,000 square miles.
Mzajor-General Rees was appointed Military Commander for this
purpose. I was told that I had been attached to him in an advisory
capacity on behalf of Pakistan, and that Brigadier Dhigambir Singh
was to represent India. It was further decided by the Partition Council
that after 15 August Major-General Rees ‘will control operationally
the forces of both the new States in this area’.

The Partition Council had hoped that the setting up of this Boundary
Force would have a reassuring and stabilizing effect in the Punjab.
They had not foreseen the holocaust which was to engulf the whole of
the Punjab. The agitation launched by the Sikhs suddenly took 2
violent and dangerous tura according to a premeditated programme.
The Sikhs had 2 well-trained organization which attacked the Mus-
lims and drove them out towards Pakistan by moving flving columns
of armed men from one district to another. The first clash occurred
on ¢ August 1047 at Majithia in Amritsar district. Two Muslim
vitlages were surtounded and burnt to ashes and a large number of
people were kiiled. From there the Sikhs moved to Taran-Taran where
again there was 2 general massacre of the Muslims, On g August
the Muslim police in East Punjeb, particularly in Amritsar, were
disarmed. This was a signal for 2 genernl conflagration and slaughter
of the Mushims,

Understandably there was severe criticism of the Boundary Force
and I also came in for a good deal of blame. But I wes placed in a
hopeless situation. I was an outsider whose role was purely advisory.
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I had no staffand there was no one under my command. But that apart,
the Boundary Force could mot have prevented those massacres. Sir
Francis Tuker has described the ineffectiveness of the Punjab Boundary
Force in his book While Memory Serpes:!

Qur talk with General Rees at Ambala in early August showed that he had no
doubts that the Eastern Punjab would blow sky high over the Boundary
Commission’s award when it came. On the 11th August we learnt that
Amritsar had had a bad blood-letting the day before and that Calcutta had
had rather more trouble than usual that night. Both police and army had
had to open fire. While we knew that we could now hold Calcutta in check we
were equally certain that Amritsar was but the spark to fire a train of horror
in the north. The local administration was powerless to exercise authority
against mob rule, for it had not beer organised and strengthened to tackle
the coming task as had the Army. Had it been so organised the task of the
P.B.F. would have been far easier, for as much as anything it was the com-
munal attitude of the local civil officials and police that made the task of the
P.B.F. almost hopeless from the start. The administration of the whole of
India was simply jogging along on the remains of the prestige that the British
had built for it in the past hundred years: in the Eastern Punjab even that
remnant died Jong before the 15th August, killed by communalism and mob
rule,

There is another reference to the difficulties of the Boundary Force
in Penderel Moon's Divide and Quil:?

There was, I found, a remarkable faith in the projected Boundary Force. 1
could not share it. The Sikhs, I thought, were bound to attack the Muslims
when they saw the chance, If the Boundary Force was really powerful and
effective they would wait till it was withdrawn. Ifit was ineffective they would
disregard it. On my way back from Delhi to Bahawalpur I happened to hear
some views about this force from a young Sikh major who shared my com-
partment for part of the journey. He was himsell about to join it, but was
utterly sceptical of its capacity to maintain order. He thought that a large
proportion of the troops would be infected by the communal virus and
prove unreliable, He was also doubtful whether mechanized infantry would
be able to operate effectively in the rural arcas during the monsoon. I fully
agrced with him in this.

The Joint Defence Council which met in Lahore on Friday 29
August 1947 cventually decided to disband the Boundary Force.
Describing this meeting of the Joint Defence Council, Alan Campbell-
Johnson says in his book Mission with Aountbatten:®

Mountbatten wasin Lahore yesterday to take the chair at the Joint Defenee
Council, which Jinnah, to everyone's surprise, attended as a member, Afier

1 Cassall, 1950, p. 402. 2 Chatto and Windus, 1951, p. 95.
¥ Robert Hale, 1951, p. 530.
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prolonged discussion the decision was taken to disband the Boundary Force.
Pete Rees received very few thanks from either side for his efforts to carry out
a task of unparalleled difficulty. Without the whole-hearted backing of the
Governments and Press on both sides, the position of the Boundary Force
and its Commander became rapidly untenable, and otherwise steady and
experienced troops began to feel the tug of communal loyalies deeper even
than their military discipline.

I have quoted these authors to show that the Boundary Force was
doomed to failure from the beginning. There was a great paucity of
communications. The Force could only rush to a place that was being
attacked, and by the time the troops arrived it was looted, burnt, and
the Muslim inhabitants massacred. In the end all that this Force could
do was to try and keep the roads clear for the refugees. This was done
by patrolling the main thoroughfares and the railway lines.

This was the unhappiest period of my life. I had never before seen
anything so terrible and brutal. Women and children were mutilated
and innocent people butchered mercilessiy. All human qualities seemed
to have been snuffed out and the whole edifice of culture and civiliza-
tion crumbled during these terrible weeks, My faith in human nature
was shaken and I used to ask myself, “what can one do to stop this
madness ?’

With great difficulty I managed to rescue 2 number of Muslims
from Amritsar and elsewhere. There was a small area between the
Grand Trunk Road and the railway line in Amritsar which was mainly
inhabited by the Muslims. The colony was surrounded by the Sikhs,
who had occupied positions of vantage in two-storeyed buildings from
which they could snipe at anyone trying to Ieave the area. I was able
to arrange a couple of trains and get some troops to escort the inhabit-
ants of the colony. I remember a ratlway engincer who proved extreme-
ly helpful. We also moved a2 number of families from Simla, Dehra Dun,
and Ambala. The whole operation lasted about three wecks., Altaf
Qadir {later Licutenant-General) was also there at that time and was
associated with evacuation, I sent a message to the new Prime Minister
of Pakistan, Liaquat Ali Khan, that we might have over a million
refigees. 1 pleaded for the setting up of some central authority to
organize refugee camps. No one realized at that time that the number
of refugees would go up to cight or ninc million.

II1

From the horrors of Partiton in the Punjab I retumned to Waziristan
to command a Brigade. I knew the area well. On my last posting there,
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I had been stationed at Mir Ali in Waziristan. I had an untrained
battalion at that time and had to cover about twenty miles of road so
that the convoys could pass between Razmak and Bannu, This meant
picketing the heights so that the tribesmen would not fire at the con-
voys. I put my troops through a very tough battle inoculation, firing
over their heads with rifles and machine-guns, and inside 2 fortnight I
had a well-trained battalion ready for active service in the very difficult
terrain.

My most lasting impression, and it was a distressing one, of the
various campaigns on the North-West Frontier was the sheer futility
of it all. Tt was a great waste of time; and a great waste of men. Nothing
was really achieved and when Pakistan was established there were
several army divisions as well as Scouts and Levies all tied up on the
Frontier. All they did was to provide 2 constant irritation to the tribes-
men, and a target for them to fire at. Also no real progress would be
possible in this part of Pakistan while this state of affairs continued.

There was only one sensible thing to do and that was to withdraw
our troops from the North-West Frontier, and this in fact is what
happened. A committee under that very fine officer, Licut.-General Sir
Francis Tuker, had studied the problem and recommended that the
army be withdrawn from Waziristan, This bold and sensible proposal
was made before Pakistan came into being and the new government of
Pakistan accepted the findings and decided to implement them.

I was made responsible for a major part of the withdrawal. Now,
troops had been in this area for over a hundred ycars and any with-
drawal of this kind is always a difficult and potentially dangerous
business. A few days before the evacuation a group of my men were
fired upon by the tribesmen and several of them killed. I was extremely
angry and decided to retaliate quickly and severely. As a result 1 was
faced not only with angry tribesmen but also with a worried divisional
commander and the political agent, who claimed that my action was
irregular, I met the tribesmen and made my stand clear. I told them
that they must never again kill our soldiers, who were good Muslims,
like themselves, and that the killing was senscless. Also I stressed that
these men were the defenders of Pakistan which was now their country
as well as mine., Then I explained that we were going to pull out of
Waziristan, but that if any of my men were harmed and if they opened
firc on them I would turn back and attack. They knew I meant what I
said and I was glad that when we pulled out, the tribesmen and their
chicfs picketed the hills for us. They put up white flags on the strong
points and all the lcading smaliks helped. We were able to arrange an
orderly and successful withdrawal,
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Today things have changed on the Frontier and we have made
great progress there. Hundreds of schools have been opened, miles and
miles of roads have been laid, and hospitals and colleges built. And the
most encouraging sign of all is that the tribesmen are constantly asking
for further development. My policy is clear: we will not intrude upon
their areas unless they ask us, and when they do ask we will develop
their territories, but not buy individuals. This approach has worked
very well and there has been a great transformation on the North-West
Frontier,

Butin a way the North-West Frontier was one of the minor problems
facing the new state of Pakistan. We had a long, hard road to travel, and
right from the outset we met some terrible difficulties: millions of home-
less and destitute refugees were flooding in; the sources of the rivers of
the Punjab, which provided irrigation in our territory, were in India.
These were but two of the many grave issues which confronted us,

For my part, the major problem I was called upon to solve was the
formation and training of the army of Pakistan, I became deeply in-
volved in this for several years, first as G.O.C. in East Pakistan, then as
Adjutant-General, and finally as Commander-in-Chief of our army.
Before describing in some detail my experiences in these posts I would
like very briefly to mention the state of the army immediately before
and after Partidon,

In the British-Indian Army we Muslim officers had an instinctive
sympathy for the great struggle in which the Quaid-e-Azam, Mahomed
Ali Jinnah, was engaged to ensure the creation of the state of Pakistan.
But we had no real knowledge of the personalities involved in this
political struggle; and by training we had been taught that as army
officers we should stay out of the political arena. So the politicians were
largely an unknown quantity to us, as we were to them.

When independence was achieved we realized that we would have
a separate homeland for the Muslims; and paturally the question of
whether the army should also be divided became a major issue. Although
1 was not directly involved in the division of the armed forces, 1 was con-
vinced from the outset that we had to have our own army for Pakistan;
also that we had to create a first-class army to defend our country.
General Cariappa, at that time the senior Indian officer in the army,
approached me to support him in his efforis to keep the army undivided.
He wanted to have one army for both India and Pakistan and thought
that I would understand and appreciate his viewpoint. I told him that
one army serving two independent countries was inconceivable. The
army was the instrument of sovercignty and the shield of the people and
it could have no entity outside the thinking and the will of the people.

?.l!.—-s
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“‘We must have our own army to carry out our policies and to preserve
our independence’, I said.

A Council was then set up to divide the armed forces. We had Raza,
Akbar, and Latif on this Council representing Pakistan. I remember
Akbar came to me in Dehra Dun, on one occasion, and said that there
was a proposal to have comumon training institutions for the two armies.
I told him that that would not work. It was true that the Pakistan Army
would not have adequate training facilities in the beginning and that
we might have to work under the trees, but we should be prepared to
accept the initial handicaps and start our own institations straight
away. We must have a separate army and we must have separate train-
ing institutions and other supporting facilities to sustain the army.
The future to me was clear. Two nations had emerged and each must
have its own instruments of power. Sovercign States cannot share vital
instruments of power. There was some thinking at that time that India
and Pakistan, though divided, could live in a spirit of accommodation.
Little did people realize that the Indian leaders had different designs.
Far from co-operating with Pakistan in any sphere, they were deter-
mined to create problems for her.

Apart from this advice, I had Lttle direct connection with the
division of the armed forces. But, as I say, I had to face the problems
created by the partition of the army. Let me state what they were. In
the first place there was no complete Muslim unit of battalion size in
the British-Indian Army, whereas there were complete and intact
Hindu and Gurkha regiments. When the Japanese war ended and
Parlition came, our men from units in India began to trickle back to
Pakistan in small groups. In some cases they were unarmed and in
others they had to fight their way out. So we had to start our army with
bits and picces like a gigantic jig-saw puzzle with some of the bits
missing. We had men untrained, half trained, and highly trained. They
came [rom different units and different areas and they had all to be
welded into fighting and ancillary units, divisions, and corps.

And that was not all. India had been the base for the projected
invasion of Malaya and most of the military stores and installations
were in South India, as was the bulk of the troops. Pakistan’s share of
the stores was there and we were entitled under the Partition agree-
ments to 160 train-Joads of military cquipment and weapons. But very
little of that ever arrived in Pakistan and when the wagons did arrive
they were full of stones and wrecked equipment.

So our army was badly equipped and terribly disorganized. It was
almost immediately engaged in escorting the refugees who streamed by
the million into Pakistan; and not long after that it was also involved
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in the fighting in Kashmir. Throughout this period we had no properly
organized units, no equipment, and hardly any ammunition. The
position was so bad that for the first few years we could only allow five
rounds of practice ammunition to each man a year. Our plight was
indeed desperate. But from the moment Pakistan came into being I was
certain of one thing: Pakistan’s survival was vitally linked with the
establishment of a2 well-trained, well-equipped, and well-led army. 1
was determined to create this type of military shield for my country
and, with the help of dedicated men, I succeeded. Today I am con-
vinced that without this army Pakistan could not have weathered the
storms and attacks to which it was exposed; and the army behind the
people of Pakistan is still a sure guarantee that our enemies will not be
able to weaken us.

To fashion the army, to train it, to equip it, to find the right type of
officers and soldiers, to create and maintain a high standard of morale,
was 2 tremendously difficult task in the circumstances I have described.
But it was also a challenging and absorbing one. And for me, as well as
for many other Pakistanis, everything changed when our country
gained frecdom on 14 August 1g47. We had a new reason for living and
working, a compelling urge to work to the very limit of our capacity.
Because I was striving for my own free country, no difficulty secemed
insurmountable and no challenge or sacrifice secmed too great. It
would be impossible to exaggerate the way my life and my whole out-
look changed after the state of Pakistan came into existence.



3

The Army 1948—1950

I was commanding the Gardai Brigade in Waziristan in January 1948
when I was ordered to proceed to East Pakistan to serve as General
Officer Commanding. I could not say that I was excited at the pros-
pect. I had never liked the climate of that area, and there were certain
personal problems such as finding accommodation for my family in
Rawalpindi, so that the children might continue their studies. The
Army could not help in the matter and I was forced to leave my
family in the annexe of a building which was really used as servants’
quarters. Having lodged them there, I packed a couple of suitcases
and left for East Pakistan. It was a difficult and trying time for the
country, and an exacting assignment, I spent nearly two years in East
Pakistan,

The provincial government, with which I came in frequent con-
tact, was newly formed and poorly staffed. But worse still, it was
politically weak and unstable. There was no army. All we had in East
Pakistan at the time of Independence were two infantry batialions;
one of these had three Muslim companies, the fourth, a Hindu com-
pany, having been transferred to India. The other battalion had one
Sikh company and one Dogra company, leaving us with only two
more Muslim companies. We had very poor accommeodation: at Head-
quarters there was no table, no chair, no stationery—we had virtually
nothing at all; not even any maps of East Pakistan. Gradually we
started to organize ourselves,

Around Tejgaon and Kurmitola airficlds there were some thatched
huts built during the Second World War, There was hardly any place
for officers and we had to improvise some kind of accommodation for
them. They lived in bashas (huts), which were often in a poor state and
leaked almost incessantly during the heavy rains. It was not uncommon
for men to keep shifting their charpoys at night to some dry spot under
the roof. During the nor"-westers, the Jaske roof was sometimes blown
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off, leaving the man high but not dry. In the morning he had to go and
look for his dasha and bring it back in bits and picces.

Gradually the position improved. Plans were laid for building per-
manent accommodation for a Brigade Group. It was necessary to
locate some units near Dacca so that they might be available to act in
support of the civil authority., Other sites were also planned. The
difficulty was to find high ground which would not go under water
during the monsoons. After much searching over the whole province I
was able to locate two arcas, and General Headquarters approved them,
We built one cantonment near Dacca and the other on high ground
near Comilla. Both these have since developed into established,
picturcsque sites.

The signs were far from propitious. Our borders were under o con-
stant threat from India, and soon we were embroiled in fighting with
her in Kashmir., As a result, it was difficult to get any reinforcements to
strengthen our position in East Pakistan. The province was in an ex-
tremely under-developed state. Nothing had been done for it before
Partition though there were great opportunitics for industrialization
and enterprise, The Muslims did not have the capital; and the jute
trade, worth about goo million rupees a year, was in the hands of
Hindu Marwaris who repatriated all their profits to India. The only
good stretch of surfaced road that existed, to my knowledge, was some-
where in Pabna district, covering a distance of about thirty miles, Then
there was a bit of road going from Jessore to the north and a so-called
road from the airficlds around Dacca going to Narayanganj. Except for
these, there were no roads in the province worth the name. River
communication was, of course, available, but it was slow and in-
adequate. There was a good railway but it had taken such a beating
during the war that the rolling stock was completely worn out and
requircd immediate replacement.

I used to consider it a great pity that Calcutta should have been
developed on the raw materials produced in East Pakistan and that no
processing plant or factory should have been put up in any part of the
province. The fault lay with us, since even before Independence the
Muslims of the province had been fairly vocal in politics and had pro-
duced men like Fazlul Hag, Sulirawardy, and Khawaja Nazimuddin,
who were associated with the govermment in one capacity or another.,
All of them had been Chief Ministers of undivided Bengal, but they had
been unable to do anything for their people, It must be admitted that
the task was stupendous.

Khawaja Nazimuddin was the Chief Minister of the provinee when
1 went there as G.O.C. He was a pious man, with a long political record,
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But it was a torture for him to give a decision. I saw him in his office
many times: I would sce an impressive head behind a pile of papers
which covered him up to the nosc. It was commonly believed that the
Chief Minister had a method of his own to deal with problems: any
file requiring a decision was quietly pushed under the pile and there it
remained till with the passage of time the problem solved itself. I also
met Nurul Amin and Hamidul Haq Choudhry in those days. Choudhry
was then Finance Minister in the provincial government. Nurul
Amin impressed me as an intelligent man who observed things and had
some idea of how the administration should be run. Hamidul Haq
was known to be a clever man but there was a general impression that
he was standing in the way of development as he was averse to any
Muslim from outside East Pakistan coming into the province and setting
up any industry. Discouraged, some who wanted to invest went back to
India; others drifted to Karachi. Not, I should add, that it was casy to
set up an industry: there was no power, no communications, and cven
land was difficult to get.

I could see that a2 mental barrier against outsiders was being erected.
This proved a great deterrent to the movement of people and capital
into East Pakistan. The attitude in West Pakistan was different: there
was no cmotional or political antipathy to the people coming from
India. A large number of Muslim refugees from the United Provinces
of India and from Bombay and other Indian cities came to West
Pakistan after independence and played a major part in its indus-
trialization. Similarly in the armed forces and in the civil services there
were a number of refugees.

At the time of Independence there was only one East Pakistani
officer in the Superior Civil Services. This necessitated posting officers
from West Pakistan, or from ameongst the refugees, to the provincial
government. They came to be regarded as symbols of outside inter-
ference among the educated classes. The new middle class in the
province began nursing a grievance against their West Pakistani com-
patriots. They found themselves lagging behind in respect of positions
of authority, in jobs gencrally and in commercial fields in particular.
The provincial leadership was faced with a difficult situation. They
could face the problems squarely, identify the causes and work to create
an adequate social and economic infra-structure, supported by cor-
responding cducational and technical institutions, to prepare the
youth of the province to compete with the rest of the country on merit.
This required sober thinking and dedicated hard work, neither of shich
was forthcoming. The alternative was to build up political pressure and
shift all the blame to West Pakistan. Some of the political agitators
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found this a much more convenient and popular course of action.
Consequently, the political life of the province was given an agitational
pattern and it worried and saddencd me. I could sce that some of the
political demagogues were going to exploit the emotions of the
people.

I had a revealing encounter with Suhrawardy at that time which
gave me an insight into his mind. There was a function at Curzon Hall
in Dacca. Someone introduced me to Suhrawardy and this was the
first time I met him. ‘General,” he addressed me with his characteristic
flourish, ‘they have issued an expulsion order. But they do not know
that I can finish Nazimuddin in no time.’ I said, ‘Mr, Suhrawardy, why
don’t you leave East Pakistan alone? Haven’t they got enough prob-
lems without your adding to them? What he said in reply I cannot
repeat because the man is dead, but it gave me sufficient indication of
how he intended to exploit the situation in East Pakistan. Since he was
a key-figure in politics, I knew then that the agitational pressures
which were being built up in the province were not going to subside
in a hurry. I made a large number of friends among East Pakistanis and
I would talk to them quite frankly. I must say that individually they all
agreed with me that little constructive work was being done by the
government and that all energics were getting diverted into political
channcls,

The training of East Pakistani young men for the army was my
dircct concern. I found that the province was completely lacking in
proper cducational and training institutions at the higher levels. T was
distressed that a population of such a Jarge size should produce so few
men of the requisite standard. I took up this matter with the provincial
government and urged them to start good public schools where in-
telligent young men could be given the necessary training to build their
mind, body, and character. I made repeated appeals to Khawaja Nazi-
muddin and argued at great length with Nurul Amin. They scemed to
understand what I was talking about but were unwilling or unable to
do anything about it. I never quite understood what they were afraid of.
Perhiaps they thought that general reaction to the establishment of
public schools would not be favourable. I remember, for example, that
an article was published in Maulana Akram Khan’s newspaper Azad
condemning the government for planning to start schools for the rich
at the expense of the poor. Here were some forty million Muslims, the
greatest Muslim concentration in the world in such a smali arca——and
nothing was being done to create the talent which was required torun a
free country. I kept harping on the need for establishing institutions for
cducation and training but some of the politicians found that they
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could get better and more immediate dividends by spreading distrust
and suspicion among the people.

The thing that surprised me was the Jack of manpower with qualities
of leadership. The Army Selection Board would visit East Pakistan
every six months. In the beginning for the first one or two terms the
Board found four or five boys who could be accepted for the Army
Military College. But they were mainly boys who had come from refugee
families. When this material was exhausted they came to selection
from amongst the local boys. The Selection Board would then be lucky
to get even one or two borderline cases. I would advise the Board to
take them anyway because nobody would accept that the Board had
been fair and objective and that the rules and specifications had been
rigidly applied. Something was seriously wrong with the whole educa-
tional system: the younger people had to be got hold of and properly
cducated and brought up,

Somehow I never got any response from the political Icaders of
East Pakistan. I used to tell my friends, ‘Ask your government to do
something or you will be left behind. Go and argue your case. Go and
quarrel with West Pakistanis if they are doing something against your
interests. Go and fight it out with the central government to get your
rights. Do so by all means, but also insist that your young men and
women should be properly educated and trained so that they cano dis-
charge their responsibilities as equal citizens as well as anyone clse.
And do not take the argument too far. After all, human beings are
human beings, and if your brethren in West Pakistan start feeling
frustrated and unhappy at being constantly subjected to criticism and
pressure you will be doing a very great disservice to the unity of the
country. For God’s sake keep vour differcnces and your arguments
within the bounds of reason.’

I could not quite understand whether the agitational pressure in
East Pakistan was the result of 2 combination of little things, such as
personal complaints and gricvances, or the manifestation of some
deeper malady, I often heard criticism of the conduct of West Pakistani
civil servants serving in East Pakistan. They werc accused of being ex-
clusive and aggressive and their attitude was regarded as patronizing. I
saw many of these officers at work in the province and I thought they
. worked very hard and were deeply interested in the welfare of the
province. No doubt their manners and pattern of life were different;
an average East Pakistani was inclined to misjudge and misunderstand
them. It is quite common for a West Pakistani to answer a simple
guestion with a grunt and not realize that he is being impolite. An old
{riend of mine, the Jate Rzja Ghazanfar Ali Khan, was our Ambassador
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in Iran for a long time. The Iranians are a very courteous people and
Raja Sahib must have imbibed their tradition and culture. When he
returned to Paldstan I asked him ‘How are you, Raja Sahib?’ He said,
‘Well, I have come home and 1 expected a certain amount of warmth.
But everybody I meet just grunts. You try to find out anything and the
response you get is a surly “Huh”.” ‘Raja Sahib, you have certainly
been denationalized a bit’, I said; ‘we don’t seem to mind these things.’

It might well be that the mannerisms of the West Pakistani irritated
the East Pakistani. I grew to like Bengali songs, though I have no real
car for music; they fascinate me. I told an East Pakistani friend once,
“You have such sweet music. I wish to God you were half as sweet
yourself.” I found that once you got to know an East Pakistani he really
accepted you without reservation, The trouble in the early days of
independence was that there was very little social contact between East
and West Pakistanis. The average West Pakistani found himselfisolated
and tended to form a group of his own. I would tell the West Pakistanis,
‘Why don’t you meet them? Ask them over and entertain them even if
it is over a simple cup of tea. You will get to know each other at the
human level and, from that, friendship and warmth and understanding
will develop.’

The West Pakistanis were no angels or missionaries. Most of them
were government servants who felt that they had been deprived of the
comparative comforts of life available to themn in West Paldstan. They all
came from the middle class and had family commitments. Travel
between the two wings of the country was difficult and expensive.
Many used to be irritated by what they regarded as the general in-
cfiiciency of East Pakistan and never tried to make a secret of their
unwillingness to serve there. It was a peculiar phenomenon that while
an average East Pakistani in Dacca thought that the West Pakistan
officials werc a manifestation of some kind of colonialism, the West
Pakistanis were the most unwilling and unhappy Instruments of that
imaginary ‘domination’. I remember telling someone in fun, ‘Why don’t
vou start a little agitation against me and throw me out too ? You know
I will not resist a bit.” Now, many more amcnitics arc available, both
in the army and on the civil side, and for the people; today’s life bears
no comparison to what it was like at the time of Independence. For
many then there were few arrangements for education, no accom-
medation, no sanitation. But cventually ¢ven these who went under
compulsion developed a great fondness for East Pakistan and many of
them Iook back on their service there with a feeling of nostalgia.

Returning to army life in those days, 1 kept myself very busy,
touring every district and sub-division, identifying likely routes of
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invasion and preparing a defence plan for the province. I was also
worried about the internal law and order situation, Very little was being
done to redress the grievances of the police force and I knew that I did
not have enough strength to deal with any large-scale disturbances.
The police force—about Go,000 men—consisted of all kind of hetero-
geneous elements. Some had come from the Police Service in West
Bengal. They were not very well disciplined and even the senior officers
were not all that goed. The politicians never took quick decisions about
the requirements of the civil armed forces and the result was a feeling
of acute discontent and inefficiency.

Trouble was brewing and finally brokeoutin Dacca on 13 July 1948.
I was on tour with Zakir Hussain who was then Inspector-General of
Police. We were staying at a rest house in Mymensingh when I was
rung up from Dacca and told that the police had surrounded Govern-
ment House and the Chief Minister’s house. Some of them had been
seen in front of the Civil Secretariat. They had removed arms and
ammunition from a magazine in the police lines and had taken up
defensive positions. It was a peculiar sitnation: on the one hand I had
to pacify the head of the police whose guest I was—and on the other,
deal with his mutineers. I told the Battalion Commander to give them a
warning and prevent them from adopting a reckless course. The argu-
ment went on for hours but the police could not be persuaded to return
to their lines. After some time the Battalion Commander rang me back
to say that the mutincers were not responding to reason. Whenever
an appeal was made to them, they would start abusing the army. We
were left with no aption but to take action. I told the Battalion Com-
mander to take military action against the mutineers, using as littic
force as possible.

The defensive position which the police force had taken up wasin
the middle of the city and there was danger of members of the public
getting injured by covering fire. We had no alternative but to attack
the mutineers. A company of grdf8th Punjab Regiment was detailed
to deal with the situation. They had to cover some three hundred yards
of open ground to get on to the defensive posiion. They advanced
quickly and occupied the position. One or two policemen, including the
ringleader, werce killed and ten or twelve persons were injured. Luckily
the trouble was quelled, the situation brought under control, and the
chances ol its spreading to the rest of the province were climinated.

On another occasion, too, I had to act in aid of the civil power. T
was called by Khawaja Nazimuddin, the Chiel Minister, who told me
that he had a precarious majority of four in the Assembly. He wa:
worricd that he would soon lose support as Fazlul Haq had mobitized
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the students, who were intimidating his followers. He wanted me to
prevent the students from attacking the Assembly Hall, I should have
declined to intervene as it was essentially a task for the police, but T was
worried that if there was a breakdown of the government it might lead
to widespread agitation and lawlessness. So I deputed an Infantry
Company under Major Peerzada to be available to the police force
near the Assembly Hall should the need arise. The session opened
and inside the House the Chief Minister embarked on his speech which
he had described to me as “very important’. Qutside, the students were
crving blue murder. Fazlul Haq knew his stuff: he would pop out of
the hall every now and then and give a fresh slogan to the students
which they would go on chanting. This went on till about five o’clock in
the evening when I got a message that the students were getting very
close to the troops and that there was danger of a clash.

It was winter and beginning to get dark. I was worried that if the
students rushed the troops they would have to open fire, and this I
wanted to avoid at all cost. 1 decided to go to the Assembly. I had never
scen such confusion. The Chief Minister was haranguing an angry and
violent House, while outside the students were having the time of their
life. Obeidullah was the Superintendent of Police on duty. T asked him,
“Why don’t vou take some action and keep these boys away ?’ He said,
‘Sir, if vou order me I will take action. But I am not going to do any-
thing for these politicians.” I was shocked and asked why. He explained
that they would order him to disperse the students and the next day
hold an inquiry and put the whole blame on him; they would never
take responsibility. ‘I want an order in writing’, he insisted.

The morale of the police force was obviously pretty low. I went into
the Assemnbly and got in touch with the Chief Minister. 1 told him that
it was getting dark and the boys were alrcady too close to myv men.
“What shall I do?® he asked me. ‘Disperse the House and go home’,
I advised. ‘How can I do that ™ he remonstrated quite seriously; ‘T am
right in the middle of a very important specch!” He must have scen the
look of amusement on my face and decided: ‘All right, give me five
minutes.” He went into the House, spoke to someone and returncd.
‘Well, I am ready to go home, but how do I get out of here,” I asked
Major Peerzada to bring the Chief Minister's car to the back of the
Assembly Hall. Together we smuggled the Chief Minister out through
the kitchen, Having accomplished that feat, I eame out and told the
bovs, “The bird has flown!” They roared with laughter and the whole
scene which, a moment ago, had looked tensc and pregnant with danger,
assumed a jovizl colour. Fazlul Haq came out 2long with Mohammad
All of Bogra who was then in the Opposition, and they tried to work up
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the boys again. I tapped Mohammad Ali on the shoulder and said,
‘Are you looking for 2 bullet?’ He retorted, “You are being rude.’ I did
not want the trouble to restart so I told him firmly to go home.

Mohammad Ali controlled five votes in the Assembly, He immedi-
ately went to the Chief Minister and threatened to withdraw his
support. The Chief Minister summoned me and after thanking me flor
saving the situation told me that I had annoyed Mohammad Al and
this would cost him his government. I suggested that he might call him
so that I could explain the posidon to him. When Mohammad Ali
came, I embraced him and said, ‘I was only pulling your leg. You
should not have taken it seriously.” I was fed up and did not want to get
involved any further in their internal wrangle. Mohammad Ali felt
pacified and we parted as friends.

Meanwhile, I was looking for a place to set up the Divisional Head-
quarters. Dacca just did not have any suitable accommodation. I saw
the High Court building but it was not easy to suggest to the High
Court authorities that they should let us have a part of the building.
The Chief Justice, Mr. Mohammad Akram, however, was a man of
great understanding. Some of his Judges used to sit in tents, but they
were kind enough to let us have the accommodation we required. 1
remember one day I was coming back to the High Court afier an
inspection. I found Fazlul Haq asking the students to lic flat on the
ground to prevent the working of the Court. I looked out of my car and
asked what it was all about. Fazlul Haq saw me and apparently decided
that I looked dangerous. He quietly advised the boys to clear out. I
must say life was not without its moments of excitement, and even
amusement, in those days.

Before I left the province I was able to build up an adequate Ansar
{civil armed guards) force. In this I received great support from Aziz
Ahmed who was then Chief Sceretary of the provincial government.
He felt that such a force would bring discipline to the masses and per-
suaded the provincial government to spare resources for it. The East
Bengal Regiment also came into existence in my time, It was the first
time that people from this part had been cnlisted in 2 combatant unit.
T was also able to establish the East Pakistan Rifles, a police force, and
initiate a system of giving all police officers battle-training. It did the
force an immense amount of good and they developed tremendous con-
fidence and pride in themselves,

Ileft East Pakistan toward the end of November 1949, with a heavy
heart. I had grown very fond of the people and developed some under~

standing of the problems of the area which stood me in good stead
later,
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II

From East Pakistan I was recalled to General Headquarters at Rawal-
pindi. General Gracey was Commander-in-Chief at that time and
General Ross Mackay was his Chief of Staff; I was appointed Adjutant-
General. The Adjutant-General’s Branch dealt with the maintenance
of personnel, recruitment of officers and men, medical facilities, salaries
and pensions, and discipline.

One of the first problems that I had to face was with regard to the
Azad Kashmir forces. The fighting in Kashmir had ended in a cease-
fire. The Azad forces needed to be put on a regular footing and brought
under some military code of discipline. There were some 50,000 men
under arms, of varying military quality, and no Army Act was ap-
plicable to them. A great deal of correspondence on this subject had
been going on between G.H.Q. and the Azad Kashmir government.
There was a gentleman called Shah who was head of the Azad Kashmir
government and who had some connection with the State forces. He was
deaf and used to carry with him an impressive hearing aid. He had
been insisting that the Azad forces be governed by the British Army Act,
and he based his argument on the fact that whenever State forces were
cmployed by the British they came under the British Army Act and not
the Indian Army Act. I was furious when I heard this and thought I
should talk to the man. I told him that the British had gone and taken
the code with them. We had only one code, the Pakistan Army Act,
and it would be conducive to better discipline if this Act was applied
to the Azad forces also. I noticed that whenever he did not want to
hear anything, Shah would quietly disengage the hearing aid. 1 spent
a long time with him but could not get any answer from him. \Whenever
I asked him whether he agreed, he would put up a blank appearance
pretending not to have heard anything. However, in the end, the Azad
forces agreed to be governed by the Pakistan Army code.

Gracey was a very kind man. He was extremely considerate and
allowed me 2 great deal of freedom. Ross Mackay was a meticulous
Staff Officer with a brilliant military record, and I found his advice
in staff matters extremely helpful. He was 2 sound, sober, and stable
officer. The army had no pay or pension code and all the perquisites
available in the army for long and meritorious service had been taken
away by the government. No honorary commissions could be given nor
any monetary awards made to men in the ranks, I started an arduous
battle with the Ministry of Finance and it took me nearly seven years to
resolve some of these problems. I would take 2 proposal to Finance
and my only request would be, ‘Please, say yes or no, but please do say
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something,” It was like battering one’s head against a wall of enigmatic
silence, It was not always easy to get to the top peopie who were
apparently busy building silent walls of their own. One had to be
content with smaller walls like Deputy Financial Advisers. It seemed
that everything had been left to people at that level and they were as
impervious to reasoning as they were insensitive to the urgeacy of
requirements. I thought Chaudhri Mohammad Ali, who was then the
Secretary-General to the Government of Pakistan, would lend a hand in
resolving our difficulties. He knew something about the army, having
served as Financial Adviser, Military Finance, in pre-independence
days. I did not come into direct contact with him much but, to the
best of my knowledge, he never lifted his little finger to help resolve our
problems.

The Pakistan Army was in truth being held together by precious
little. We used to feel in G.H.Q. that in a situation of real crisis we would
find oursclves hopelessly handicapped. I kept reminding the govern-
ment at Karachi that it was not a healthy state of affairs. A man who
one day might be called upon to give his life for the country must have
some sense of security, At least his conditions of scrvice shounid be
settled. Unless this was done he could not devote himself wholeheartedly
to his profession, Apart from this, there was need for clear-cut decisions
in important policy matters affecting the future of the army without
which we could not even begin to organize ourselves. We had in-
herited a war-time force comprising excellent fighting material but
imperfectly trained. A large number of officers had been recruited
against short-term emergency commissions and they were poorly
trained and had no concept of serving in a peace-time army.

We had no complete Muslim unit: the British used to regard the
Muslims as a dangerous element and had scattered them through
different units. The result was that most of the men did not know onc
another and the units were still lacking in esprit de corps, thus adding to
the general problem of indiscipline. I must confess that I adopted some
rough and ready methods to deal with this problem. The news travelled
fast through the army that I was inclined to deal with men at the
physical level. It had a sobering effect. The indiscipline among officers
required more drastic treatment, and I felt that I would not be able to
carry the Commander-in-Chief with me. So I decided to postpone
this operation till some more propitious oceasion, I started an Officers’
Training School and also went into the working of the Military
Academy. The future of the army depended on our establishing sound
training institutions which could produce regular officers with a sensc
of discipline and devotion according to peace-time requirements,
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I served as Adjutant-General for 2bout a year. The experience was
most valuable because it brought me face to face with basic problems
of overall army organization. It also gave me an opportunity to see the
working of the central government, at least in the financial sphere, at
first hand. Notwithstanding all the deficiencies and difficulties 1 had
one satisfaction: we had a young army and first-class human material.
God had given us a magnificent opportunity to organize an army of
our own in the service of our country. And we did.



4

Commander-in-Chief

There was considerable speculation about the prospects of a Pakistani
being appointed Commander-in-Chief at the end of General Gracey’s
term. Gracey would have liked to continue, but the feeling was growing
that the army should be commanded by a Pakistani. At the back of this
might have been Gracey’s refusal to issue instructions to Pakistan troops
to move into Kashmir, as desired by the Quaid-e-Azam in October 1947,
without the approval of Lord Mountbatten who was the Supreme
Commander. It is claimed that the Quaid-e-Azam had agreed to revise
his orders at the intervention of Auchinleck, but in the process Gracey
had not enhanced his reputation with the people.

I remember that long before the appointment of the new Com-
mander-in-Chief, Prime Minister Liaquat Ali Khan came to Rawal-
pindi. There was a Divisional Commanders’ Conference and I had
come from East Pakistan to attend. The Prime Minister sent for senior
Pakistani officers and addressed them at the Circuit House. Towards
the end of his address he said that it had been decided to appoint a
Pakistani as the next Commander-in-Chicf of the Pakistan Army. He
mentioned that the government had not yet selected the person but that
it was possible that the appointment would not go to the most scnior
officer. He wanted to know the likely repercussions among senior officers
in case a person lower in the order of seniority was chosen. He asked
several officers and finally turned to me, T was sitting at the end. He
said, ‘General Ayub Khan, would you like to say something?’ I said,
‘Sir, may I say with great respect that this question should never have
been asked. Our drill is simple and clear. As army officers we serve to
the best of our ability and leave the judgement to our superiors.
Whatever decision they take, whether we like it or not, we must accept
it. And if somebody is not prepared to accept that decision, he should
get the hell out of the army.’

I think General Raza and a few others were among the senior-most
officers and they were frequently spoken of. There was also a great deal
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of talk about General Iftikhar, a good officer; there was an impression
that the British were backing him. Unfortunately he and General Sher
Khan were killed in an air crash at Jungshahi. General Iftikhar was a
difficult man to get on with, and he was short-tempered. I do not know
how he would have done as Commander-in-Chief but [ am certain that
he would have met with considerable difficulty.

By the time I came to Rawalpindi as Adjutant-General the talk
about the identity of the next Commander-in-Chief had become very
lively. Once or twice my wife also asked me who was likely to be ap-
pointed Commander-in-Chief. I remember telling her, ‘Quite honestly,
I do not know; but I do know that, whoever is appointed, I shall have
to do a great deal of work for him.” People then started making direct
inquiries of me. I thought the best way to avoid all the gossip was to
take some leave. So I took my wife and children and retired to the cool
heights of Changlagali for two months.

Finally, one September night in 1950, I was rung up by an officer
of the Ministry of Defence and informed that I had been sclected as the
next Commander-in-Chief. I was deeply conscious of the great re-
sponsibilities lying ahead of me. I prayed to God that He grant me the
courage and ability to prove myself equal to the task, It was an event of
some significance for the country. After nearly two hundred years 2
Muslim army in the sub-continent would have a Muslim Commander-
in-Chief. T knew that whatever traditions and standards were estab-
lished would continue to guide the army for a long time. I was deter-
mined that I should establish the highest standards in professional
work and in all my dealings with people. I was going to be entrusted
with the job of organizing a young army. It was a great challcngeand a
great opportunity. My first concern would be to instil a sensc of self-
respect among members of the armed forces. They must learn to stand
on their own fect and be judged on merit. I was soon to learn that this
was going to prove far more difficult than I had visualized.

General Gracey took the announcement in very good part. I was
appointed Deputy Commander-in-Chief so that I should be able to
make myself familiar with the work. I went to Germany and England
on a short visit to study military establishments.

I took over as Commander-in-Chief on 17 January 195:. General
Gracey did not say very much to me when he was leaving. Not much
can be done in handing over and taking over a job like this and the new
man must start all on his own. But he did mention to me, somewhat
vaguely, that there was a “Young Turk’ Party in the army. I wanted to

know what he meaunt by that. He was not very explicit, but did say that
there were some peculiar people, like Akbar Khan. Two or three
FAL—y
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months later the Akbar conspiracy, which came to be known as the
Rawalpindi Conspiracy, was discovered.

I learnt of the conspiracy from Prime Minister Liaquat Ali Khan,
He was on an clectionecring tour at the me and sent for Iskander
Mirza and me to meet him at Sargodha railway station. He had called
me from Lahore and Iskander Mirza from Karachi. I arrived about an
hour and a half earlier than Iskander Mirza. I noticed that the Prime
Minister was a little restless. This was unusual because he normally
maintained an impeccable calm and never showed any signs of ill-
ternper. He inquired about Iskander Mirza and said, “What has hap-
pened to this damned fellow ? Why has he not turned up so far #’

It was Innch time when Iskander Mirza arrived. The Prime Minister
askedustojoinhimatlunch and throughout he continued to talk tousina
normal, almost casual, way. When lunch was over he leaned back and
said, ‘Gentlemen, I have bad news for you. It has come to my know-
ledge that a military coup to overthrow the government has been
planned by certain army officers and it is going to be put into effect
very soon.” I immediately asked for details. He gave me the full text
of the report which he had reccived from I. I, Chundrigar who was then
Governor of the North-West Frontier Province. I suggested we should
check the facts before taking any action,

Iskander and I went to Peshawar to see the Governor and the
police officer who had passed on the report to him, and also the in-
former. 1 spoke to the Governor and later met Kiani, the police officer,
Kiani did not want to expose his informer but we finally got hold
of him. While I questioned Kiani, Iskander Mirza interrogated the
informer. It was soon clear that an uprising had been planned. One
of the conspirators was Brigadier Siddique Khan who had served in my
unit at one time and was then commanding a Brigade at Bannu, He
was a rather unstable type, cmotional and impulsive. I sent an aircraft
for him and told him, ‘Siddique, you tell me the truth or I shall string
you upside down.’ Siddique denied all knowledge and claimed that the
report was completely false. We allowed him to go back to Bannu. On
arrival there he rang up Colonel Arbab at Thal who, as it transpired
later, was another of the conspirators. Siddique told him that the cat
was out of the bag. This confirmed my fear that a serious plot to over-
throw the government had been hatched.

By then we had enough material to go back and report to the
Prime Minister and he decided that we should take immediate action.
Inspector-General of Police Qurban Ali Khan was put in the picture
and all the officers and civilians involved in the conspiracy were
arrested in their houses the same night. My first idea was to hold a court
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martial to try the case but the difficulty was that certain civilians were
also involved. The Prime Minister decided that a Special Civil Tri-
bunal be set up and the trial held in camera to prevent exposure of State
secrets. The trial was held in Hyderabad Jail and Suhrawardy was
engaged by the accused as defence counsel.

Suhrawardy was a complex character, 2 man who loved the gay life
of night-clubs and had tremendous energy and drive. He took great
delight in attacking the army officers who appeared as witnesses and I
felt he far overstepped the mark in his cross-examination. The Court,
however, remained passive. There was nothing I could do about it at
the time. The conspirators were convicted and sentenced. Some years
later Suhrawardy and his supporters prevailed on the government to
release them. That was the prerogative of the government and I could
not object, but what I could not forgive was Suhrawardy’s unnecessarily
harsh and undignified cross-examination of the army officers.

Afterwards, when we were both Cabinet Ministers, in a Cabinet
meeting when the subject of the conspiracy was raised and Subrawardy
made some comment, I rounded on him and said that he had done
great harm to the army at the trial, and that he was no frend of
Pakistan. He did not reply. Later, when he was to be appointed Prime
Minister, I happened to be in Karachi, and Iskander Mirza called me
and said, ‘WWe are going to appeint Mr. Suhrawardy as the Prime
Minister. In that capacity he will also be your Defence Minister and
vou know that he would like to settle his account with you.” He suggested
that we meet. Suhrawardy came to President’s House. I told him that
I knew his feelings towards me and that, no doubt, he knew my feclings
towards him. But as Commander-in-Chief I would obey and carry out
whatever legitimate and Jawful orders were given to me. At the same
time I would expect that there would be no interference in the internal
affairs of the army. Suhrawardy found that an acceptable arrangement
and we shook hands on it. I must sayv that he never interfered with the
affairs of the army and whenever I went to him I always found him
ready to listen, and to give decisions.

131

The Rawalpindi Conspiracy had deep roots; it grew in the soil of
discontent and distrust and it was able to develop for several reasons.
There was considerable unrest among the officers caused by a spate of
swift promotions from junior to senior ranks. This raised expectations
to unwarranted heights. Every officer feit that unless he was made
Commander-in-Chicl no one would believe that he had done weli in
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life. It was a curious phenomenon. Perfectly sensible people, Brigadiers
and Generals, would go about bemoaning their lot. Each one of them
was a Bonaparte, albeit an unhappy one. I used to tell myself that but
for Independence I would have been lucky to have become a Brigadier.
Even after Independence I would have considered myself eminently
successful if' I had retired as a Major-General. The most usual military
expectation is the command of a unit, the rank of Licutenant-Colonel,
and then retirement from service. It was this sudden devaluation of
the higher posts which produced fantastic ideas and ambitions in
people.

Then there was the fighting in Kashmir. It started as an irregular
campaign. Soldiers and officers were out on their own with litte direc-
tion from headquarters and with considerable responsibility placed in
the hands of junior officers.

But I think the main reason for this discontent was that we had a
government which failed to discharge its functions properly. When
Akbar Khan's papers were seized we found among them a thesis in
which he had accused the Prime Minister and everybody elsc in the
government of inefficiency and inability to give decisions. Akbar
Khan’s aim was to establish a tidier form of government. He was a
brave officer enjoying considerable prestige in the service, but ambitious
and a very persuasive talker. He knew how to influence people and he
had cast his net widely and unobtrusively.

Although I never thought for a moment that he could be planning
to overthrow the government, I had always been a little suspicious of
him. I knew of his ambition, of his family background, and also of his
political leanings. When, as Commander-in-Chief, I had to promote
certain officers to the rank of Major-General, including Akbar Khan,
I pondered for some time what I should do with him. I decided to post
him to General Headquarters as Chicef of General Staff. I did this to
cnsurc that he remained under my eye and also not in direct command
of troops. I noticed that as Chief of General Stafl lic was inclined to
neglect his duties and spent a lot of time in Azad Kashmir in mecting
the Sudhans and others. I gave him one or two tasks which he did not
complete in time, 1 had told him, for example, that he should arrange
the procurement of hard rations such as concentrates which were
necessary for our men employed in enemy territory. He kept aveiding
me. I said to mysell, ‘this man is cither inefficient or has not got his heart
in the job, or his mind is working on something clse.” It was a kind of
premonition.!

! Akbar Khan was tried by a special tribunal and convicted, Afier serving part of
his sentence he was released and has become o private eitizen.
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The whole aflair came as a great shock to me and to all right-
thinking people in the army. The prestige of the army had reccived a
grievous blow. People could legitimately ask what kind of a shicld had
they got. The army had inherited a great tradition of loyalty, sense of
duty, patriotism, and complete subordination to civil authority. No one
could imagine that when the country was in a difficult situation this
great instrument of stability would prove so vulnerable. I shudder to
think what would have happened to the army and the country if the
conspiracy had succceded. There were two possible ways of its suc-
ceeding: one, swift and complete success without any clash within the
armed forces, because the conspirators would have placed people like
mysell and other loyal senior army officers under arrest, before we
could take any counter-action. The army might or might not have
accepted this change. In any case, there would have been a period of
complete confusion. And then if Akbar Khan and his iik had been clever
cnough, they might have been able to hold their positions and control
the sitvation. On the other hand, the chances were that some of us
might have got an inkling and moved troops to anticipate and counter
the action of the conspirators. The result would have been a clash be-
tween units of the Pakistan Army. If that had happened, the Indian
Army would have marched in. That was what I was really afraid of,
I quickly recovered from the shock and sct out to restore the dignity,
cfficiency, and sclf-confidence of the army. Once that wasachicved I felt
that it would regain its prestige in the eyes of the people of Pakistan.

We examined the antecedents of officers and got rid of the doubtful
ones, We tightened up on discipline, embarked on extensive training
exerciscs, and I kept moving around and visiting various units. I knew
that the cancer had been removed but that there was still a tremendous
amount of lost ground to be regained. Paradoxical as it might scem, I
was, in a sense, grateful that I had so much to do and that I could lose
myself in my work, for the malaise in the political and administrative
life of Pakistan was becoming painful. Karachi was 2 hotbed of intrigues.
It was providential that army headquarters were in Rawalpindi, 1
would come back from my occasional visits to Karachi depressed and
distressed, wondering what was happening to the country. Why were
people not attending to their work with some honesty of purpose and
why could they not cvolve some team spirit? Why all these factions,
disscnsions, and disputes? And why all this malice and distrust? They
were all busy destroying one another. It used to take me three or four
days to recover from a Karachi visit. I would then say to myself]
*Karachi is over there and we are here; let us run the army.” I found
my escape in working harder and working the soldicrs harder.
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As Commander-in-Chief I had to take certain problems to Karachi.
I would ask Iskander Mirza, who was Defence Secretary, whether he
would like to take them up with the Primc Minister. He always wanted
me to go and see the Prime Minister myself. It developed into a tedious
routine: first, to get the Prime Minister’s decisions, then to explain
them to the Defence Secretary for follow-up action. Sometimes Iskander
Mirza had to check on certain decisions with the Prime Minister. At
one of my meetings with the Prime Minister I suggested that it would
be convenient if the Defence Secretary could also be present. Liaguat
Ali Khan said, “You might bring him along, but you should know that
I do not like him.’ After that Iskander Mirza and I used to go to the
Prime Minister together and their relationship improved.

In 1951 when the Indians built up heavy military concentrations
against us all along the border, Liaguat Ali Khan seemed tempted by
the prospect of war. He said, ‘T am tired of these alarums and excur-
sions. Let us fight it out.” I submitted to him that before making up his
mind he should take into account the views of those whose profession
it was to fight. We had only thirteen tanks with about forty to fifty
hours’ engine life in them to face the Indian Army at the time, and not
only our politicians but our troops were itching to settle accounts with
India. It was my job to hold them back which, thank Heavens, I did.
The Primme Minister was a sound man basically, always prepared to
consider the pros and cons of a situation dispassionately, and he never
acted in a hurry.

I grew to admire Prime Minister Liagquat Ali Khan enormously.
He had a stout heart and was a man of great courage. Nothing cver
perturbed him. He had served as a loyal licutenant of the Quaid-e-
Azam, always content to work in the background. He was a lonely
man—in a position like that you do become lonely—and sometimes I
got the feeling that he was beginning to rely more and more on me. I
would give him unbiased and honest opinion on problems when he
consulted me. I noticed that he was very much under the influence of
Chaudhri Mohammad Al

Towards the end Liaquat was being challenged from several
quarters. Politics became regionalized, with the result that the
Prime Minister was forced to depend more and more on the refugee
group. The tension in the Punjab was grewing because of the
squabbles between the Nawab of Mamdot and Mian Mumtaz
Daultana.

The affairs of the Muslim League, the governing party, were in a
mess, The Muslim League High Command and the Working Com-
mittee were controlled by a small coteric of men and the party had no
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organizational structure. Conflicts between the provinces were develop-
ing and demands from East Pakistan were becoming more insistent.
It looked as if Liaquat Ali Khan might prove too slow to regain the
initiative. His eye-sight was deteriorating: I noticed that he would
hold papers at a particular angle to read them. The people around him
were equally slow and indecisive. There was nobody who could
make up his mind about anything. It seems to me, however, that
this disintegration had started earlier, even in the Quaid-e-Azam’s
time, with pcople like Choudhry Khaliquzzaman challenging his
authority.

A few months after the trial of the Rawalpindi conspirators the
Prime Minister was assassinated while delivering a public speech.
This happened in Rawalpindi on 16 October 1951. The motive of the
crime was never cstablished. I was in a London clinic at that time
undergoing treatment for amoebic dysentery. For five or six years I had
been running a low temperature. I had an appendicitis operation in
1951 and thercafter something went wrong with my system. I remember
that Habib Ibralum Rahimtoola, our High Commissioner in London,
rang me up in the hospital and gave me the tragic news. It camec as a
great personal blow, for I had a high regard and liking for Liaquat Ali
Khan. And I kncw, too, that his decath was a terrible loss to the
country.

Before long it became apparent that none of the Prime Minister’s
associates was capable of filling the gap created by his death. Conditions
throughout the country detcriorated rapidly and we witnessed the start
of a woeful chapter in our country’s history and one which was to drag
on its unhappy course for several vears.

When I returned to Pakistan I mect several members of the new
Cabinet in Karachi—Prime Minister Khawaja Nazimuddin, Chaudhri
Mohammad All, Mushtag Ahmad Gurmani and others. Not onc of
them mentioned Liaquat AH Khan’s name, nor did I hear a word of
sympathy or regret from any one of them. Governor-General Ghulam
\Mohammad seemed equally unaware of the fact that the country had
lost an eminent and capable Prime Minister through the fell act of an
assassin. I wondered at how callous, cold-blooded, and sclfish people
could be. It seemed that every one of them had got himself promoted in
onc way or another. The termination of the Prime Minister’s life had
come as the beginning of a new career for them. It was disgusting and
revolting. It may be a harsh thing to say, but I got the distinct im-
pression that they werc all fecling relieved that the only person who
might have kept them under control had disappeared from the seene.
The political arena was now available to them for a free-for-all. The
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assassination of the Prime Minister caused universal anguish., There
were all kinds of wild rumours and some cabinet ministers and highly
placed individuals svere accused of having plotied the murder. I did
not for a moment believe that any one of them was directly or in-
directly involved in the assassination. I know that Begum Liaquat Ali
Khan still thinks the government did not try hard enough to investigate
the assassination and bring the culprits to book. I have seen the report
of the expert who was called from Scotland Yard: he could find no
evidence to show that the assassination was anything but the act of an
individual. Had there been any complicity or involvement of any kind,
I have no doubt that it would have been discovered. These things do
not remain hidden.

It was my belief at that time that Liaquat Ali Khan could have
blossomed into an active and positive leader of the nation. I hoped he
would put his foot down and crush all the intrigues. Unfortunately he
did not live long enough to give a clear lead and direction to the country.

II1

Both these unfortunate events, the Rawalpindi Conspiracy and the
assassination of the Prime Minister, occurred during the first few
months of my assumption of office as Commandecr-in-Ghicf. I initiated
certain schemes for the reorganization of the army immediately after
the conspiracy was discovered. The political turmoil which appeared
in the wake of the Prime Minister’s death convinced me that we must
not lose any time in building up the army swhich alone could hold the
country together and defend it against any possible attack. India
appeared to be watching these developments with satisfaction and [
later learnt from Sheikh Abdullah that Pandit Nehru told him at the
time that Pakistan would disintegrate in a couple of years. He wanted to
come to some arrangement with Sheikh Abdullah on the assumption
that Pakistan would soon ccase to be a political entity.

Whatever institutions we had inherited at the time of Indcpendence
or had set up since then were crumbling one by onc. People had fast
lost their initial enthusiasm and found themselves surrounded by
problems, with no onc to attend to them. Everyone now joined in the
political vaudeville. There was no organ of administration which was not
pressed into scrvice to promote individual political interests. All this
hardened my determination to keep the army completely aloof from
politics. Even though senior army officers were conscious of what was
going on in the political sphere, 1 never permitted them to discuss
political affairs,
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One of the first things I did as Commander-in-Chief was to set up
a Planning Board of which General Yahya, the Deputy Chief of General
Staff, became the first Chairman. I would assign specific tasks to the
Board for study. None of us spared himself and before one task was
completed another would be there to engage our attention.

Our basic weapon was man. This was what I wanted my colleagues
to realize. We must first solve all his problems and remove his difficul-
ties, whether personal or professional, before this weapon could become
fully effective. His conditions of service should be secure and he must
have adequate incentives for work. The education of his children, his
medical care, his food, his dress, and his accommmodation should be our
concern. The less he had to worry, the more active interest would he
have in his work. While it took me some time to resolve the financial
problems which I have already mentioned, we went ahead to set up
agricultural and dairy farms and took steps to improve the breed of
livestock. A number of horse-breeding centres were opened and we
ensured the provision of a balanced and nutritious diet for everyone in
the army. New medical centres and hospitals were set up, and
trained and ecfficient doctors and nurses provided. The ex-soldier
and his dependants were also taken care of through the investment
of the pre-Partition post-war reconstruction fund. By 1964 about
2.6 million rupees per annum were being spent for the education
and welfare of ex-soldiers and their dependants. To attract the right
type of young men a number of cadet colleges and academies were
established. To support these institutions a chain of public schools was
started. All these reforms had an immediate impact on recruitment and
morale,

My principal concern, however, was to train the army on appro-
priate lines. There was too much routine and drudgery and too little
purpose in what we were asking the men to do. Most of the time they
hardly knew what it meant; they just obeyed and followed. Was this
the way to get the best out of them? Our organization and establish-
ments were based on Second World War concepts which, apart from
being cumbersome, had become completely obsolete. The army was
organized not so much for the defence of the homeland as for an
expeditionary force. This was understandable, as the primary role of
the old Indian Army was to support the British forces in creating and
policing British overseas interests.

We inherited six Infantry Divisions, one Armoured Brigade and a
few training and static installations at the time of Independence. This
looked guite impressive on paper. What we got, in fact, were truncated
formations and units eritically deficient in essential equipment, India’s
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refusal to give us our share of armaments, equipment, and stores
further added to our problems.

After the war, armies throughout the world carried out extensive
research and modified their organizations in the light of new weapons
and new requirements. We were unable to do so immediately after
Independence because of our other pressing problems. Apart from
following outmoded concepts, we suffered from serious shortcomings
in logistic and training facilities. The country could not afford the extra
expenditure required for making up deficiencies in essential units and
equipment and for balancing and re-equipping the army. I started with
a review of the organization and structure of field formations and usits
in order to achicve balance, with increased mobility and firepower.
Manpower was reduced, wherever possible. Simultaneously, the
operative procedures of our schools, training centres, depots, and other
logistic installations were revised. It was here that the Planning Board
proved particularly useful. The Board would analyse different problems
and comc to me directly with recommendations, thus eliminating the
tedious routine of ministerial processes.

The first essential in reorganizing the army was to shift the emphasis
from learning the technique of war to understanding the art of war.
The important thing was to develop capability to apply the principles
of war to areas of higher tactics and strategy.

In the system that we inherited there was little room for original
thinking. Loyalty had become synonymous with blind obedience and
there was little attempt at reflection or eriticism. The whole system of
training and promotion was directed to the production of stereotyped
men and nothing new or unusual could emerge at any level. Worse
still, we were completely dependent on foreign countries for our tactical
doctrines and methods. It was 2 sad commentary on our methods of
training that our men, who are natural hunters and stalkers, should
become tactically clumsy after spending six months in the army. They
lost all their resourcefulness, flexibility, and skill and became rigid,
stercotyped, and inhibited. We were Lilling in them all that was natural,
Clearly there was need for fundamental rethinking and drastic changes.

Our officers had spirit and intelligence but they were lacking in
sympathy, with the result that their relatdonship with their men was
governed by the rigid principle of command and obedience. 1 also
thought that we might adopt a system of attaching outstanding officers
to other professions so that they might be able to add 2 new dimension
to their experience and acquire breadth of vision. I knew that whatever
plans for reorganization we might evolve, they had to suit the likely
operational role of the army and the geographic conditions and national
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characteristics and temperament of our people, apart from being sound
in theory. Moreover, all new concepts and establishments should be
within our means and the objective should be to achieve balance,
increased firepower, and battle efficiency in as economical 2 manner as
possible.

The operational and tactical background for reorganization was
closely examined and comprehensive studies prepared to evolve mew
elements in strategy and organization. Each one of these elements was
subjected to ground tests under exacting and realistic conditions. Every
reform was developed in 2 pragmatic manner and given final shape on
the basis of results obtained during actual trials.

The British Army had been backed by vast arsenals of ammunition
and armaments. We must learn t0 do with limited resources. The
Infantry Division was made considerably more mobile and effective
though its basic structure remained unaltered in view of our reliance
on conventional weapons. The firepower of the Division was increased
by nine tons of metal per minute, all weapons firing at normal rate.
Certain savings were made in administrative personnel, and mobility
was increased by elimination of unnecessary equipment and introduc-
tion of more economical Jozding methods. These changes gave the
Infantry more teeth and less tail. Tt took years of work, but T still
remember the exciternent with which I watched the new experimcntal
Brigade under Gul Mawaz. This experiment determined the future
organization of our units. The basic concept was to defend or attack a
piece of ground with firepower and not with human bodies—intro-
ducing a seemingly irregular type of warfare on a large scale.

The design of our training centres was completely out of date, and
the new techniques and concepts evolved after the last war had not been
applied. The principal difficulty was that each separate training centre
was designed to be self-sufficient in all crades required by the army. The
result was uneven standards of output and dissipation of training effort.
Centre Commanders were expected to supervise subjects of which they
themselves had little knowledge and the existence of 2 chain of-sn-mll
centres inevitably added to overheads. I decided to centralize traning.
The smaller centres were amalgamated into more economical groups
on the basis of common trades and common requirements. Where 2
trade required 2 high degree of technical skill and cffort, the responst-
bility for training was entrusted to the agency most suited to the
purpose. .

From this emerged the idea of amalgamating regiments ’_“"}‘h
common traditions, common class-composition, and common r-ccruum_g
areas. The result was that the Baluch Regiment, the gth Punjab Reg-
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ment, and the Bahawalpur Regiment became the new Baluch Regi-
ment. The new Frontier Force Regiment absorbed the Frontier Foree
Rifles, the Pathan Regiment, and the old Frontier Force Regiment.
And the 1st, 14th, 15th, and 16th Punjab Regiments became the new
Punjab Regiment. The newly reorganized East Bengal Regiment
retained its entity and composition. I knew all this would set up a
howl. The old regiments which lost their identity were, understandably,
unhappy. Slowly and patiently we succeeded in converting old officers
to new ideas. I must say they responded magnificently after they got
rid of their initial scepticism and the results were beyond expectations.
The credit for this goes to the officers and men for their spirit of compro-
mise and adjustment over such delicate issues as customs, traditions,
and dress.

In the meantime, the whole training system was undergoing radical
change. The syllabuses were being revised and the institutions were
geared to the requirements of greater and more rapid turnover. The
theoretical and practical aspects of training used to be trcated in
isolation. We combined trade training with military training. There
was a tendency to forget that practical training and knowledge could
be obtained only by actually serving with the troops and that experi-
ence gained the hard way as a cog in the larger tactical machinery of
the army could not be replaced by purely theorctical study and scpa-
rate academic training, We were gradually able to achieve the correct
balance between academic instruction and practical work with the
troops. The commanders, right down the chain, were given the
responsibility for the training of their commands.

Another difficuity with our training system was in our attempt to
train 2 young officer at all levels of command in addition to letting
him specialize in the subject of his own arm or service. For every step
forward in rank the officer had to go back to school. This reduced the
unit to the status of a transit camp and the officer missed duty with the
troops which was really the essential part of his training,

The logistic facilitics available to the army at the time of Indepen-
dence were practically non-existent. We sueceeded in realigning our
logistic concepts and doctrines, and, in conscquence, our facilitics, with
the type and duration of any war in which the country might be in-
volved. Greater reliance was placed on indigenous resources and latent
potential was exploited in sectors common to defence and commeree.
Efforts were made to achieve greater standardization in the require-
ments of armed forces and specifications were modified, where necess-
ary, to accommodate indigenous capacity and workmanship. The
organization and establishment of logistic installations and depots
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were revised to suit the current and anticipated needs of the reorganized
field army.

All this work relating to the reorganization of the army was carried
out in the light of certain fundamentals of defence. Our first concern
was the defence of Pakistan against any possible aggression by India.
We knew that war with India would be a national war in every sense of
the word. India’s aim is to expand, dominate, and spread her influence.
In this she considers Pakistan as her enemy number one. Qur strategic
aim cannot be the conguest of India because that would be a negation
of the very concept of separation. Our aim must be to make India
realize that it is not worth her while to maintain a hostile attitude
towards us.

India’s military strength would always be greater than ours. Our
aim should be to build up a military deterrent force with adequate
offensive and defensive power; enough, at least, to neutralize the
Indian Army. India can concentrate her forces against us without
warning. We must, thercfore, have a standing army ready to take the
field at a moment’s notice. In our circumstances a territorial army has
hardly any place; it would take too much time to mobilize and train
such an army.

It was a’long and difficult struggle spread over several years, but
in the end we were able to develop an agile and effective army capable
of meeting any challenge. The new concept of fighting that we evolved,
and the re-education of our officers and men, has made the Pakistan
Army what it is today. It can take on an enemy several times its
strength. And in spite of all the vicissitudes and pressures generated by
political events, the army has been able to maintain its patriotic tradi-
tions and gradually develop into a powerful instrument of stability in
the life of the country. My prayer and belief is that it will always
remain s0: a sharp and reliable instrument of peace and war.

This should not be taken to mean that while building the army I
ignored the sister services: the Pakistan Navy and the Pakistan Air
Force. I had a considerable hand in building them up into what they
are today. The development of the air force has been my special
concern as the defence of Pakistan is essentially a Jand-air problem, as
is the case with all continental countries.
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Politics 1948~1958

I

We crossed a river of blood to achieve Independence.

People were uprooted and driven like millions of dry leaves by a
turbulent gust of fanaticism and blind passion. They were trampled
and crushed under the feet of communal fury. Hundreds of thousands
of men, women, and children were butchered and the sub-continent
was engulfed in a bloody civil war. What sustained us was the abounding
faith of our people in their destiny and their unfaltering devotion to the
ideology for which they had secured a motherland of their own.

India’s attitude to Pakistan continued to be one of unmitigated
hostility. Her aim was to cripple us at birth. She denied us our share of
financial resources and dishonoured solemn agreements for the supply
of our share of stores and equipment. She then involved us in the
struggle for Kashmir, When the cease-fire was called we had to hold
and guard nearly 500 miles of the line along extremely difficult terrain.
India maintained a constant posture of aggression which meant that we
had to strain our limited resources almost to breaking-point to build up
and equip an army which could contain Indian ambitions.

On the political front we were without a proper Constitution, We
were working under the Indian Independence Act 1947; and since the
Pakistan Muslim League had a majority in the Central Legislature,
some kind of a government could manage to function. The Quaid-c-
Azam, who had worked for the creation of Pakistan with supreme
dedication, died in 1948 before he could give the country a Constitu-
ton-which, coming from him, would have enjoyed popular support.

His succestor, Liaquat Ali Khan, for some inexplicable reason,
instead of first completing the process of constitution-making and
consolidating the position of his party at the cenire, started with
genceral clections in the provinces, Perhaps he was discouraged by the
reception accorded to the Report of the first Basic Principles Com-
mittee. I believe he was advised that if he could get a majority in the
provinces he would then be able to establish a majority at the centre.
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His position was considerably weakened by the political situation in
the Punjab. Liaquat Ali Khan had decided to support Mian Mumtaz
Daultana who was then the Chief Minister, as against the Nawab of
Mamdot. A PRODA! case was filed against the Nawab of Mamdot for
certain irregularities. All this was played up by the Press and a hostile
atmospherc was built up against Liaquat Ali Khan. His opponents,
backed by the Press, attacked his wife who, I know, is a very fine lady
indeed. She was working for the amelioration of the conditions of
women so that they might enjoy equal status with men and play their
legitimate role in society. But attacks on her were essentially intended to
embarrass the Prime Minister.

Those who followed Liaquat Ali Khan in political office proved
unequal to the task. They did not understand the problems facing the
country, nor did they have the courage to try to solve them. One after
another they made a mess of things by trying to work an unworkable
system of government, and the country started slipping very fast. The
central government gradually lost its grip over the affairs of the state,
being beset by the constant pressure tactics of parliamentarians and the
growing relative strength of the provincial govermments, who were
virtually holding it to ransom. It was caught between the conflicting
claims of the provinces, and any two provinces could gang up to brow-
beat the central authority.

The period between Liaquat Al Khan’s death and 1958 was dis-
tressing. Not only was the central government at loggerheads with the
provinces, but a great deal of intrigue and dog-fighting was going on
within the central government itself. A civil servant who had become
Finance Minister at the time of Independence clevated himself to the
position of Governor-General. Another turned himself overnight from
Secretary to Government (2 civi service post} to Minister for Finance.
All it required was rewriting the designation on the name-plates outside
their offices. The politicians were naturally dependent on permanent
scrvices, but the more powerful among the services had developed
political ambitions of their own. Everyone seemed to have a group of
his own and his sole occupation was to grind his own ax¢ regardless of
whether the country was ground to pieces in the process. .

One climax was reached in 1954 when Governor-General GhuEam
Mohammad used the pretext of the worsening economic situation,
near-famine conditions, and the Punjab disturbances to dismiss Khawaj2
Nazimuddin’s Ministry. While the latter was busy making futile
gestures, quoting his majority in the legislaturc and, some 3% suppli-
cating the Queen of England to come to his rescue, the Governor-

1 Pyblic and Representative Ofices Disqualification Act of 1049-
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General appointed Mohammad Ali Bogra Prime Minister and a
number of Nazimuddin’s colleagues in the Cabinet accepted office in
the new Cabinet without demur, if without avidity. Mohammad Ali
Bogra started as a protégé of Ghulam Mohammad. As he acquired
confidence he thought he should disengage himself from the apron-
strings of the Governor-General. People like Fazlur Rahman, Hashim
Gazdar, and Abdus Sattar Pirzada encouraged him to assert himsclf.
They would tell him that if he was not careful he would meet the fate
of his predecessor. They thought the only answer was to curtail the
powers of the Governor-General by amending the Indian Indepen-
dence Act 1947.

I remember this very well as on that day I happened to be in
Karachi, where I had gone to see the Prime Minister. I was aware of
a great deal of coming and going and I found it very difficult to discuss
any problem with the Prime Minister. Not that it was ever easy to
discuss anything with him. In the midst of something quite serious he
would pick up one’s pen or something and ask, “Where did you get this
one? He was like a child in these things. But apart from his usual
childishness there was an atmosphere of peculiar hurry around the
Prime Minister’s house and I asked him what it was about. I had by
then got to know these fellows: they were never in a hurry for any good
purpose. He told me quietly that his colleagues wanted some amend-
ment to be made in the Government of India Act by which the
Governor-General’s powers would be limited,

A Resolution was printed in the middle of the night and placed in
the pigcon-holes of Members of the National Asscmbly. In the morning
the Assembly met as a Constitution-making body, an hour bcfore its
scheduled time, and revoked Secctions g, 10, 16-A, 10-8, and 17 of the
Government of India Act, thus stripping the Governor-General
of the powers in exercise of which he had dismissed the Nazimuddin
Cabinet. The Resolution was moved and passed within ten
minutes. The Governor-General was convalescing in Abbottabad at
that time,

I mentioned this once to the late Maulvi Tamizuddin Khan who was
then Speaker of the Central Assembly. “You talk about political mora-
lity. What about your changing the Constitution without cven inform-
ing the Governor-General, who was in the country and had been
appointed, presumably, by majority support of the House? If you did
not want him you should have removed him. But you did not have the
moral courage to do that. Instead a subterfuge was adopted. The change
meant not only limiting the powers of an individual but destroying the
focal point of authority,’ Maulvi Tamizuddin replicd that such things
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were not unprecedented. “Nor are murders’, I said. ‘But by that token
vou don't condone them.’

Ghulam Mohammad was not the kind of man to take things lying
dovn. Whatever else he might have lacked he certainly did not lack
courage. He could fight anvbody and stand up to anvone; the man was
absolutely fearless. He was a sick man at that time and his speech was
quite unintellizible. He must have said tn himself, ‘All right, if this is
how vou have treated me, I shall pay vou back in the same coin.’

I went to the United States soon ziter this, with Prime Minister
Mohammad Ali Bogre, Sir Zafrullah Khan, and Chaudhri Mohammad
Al The Prime Minister got 2 message from the Governor-General to
return home at once. I sensed trouble and realized that the old man was
on the war-path and was going to dismiss him. The Prime Minister was
also worried and cancelled his visit to Canada. We decided to return as
quickly as possible. When we reached London we found that there was
no castbound fight that day so we had to charter 2 plane to get back to
Karachi,

At London Airport there was 2 telephone czll for me from the
Governor-General. I could not undersiand what he was saving and 1
gave the telephone to Iskander Mirza. All we could make out was that
he wanted me to get back to Pakistan 2t once; he was not interested in
the others. The Prime Minister was worried about what might happen
to him on his return. It was with great difficulty that I persuaded him to
accompany us back home. He kepi asking me, ‘Can you guarantee that
I will not be put under arrest when I get back?’ I could give him no
guarantee but I assured him that such 2 thing could not possibly happen.
He retorted, “And supposing vou are arrested too?’ 1 replied, ‘That will
be finc. You will be in good company.’

Oz the wayv I told Iskander Mirza and Chaudhri Mohammad Ali
that it would be extremely umwise If the Prime Minister was taken to
the Governor-General immediately on our arrival in Karachi: such a
confrontation could lead 1o an ugly situation. The decision was that
sorme of us should go to the Governor-General’s house 2nd persuade the
old man to act with reason and come to soms undersianding with the
Prime Minister. The Prime Minister should go to his own house and
wait for 2 signal from us. Mohammad All Bogra put up 2 brave front
buz, I think, inwardiv he was quite {rightened. He had sent 2 message
from London that he should be provided «with army protection on
armival. I was deeply perturbed myvs2lf. Knowing the Governor-

General's temperament, I was worried that he might do something
desprornie. The prestige of the country was invelved and if some extreme
measure was taken it would bring her into distepute. Tlie only s2nsible
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course was to bring about a rapprockement between the Governor-
General and the Prime Minister, Iskander Mirza, Chaudhri Mohammad
Ali and I went to the Governor-General’s house while the Prime
Minister, with some others, went to his own house,

The Governor-General was lying in his bedroom upstairs. He had
very high blood pressure and an agonizing back-ache which compelled
him to lie flat on hardboard. He was bursting with rage, emitting
volleys of abuse, which, luckily, no one understood, Chaudhri Moham-
mad Ali ventured to say something and received a volley; then
Iskander Mirza said something and got another. We were pleading
with him to give another chance to Mohammad Ali, His only reply was
an angry growl, ‘Go, off you go.” He kept on saying ‘No, no'. All he
wanted was to shoo us off.

We marched out of the bedroom in single file, Iskander Mirza at
the head, Chaudhri Mohammad Ali following, and I bringing up the
rear. I was about to step out of the room when the nurse attending the
Governor-General tugged at my coat. I turned and found myself
facing a different man. There he was, the sick old Governor-General,
who a moment ago was insane with anger, now beaming with delight
and bubbling with langhter. I said in my heart, ‘You wicked old man?
He beckoned me with a peculiar glee in his eye. ‘Sit down on the bed.’
He then pulled out two documents from under his pillow. On one was
wntten something to this effect: I, Ghulam Mohammad, so and so,
because of this, that, and the other hand over such and such authority
to General Ayub Khan and command him to produce a Constitution
within three months.’ I Jooked at that paper and said to myself, “Damn
your soul. For the last eight years you have done damn all, and you
expect me to produce a Constitution in three months.’ The other
document was to the effect that I had accepted the offer, and for 2
brief moment I had those historic documents in my hand.

As T Jooked at these pieces of paper, everything within me cried
‘NO’. T said: ‘You are being reckless and you will do the country
immense harm. I am engaged in building up the army. We have an
enemy, an implacable enemy in India. We may not want to be India’s
enerny but she insists on treating us as one. I can serve this country
better in my profession, I believe I ean do something useful, and in your
present frame of mind you are doing something which in the long run
will only damage the country.’ His answer was another volley of
abusc. But he realized that I was not going to be a party to an act of
rccklessness.,

While I was going through this, Mohammad Ali Bogra was engaged
with his own adviscrs. They ivere telling him that the Governor-
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General could not possibly touch him. We found some difficulty in
persuading Mohammad Ali Bogra to come to the Governor-General’s
house. The Governor-General and the Prime Minister finally came to
some understanding and a kind of truce was arranged between them.
A serious crisis was thus averted for the time being. When I said ‘No’
to Ghulam Mohammad’s offer it was Providence that helped me. Had
I succumbed to the temptation the course of history might well have
been different. We would certainly not have had an army worth the
name and the one stabilizing element in the whole situation would have
been neutralized.

The country still did not have a Constitution. The first Basic
Principles Committec Report produced by Liaquat Al Khan had
proved unpopular. Nazimuddin took another sixteen months to produce
the seccond Report which was equally unacceptable. Mohammad Al
Bogra tinkered with the problem for more than two years and yet there
was no agreement on the basic principles of the new Constitution ; and
this seven years after Independence,

The demand for the dissolution of the Constituent Assembly, which
had lost all prestige, was gaining support. At about that time Suhra-
wardy, who had led the United Front to a landslide victory in the
provincial elections in East Pakistan, issued a statement from Zurich
advising the Governor-General to dissolve the Constituent Assembly as
it had become totally unrepresentative, at least in so far as its East
Pakistan members were concerned. He further suggested that fresh
elections be held from amongst the existing provincial legislatures.

The Constituent Assembly was finally dissolved on 24 October 1954,
and I was asked by the Governor-General to join the new Cabincet,
with Mohammad Ali Bogra as Pame Minister. Much against my
inclination I had to agree to this, but I made it quite clear to the
Governor-General that my chief interest was in the army. The one
consideration which made me accept this offer was that I wanted to act
as a buffer between the politicians and the armed forces. The govern-
ment was utterly confused and almost leaderless and I knew that the
politicians had their eyes on the army in which they wanted to create
their own pockets of support. It was during this period that T presented
my programme to the Cabinet contained in a document which I had
drafied earlier. But about that I shall have more to say later.,

The new Constituent Assembly was formed in June 1955. Suhra-
wardy had joined the Cabinet under Mohammad Ali Bogra in
December 1054 and had been an ardent supporter of One Unit. In
fact he drafted the One Unit Bill which he was to pilot through the
Assembly. The intention of the Bill was to integrate the provinees of
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North-West Frontier, the Punjab, Sind, Baluchistan, and States and
Frontier regions into one united province of West Pakistan. The exis-
tence of different provinces organized on linguistic and racial lines
facilitated political manoeuvring by unscrupulous elements to the
serious detriment of the economic and strategic interests of the area. The
One Unit Bilf was intended to put an end to all this and to enable the
whole of West Pakistan to develop and progress on a uniform pattern.
But when Chaudhri Mohammad Ali was appointed Prime Minister in
August 1955 with the support of the United Front he became lukewarm
towards the One Unit proposal and suggested that the Bill be circu-
lated to elicit public opinion.

Suhrawardy found himsell ontmanoeuvred and missed his chance
of becoming Prime Minister. The Governor-General, who had brought
him into the Cabinet, had gone on sick leave and Iskander Mirza had
taken over as Acting Governor-General. To provide a counterpoise to
Suhrawardy he started cultivating Fazlul Hagq, forgetting that only a
year before he had condemned him as a traitor. The whole situation
was becoming curiouser and curiouser.

Chaudhri Mohammad Ali managed to produce a Constitution
which was promulgated on 23 March 1956. It was a document of
despair. The Prime Minister was so anxious to go down in history as
the author of a Constitution that he was prepared to accommodate ali
points of view. What the country got was not a Constitution but a
hotch-potch of alien concepts which had alrecady brought enough
confusion and chaos to the country. The Constitution, by distributing
power between the President, the Prime Minister and his Cabinet, and
the provinces, destroyed the focal point of power and Icft no one in a
position of control,

Ironically enough the author of the Constitution became its first
victim. During those days I saw him once in an almost helpless state in
his office, He also held the Defence portfolic and I had gone to sce him
with some defence problem. He said to me, ‘My party has descrted me.
It is all over.” T uttered some words of encouragement but he would not
be comforted. ‘No, no, this is far too serious. Why don’t you take over
and save me from this business?’ I said, ‘Look, don’t talk about these
things to me. Talk to your President and try to find some sensible way
out of this mess.’

Iskander Mirza had by then taken a firm control of affairs, having
been unanimously clected first President of the Republic under the
1956 Constitution. Shrewd as he was, he could sce how the Constitu-
tion could be used to promote political intrigues and bargaining. No
onc knew any longer who belonged to which political party; it was all
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a question of swapping labels: 2 Muslim Leaguer today, a Republican
tomorrow; and vesterday’s ‘traitors’ were tomorrow’s Chief Ministers,
indistinguishable as tweedledum and tweediedee!

In September 1956 Chaudhri Mohammad Ali vielded place to
Suhrawardy who had by then managed to get into the good books of
President Iskander Mirza, Once again Suhrawardy appeared on the
political scene as a strong supporter of One Unit and blandly assured
East Pakistan that on his assumption of office 68 per cent of provincial
autonomy had already been given and that the slogan of provincial
autonomy, which brought him to power, was a political stunt. After
just over a year, in October 1057, Suhrawardy was supplanted by
Chundrigar, who managed to complete 2 miserable 59 days in office
and was replaced by Malik Firoz Khan Noon.

In West Pakistan, Dr. Khan Sahib became Chief Minister by the
combined cfforts of President Mirza, Prime Minister Chaudhri Moham-
mad Ali, and Governor Gurmani just before the One Unit scheme
was actually put into operation. The elections to the West Pakistan
Assembly in January 1956 gave the Muslim Leaguce a clear majority
in the legislature and they wanted to oust the Chief Minister. To this
the Governor of the Province did not agree and, the Muslim League
Ministers in the Cabinet having resigned, their places were overnight
filled by their political rivals within the Muslim League.

Dr. Khan Sahib went ahcad and formed a new party in April 19356,
called the Republican Party, comprising deserters from the Muslim
League. Party indiscipline and lack of solidarity within the parties were
manifested in the free use of threats and pressures. Members crossed the
floor and changed parties frecly and even charges of kidnapping and
manhandling of Assembly members were made on both sides,

The Republican Party stand on the important issues in West
Pakistan politics was in favour of separate electorates and in support of
the One Unit scheme. However, Dr. Khan Sahib, under pressure from
Iskander Mirza and Suhrawardy who wanted to maintain the political
balance prevailing at the time at the centre and in East Pakistan, went
back on their promise on the electorate issue. The Muslim Leaguce, inan
cTort 10 throw out the Republican government, joined hands with the
National Avwami Party on the pretext of undoing One Unit.

Many Republican Party members crossed the floor and joined the
Muslim League which again became 2 majority party. But Iskander
Mirza's reaction was to impese Scction 193 in West Palistan, by this
means dismissing the ministry and asking the Govemnor to assume
direct rule. The result was that after two months, when direct rule
ended, the same Republican Parte that had been defeated on the
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floor of the House returned to power. Dr, Khan Sahib, however, re-
signed from the leadership and Sardar Abdur Rashid was appointed in
his place. Now the Republicans made the same promise to the National
Awami Party of undoing One Unit, to secure its support. Onc of the
results was a break in the Awami League—Republican alliance at the
centre and in West Pakistan Sardar Abdur Rashid had to resign both
from Chief Ministership and leadership of the Republican Party after
the N.A.P. had again withdrawn its support in favour of the Opposition
Muslim League on the basis of a vague programme of reforms. Rashid’s
place was taken by Muzaffar Ali Khan Qazilbash, the third Republican
Chief Minister of West Pakistan.

In East Pakistan a serious crisis occurred on g1 March 1958, when
Fazlul Haq, the Governor, dismissed Ataur Rahman Khan’s Cabinet.
Later that night Fazlul Haq was himself dismissed by Iskander Mirza.
Ataur Rahman was succeeded by Abu Hussain Sarkar who was in turn
dismissed within twelve hours of assuming office and the Ataur Rah-
man Cabinet was back again in power. Asin West Pakistan, the N.AP.
played its disruptive role of supporting and then opposing one ministry
after another in East Pakistan. Its withdrawal of support led to the fall
of the Awami League Ministty on 19 June and the United Front
Ministry succeeded it. The same day the N.A.P. switched support to
the Awami League and brought down the United Front Ministry. The
situation became so confused that the President declared Section 193
{President’s rule) in the province on 24 June 1958. After two months
Ataur Rahman Khan was reinstated as Chief Minister. The provincial
assembly declared the Speaker ‘of unsound mind’ and a brawl in the
House on 21 September resulted in the death of its Deputy Speaker,
Shahed Al

By the middle of 1958 the whole country was in the grip of a scrious
economic crisis. Reckless spending seemed to be the order of the day.
We were incurring forcign exchange liabilities to the extent of Rs.
30 to 40 million every month in excess of our eamings. The forcign
exchange reserves were down to Rs. 420 million, of which about
140 million were not negotiable. In another ten months or so the
currency would have lost all value and we might have had a complete
breakdown of the monetary and banlking system in the country.

Throughout this confusion there was incessant talk of holding
general elections under the 1956 Constitution. These clections were
promised for November 1957. They were then postponed to 1938, The
President had thoroughly exploited the weaknesses in the Constitution
and had got everyone connected with the political life of the country
utterly exposed and discredited. I do not think that he ever serfously
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wanted to hold gencral clections; he was looking for a suitable oppor-
tumity to abrogate the Constitution. Indecd, he wassetting thestage forit,

To the politicians, particularly those who had been debarred from
political Iife, the prospect of general elections was enough temptation
to start a countrywide campaign, ostensibly for political support but,
in fact, to intimidate their opponents, The leading personality was
Khan Abdul Qayyum Khan who was going round the country spitting
fire and preaching civil war. He went about saying openly that if his
party did not win the elections, rivers of blood would flow. He found
eloquent associates in my own brother Sardar Bahadur Khan and
Raja Ghazanfar Ali Khan.

Khan Abdul Qayyum Khan built up the Muslim League National
Guards, about Go,000 strong. They paraded in the streets, wearing
uniforms and steel helmets and carrying rifles. On 20 September 1958
the government banned the wearing of military uniforms and the
maintenance of military or para-military organizations by individuals
or associations. Prime Minister Malik Firoz Khan Noon announced
on 23 September that there would be little chance of free and fair
clections il every political party had a private army of its own. Qayyum
Khan was not to be deterred. He arrived in Karachi on the same day
and thousands of his supporters defied the prohibitory orders issued by
the government. The Working Committee of the Muslim League
adopted a Resolution on 28 September that the government would be
dislodged, ‘if nced be, by extra-constitutional methods’.

The situation was further complicated by the Khan of Kalat who,
taking advantage of the general confusion, started conspiring to bring
about the secession of Kalat from Pakistan. It was scriously suggested
at the time that he was encouraged in this by Iskander Mirza, who was
sctting the stage for his final action. The Khan of Kalat was arrested on
6 October 1958 and deprived of all distinctions, privileges, and amenitics.

What was more dangerous was that some of the politicians hike
Qayyum Khan had started making contacts with certain members of
the armed forces. They were spreading all kinds of rumours to isolate
senior officers and to create groups of army officers to support them
in the pursuit of their ambitions.

From a soldier’s position 1t was quite clear to me that the general
cicctions were going to be stand-up fights, There would be large-scale
disturbances all over the country, and civil authority, already groaning
urder the heels of the politicians, would be incapable of dealing with the
situation, Whether the army liked it or not it would get embroiled,
because in the final analysis it would become a question of maintaining
some semblance of law and order in the country.
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Il

The army could not remain unaffected by the conditions around it;
nor was it conceivable that officers and men would not react to all the
political chicanery, intrigue, corruption, and inefficiency manifest in
every sphere of life. They had their relatives, they read newspapers, and
some had their contacts. Being a patriotic and national army, it was
bound to respond to the thinking of the people in the country. I could
see that many of the officers and men were feeling dejected and des-
pondent. Not infrequently they would be told, “You armywales, you
should be true to your salt. While the country is going to the dogs you
are enjoying vourselves.” Not only was I blamed: everybody in uniform
was being blamed. Perfectly respectable people would come to me and
say, “You can save the situation but you are not prepared to take any
risk.” Some of my friends put it to me even more bluntly, and I said to
them, “What can I do? After all, I am not responsible for all this. You
can only criticize me for the things that I am responsible for.

As things deteriorated, more and more people came and talked
to me in the same strain. I could see a deep despair in their cyes.
Wherever I went—and I travelled a great deal, from one cantonment
to another, inspecting troops—and whenever people gathered, I was
aware of the same despair. The sense of demoralization had seeped
down to the masses and they started saying openly, ‘Let somebody save
this country.’ The implication was obvious: it was the army alone that
could step into the breach. That was the only disciplined organization
that could give the country the necessary covering fire, in order to
cnable it to steady itself and extricate itself from the evils which had
surrounded it. Things did not look like improving. But I hoped that
somcone might rise to the occasion. I would have been the first person
to welcome him and to give him all support. I kept hoping and praying.

Another worry I had was how, if the army once got drawn into
polidcal life—and this seemed inevitable—it could sithdraw itsclf
from the situation. The outside world was going to interpret the action
of the army in terms of the coups d'état which frequently occurred in
certain other countries. This would have had a damaging cfect on the
imagc and reputation of Pakistan. A well-organized, trained, and
disciplined army would find it extremely distasteful to be turned into an
instrument for securing political power. But as conditions werc, the
army alone could act as a corrective foree and restore normalcy.

To me it was like exposing my own child to unpredictable hazards.
T used to counscl patience. Somewhere in the back of my mind was the
thought that Iskander Mirza might be able to evolve some pattern out
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the chaos which he had created. But he himself was feeling insecure
and had [ost credit with the people. He worked and thrived in an
atmospaere of intrigue. He talted to me on several occasions during
hosedeys, and I could sense that he was feeling desperate and cornered.
I would tell himn that ke would have to give 2 constructive lead if the
country was to be saved,

I must have been under considerable stress at that time because [
mairtzined some knd of a diary, 2 very unusual thing for me. The first
entry is dated 2 May 1958 during a visit to the U.S.A., 2nd the last one
6 September 1938. Selectons from these enmies give an idea of my
thinking and preoccupatons during that period.

1!".* L g

Piaved golf with General Nathan Twining and General Omar Bradley
at the Burning Tree Golf Course. I was most impressed with the extreme
digmity and hs umility of Geaneral Bradley—an old man of 67 stll tough
asanut. Hedida verv difficult course in 8o. Twining is also a very 'rood
piaver. During play Twining kept talking to Bradley about PJustan
and our armed forces in warm terms. He told me that he does not
u:zci»*ct;.'m State Degariment’s policy towards India. Twining told me
that he is aranging 2 lunch for me on the ath of May in which all the
services cbeﬂ would be preseat. This would give me 2n opportunity to
12!k to them in_f'o:'m..li about our problems. He said, ‘I would ke you
ta be as frank and ;o"th"r‘u as possible.

3
AMet the services chief at lunch. Explained to them our security prob-
[rme and 2lxo the problems connected with military aid.
In the evening met Alien Dulles and thanked him for putting his
brother, who was the U.S. Foreizm Secretary, in the picture regarding
ur problems,

=
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o

2d the HO.I“" Foreizn Affatrs Committee in the Conzress
n '*.h talk I znalyzed the causes of the trouble in the Middle

he danger of any aig to India unless she gives cuarantec of
1avisur and sotves dispuies withuzon a fair and henourable
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good bel
basls, T also tried to dispel the 1lfusion that India’s arms build-up was on
account of the fear of China and tharshe had no 2 azgressive intentions

arains Pakistan, They asied me some very sgarching questions.
At nizht few all the way to El Paso Fort Bliss™, Saw and-aienft

guided missile demonsirmiion. It was very impressive. It is obvious that
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the AA artillery is no longer of any use. The answer is to have these
missiles which are 1009, effective against anything that flies at any speed.
Left for New York at night.

8 ﬁfqy

Stayed with Prince Ali Khan. He had invited Cabot Lodge for lunch—
Cabot is the man responsible for swinging America in favour of zid to
India. I had a Jong discussion with him. I think, towards the end, he was
feeling somewhat doubtful of the wisdom of his recommendations.

g ﬁ{qf
Left for England.

13 AMey

Went to The Hague to see Begum Liaguat Ali Khan. She seemed
relaxed but was very worried about the political situation in the
country. She thought that only solution was tight rule in the country
for about ten years.

14 May

Went to Brussels to join Amjad Ali. Saw the Brussels World Fair.
The Russians are making tremendous strides in the technical field and
will be second to none in a few vears.

18 May

Reached Karachi. Saw the judgement in Gurmani's casc in the news-
papers. The judges’ remarks about Firoz Noon's part were most dis-
tressing. This will give us another setback in the world and demoralize
our people further.

21 Moy

Left Karachi for Pindi by Tezgam on 2oth May. I was to reach Pindi
215t evening. But I got down at Jhelum and met Azam. He mentioned
to me something about 2 rumour emanating from Abbottabad that
General —— and Brigadier had been arrested. T just langhed it
off as being absurd. If there was any truth in it, Chief of Staff whom 1
rang up from Karachi would have mentoned it to me. In Pindi I heard
some more rumours. I mentioned them to my wife and she said that she
had been hearing all kinds of things. That has always been the way
with her. Under adversity she has always shown tremendous courage
and sclf-control and taken care that I should not be given any ceuse for
anxicty. T feel that without such a wise and far-sighted companion I
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would never have been able to achieve in life what I have done, This
freedom from home worries and lack of worry of bringing up a large
family is the greatest blessing that 2 man can have and without which
a man can never reach his creative ceiling. My wife told me the gist of
the rumours, which was that a number of senior officers were accused
of being Indian agents. It then occurred to me to what extent people
were prepared to go to malign others for selfish ends or out of sheer
jealousy. I was astounded at the credulity of some of our people.
They seemed to be prepared to swallow anything, even against their
most devoted servants. This surely is the sign of immaturity or some
kind of decay. I am an optimist by nature but these rumours really
shocked and depressed me. What if we were engaged in war and
things started going badly and the enemy were to spread such rumours
about the army in the back areas? The result would be disastrous. We
would lose a war without firing a shot. A horrible thought!

22 May

Asked General Musa about the rumours. He told me that he had made
inquirics and found that these rumours were started by some of the
politicians in Abbottabad.

The elections, of course, are drawing near. The politicians . . . are
trying to get back into power by hook or by crook. And having got there
they know that they will have nothing to show for themselves except
working for the disruption of the country further. In that case they will
come face to face with the army and me. Hence I am regarded by them
as enemy number one, for doing my duty. Their conscicnce is so dead
that in order to obtain some political advantage they will not stop at
destroying the army . . . which is the only shicld they have.

I am onc of those who have served democracy as I believe that there
is nothing like it if we can work the system. I refused to take over
power when offered by the late Ghulam Mohammad. Then I had the
hope that some amongst the politicians would show patriotism, self-
lessness, and the urge to get the country moving. But they have all been
tried and found wanting. T am now certain that i the country is Ieft
to them we should expect nothing but ruin. It seems that we shall have
to have 2 system of government for a generation or so which prepares
the country for democracy and solves some of our major problems.
Under the present Constitution no one scems to have any power except
to destroy discipline and to do harm. A politician is lucky if he can
hang on to his scat, lct alone do any good. Even if he wants to do any
good, his supporters demanding all kind of selfish things would ensurce
that he does not get » chance.
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Meanwhile, certain actions have been put inte operation to counter
these rumours.

27 May
Addressed Station Officers on my visit to the U.5.A. and on the funda-
mentals of the defence of Pakistan.

7 Fune

Attended Conference on Kashmir Affairs presided over by Prime
Minister Noon. There were three other ex-Prime Ministers. They could
have collected two more if they had waited a little Jonger.

I thought the setting was made to enable them to score political
points against each other, but instead they listened to me intently and
with understanding. They asked me what we should do about Kashmir
and stoppage of canal waters by India. Emotionally, of course, the
answer is to go for India right away, but wisdom dictated a different
course which I explained.

6 Fune

Had a meeting with Corps Cormnmanders and Divisional Commanders,
7 Fune

Our new experimental Brigade has been formed. We are very excited
about the future organization of our units. A host of new ideas are
coming up. The underlying idea is to develop organizations on the
concept of attacking or defending 2 piece of ground with firepower
and not with bodies. The results should be interesting. Meanwhile, 1
have caused studies to be conducted in the manner in which we should
usc motorized infantry and armour in the Armoured Division,

9 June

Defence Secretary told me that T had been given two years’ extension
which will be announced mid-day. How it happened and my reaction
to it are contained in the signals below.

Telegram dated g FJune 1958 from My, Firoz Khan Noorn,
Prime Minister of Pakistan, to C-ir-C Pakarmy

‘T am very glad that vou have agreed to stay on as Commander-in-
Chief of our Armies for another two vears stor You are still very
voung being 51 years of 2ge though very ripe in experience and
ability sTop Pakistan at this juncture cannot afford to lose your
services and I am confident that the defences of this country are safe
in your hands as they have been in the past. Ends’
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Can-Cs reply
‘Grateful for your message of appreciation and encouragement on
my extension of teaure stop Personally I would have been just as
happy to retire as I would be in further serving this magnificent army
the building of which has been my life long ambition stop In any
case I have eaten its salt for thirtyone years and everything in me is
due to it and belongs to it sToP So you can rest assured that I shall
continue to give my best to the army and through it to the country.’

13 Jure

Went to Peshawar by air and inspected a Support Battalion and 2
Mortar Battalion. While both have a formidable amount of firepower
especially anti-tank, it struck me that they had far too much transport.
Some 150-0dd vehicles. So much transport will require anything up to
30 miles of road space. So it is necessary to go into this aspect to see
where the reduction can be made.

1g June

Left for Kaghan valley for some rest. Spent the night at Shogran, a
beautiful place with lovely views. Went out for 2 walk, Climbed about
1,200 feet. Took it easy as it was my first dzy on heights.

15 Jure
Reached Naran and stayed there {or four days. Did some fishing, but
spent most of the time reading Tke Men Hho Ruled India.

Ciimbed to Saiful Maluk Lake. It took me two hours and fifteen
minutes to climb 2,500 fect 2nd four miles. It was the stiffest thing I had
known, but the art is to move on slowly. However, the grandecur of the
scenery was well worth the trouble.

or June

On return from Kaghan I was told that as a result of Ghulam Abbas’s
threat to breach the cease-fire line with large Jathas, a serious law and
order situation had arisen. The President, who is nowadays resting in
Nathiagali, had been authorized to interview Ghulam Abbas and
recommend course of action. I found to my utter horror that he had
recommenced thzt no acton should be t2ken against Abbas and his
people untdl they reached the ceass-fire line. Then the army was to
arrest them without any use of foree! I 2t once rang up the Presidentand
protested against this amateurish decision and demanded that if any
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action is to be taken it should be taken by the civil authoritics in
Pakistan territory or in Azad Kashmir territory. A Cabinet meeting was
held on this and my recommendations were approved. The problem
in my job is that I have not only to run the army but also keep a watch
on so many other things concerning the security of the country. This
would not be necessary if we had men of character and principles
manning the government.

24 Fune
Attended a meeting of the Sub-Committee of the Cabinet on the
future of P.O.F.! Wah at Karachi.

28 Fune

Went to see the President at Nathiagali. Also met Nawab Qazilbash,
Chief Minister of West Pakistan. Had 2 long discussion with him on
the future of the Border Police, They are some 58,000 men in East and
West Pakistan worth about three Divisions. My contention is that they
should remain a civil force but officered by army officers like the
Scouts so that they can be trained tactically. In that case they will give
a better service to the civil [power] in ime of peace and be available for
use by the army in time of war. This is the obvious soludon in the
higher interests of the country, but Qazilbash having once agreed had
gone back on his promise. So I had to be quite blunt with him and told
him a few home truths. His worry is the disposal of some 50-odd police
officers who will become surplus. So to resolve this problem it wasagreed
that 2 Committee consisting of Defence Secretary, Chief Secretary, and
a representative of G.H.Q. should go into this matter. Incidentally I am
having similar difficulty with East Pakistan Government. However,
I am determined to see that they do the right thing in the end. Pakistan
cannot afford to lose the use of this manpower in time of war. In fact
they may well prove to be a decisive factor.

30 June
Lately I have been doing some interesting reading. Apart from Tk¢
Men Who Ruled India, 1 have read Gunther's Jaside Russia Tocdsy, and
Capt. Wynnes's articles on ‘Pattern for Limited (Nuclear) War'; “The
Riddle of the Schlicffen Plan’ published in RUSI Jeurrcl. These articles
have set us thinking and re-examining some of our organizational con-
cepts and tactical doctrines.

I have to waste 2 lot of time in answering greeting messages on Eid

! Palittan Qrdnance Factory.
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days' and othier occasions but I do so not to hurt people’s feelings.
Some of these messages are touching, They scem to have blind faith in
me. This makes me feel very humble and I pray o God to give me the
strength to come up to their expectations.

¢ Juby

Attended a meeting at Government House, Lahore, in which President,
Prime Minister, Chief Minister and his West Pakistan Cabinet were
present. The Chief Minister called this meeting to get clarification over
Abbas’s move to cross cease-fire line with volunteers, the mounting
irresponsibility of the political parties [in stirring] up trouble in the
country to do the government down and increasing sectarian tension,
I was interested in the decisions about Abbas’s move as that finally
affected the army. It was decided that we should deal with Abbas and
his men firmly and not allow them to create turmoil in the country.

13 July

Held a Joint Chicfs meeting. Several important things came up for
discussion. Admiral Chaudhry raised the question of the concept of
defence of Pakistan again, over which the decision had already been
given by the Defence Committee of the Cabinet and he had agreed
with the rest of us during the previous meetings. Heated discussion
followed. Sent a message on this to Government.

14 Juby
Took off from Karachi at 0415 hours with the President in his Viscount
for Teheran en route to Istanbul where the Conference of the Heads of
the Baghdad Pact Muslim States was scheduled to be held. Had a
meceting with General Hidayat, Chief of the Staff of the Iranian Armed
Forces, to remove certain doubts about planning problems. During this
mecting General Hidayat was called out by a Staff Officer and told that
news had come through from their Commander in Khanikin that a
coup d’état had taken place in Irag. A Colonel supported by pro-Nasser
and Communist clements had taken over. Prince Abdul Ilak, the King’s
uncle, was murdered and his body dragged in the streets of Baghdad.
The Palace was gutted and so was the British Embassy. The crowds
were jubilant and Nasser’s photographs were visible everywhere.
News about the fate of the King and Nuri-cs-Said [was] conflicting,
but it looked as if Nuri had cscaped though his house was burnt and that
the King was held as prisoncr.

This was very serious and sad news, With a heavy heart we took off

! Holidays, especially the Muslim festivals of Tiduf Fitr and Eidul Azha,
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for Istanbul. As we were approaching Istanbul we were told to go and
land in Ankara, There we were received by the President and M.
Menderes. The meeting was just like a mourning, The Turks were very
upset by the news from Baghdad. They confirmed more or less what we
had heard in Teheran. Their Ambassador in Baghdad had a transmitter
and kept them well informed. But his reports were also vague as he and
his staff could not go out to check details, there being se much con-
fusion in the city.

Had dinner with President Bayar, It was a very informal affair in
which the Shah of Iran, our President, Menderes and Zorlu were
present. A meeting was arranged after dinner in which the situation in
Lebanon, Iraq and the future of the Baghdad Pact was discussed.

I was impressed with the Shah’s grasp of the situation and analysis.

15 July

Assembled at the Presidential Palace at 1200 hours in an atmosphere

of gloom because of the Iragi situation. News came there that Nuri-cs-

Said was murdered and that his body was dragged about in Baghdad.

ahis is the way they have treated a man who had done so much for
em.

16 Fuly

The Heads of the three Muslim States decided that the Baghdad Pact
mectings in London should be postponed though I was of the view that
these mectings of the B.P. countries [should} take place to take stock
of the changed situation.

19 and 20 Fuly

The Turks are very sensitive about certain arcas but they were good
enough to let me tour the Gallipoli peninsula and visit the First World
War battlefields, This trip was tiring—doing 800 miles in two days on
bad road—but most interesting and instructive. In places the traces of
opposing trenches are still visible,

1 August [back in Pakistan]
Visited Mitha’s outfit in Attock Fort and Chirrat, The training of this
unit, which will be of immense value in war, is coming on well and
cverybody looked very enthusiastic especially the young officers. They
want to stay on there for ever.

To give this unit the ability to operate in considerable depth behind
the enemy I am trying to obtain a certain type of aircraft which carry
six passengers and can Jand and take off from limited space.
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Moved to Mardan in the afternoon to meet Commanding Officers
of the new Punjab Regiment who had assembled for the annual con-
ference of the [Regimental] Centre. They appeared to me to be alert
and gencrally getting on well with one another. The new spint of the
enlarged regiment is emerging.

5 August

Attended 12 Div exercise at Murree, I was favourably impressed with
the general level of professional knowledge. Our officers are now
really getting to knosw their stuff.

11 August

A civil officer came to see me in connection with the organization of
cadet corps. He was very depressed and painted a gloomy picture of the
civil administration which was deteriorating rapidly through the
perfidy of party politics. He felt that a majority uf the civil servants also
lend themselves to such misuse.

I3 August
Went to Lahore to sec a demonstration of an Infantry Company helding
some 4,000 vards front on the new concept. We also discussed the
organizaton of a Battalion on the new concept.

Also saw Qazilbash in his office. He agreed to give land to the
recipients of gallantry awards and also for cattle-breeding.

19 August
Visited the Recce Battalion at Shinkiari, They seemed to be coming

on except that they need additional 106 recoilless rifles per Platoon.
Later saw the Commando school. I was satisfied with the progress.

20 Angust
Inspected PAMLA. (Pakistan Military Academy, Kakul).

29 August

Flew to Nowshera and saw a very interesting demonstration of anti-
tank defence taking on a regiment of tanks in attack. There is no doubt
that this rifle* is a formidable anti-tank weapon but it requires great
skill to use it to the fullest effect.

26 August
Recorded n messageabout Ficld-Marshal MontgomeryforRadioPakistan,

1 106 mm. recotiless rifle,
ror—6
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28 August

Secretary, Ministry of Defence, attended a meeting with Chief Secretary
West Pakistan along with G.H.Q. representatives and represeniatives
of the police to discuss militarization of the Border Police and the dis-
posal of police officers who may be rendered surplus. The policeman is
naturally trying to raise all sorts of objections and obstacles. The
politician too is chary of making any hard decisions which may annoy
the police as he probably expects a lot from the police during the
forthcoming elections. I believe the policeman is regarded as the real
election-winning factor. My instructions are to patiently keep relentless
pressure until the right thing is done, It may take time but the security
of the country demands that this force should be militarized.

I am receiving very depressing reports about economic distress,
maladministration through political interference, frustration and com-
plete loss of faith by the people in political leadership inclusive of the
President. The general belief is that none of these men have any
honesty of purpose, integrity or patriotism, to root out cvils of the
country which will require drastic action. The general beliefis cmerging
that even I and the army are failing to do our duty by not saving the
people from these tyrants, This dangerous belief is obviously based on
the ignorance of the functons of the army, but when people become
desperate they are apt to seek escape through any means. I wonder if
they realize that if it was not for my keeping aloof from politics they
would not have had this army and if this type of army was not there
they would have lost their independence by now.

3 September

Disquicting news of massive cconomic aid to India by America and
other western countries [is] coming in. This will further release
India’s resources for 2 reckless military build-up against us thus making
our position far more difficult.

6 September

Visited Karachi. Discussed problems relating to evacuce property with
Rehabilitation Ministry, Alsodiscussed the charter of the D.G. [Dircector-
General] Defence Parchases, with Defence Secrctary. I impressed on
him the necessity of speeding up procurement and disposal.

13 September
Attended passing-out parade of O.T.S.
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14 Seplember
Attended rally and recruitment mels [fair],

15 September

Flew off to Lahore at 0530 hours. Attended 1oth Punjab Centenary.
Returned after lunch,

18 Sepiember

Left for northern areas. Met the Political Agent and the Resident.

20 September
Did some fishing in Gupis river,

21 September
Returned to Gilgit.

22 September
Left for Hunza,

23 September

Halt [i.c. a day spent without travelling]. Received information about
political flarc-up in Karachi from the Chicf of Staff.

2.4 Seplember

Returned to Gilgit. Lunched with Mir of Nagar, Received a detailed
message from the Chief of Staff about AMuslim League’s activity. I told
the C.O.8. that no major commitment should be made without his
prior approval,

25 Seplember
Returned to Rawalpindi at o135 hours.



6

The Revolution

The hour had struck. The moment so long delaved had finally arrived.
The responsibility could no longer be put off. It was the 4th of October
1958, and as I settled down in my railway saloon I knew that an era
was coming to an end. I was going to Karachi where an agonizingly
prolonged political farce was drawing to a close. A few days earlier
President Iskander Airza bad conveyed to me that the whole situation
was becoming intolerable and that he had decided to act.

For years we had all hoped that the political leaders of the country
would wake up to their grave responsibilities. Among them were
patriotic men, men of talent and ability, some close associates of the
Quaid-e-Azam who had guided the struggle for Pakistan with great
vision, statesmanship, and unfaltering fervour and determination.
Later they bad seen the cool, courageous, and tenacious manner in
which Liaquat Ali Khan was trying to steer the ship of state through
turbulent water. Each for a time managed to grab the central trapeze
caught in the beams of giant arc-lights, but the next moment hurtled
down into a dark net of intrigue and incompetence.

I arrived in Karachi on 5 October. Yahya, Hamid, and one or two
other officers had preceded me. I went to see General Iskander Mirza,
He was sitting on the lavwn, brooding, bitter and desperate, 1 asked
him, ‘Have you made up yvour mind, sir?’ ‘Yes’, he replied. ‘Do you
think it is absolutely necessary?’ ‘It is absolutely necessary’, he said
firmly. My reaction was that it was very unfortunate that such a
desperate stage had been reached, necessitating drastic action. And
it was not pleasant to get involved in it, but there was no escape. It
was the Jast bid to save the county.

A few days before this, three Ministers and four Ministers of State
were sworn into the Central Cabinet, bringing the total to twenty-six,
to bolster the tottering Republican~Awami League coalition govern-
ment under Malik Firoz Khan Noon. There followed an unsccmly
wrangle over portfolios. On 7 October at 1.00 p.m. the portfolios were
redistributed. Promptly the Awami League resigned from the govern-
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ment. A fresh allocation of portfolios was announced at 7.00 p.m., but
by then the central authority had collapsed. The curtain was rung
down at 8.00 p.m. when, in a dramatic sweep, Iskander Mirza abro-
gated the Constitution, proclaimed Martial Law throughout Pakistan,
dismissed the central and provincial governments, the National
Assembly and the Provincial Assemblies, and appointed me Chief
Martial Law Administrator.

From that time onwards emotions had no place in the procecdings.
Now that this job had to be done it must be done properly. A simple
plan was formulated and put into operation. I advised General Iskander
Mirza: “You had better inform vour Prime Minister about the situ-
ation.’ He thought it was unnecessary, as he had no doubt about the
legality of his action. I said: ‘I want two things from vou in writing:
onc, that I will administer Martial Law; and the other, a letter to the
Prime Ainister that you have taken this decision, that the government
has been dissolved, that you have abrogated the Constitution and
declared Martial Law, and that you have appointed me to administer
the Martial Law.” He wrote the letter to Malik Firoz Khan Noon
without any difficulty. But he did not scem particularly keen to give me
the letter of authority to administer the Martial Law. I wanted him to
write the letter to the Prime Minister so that he should assume full
responsibility for his decision. He, as the constitutional head of govern-
ment, had come to the conclusion that the country could not be run any
morc on 2 constitutional basis. I said, ‘At Icast you have done somcething
and I believe vou have done the right thing. But I feel that I must have
it from vou in writing.” He hummed and hawed but finally agreed to
give me the letter after two or three days.

Revolutions take long and painstaking preparation, detailed plan-~
ning, clandestine meetings, and country-wide movement of troops.
In our case there was very little preparation, It was handled as a
military operation. What happened was that 2 Brigade was moved,
Actually, two Brigades—an Infantry and an Artilery Brigade—are
normally statoned in Karachi. We therefore had enough troops to
deal with any situation that might arisc on the promulgation of
Martial Law. But, as a matter of precaution, we moved an extra
Brigade from Quetta to Jungshahi outside Karachi. That was all the
military preparation we made. The army always has something in hand
for the unforeseen. In an operation like this you cannot aceept failure.,
Had Martial Law been challenged, anywhere, even for a moment, a
most dangerous situation would have arisen. Hence the precauton of
moving a Brigade to Jungshahi. On the night of the Revolution we in-
formed the Commanders-in-Chief and all local Commanders of what



72 FRIENDS NOT MASTERS

had happened and required them to ensure that law and order was
maintained. That was all. We then proceeded to set up the normal
hierarchy of Martial Law Administrators and their dutics were defined.
The relationship between the civil authorities and the army cvolved
gradually,

We had made sure that the operation would succeed: the question
now was the extent to which one could go. My own fecling was that if
there was any resistance it would be nominal and we should be able to
deal with it very quickly, I did not think that there would be any
occasion for the use of force at all. ‘The people were completely fed up
with the state of affairs and desperately wanted a change. And they
had great respect for the army.

For a time there was talk of reviving a regulation which was opera-
tive during the first Martial Law period in Lahore in 1953 which
provided for action against those responsible for the collapse of law and
order. We considered this as the first regulation when reveolution came,
and it would have given us powers to deal with politicians who had
brought the country to the brink of an abyss. But I said, ‘No, we onght
not to do that.” I was anxious that the people should scttle down very
quickly, and get on with the reconstruction of the country and the re-
habilitation of society. I wanted to lower the temperature as fast as
possible. When Martial Law came it was like pressing a button. Things
started moving, and that was because our people were basically sound
and we had a good civil service. That was also the reason why I did not
operate Martial Law as a means of punishing people for their past
misdeeds. Had we embarked on that, the whole effort would have
assumed a negative complexion.

What the country needed was a positive cffort to move forward, to
build itself and the cconomy into a dynamic and progressive force.
There could be little sense in wasting our limited manpower in creating
an atmosphere of repression and intimidation instead of utilizing our
resources for constructive work. It was also clear to me that for Martial
Law to be of any use at all, it was necessary to reinstate and bring into
operation the normal organs of the State.

The first thing 1 did on the morning after the declaration of Martial
Law was to call 2 mecting of all the Secretaries to the central govern-
ment. 1 explained to them what had happened and what they were
required to do: I also gave them a general outline of policy. I noticed
that one or two of them Jooked rather sulky, and I went for them;
they all settled down after that fairly quickly. We started off with a

Council of Secretaries and for a couple of months it continucd to func-
tion.
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As I have said, on the day of the take-over, certain troops were to
move to some key positions in case there was any trouble. One or two
units received very contradictory orders on the telephone; these orders
were supposed to have been given to 2 Brigade Commander by the
Defence Secretary, From that moment, men in the army began to get
rather suspicious; they even started suspecting one another, for no one
knew who might be trving to plant the sced of suspicion.

I think they came to the conclusion that Istander Mirza had already
got cold feet. We received information that his wife was quarrelling
with him 2ll the time: she kept telling him that he had made a great
mistzke but, now that it was done, he chould finish off Ayub Khan.
Iskander Mirza, through the Intelligence Bureau and others, tried to
find out the disposition of troops at certain key points. He alco tried to
discover the army Order of Battle around Karachi.

One of my first acts was naturally to go to East Palistan where the
bulk of our people live, but Iskander Mirza appeared to be unhappy.
He warned me, ‘Be very careful because there are a lot of people after
vour blood.’ I said, ‘I am used to that.’

There was a big public meeting in Dacca which I addressed. I think
after that Iskander Mirza became rather apprehensive. But I had told
him myself beforehand, “Look, circumstances have changed. A revolution
has taken place. You have ushered it in and you have made me re-
sponsible for running the countryv. It is not just an ordinary routine
revolution; there is going to be a real, basic change in this country.,
This is my policy. Now do not get frightened. It s my responsibility.
I have to carry the load, but I am determined to carry out certain basie
teforms, and please try not to get involved in any intrigue or anything
like that. You've no reason to, since I am determined to uphold vour
authority and give vou the fullest Ioyalty.” He said, ‘“Then it is all
right’, and I replicd, “Goed’. But we kept on getting information that
his wife was all the time nzgging him, urging him to act quickly
against me.

When I returned from East Pakistan and landed at Maurpur air-
port, Major-Generzal Sher Bahadur came to me and said: ‘Sir, in vour
absence, Air Commodore Rabb of the Pakistan Air Force was rung up
by the President, General Iskander Mirza, and asked: “Are vou loval
to this country?” Rabb said: “Yes, I am lovall” “Are vou loval 1o me
as the President?” He said: *Yes, T am loyval” “Will you take orders
from me even at the risk of vour Iife 2 To which Rabb replied, “Sir, fet
me know what the exders are.” Iskander Mirza said, “T want vou to go
and arrest three army Generals, They are Genera! Yzhya, General
Sher Bahadur, and General Hamid.” Air Commedore Rabb hesitated
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and played for time. He suggested *Sir, may I come over? Would you
put it in writing?”?

I told General Sher Bahadur: ‘Do not take it seriously.’ I did not
want the thing to boill up. At the same time, I knew that Iskander
Mirza was capable of doing such a stupid thing. It was stupid because
it would at once have led to trouble between the Services, and God
knows what would have happened. What Iskander Mirza did not
realize was that if he had moved against the army and its leadership,
the first thing the army would have done would have been to finish
him. So I went to him and said, ‘Look, what are you up to? I hear you
have been ordering arrests of army officers.” He tried to reassurc me:
“You have been misinformed. There is no truth in it.” I warned him,
‘No monkeying and no tricks. Be very careful. You are playing with
fire and in any case there is no need for it. We are all prepared to
give you our highest loyalty. Why then are vou indulging in this
mischief?’

Meanwhile, the army’s legal experts came up with the opinion that
since the Constitution had been abrogated and Martial Law declared,
and a Chief Martial Law Administrator appointed, the office of
President was redundant. That, according to their light, was the legal
position. I said, Now, don’t you chaps start ercating more problems
for me. Why do you bother me? It will serve no useful purpose.’

Chief Justice Munir was there, I think, when this point came up
for discussion. He had been advising Iskander Mirza about certain
matters before the revolution. I called him and thought that I would
see Iskander Mirza too. I asked Colonel Qazi to state his point of view.
His position was that the President no longer had any place in the new
arrangement. Munir disagreed. I told Qazi, ‘T agrec with Munir, This
is final. Accept this as a decision.’ I then asked him to leave. I had
hoped that Iskander Mirza would settle down to the new situation.
We had been good friends. I told myself that unless he did anything
overtly wrong, it would be disloyal on my part to act against him.
A few days later my military commanders came to me and said: “This
man is no longer bearable.’ I said, ‘Why do you say thet? Then they
:;i;}d instances of his ringing up various people to involve them in some

In the meantime the fecling was growing among the people that so
long as Iskander Mirza remained on the scene, intrigues would con-
tinuc and nothing worth while or constructive would be done. My
associates said: ‘Your difficulty seems to be that you don’t want to go
and tell a friend that he is being thoroughly disloyal. But this is somc-
thing bigger than your personal friendship and we sincerely advise you,
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we beg of you, to understand that we cannot carry him with us any
longer.’ 1 said, ‘All right, give me a couple of days to think it over.’
I hoped that he w ould settle down and my own associates would settle
down too. But the clamour became louder from headquarters and from
the army officers. They all said, “Whatever you may be doing, this man
is going to nullify it all.” They feared that the people would have no
faith in our policies and there would be no peace in the country. All
cfforts at improvement would come to naught. I said finally, ‘If you
feel like that, I shall go and tell him so.” They said, ‘No. You should not
go. We will tell him on your behalf’

Three Generals went to him—General Burki, General Azam, and
General Khalid Shaikh—and conveyed to Mirza from me that I was
very sorry but he had not been very wise in the way he had been going
about things. He was told it was also quite clear that the people did not
like him, and that they were not prepared to put up with him. Now
what was to be done? The interests of Pakistan were involved, and he
must rise to the occasion. It seems that he realized the gravity of the
situation and agreed to surrender power.

Major-General Cawthorn, Australian High Commissioner and
an old f{riend of Iskander Mirza, asked where Iskander Mirza was
going. I told him that he wanted to go to England. The question was
to find him accommodation and a suitable aircraft. For four or five
days we could not find one and we were afraid that if he remained in
Karachi, the people might flare up and the situation deteriorate. So we
asked him to go to Quetta. He agreed and we flew him there. Caw-
thorn said, ‘I would like to go and see him.’ I said, “You can go and see
him. You can go with him if you like. He is not a prisoner or anything
like that.’ I think he went to the Karachi airport and met him. When
Iskander Mirza finally left for England he had to wait for a few hours
at Mauripur airport. Most of his friends met him and bade him farewell.

I was most unhappy making this decision. I was unhappy for him
teo. How unfortunate that he could not be loval to anybody! There arc
somnc who believe that my faith in Iskander Mirza was misplaced and
people often wonder why I did not realize that he was not the man whe
could have served the objectives of the revolution. But during the
period when he was Sccretary to the Ministry of Defence one could get
decisions from him and, where his personal interest was not involved,
he was quick and efficient. It was not eatirely unjustified to hope that,
with our support, he would be able to operate as an efiective head of
government. After all, he had more experience than any other politician
one could think of. All the politicians had been tried and found wanting;
there was no one else left on the civil side,
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So I continued to have faith in Iskander Mirza cven when everyone
else appeared to have lost it. But that is part of my make-up: I can face
very hard things in life, but I dislike being rude or discourteous. I only
act when my patience is exhausted, which is why my actions in such
matters are at times delayed. Of one thing I am certain now. Even if
Iskander Mirza had wanted to play straight he would not have had
the courage to stand up and face the consequences of the reforms which
were being introduced. I do not think his remaining in office would
have done any good. He could not have identified himself with the
change.

During the Martial Law period I once told the Pressmen: ‘T am a
man in a hurry. There are so many things to do and there is so little
time in which to do them.” My aim was that instead of my doing
everything, equipped with absolute powers, people should do things for
themselves. The quicker they leamnt to act on their own the better. The
sooner we made them face up to their problems the better it would be
for the country. That was why I wanted Martial Law to end quickly
and the Constitution to come in. There was a crying need for certain
major reforms. Martial Law was just a base from which to carry out
those reforms. True, if anyonc had resisted them, severe action would
have followed ; but luckily there was no need for such action.

Take the example of how readily people declared their untaxed
hidden wealth: they declared Rs. 1,700 million. I asked a business-
man: ‘Why did you do it?* He said, ‘In one of your photographs, 1 saw
you with your finger pointed like this, and your mouth screwed up
like this. I sdid to myself: “This man will not leave vs alone. He will go
for us if we don’t respond.”” So we all sat together and decided to play
the game. In any case we were paying 33 per cent income tax, as against
75 per cent, so we thought we were getting away rather lightly. Why not
take advantage of it?’ He added: ‘Although you never lifted your little
finger, that photograph did the trick.’



7
Martial Law

I

The revolution had immediate as well as long-term objectives.

The immediate objective was to rchabilitate the civil and con-
stitutional organs of the State. They had become ineffective and
oppressive through misuse and exploitation and needed the protection
of Martial Law to recover their original sense of purpose so as to be able
to operate within a constitutional framework. During this phase the
army was positioned in certain key places whence it could be moved
into action. People were a little surprised that the army was not visible
during the carly days of the revelution. The very word ‘revolution’
implics a replacement of existing civil authority by military, or at least
a ‘special’ authority. Now this replacement had in fact taken place but I
was anxious not to make a demonstration of it. It was vital that the
army be kept in the background because that was where it belonged in
the normal life of the country. Had it too got directly involved in the
civil administration, the effect would have been a further demoralization
and disintegration of the civil authority. It would have also made the
withdrawal of the army from civilian life to their normal sphere of work
more difficuit. I did not have any doubt that the army would be de-
stroved if it got too mixed up in running the civil administration or
too involved with the economic, social, and politdcal affairs of the
country.

Among the long-term objectives of the revolution was the in-
troduction of major reforms designed to remove the confusion and
imbalance in the social and economic life of the country. These reforms
were to culminate in the introduction of a proper Constitution and
restoration of constitutional life. There was a suggestion made to me at
onc time that along with the reforms I should introduce an interim
Constitution, a rough working arrangement, before the final Con-
stitution was adopted. Now, this I regarded as dangerous. The Martial
Law represented the working Constitution and before Martial Law was
lifted the country should have a permanent constitutional framework.
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I said to myself: *When the Constitution comes, it must be the final
thing.’

It did not take me more than six months to achieve the immediate
and short-term objectives. The basic structure of the civil administra-
tion was sound: all that it needed was a sense of confidenee and freedom
to operate without having to worry about extraneous considerations,
The civil institutions responded to the situation admirably and started
functioning efficiently and independently within a very short time. But
there was a feeling in the army that things were not moving fast enough;
that civilians were not reacting as guickly as they should and that
people were beginning to feel frustrated.

I told them, ‘Look, you arc used to running a system on which the
country spends its last rupee. You are given all possible equipment and
weapons so that when the time comes you do your job a hundred per
cent well because on that would depend the survival of the country.
With all the facilities, training, and equipment, look at the amount of
criticism that takes place at the end of every exercisc. One has to be
patient in these things. Your life is a regulated life. A civilian officer,
once he gets the command, will do a good job, but he has to work within
the limitations of the law and in the full gaze of public opinion. A
person may have suffered wrongfully and even if a civilian officer
wanted to act immediately to remove the cause of his suffering he
would come up against the law of the land. He must act in full con-
sciousness of the requirements and limitations of the Jaw. And the civil
administration is running at seventy per cent of its normal strength:
one cannot put too much pressure on it. Also some pcople are not
above false complaints or wanting more than their due.’

All this would silence the army officers, but they were not really
convinced, What they did not understand was that civil action was
subject to the limitations of the law and had to take into account currents
and cross-currents of public opinion. I would tefl them of the results of
two quick actons which were taken by us during the first days of the
revolution. We produced two Martial Law regulations: one made the
adulteration of foodstuffs a criminal offence, and the other made black-
marketing subject to heavy punishment. The result was that sweet-
meats started selling at Rs. 150 a scer and adulteration of foodstufis
was completely checked. But within a fortnight all the stocks were
exhausted and business came to a standstill. There was great jnitial
enthusiasm for price controls, too, and cverybody started buying
crockery, cutlery, and watches at very reasonable prices. But once the
stocks were sold there was nothing to replace them. The businessman
had no incentive to re-invest.
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I remember on one occasion we had a meeting of senior army
officers and they submitted to me a paper which explained how
everything was going wrong in the country. The Commander-in-Chief,
General Musa, was also there at the meeting. I asked him: ‘Does this
paper represent your views too?’ He answered, Yes, all of us fecl like
that.” I said, “You know, this paper was given to me this morning
when I was having a cup of tea. I read it and it gave me the feeling that
Pakistan must be coming to an end. Then I took up the morning paper
in which some Italian had predicted that tomorrow would be Dooms-
day. 1 do not know about Doomsday, but so far as Pakistan is concerned
it is there and it will stay and no one will be able to thwart its progress.’

That was a little hard on them but I wanted to show the army
officers that they should not expect miracles. They were deeply im-
pressed by the initial enthusiasm of the people for the change and were
getting disturbed when the enthusiasm began to cbb. People always
want immediate results. When Pakistan was established they thought
that they would have no more problems in life. Similarly, when the
revolution came they hoped that everything would change overnight.
Now, the revolution wasa logical culmination of events in the country;
it did not mean the end of all problems; it only meant a {resh op-
portunity to deal with the problems inan earnest, realistic manner. This
opportunity had to be utilized by the people. What was required was
hard work, dedication, and patience. And patience is not an easy virtue
to acquire; nor, for that matter, is the habit of working hard cultivated
without effort.

1 was not Jooking for dramatic results. The enthusiasm of the people
could have been easily maintained at 2 high pitch by adopting sensa-
tional and extreme measures. I think there was some expectation that
the revolutionary régime would provide gramatic openings 2nd
sequences. Had 1 succumbed to the temptation of pandering to public
taste I should have diverted national energy into negative channels.
So I was quite prepared to face a certain amount of dissatisfaction
among the people and a measure of pessimism within the army itself.
1 was determined to go about my work in a moderate and ratic:nal
manner, not for a moment forgetting the rcal and long-term objectives
of the revolution. )

This consciousness of public reaction also set & limit on my time-
table for the introduction of the rcforms. 1 felt that I must Jaunch my
full programme within a period of about two years and by then the
stage should be sct for the introduction of the Constitution. My first
anxiety was to introduce land reforms and to setie the refugee problem.
Then there were reforms to be brought 2bout in the administration an
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in the sphere of education. The legal system of the country needed
revision and there was need to regulate the augafs (trusts). The whole
pattern of social and political life in the country had to be reorganized
on democratic principles so as to ensure the participation of the people
in the affairs of the country in a constructive and meaningful way.

I knew that the objectives of the revolution could not be achieved
through force. Of course, we do need disciplinary arrangements to deal
with those who cross the line, but people must have freedom to think
and act independently and sensibly. You cannot change social attitudes
by stringent measures: stringency begets resistance and every now and
then you are forced to tighten the screw. The result is an extreme form
of oppression and constant application of force to which there is no
limit. Social attitudes can be changed and given a positive direction
only through persuasion and education. We were able to set certain
standards during the early months of Martal Law and show how
affairs should be run, but people had to learn to do things themselves.

I was told at that time that I was dealing with the politicians, who
had been responsible for the ills of the country, in too moderate a
fashion. Merely keeping them out of politics for a certain number of
years was not the answer; the moment they got an opportunity they
would hit back. Now I was not dealing with individuals. It would have
been possible to liquidate a certain number of people in the customary
fashion, but that would not have meant the end of those inherent
weaknesses or the social and political conditions of which individual
politicians were only a manifestation. Se leng as those conditions con-
tinued, the place vacated by the politicians would be occupied by others
who would behave in the same way.

Harsh and violent methods of dealing with individuals only estab-
lish harsh and violent precedents and lead to an unending political
vendetta, My target was problems and not individuals. Whenever
terrorism, particularly political terrorism, starts in a country you can
never eradicate it from the bones of the people. It stays there, Once
this phenomenon appears, it rubs off the thin veneer of civilization and
provides an outlet for man’s most primitive and animal instincts.
Political victimization leaves a lasting scar.

The revolution could easily have turned into a blind alley where
there would be no going forward and no return, My ambition was not
to prove to the world how well I could run the show: my anxicty was
to establish conditions and sct up institutions to prove how well the
country could run itsclf. The vital thing was to help people to identify
themselves with the objectives of the revolution so that things should
move on their own momentum. People must recognize the advantages
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of the revolution and acquire a2 sense of participation in their own
affairs,

I

Soon after the promulgation of Martial Law, I defined the relationship
between the civil and Martial Law authorities to prevent misunder-
standing and parallel actions which might create confusion and
frustration. I made it clear that the running of the civil administration
was the responsibility of the provincial governors. It was for them to see
that their officers discharged their duties in 2 sympathetic, cfficient,
honest, and expeditious manner. The basic administrative structure
remained the same. I selected a Cabinet, and through the Martial Law
Regulations and the normal administrative processes of the two
provinces, we put our programme into action.

The primary role of Martial Law was to give support to the civil
authority so that it should be able to rehabilitate itself and cope with
the new problems which would arise with the introduction of reforms.
This support should take the form of producing Martial Law Regu-
lations to fil any deficiencies in the normal law, and of providing
assistance in carrying out the inspection of administration and by
patrolling trouble spots. Special and summary courts should also be set
up where required. As a general rule cases against Aartial Law and
cases involving anti-State and anti-social activities should be tried by
military courts. There should be frequent meetings between the
governors and the Martial Law Administrators to exchange views and
seek guidance and assistance. Military officers were told that the best
help they could give was to appreciate the conditions under which
the ¢ivilians had to work; to recognize the limitations of economic and
other factors and respect the attitudes and opinions of the publie.

The first vears of the revolution were, in many ways, the most
rewarding vears. The régime enjoyed widespread public support
throughout the countrv and was sustained and inspired by popular
enthusiasm. Every measure we took evoked immediate response. I took
full advantage of the situation and introduced my full programme of
reforms without Josing time.

We nsed to mect frequently in the Cabinet in those days. Ircmember
our first meeting on Monday 27 October 1058, It was midday when the
mecting started. I gave my colleagues an assessment of the situation
prevailing in the country prior to 7 October 1958. I then outlined the
problems that we were facing. The first requirement was to bring about
stability in the economic life of the country. In the past, economic
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matters had been dealt with more on the basis of political or parochial
considerations than on econormic and financial considerations.

The second problem was food shortage. We had enough land and
manpower to become self-sufficient in food: what was needed was
leadership and direction. A Land Reforms Commission had been set
up and we ought to be able to evolve a more equitable system of land
tenure. The educational system of the country also reqguired attention.
Our aim should be to provide a system designed to meet the needs of the
people and to produce better and more useful citizens. It would be
necessary to give it a more practical bias and set up some mode of
selection whereby students might qualify for higher studies.

The resettlement of displaced persons, refugees from the time of
Partition, had been delayed too long. It was essential to solve this
problem quickly in the intercsts of the displaced persons as well as
the economy of the country,

I thought that the civil services were overstaffed and underpaid.
A complete reorganization of the federal and provincial services was
necessary. A Pay and Services Commission and a Reorganization
Commission should go into these gquestions. We should take steps to
weed out inefficient government servants, This might requirc some
drastic measures, but we would have to adopt them in the interests of
sound administration.

I then explained to the Cabinet the nature of Martial Law: it was
not an instrument of tyranny or punishment; it was an arrangement
under which government had acquired certain unusual powers to
implement a programme of basic reforms. What the country needed
was sound administration, a stable economy, and a reasonable standard
of living. The new régime was detcrmined to achicve these objectives.
Normal trade and business must be re-established. There was a sense of
fear in business circles and it was important to restore business con-
fidence.

I was informed in this meeting that a number of businessmen had
surrendered smuggled goods within the time-limit of our amnesty. It
was decided that those who had acted within the time-limit should not
be punished and goods surrendered by them should be returned afier
charging customns duty. In certain arcas Martial Law authorities had
asked people to pay their income-tax arrcars within fifteen days. I was
told that some people might have to sell their business premises in order
to comply with these orders. That I thought would be harsh, and the
time-limit was extended to three months.

We examined the question of the repatriation of unauthorized foreign
cxchange holdings abroad by Pakistani nationals. I wanted a system
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to be worked out under which we could get these holdings. Screening
committees in the various ministries and in the provincial governments
were to look into cases of inefficient and corrupt officials, I wanted
machinery set up to reward good and efficient civil servants. I advised
my Cabinet colleagues not to make tall promises to the public in order
to win cheap popularity: people should be told that we were facing a
difficult period and that they should not expect miracles. Miracles
could happen only if everybody worked hard and did his utmost in the
service of the country.

Too much publicity was being given to the arrests niade by Martial
Law authoritics and was creating a scare in the country. Our cffort
should be to restore normal conditions and not to create an impression
that we were going to deal with every little lapse in a harsh manner.
We should devise some machinery to review the cases of all persons
who had been arrested under the preventive provisions of the law after
the imposition of Martial Law.

Qur preoccupations at that time can be shown by extracts from the
mcmoranda I kept of some of the discussions at Cabinet meetings.

I Necember

I emphasized the need for exercising greater control in financial matters.
The investment policy of the Pakistan Industrial Development Cor-
poraton was discussed. It was decided that P.I.D.C. should not enter
into any futurc commitments for capital expenditure without obtaining
prior approval from government. In line with my ideas contained in the
1954 document, I was working on the future pattern of autonomous
organizations. The normal working of government departments is
severely restrictive; there is too much red tape. The needs of agricultura
and industrial devclopment called for the setting up of special in-
stitutions with sufficient authority and autonomy to regulate their own
working. These autonomous institutions should be assigned specific
tasks and given the resources to accomplish themn, and there should
be as little interference in their working as possible. That would be the
only way to maintain the momentum of development. These institutions
should be functioning before the Constitution was introduced; that
would ensure that development activities would go on unhindered by
politics,

6 Nevember

I mentioned in the Cabinet that we should take up the construetion of
the Quaid-c-Azam’s mausoleum. 1 asked MMiss Fatima Jinnah to

associate herselfwith the committee set up for the purpose.
LT



84 FRIENDS NOT MASTERS

The previous governments had been lax in giving people permission
to start daily and weekly newspapers. In certain cases permission had
been granted to those who did not have adeguate funds to run the
paper, with the result that they were eamning their livelihood by re-
sorting to blackmail. It was important that we build a healthy and
responsible Press,

There was need for civil and military officers to get to know cach
other. Young civilians after training in their respective academies could
be profitably attached to the army for a period of two to three months.
This wounld givé them a chance to acquaint themselves with its working
and benefit from army discipline.

4 December

I mentioned in the Cabinet that we should clarify our future policy
with regard to the problem of Jammu and Kashmir. We should also
consider what further stcps must be taken to bring about a just and
honourable scttlement of this dispute. Once it was resolved according
to the wishes of the people we would have peace in this region.

People should be prepared for land reforms. There was no reason
for unnecessary fear because the reforms would be scientific and
realistic and government would act justly towards all concerned.

I mentioned in the mecting that I was working on my broadcast
to the nation on the Quaid-e-Azam’s birthday on 25 December. 1
wanted to use this occasion to remind the people of their responsibiii-
tics. We were making a fresh start in life. It should be clear to everyone
that the régime had not come to power for personal gain. Its achicve-
ments would depend on the amount of hard work which was put in,
individually and collectively. As individuals we should undertake an
exercise in sclf-analysis and purification and collectively we should
observe the principle of avoiding all that might harm the interests of
the country. We should defend our country not only in physical terms
but also by combating anti-Pakistan ideas.

I would also give the people some idea of the future Constitution.
The new régime was anxious to introduce a fully representative form off
government based on a democratic system capable of being understood
and worked by our people. We must avoid political instability. As
soon as thec major problems were solved and basic reforms introduced,
the best constitutional brains of the country would be asked to frame 2
Constitution. In doing so, the wishes and desires of the people would be
fully respected consistent with the interests of the country.

We should immediately prepare a paper spelling out our foreign
policy and objectives. Our relations with other countries would be
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determined by our requirements of national defence and development
and must reflect the geo-political compulsions of our location, We would
hold fast to those who were our fricnds but would continue to scck new
friends, particularly among our neighbours.

24 December
I asked for an objective study of the future shape of the Baghdad Pact.

31 December

I meationed in the Cabinet that the introduction of Roman script for
all the languages of Pakistan would help increase literacy and could
result also in the creation of a common language. I wanted my col-
leagues to consider this problem dispassionately.

There were a number of wag fs (religious endowments), These could
be administered by the government and their income utilized for the
welfare of the people. Similarly income from zakat {money resenved for
the poor) could also be centralized under the government.

I wanted the commission which had been set up for siting the
Federal Capital to complete its work quickly. The capital must be
moved out of Karachi; the place was humid and unhcalthy. Also, it
was dominated by business which had a corrupting influence on the
SCrVices.

10 Jaruary 1959

There were persistent complaints of neglect from certain arcas. The
reason was that provincial administration had not been separated from
lIocal administration. We must have further decentralization of autho-
rity and administrative powers.

Administrative and political reforms must be woven into the future
pattern of our Consttution. We should start giving thought to the
matter. We must first decide whether the country could be best governed
under a Parliamentary system or a Presidential system. What kind of
legislature should the country have and what should be its size ? While
the principle of universal adult franchise was accepted, we should
cvolve a system in which people would be able to exercise their right of
vote with understanding and judgement.

And so the days rolled by, The civil organs of the administration
were revived. The army went back to barracks. One by one the reforms
were launched a2nd we caime to grips with the basic political problems
of the country.



8
The Basic Measures 1958—1960

1

In the 1954 document! I had said: ‘Nothing much will be gained un-
less we carry out land reforms in a scientific fashion. Possession of vast
areas of land by a few is no longer defensible nor is acquisition of
land without compensation.” Se when Martial Law was proclaimed in
October 1958 I had the priorities worked out in my mind and I knew
how I should proceed when introducing the various reforms. I had
told Iskander Mirza that now that the Revolution had come there
were going to be some basic changes and that no one would be allowed
to obstruct the logical course of the Revolution.

On 17 October 1958 I issued a statement in which 1 said: “There
seems to be a fear in the minds of people that if Martial Law is lified
soon the old order will return with its attendant wickedness and cvils,
and all the good that has been done will be lost. Let me assure every-
one that, while Martial Law will not be retained a minute longer than
is necessary, it will not be lifted a minute before the purpose for which
it has been imposed is fulfilled. That purpose is the clearing-up of the
political, social, economic, and administrative mess that has been
created in the past. The country has to be brought back to convales-
cence, if not complete health. In addition, certain major reforms have
to be introduced. All these things will need the cover of Martial Law.’

I made out a list of reforms and asked my colleagues which onc,
according to them, would be the hardest to implement. The unani-
mous view was land reforms. ‘Well, then, let us have the land rcforms
first?” I decided. A Land Reforms Commission was set up on 31 October
1958. Seven to cight thousand powerful familics were involved and,
knowing how attachied our people were to land, I had no illusions about
the extent of the resistance I should have to face. I knew that if I could
get this through, other reforms would have comparatively smooth
passages.

The situntion in West Pakistan at the time was that more than

! Sec Chapter 11, pp. 186 1.
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50 per cent of the available land in the Punjab, a little less than 50
per cent in the North-West Frontier, and over 8o per cent in Sind was
in the possession of a few thousand absentee landowners. The informa-
tion available for the whole province showed that o-1 per cent of owners
held between them 15 per cent of the land in propertics of over 500
acres cach. At the other end of the scale were 65 per cent of the owners
together holding just as much land in holdings of less than five acres
cach, Out of a total geographic arca of 198,600,000 acres, the area
reported as usable was only about 62,000,000 acres, the ‘unrcported’
arcas comprising desert land and the ‘special areas’. It was estimated
that ‘unrcported’ arcas included about 23,000,000 acres of cultivable
land which would bring the total cultivable arca in West Pakistan to
835,000,000 acres. Little progress had been made in agricultural develop-
ment through the kind of legislation enacted by the former provinces
of the Punjab, the North-West Frontier, and Sind.

Now, the laws and institutions which govern the ownership and use
of land have a direct cffect on production and determine the social
attitudes of those cngaged in agriculture. There is thus a direct link
between land reforms and economic and social development. The low
agricultural production and the general apathy of the rural mass of
the population arose principally from institutional defects in our agra-
rian structure and maladjustments in the terms on which land was
being used for agricultural purposes.

Ever since Independence, politicians had been tinkering with the
problem but nothing effective had been done. The main purpose of
the so-called reforms introduced in West Pakistan before the Revolu-
tion was to preserve the privileges of the zamindars and not to secure the
rights of the tenants, The landlords subverted all attempts at a more
rational distribution of Jand through the influence they exercised over
the political parties. Even the very mild land reforms enacted in the
Punjab in 1952 were annulled by Malik Firoz Khan Noon, the
Republican Chief Minister, in 1953. Apart from its social and economic
consequences, such concentration of power naturaily hampered the
free cxcreise of political institutions. Democracy could never have a
chance so long as the big landlords enjoyed protected constituencies
immune to any pressure of public opinion.

The extravagant promises which the politicians used to make only
raised false hopes and unfounded fears. This had the effect of further
cmbittering landlord-tenant relations and creating uncertainties
regarding future rights and obligations on both sides. All this contri-
buted to stagnation in agricultural production.

I told Akhtar Hussain, Governor of West Pakistan, who was to he



38 FRIENDS NOT MASTERS

Chairman of the Land Reforms Commission, that I was not thinking
of land reforms as a punitive measure. The object I had in mind was
to remove social imbalance. I wanted a rational land-tenure policy
which would satisfy, on the one hand, the need for greater equality of
opportunities and social status and, on the other hand, the economic
need for increasing agricultural production and improving the stan-
dard of living through a more equitable distribution of income from
land.

Land reforms represented a vital link in the chain of measures that
I proposed. We could not have a democratic system if a vast majority
of people in the countryside were living the life of serfs. Voting, in such
a situation, had no meaning as whole constituencies were controlled
and dominated by a few landlords. Experience had shown that even
under the so-called direct elections the trend of voting was dictated
by four or five people in each area. The power of landlords could be
curtailed, by breaking up large estates and fixing a cciling on the maxi-
mum area each person could own. But it was also important that the
class which would emerge as a result of the redistribution of fand shouid
have sufficient interest to invest in land and to treat it as a whole-time
occupation. In this way we would also help in the building up of a
strong middie class,

I tried to ascertain the income which would enable a family to live
reasonably well on the land by working hard. I wanted to fix the maxi-
mum land holding at a level which would provide adequate income to a
family to work whole-time on land and to invest in its modernization
and development. I knew from experience that in a large number
of familics the widows and unmarried women were forced to give
away their shares to the male members of the family, If the land-
holding of a male member was reduced too drastically he would just
drive the women out. That meant that some provision would be
necessary to allow landlords to bequeath land, subject to 2 maximum
limit, to dependants and widows. We adopted a ceiling of 18,000
units for this purpose, 2 unit being based on the productivity of the
Iand and thus varying from arca to area. This measure, too, contributed
towards a wider distribution of land. These were the ideas according
to which the ceilings of the land-holding were fixed. We also bore in
mind the fact that the unit of holding should be large cnough to
enable mechanized agriculture to be introduced and better fertilizers
and sceds to be used.

The requirements of social justice and the interests of cconomic
devclopment are not always identical, Tt was thus a difficult task that I
had set for the Commission. I had also required it to submit its recom-
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mendations with all possible speed. Despite the complexity of the
task, it was able to produce a comprehensive report within three
months.

The main findings of the Commission were that in relation to the
size of the rural population, land offered limited cconomic opportunity.
The ownership of land in many areas was also incquitably distributed.
Employment opportunities outside agriculture being relatively few,
there was growing congestion on the land. The pressure of population
and the laws of inheritance were creating uncconomic and highly
fragmented holdings. Despite the availability of the nccessary man-
power, the development of large cstates was often very slow and a
considerable portion of the cultivable land was not being utilized to
full capactty. Tenants suffered from a general sense of insecurity. They
were denied rewards commensurate with their efforts. Initiative and
enterprise were utterly lacking and there was no productive investment
in agriculture,

To remedy these defects the Commission recommended certain
specific measures as the minimum programme of land reform and the
government, after 2 careful consideration of the recommendations,
announced its decisions on 24 January 19350.

The following, in outline, were some of the major decisions: no
person was to own more than 500 acres of irrigated or 1,000 acres of
unirrigated land, with minor exceptions relating to existing land-
owners, and the land thus released wouid be distributed to tenants and
other deserving claimants; landlords would be paid compensation for
resurned land in the form of heritable and transferable 4 per cent bonds,
redeemable in twenty-five vears, on a fixed scale according to the
number of units owned; cxisting tenants on such land would be given
the opportunity to buy it on instalments spread over twenty-five vears,
and special consideration would be given to tenants in congested arcas.
All tenants would have security of tenure: compensation would be paid
for legal cjectment and an embargo placed on rent increases and
illegal exactions in the shape of fees, free labour or services. The
division of holdings below an economic level would be forbidden and
provision made for the compulsory consolidation of alrcady fragmented
holdings.

The most important of these measures was the imposition of a low
ceiling on individual ownership. This served to break the concentration
of landed wealth in the hands of some 6,000 landlords throughout West
Pakistan. It reduced the arca of inequality and cncouraged more
intensive use of land and productive investment in agriculture by the
actual tlier of the soil. -
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These reforms helped substantially in eliminating social and
economic injustice and contributed to the establishment of a progressive
agricultural economy, Apart from the dictates of social justice to which
we subscribed, I considered the introduction of these reforms an
absolute necessity for the survival of the system and values that we
cherished and that brought Pakistan into being as a free State.

My approach to the problem was not emotional. My idea was that
even after the reforms, farming as a profession should remain suffi-
ciently respectable and profitable to attract and engage suitable talent
on a whole-time basis. It should provide 2 standard of living which
would compare favourably with that obtaining in other professions.
My anxiety was not to destroy the existing system but to improve upon
it so that it should provide opportunities for enterprise and produce
leadership capable of influencing rural life, The landlords were guaran-
teed a fair and equitable deal and, with the compensation they received,
they were able to adjust themselves, without undue hardship, to the
changed situation.

For the peasants it was a Magna Carta of rights. We had done all
that could possibly be done for them in the prevailing circumstances.
For the first time, their role as a crucial factor in production in West
Pakistan had been fully recognized. From now on they would have
adequate security and all the incentives necessary for good husbandry
and increased agricultural production.

I have done a lot of bird-shooting in Sind. At one time you could
get many birds because the area used to provide ample cover; you
would find bushes in the middle of fields. The farmer just went round
them, never bothering to pull them out. Today, because the farmer has
a stake in the land, you do not sce a single bush in any ficld; every inch
of land is being brought under the plough.

The disappearance of the class of absentee landlords, who cxercised
great political influence under the previous land-holding system,
marked the beginning of a new cra in West Pakistan. A strong ncw
middlc class would surely emerge which would be able to make its
influence felt in future clections as well as in other aspects of community
life. The disintegration of large land-holdings would tend to consoli-
date the smaller holdings of the new middle class and this would be an
incentive to better farming and higher production.

But the most revolutionary effect of the reforms has been in terms
of political and social lcadership. Since the bulk of our population is
scttled on the land, it is thesc people who should provide political
initiative and guidance, once they are relieved of the oppressive legacy
of the past. The urban arcas used to exercise dominance over the rest
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of the couatry guiie out of propottion to their numbers, experience,
or talent. These reforms should eventuzlly bring about 2 wholesame
balance between the urban and the rural populations.

The data available showed that out of the 2-7 million acres of land
surrendered by landlords, about 2 million acres were land held in
excess of the ceiling by over 6,090 peopie, while another half a million
became available through the abolition of jzzirs. Some g million acres
of land have been consolidated under the scheme for doing 2way with
fragmented holdings and this process is continuing.

In East Paldstan, the politicians had introduced land reforms on the
basis that evervbody should be given a piece of land, Thev divided the
country into bits and pieces, and by adopting punitive and extreme
types of so-called reforms destroved the entire middie class. The result
is that today nobodyv hes any real interest in [and,

The Muslim League minisury in East Pakistan had brought in these
reforms and had zlso promised same compensation to the [zndlords.
But when the Awami League came to power they passed a [aw that 2l
estates stood resumed as from that dav. In East Pakistan there was no
lard record because of the Permanent Settlement during the British rég-
ime and nobody knew who owned what. So no compensation was paid.

A Land Revenue Commission set up for East Paldetan in 1958 led
to an amendment of the East Bengal State Acquisiion and Tenancy
Act 1050 by which I was able to raise the ceiling of by (self-cultivated)
land from 33 zc¢res to 2bout 120 acres or so. With 120 acres in East
Palistan, one can have adequate production if one is prepared to work,
The land is fertile 2nd responsive. Under the same amendment, the
Bmits of ‘subsistence’ and “economic¢’ holdings in East Pakistan were
fixed at three acres and eight acres, respectively.

Meznwhile, I had been pressing the East Palistan Government to
gei the land records made as quickly as possible and start giving
compensation to the landlords from whom land was resumed. They
hzd to have something with which to start life afresh and become useful
members of sodety.

Some people have asked me whether mechanization of agriculture
and use of improved fertilizers and better seeds could not have been
achieved through co-operative farming. We bave found from experience
that co-operative farming does not work in our social system; it can
succeed oalv under 2 Communist system. The Indizns are experi-
menring with co-operatives. They have split up the holdings to 30
acres eachs: the results have been dismal. You cannot get results through
co-operatives in conditions comparable to ours unless there is a measure
of compulgon.
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And this notion that everybody must own Jand just doecs not make
sense. We do not have enough land to give to everybody, You can
broaden the base of ownership but you must have a class of people
interested in investing in Jand and working on it on a sound economic
and progressive basis. If you destroy this class you are just killing the
goose. About 6o per cent of Pakistan’s income comes from land. Under
our land reforms, landlords, by tradition a lazy people, are working
harder on the Jand and are getting far more out of it. They have
introduced mechanization, fertilizers, and better seeds. A whole class
of young people after finishing college are going back to the land. All
this makes for a healthy agricultural community.

It is not easy to encourage investment in agriculture. In the dry
areas land revenue is fixed, but in the canal areas in Sind, the amount
of revenue fluctuates with the type of crop and the prices. In other
words, a man who works harder and produces more has to pay more
taxes to the government! The West Pakistan government is now
considering 2 system under which it can have a fixed land revenue,
Once that is done the farmer will be cncouraged to get the maximum
out of his land.

Co-operatives can be useful in Pakistan, but in the ficld of common
credit facilities. I should like to see finance co-operatives started in
every Union Council, to take the place of the village moneylender who
has, fortunately, disappeared; but the void left by him has not been
filled. Rural credit facilities are a problem. The answer rcally is that the
Union Councils should establish their own savings accounts and co-
operative arrangements.

The democratic content of the new Constitution would have been a
sham without the land reforms, Ask a farmer whose family has been
tilling a plot of land for generations how these reforms have changed
his whole attitude towards life. He sweated and toiled, as did his fore-
fathers, but neither they nor he could claim that plot of land as his
own. The land reforms have changed his destiny: he is now likely to
be the proud owner of his land.

The pattern of our social and political life is being transformed.
Governments who manoceuvred themselves into power on the strength
of their vast estates will no Jonger be able to stage a come-back. Leader-
ship will now be judged not in terms of acres of land but by secial and
human values. The curtain has been rung down on the dismal inter-
play of extreme poverty and excessive wealth which had long dominated
the rural scene,

A good deal of what I planned to do was going to aflcet the lives
of powerful people in the country as well as the masses. They all hiad to
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be clear in their minds about the necessity for the change, so that once
it was made, although it might prove distasteful in the beginning, it
would have their support and they would try to sustain it in future.
In that, I think, I succeeded to a large extent.

All reforms hurt vested interests and most of my relorms were
directed against vested interests. Six thousand powerful landlords in
West Pakistan lost through the land reforms about 2:7 million acres of
land. Murders are committed over an inch of land: here were ncarly
three million acres given up without a squeak.

11

I have described the holocaust of Partition. At that time I had made a
rough guess that about a million Muslims would scek refuge in Paki-
stan, and cven that prospect worried me because I was extremely
doubtful of the administration’s capacity to deal with a problem of
such dimensions. In actual fact about nine million refugecs poured
into Pakistan. The continuing animosity of Hindus and Sikhs, the
cconomic and social boycott, the political persecution of Muslims,
and the harsh application of evacuee laws in independent India
brought about one of history’s most tragic and politically-motivated
migrations. Every sixth man in Pakistan was a refugee from India.
The previous political régimes were interested in keeping this problem
alive and rcfugees became a pawn in the game of party politics.

In 1954 the government decided to launch a scheme for the pay-
ment of compensation for properties left by displaced persons in India.
Trom 1955 to 1958 no action was taken and the only tangiblc progress
was the enactment of legislation for the registration and verification of
claims and the setting up of a claims organization. In February 1958
an Act was passed by Parliament for the permancnt scttlement of
claims on agricultural lands, but, as on previous occasions, no concrete
steps were taken to put its provisions into effect.

The basic mistake made by previous governments, and cven by us
in the beginning, was to have worked on the assumption that even
though a major calamity had occurred and a massive shift ofpoplflatlon
had taken place under chaotic conditions, it should still be possible to
determine how much property each man had left in India and wl*{at
he should therefore receive in Pakistan as its cquivalent. It was a fut_lic
exercise. We soon realized that it would be impossible to determing
what a man was entitled to in the absence of documents, especially
from those arcas in India which were not covered by the formal
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agreement on evacuee property between the two countries, The only
solution to my mind was to give the refugees a new start in life and not
talk loosely about compensation. After all, who can compensate when
a major tragedy overcomes some nine million people whe are forced
to flee their homes? And look at the sirain on the administrative
machinery of the country that gave them refuge in trying to ‘compen-
sate’ them. The West Pakistan administrative machinery almost
ground to a halt and remained neutralized for a long time because of
their approach to the problem. The politicians ended up by adopting
a perfectly ridiculous formula: it meant that if a person could produce
two witnesses who deposed that he had owned half of India, then the
government of Pakistan would have to accept this! He could, in
return, testify that the other half of India belonged to those who had
testified in his favour. And the government must accept this also! It
opened the floodgates to dishonesty and immorality.

I am not blaming the poor refugees. But the net result of this formula
was that it corrupted them and it corrupted the society in which they
were seeking assimilation. On one occasion, with some difficulty, we
managed to get records from India relating to those who had migrated
to Pakistan. On a sample check, we found that the claims registered
with us were true only to the extent of about 7% per cent. The Re-
habilitation Ministry was naturally alarmed. It was obvious that we
must give the refugees a fresh start in life. Their resettlement had been
hanging fire for several years owing to incompetence, corruption, and
party politics. Here I was bringing in land reforms and reducing the
number of Nawabs and landlords; yet if we had followed the refugee
rehabilitation policy of the previous régimes we should have created
a new class of Nawabs, I certainly did not want this to happen.

Within three months of the proclamation of Martial Law we had
set the stage by promulgating an Ordinance on 4 January 1959 and
following it up with further Ordinances, the most important of which
was Regulation 89, in September 1961, The entitlement in agricultural
land determined under this Regulation foliowed a graduated system
for the preparation of fresh entitlements relating to the claims already
made. An entitlement not exceeding 1,500 produce index units would
be met in full, whereas for cxample an entitlement exceeding 4,000
units would be met by 2,150 units plus 10 per cent of the entitlement
in cxcess of 4,000 units.

This formula mcant that a heavy cut was imposed on people with
large claims. True, it was an arbitrary law, but it was merciful and more
than just under the circumstances. I checked up with 2 large number of
people affected. Many confessed, now that the matter was over, that



THE BASIC MEASURES 1958-1960 93

they had got three times more than they were entitled to on the basis
of what they had actually left behind in India. But the people in the
top slab did suffer, and to give them relief we allowed them to buy up
to 36,000 produce index units, which was the maximum holding
allowed under the land reforms. The price charged was nominal,
Rs. 10 per produce index unit, and payable in easy instalments. This was
how we dealt with the refugee problem as it existed at the time of our
assumption of power. Compare this with what they would have got
left with if they had stayed in India: 25 to 50 acres.

Along with this compensation programme, we took immediate
steps to accelerate the establishment of new refugee ‘colonies’ in the
towns, to provide basic housing and sanitation for as many of the home-
less refugees as possible. I laid the foundation stone of the Korangi
Colony outside Karachi in December 1958; and 15,000 quarters were
completed there in five months. Similar new townships were built in
North Karachi and at Mohammadpur Colony in Dacca.

All this, however, was by no means the end of the story. India
continued a calculated policy of driving wave after wave of Muslims
from their homes and pushing them into Pakistan, particularly in our
castern wing, and there was a lot of talk in India about exchange of
population. I still wonder what the Indians have in mind and what is
really behind this irresponsible action. I wish and pray that Indian
leadership would realize the barbarity of their acdon and put an end
to this inhuman treatment of their own nationals.

III

The British Government announced their plan for the emergence of
India and Pakistan as two sovereign independent States on 3 June
1947. The plan was to come into effect from 14 August of the same year.
While the Government of India inherited a well-developed capital in
New Delhi, Pakistan had to find a place to house its central govern-
ment, There was hardly any time to select a permanent site: the
Immediate requirement was to find some place where accomniodation
was available. Looking around, no one could think of a place better
than Karachi. I believe Rawalpindi was also mentioned at the time but
1t had few facilities to offer, and in any case it was to be the Head-
quarters of the Pakistan Army.

. The Provincial Government of Sind vacated their secretariat in
Karachi where a rudimentary central secretariat was set up, but the
accommodation proved grossly inadequate. Temporary hutments
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were put up in various parts of the city to house Central Government
offices. The position regarding residential accommodation was still
more unsatisfactory because no houses were released by the Sind
government. A large number of army barracks were converted into
temporary residences. Naturally there was considerable resentment
among government servants because they could not give of their best in
those conditions.

Karachi is the only port for West Pakistan. It is situated on inter-
national air routcs and even before Independence was a centre for
foreign commercial firms. After Independence a large number of men
with money and business acumen migrated from Bombay, Kathiawar,
and other places in India to Karachi, and the town soon developed
into the principal commercial and industrial complex of the country.
With the influx of refugees and industrialization, its population began
to grow rapidly and civic facilities began to deteriorate. A city of some
250,000 in 1941 had grown to over a million by 1951—and the census
of 1961 showed a population just short of two million. As it is, the place
has an enervating climate which saps one’s energy and efficiency. This,
along with unhygienic conditions prevailing throughout the city, had
a serious effect on the health of the government servants. The whole
administration looked womn out after the first few years.

The town also became a centre of agitational politics: politicians
found that they could collect mobs with the help of industrialists and
businessmen and bring all kinds of pressures to bear on the govern-
ment. A time came when one large public meeting attended by a
riotous mob could determine the fate of the government. Constant
contact with businessmen had a corrupting influence on government
servants and mauny of them succumbed to temptation, Also the Central
Government ministers got embroiled with the affairs of Karachi’s
local administration.

Even before the revolution the Central Government was thinking
of moving to a healthier place, and Gadap near Karachi was mentioned
in this connection. No decision was taken because government at that
time was not strong cnough to resist vested interests in Karachi who
would have lost control over the Central Government if the capital had
been shifted.

In January 1959 I appointed a Commission under General Yahya
to cxamine the suitability of Karachi as the permanent capital of
Pakistan from the point of view of geographical location, communica-
tions, defence, climate, and availability of a productive hinterland;
and if Karachi was considered unsuitabic, to rccommend an alternative
site. The Commission carried out a thorough and painstaking examina-
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tion of the problem and came to the unanimous conclusion that Karachi
was not suitable. They studied alternative sites in both wings of Paki-
stan and finally recommended that the capital should be located in the
Potwar Platezu near Rawalpindi. I agreed to this and the new capital
was nzamed Islamabad.

The capital is about seven miles from Rawalpindi under the lee of
the Margalla Hills. Spread over 350 square miles of the Potwar Plateau,
the site is a panoramic expanse of natural terraces and meadows,
rising from 1,700 to 2,000 fect above sea level with a back-drop of
mountain ranges. The place has a rich history. It was one of man's
earliest homes, dating back four hundred thousand years, as shown by
the Stone Age relics of the Sohan Culture found in the Potwar Platcau
by Sir Mortimer Whecler. Later, snhabitants of this part of the vorld
built 2 centre of their power at Taxila, on the other side of the Margalla
Range. The reason these Buddhists (who were followed by the Greeks)
choze the other side of the hills was because only on that side did they
have an assured water supply. The first thing 1 did was to order the
building of the Rawal Dam, to re-create the conditions that existed for
Taxila some two and a half thousand years ago. We thus went back to
Tasila which was 2 notable seat of civilization and learning long before
the davm of the Christian era. It was the cradie of Gandhara art.

After considering all the basic factors, including gr:OgTaphiC and
climatic suitability, development potcnrjal, communications and
defence, the Commission obscrved: “The capital of 2 country is not
merely another city, it is a leader amongst citice. To this city come
Isaders of administration and politics, of commerce and trade, of
literature and art, of religion and science. From this city flows the
inspiration which pulsates life into the nation. 1t is 2 symbol of ourhopes-
Tt is 2 mirror of our desires. It is the heart and soul of the nation. Itis;
therefore, essentizl that the environments of the capital should be such
25 to ensure continued vitality in the Nation.’

My own thinking was also that capitals are not built, nor do they
exdst, just for the sake of, shall we say, utility. Utility is important, but
2t the same time the capital of a country has to encompass much bizger
vistze, znd provide light and direction to the cfforts of the Pc??lc' It
must, therefore, be located in the best possible curroundings. With the
two provinces of Pakistan separated as they 21¢, there is greater nffd
to bring the people to 2 common platform. The thing t0 do was 10 1=
them to 2 new place altogether. -

Sn it was not just the building of a city: it was an OPEO“U“‘V-‘ g
unite the people of Pakistan, and to give them the right enviroament 17
which to produce the hest results. The Central Government represents
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all the thinking and policy-making organs of administration. The best
talent has to be there in order to be able to work for the hetterment of
the people. I have noticed the difference in the health of the officers
and staff ever since they came to Islamabad. They look a different
people although they have to work much harder.

It gives me great satisfaction to sce the new capital growing up.
The new secretariat buildings are almost completed ; residential arcas
are being developed and already the city has become a symbol of the
unity of the country and reflects the hopes and aspirations of the people,

v

At my first Press conference, two days after the promulgation of Martial
Law, I had defined three immediate tasks that would have to be under-
taken: namely, land reforms, refugee resettlement, and educational
reforms.

We needed an educational system which could produce competent
leadership in different shapes and yet be within our means, I set up a
Commission on National Education on g0 December 1958, and asked -
them to get on with the job. They wanted to make a basic study of the
educational system and educational theory and talked in terms of years;
but I told them that I wanted the report quickly. They worked hard
and produced a comprehensive report within about eight months.

Our foremost need was to have a large body of trained and discip-
lined men and women who could provide leadership and direction,
To my mind, this was the hard core of our national requirements. All
reforms in the sphere of land and agriculture, law and administration,
and all attempts to produce a greater measure of political, constitu-
tional, social, and economic stability and well-being were intended to
provide the conditions necessary for the growth of the right type of men
and women,

The object of all our endeavour was the young people, at school or
college today, but who tomorrow would be called upon to assume the
leadership of the country in all spheres of life. When 1 talked about
leadership, I did not for a moment accept the time-worn concept which
confined it to the realm of high public offices; to me leadership meant a
universal trait which operated at all levels. The mother in the nursery,
the wife in the home, the teacher in some remote primary school, the
doctor in a rural dispensary, the clerk in 2 small municipal office, the
tiller of the soil, and the worker in a factory, cach onc of them had to be
a leader in his or her own line, able to do the job adequately and
constructively. What we needed was a sound and sensible systern of
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education to liberate the talent for leadership in every sphere of
national life. At the same time, I was clear in my mind that the purpose
of educational reform should not be to demolish unnecessarily any good
or valuable traditions built up over long years. Proud legacies and
treasures of the past have to be protected, but old laurels do not stay
fresh unless nurtured by an urge for new achievements.

The Commission started by identifying the basic weaknesses in the
educational system we had inherited from the past. These were ‘passi-
vity and non-cooperation; indiscipline and non.acceptance of public
authority; placing of self before the community; and the disruptive
forces of regionalism and provincialism’.! The Commission reached
these conclusions after making a careful study of political developments
in Pakistan and analysing the causes which had contributed to the
breakdown of the whole political system. I cannot do better than
reproduce the findings of the Commission: ‘During the early period of
foreign rule, the attitude of the government to the people was one of
paternalism, while that of the people towards government was one of
passive submission. . . . Initiative was seldom expected or encouraged
and the relationship between the government and the people was the
impersonal one between ruler and subject.” The Commission felt that
this passive attitude had been changed into onc of active resistance to
government during the struggle for independence, but that after the
creation of Pakistan some of the worst of the old attitudes, both passivity
and suspicion of government organization, had reappeared.

Having summed up the basic weaknesses of the system, the Educa-
tion Commission went on to devise remedial measures, It recommended
that the basic necessity was nothing less than a ‘revolution in attitudes’
so that the characteristics in our society which they had pointed out
could ‘give way to a spirit of individual initiative, personal integrity,
pride in accomplishment, trust in one’s fellow men’, and ‘a private sense
of public duty’.?

The Commission formulated a plan which was aimed at raising
academic standards, at encouraging the bright, and not only the rich,
child, and at solving, through education, the problems of mutual
ignorance and suspicion between the two wings of the country and
between the peoples of different language backgrounds.

The Commission recommended that the emphasis in higher educa-
tion should be on quality, o that the products of our colleges and uni-
versities could compare favourably with those of overseas institutions.

T Repert ¢f the Commmission en Nerignel Edvecticn, p. 6 {Government of Pakiytan,
Karachi, 1960).

*Ibid. p. 5. 3 Ibid. p. 8.

rar—8
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To achieve this, it was imperative that the quality of college and uni-
versity teachers be improved. This, in turn, would depend ultimately
upon our ability to recruit people of high calibre to the teaching pro-
fession, upon their dedication to teaching and scholarship, and their
willingness and ability continuously to refresh their knowledge and
methods through personal study and research,

To improve the qualifications of teachers already in service, and as
part of a permanent programme through which college teachers could
bring their knowledge up to date and acquaint themselves with new and
improved technigues and to stimulate their thinking, the Commission
recommended that a series of summer courses be instituted to cover
various academic disciplines in each course. These would be attended
by university and college teachers and supervised jointly by eminent
local and foreign specialists in each discipline, Fortunately, this part of
the Commission’s recommendations could be implemented right away
and a modest beginning was made within months of the acceptance of
the Report by the government.

Regarding secondary education, the Commission pointed out that
the nation-building needs required a large number of people with a
variety of technical skills relating to industry, commerce, and agricul-
ture, and that the new State required men of great integrity, patriotism,
and dedication to the ideals of service. The sccondary school pro-
gramme in the past had paid little attention to these matters and, in
fact, their tradition of aiming at a literary, or arts, education had becn
so strong that resistance to any change had frustrated all previous
attempts at reform. The main emphasis of the secondary school
programme had been on the preparation of the students for joining
the universities. To correct this weakness the Commission recommended
that secondary education should become a distinct stage with its own
purpose, rather than act only as a preparation for higher education.

As for primary education, the Commission was of the view that
economic development would require for its rapid achicvement a
generally literate population who would be able to understand and
apply the new discoveries of science and improved technical and
agricultural practices, and who could, as in any democratic system,
understand local and national issues and could choose wisely from
among alternative candidates and courses of action.

The major objective of the educational rcforms really was to
prepare our people for sharing the burden of developing their country
and defending it. It is going to be a slow process, but I would like to
belicve that we have made a start in this direction. But we have had
sethacks. For instance, throughout the whole of 1963, Dacca University
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operated for only twenty-seven days. We are spending large sums of
mozey to bring the two Provinces to a Jevel of parity. Unfortuna tcly
our progress has been ha ampered by many students wasting their time
and zllowing politicians to misguide them. These are heart-breaking
things. I think, however, that the educational reforms are beginning to
take effect and, in another two or three vears, we should be getting much
hretter products out of our universites.

As for forcign influence, I believe we should adopt good things
wherever they can be found. Unfortunately, it is so much easicr to
adopt bad things, goudy and vulgar. I do not have any mistrust of
forcign ideas, atdtudes, and manners, but I do belicve that we should

maintain and hold firmlv to our own traditions, adopting only such
foreign ideas as can be u_muﬁv assimilated in our life.

Most of the newly-emerging countries adopied the western system of
government because they did not have time to work out a system of their
own. As a result, governments have been functioning in a state of ten-
sion with their people. The behaviour of the polidcian, the student
community, and the Press, has contributed to this tension. Student
demonstrations are 2 common phenomenon in 2l new democratic
countrics like Pabistan, Iran, Turkey, the Philippines, and Japan. In
the old days, one would hear 2 lot about lawlessness 2 among the student
community in Cziro. Since the pattern of government therchaschanged,
the students have settled down. In new countries, such as ours, tradi-
tions of responsibility are nmot sufficiently developed; irresponsibility
comies easy, since it so often goes unpunished.

But it is also true that governments have not really been providing
the facilities which the students require, There were reasons for this,
We just did not have the means. There were far too many students

and not enough buildings, Iaboratories, libraries, or even areas for
games and recreation.

Some of these shortages can be soon met if vigorous and perhaps
unconventional methods are tried, on individual initiative. Organized
physical training, for example, in our schools and colieges could take
the place of more complicated and expensive games. One instructor

on a platform with 2 loud-speaker can teke a very large body of students
at one time, and just half an hour a day should build up their bodies
and minds, and take the devil out of them.

The language problem has been 2 major hindrance in the develop-
ment of 2 sound and untform cducational system in the countrv. The
Cormnmission advocated teaching through botnr the natdonal languages,
Benzali 2and Urdy, and referred alto to the question of the two scripis
but did not go into the difficulties which teaching in two languages
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and two scripts presents to a developing society seeking to build itself
into a unified community professing 2 common ideclogy and com-
mitted to a common destiny. The language problem has to be viewed
essentially as an academic and scientific problem. Unfortunately it has
become a highly explosive political issue and the result is that no one
wishes to talk about it for fear of being misunderstood. The intellec-
tuals who should have been vitally interested in the matter have
remained on the touch-line lacking the moral courage to face up to the
problem. Their attitude has been to leave it to the political leaders to
come up with some solution and face the odium, so that they may be
able to sit back in comfort and criticize whatever solution is offered.

It is quite clear to me that with two national languages we cannot
become a one-nation State; we shall continue to rernain a multi-nation
State. I am not necessarily arguing against this; I am just stating a fact
of life which has to be recognized. For it is the case that one language
cannot be imposed on the whole country; neither Bengali nor Urdu
can become the language of the whole of Pakistan. It is equally true that
if the people—both in East and West Pakistan—ivant to develop co-
hesion they must have a medium to communicate with cach other.
And this medium must be a national medium. To cvolve such a medium
we have to identify common elements in Bengali and Urdu and allow
them to grow together through a common seript. Admittedly it will be
a long process, but with growing understanding and knowledge of cach
other a national medium is bound to emerge and take shape. I cannot
enforce this idea. All I can do is to pose the problem and to emphasize
the need for solving it if we are to preserve national identity and unity.

Of all the reforms we initiated, in pursuance of the philosophy of the
Revolution, the reconstruction of the system of education was the one
closest to my heart. No economic planning, social progress, or spiritual
enlightenment could make much headway without 2 sound and
realistic base for education. This immense task requires the pooling of
all the talent in the country and I sincerely hope that this will be forth-
coming in implementing the intentions underlying the reforms. Only
then can we have an educational system which will meet the individual
and collective needs of our people,

v

As far back as 1954 I had written that ‘there is the problem of our legal
system, which is most expensive, incffective, dilatory, tyrannical and
totally unsuited to our genius. This would need complete overhaul and
made humane, quick, and cheap. The answer would seem to lic in
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having a Jirga-cum-judicial system and revision of evidence and pro-
cedural laws with only one right of appeal. The highest judicial court
for dealing with cases other than constitutional would have to be ¢created
in each sub-unit. The federal or the provincial high courts should deal
only with cases of a constitutional nature.’

I remember my father telling me on one occasion that after the
First World War there was 2 demand from the people who had sup-
ported the British that they should be compensated for it. The British
Government asked District authoritics to explain to the people how
much Britain had done in the way of introducing reforms to help the
people of India. The Deputy Commissioner of Hazara, a Colonel
James, called a meeting of leading people in Haripur., There swas only
one chair for the Deputy Commussioner and the audience had to squat
on 2 carpet. My father, who had been invited to this mecting, resented
this and stood under a tree. The Deputy Commissioner said that
evervthing possible was being done by the government but the general
backwardness could not be removed overnight. He specifically referred
to litigation, which seemed a widespread occupation in the area, and
said that everyone came to the courts with falsc complaints and then
asked for justice. My father said that it was true that people concocted
and fabricated cases and told all kinds of Iics, but this was not becausc
there was anything wrong with the people. The whole system was
fundamentally alien to their temperament and needs. People had dis-
covered, through trial and error, that the legal system introduced by the
British was heavily weighted in favour of those who indulged in lies and
falschood. The administration did everything to encourage individuals
to make allegations against their own people. It was no usc blaming
the people: what was required was a re-orientation of the system,

Penderel Moon, a former member of the Indian Civil Service,
observes in his book Strengers in Indiz that the legal svstem is beyond
the comprehension of a large majority of the people. It is intricate, it is
dilatory, it is expensive. And what is worsc, it does not even give you
justice. If vou do succeed in getting justice out of this system, you are
just plain lucky. It is 2 system that has destroyed the morale of the
people because to prove the truth you have to tell lies and in order to
disprove a lic you have to tell more lies. It works well enough in the
place of its birth, but not in our circumstances. The effect has been
that our moral values have been undermined by this systern. Pendere!
Aoon says, and I agree with him, that in an attempt to make it work,
we have corrupted it 2nd the systemin turn has completely corrupted us.

1, for one, have little faith in the present fegal system. Now I know
that people blame the legal profession for the deficiencies in the
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system: I do not. They did not invent this system; it was forced on them.
But what is surprising is that I do not see any urge within the legal pro-
fession to bring the system into line with the pattern of life in Paki.
stan, There are many lawyers who are dissatisfied with it, but they show
their dissatisfaction in private and not openly because some of their
own colleagues in the profession will resist them fiercely. And any
form of major change would inevitably come up against vested
interests.

A large number of people in Pakistan have joined the legal pro-
fession. It is grossly over-manned and has absorbed considerable talent,
much of which could be far more usefully employed in other walks of
life. To make life a little easier for our poor people in the villages, we
have given the Basic Democrats certain comparatively simple judicial
functions. Even this has not been taken gracefully by some in the Iegal
profession. I can understand their reasons, but something has to be
done to relieve the distress of the people who are being demoralized
and oppressed by the legal system. I am not a Jegal expert, and it is very
difficult for me to put down any guidelines, but I would like to sce the
procedures simplified and the courts giving decisions a little more
quickly. I personally feel that our Evidence and other procedural Acts
should be fundamentally altered. If Martial Law had continued, I
might have done something about it.

There is a peculiar weakness for verbosity among some of the lawyers
and the judges; they love to be long-winded. I remember a recent case
in one of the high courts which had to do with the divorce or marriage
of 2 woman. There were four or five judges and they vied with one
another in writing lengthy judgements, the shortest running to about
seventy-two pages. And what was the result? In the end they all re-
commended that in order to resolve the problem, there should be a
conference of leading ulema (religious scholars) from all over the Muslim
world so that they could establish a uniform pattern to deal with such
cases. Now there seems to be noboedy who can tell them that their
function is to interpret the laws of the land, not to write long theses.
There is so much artificiality in the whole thing. It just does not inspire
confidence. During the Martial Law period I appointcd a Law Reforms
Commission to go into the whole matter. They produced a good report,
but I feel that it barely touched the fringe of the problem. Funda-
mentally, this legal system is ruinous.

The Report deals with solutions of a long-term nature, designed to
simplify procedures and reduce delays; separation of the judiciary from
the executive; appointment of an Islamic Laws Commission; appoint-
ment of a committee to revise and consolidate the laws; reduction of
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court fees; sctting up of low-level courts with limited jurisdiction,
ranging from summary courts in mctropolitan towns to judicial
panchayats in the villages and the molallas or ward-adalats in the urban
arcas; abolition of frontier crimes regulations; achicvement ofuniformity
of laws all over the country; extension of the jurisdiction of West
Pakistan high courts to special arcas of Baluchistan and replacement of
Qazi courts in Baluchistan by regular judicial courts; amendment of
defamation laws; appointment of a committee to examing the structure
of existing court laws, and so on.

Some of the rccommendations were implemented, such as the
amendment of the Civil Procedure Code in order to reduce the tech-
nicalities of the procedural law. The first hearing was made more com-
prehensive and casy adjournment of hearings made impossible. The
appeal from the judgement of a single judge of a high court to a bench
of two (Letters Patent Appeal) was eliminated.

However, as I have said, this docs not touch the hard core of the
problem. I was not so much worried about the material damage being
done by the legal system as by the gricvous psychological and moral
damage. A perfectly good man, an honest man, who would never teil
a lic in his own village, gocs to a court and is prepared to tell any
number of lics. And this is because he has no faith in the system. He
does not think it is his system ; it is somebody clse’s system. So he argucs
to himsell that there is nothing wrong if he violates a system which is
forcign and has been thrust upon him.

The interminable discussion which gocs on and the laxity of the
courts in allowing extrancous matters to be brought in suggests a
scrious Jack of discipline. Perhaps the substantive law is all right, but
the application of the law in evidence and procedures lends itself to
gross misuse and exploitation. The procedures are still cambersome and
slow and, I think, the judiciary and the magistracy find themsclves
powerless to amend matters and speed things up. Now I sometimes get
mercy petitions from persons convicted of murder and sentcnced to
death: I rarely sce a case which is decided in less than two years. That
is a big cheque for any legal svstem to earn in 2 eriminal case. On the
other hand, in any civil casc, if you have the moncy and you want to
ensure that no decision is arrived at, you can go on indefinitely.

I once asked a judge, whom I have known for a long time, what life
was like in the high courts. He said: ‘Well, vou know, in every case
there are two sides—the prosccution and the defence, and in civil cases
there are two parties. One just sits there and listens to lies from be-
ginning to end, from both sides, lies and rubbish, and the task is to make
sense out of it all and give a decision. This is my life.
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My own feeling is that we should really have this system examined
very carefully not by lawyers alone but also by the people who suffer.
I now think it was a mistake to appoint pure lawyers and judicial com-
missioners on the Law Commission. I should really have put in some
people who knew something of the sufferings of those involved.

I feel that in our society, when something occurs in a particular area,
the people of that area know who has done it and would name the fellow,
if they were given a fair chance and protection. I therefore think that
the more these things are put in the hands of local bodies the greater
justice and satisfaction would be provided. Experience has shown that
the handling of minor cases by local bodies has been very encouraging.
And what is more, they get people to come to a compromise; they do
not just deliver sentences. If they did, they too would become con-
troversial. The conclusion is inescapable that some decentralization of
the administration of justice is necessary, except for complicated matters
like contractual laws.

I have been thinking deeply over the question of making our laws
Islamic. If we succeeded in that, onr legal system would become more
humane and workable. It is now for the the Legislature to take the
initiative in the matter; I would be prepared to cndorse any reasonable
move in this direction. But while there is a lot of Joose talk on the sub-
ject, no one, not even the ulema, has so far come forward with any
concrete ideas. I have set up an Advisory Council on Islamic Ideology
and an Islamic Research Institute who should be able to examine our
legal problems in the light of religion and advise the government. That
should help our legislators to adapt our laws in conformity with the
tenets of Islam. But to be workable, these laws must take account of
the necds of society today.

Itis not an easy task, I know. Any attempt at interpreting the tencts
of Islam and adapting the laws to conform to the requirements of the
time is a signal for the ulema to raise the slogan of ‘heresy’. Take the
institution of marriage: a Muslim is allowed by Islam to have more
than one wife, under certain conditions. This permission has been uscd
to practise indiscriminate polygamy, causing immense misery to in-
numerable tongue-tied women and innocent children. Thousands of
familics have been ruined because of the degenerate manner in which
men have misused this permission to suit their convenience. A Com-
mission, headed by a former Chief Justice of Pakistan, was sct up in

1955 to examine the marriage and family laws and to suggest reforms in
those laws. The members of the Commission were all personsoficaming.
When I came to office in 1958 I found that the Commission had pro-
duced 2 report and made a number of recommendations. Exeept for
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one note of dissent the recommendations were supported by all members
of the Commission. The previous government avoided the responsibility
of implementing the report through their fear of the ulema. I had the
report cxamined by distinguished jurists including Justice Mohammad
Ibrahim of East Pakistan and Mr. Manzur Qadir, ex-Chief Justice of
the High Court of West Pakistan. The recommendations of the Com-
mission did not interfere in any way with any Islamic injunction on the
subject; they only provided a procedure for the proper and judicious
implementation of the Islamic principles relating to marriage. I
decided to implement the procedure recommended by the Commission
because I considered it my duty as a Muslim and as Head of the State
to do what was necessary to climinate a grave social malpractice which
was affecting the lives of the people. Accordingly, the Muslim Family
Laws Qrdinance was promulgated in 1g61. A section of the wlema
immediately accused me of interfering with Islam. Some went to the
extent of suggesting that I had rewritten certain sections of the Qur’an.
Fortunately the social benefits of the new law made an immediate
impact on family life: people in general, and the womenfolk in par-
ticular, supported the reform and the obscurantists found themselves
isolated. I have mendoned this to underline the difficulty of adapting
laws to suit contemporary conditions.

vi

The Indus Basin waters dispute between Pakistan and India has a long
and chequered history. While Kashmir is basically a political problem,
the canal waters was a technical and econornic issue which turned into 2
bitter feud becausc of India’s intransigence. A major contributory factor
was the policy of weakness and vacillation followed by successive govern-
ments in Pakistan.

Soon after the promulgation of Martial Law, I told a news con-
ference in Karachi that if the Kashmir and canal water disputes were
scttled peacefully the new régime should be able to work out some mode
of coexistence with India. I decided to deal with both the problemsin a
pragmatic spirit.

The Indus, with its five main tributaries, is one of the great river-
systems of the world. Its annual flow is twice that of the Nile and three
times that of the Tigris and Euphrates combined, amounting to almost
170 million acre-feet, or enough water to submerge to 2 depth of one
foot the whole arca of France or the State of Texas in the United States.
The rivers, together with the system of irrigation developed over the
past hundred years, support a population of about 40 million in Pakistan
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and 10 million in India, or almost onc-tenth of the combined population
of the two countries. The Indus Basin irrigation system is the Jargest
in the world, irrigating about 3o million acres, or a larger area than
that irrigated in Egvpt and the Sudan by the Nile.

The partition of the sub-continent in 1947 left the headworks of
some of our major irrigation systems in Indian territory. All the canals
of what are known as the Central Bari Doab and the Sutlej Valley pro-
jects depended for their supplies on headworks and rivers under Indian
control. The rivers Sutlej, Beas, and Ravi, whose waters flowed into
these canals, originated and ran for long distances in Indian territory
before they entered Palkistan.

Soon after Partition, India chose to take the drastic action of with-
holding water supplies to our canals and created a grave crisis for us.
Water was released only under certain conditions to which we had no
option but to agree, for the alternative was the physical devastation of
vast fertile areas. The problem was made more complex because, untif
then, the Indus Basin irrigation system bhad been developed entirely
from river flow and without reservoir storage. Water supplies were
governed not only by seasonal variations, but also by the yearly varia-
tions in the flow of the rivers depending on rainfall in the upper reaches
of the Himalayas.

India was trying to appropriate for her own use ail the waters of the
Sutlej, the Beas, and the Ravi; and, perhaps, some waters of the
Chenab. As an upper-riparian, she was in a position to deprive us of all
this water which flowed through her territory. Tempted by the prospect
of quick economic development by utilizing casily available water,
India started on huge engineering works which could only result in the
complete desolation of vast areas of land in Paldstan.

The sharing of the waters of the Indus system had been a matter of
dispute for many years. Before Partition, there were water claims con-
tinuously in dispute between the Sind and Punjab provinces of un-
divided India. Partition drew the border between India and Pakistan
right across the Indus system. Pakistan became the doewnstream
riparian, and the headworks of two of the main irrigation canals in
Pakistan were left on the Indian side of the border. The sharing of the
use of the waters then became an international issuc. Somewhere about

1953 or 1955, when I was Commander-in-Chief, there was a great deal
of talk in the Press about the Indus Basin dispute. The Indians scemed
determined to cut off water supplics to vur canals. If that had hap-
pened, the country might well have found itself involved in an armed
conflict with India. I knew very litdle about the problem, so I asked for
clucidation. The West Pakistan government sent two engineers who
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explained the case in great detail to me. My main worry was the vulnera-
bility of Pakistan. The sources of the rivers were in India along with
the headworks. India had made arrangements to divert the waters and
the Indian Army was three times the size of our army. I felt that if
negotations with India broke down, and the Indians did dccide to
divert the waters, we should be facing a situation of war. Every factor
was against us. The only sensible thing to do was to try and get a
sctlement even though it might be the second-best, because if we did
not, we stood to lose everything.

In October 1958, very soon after the Revolution, I undertook a
closer study of the facts of the case and acquainted myself with the
issues involved. I came to certain definite and firm conclusions. By May
1959 the main issues had erystallized and the World Bank had reached
the stage when they could make us a definite offer. Agreement was
rcached on the general principles on which a water treaty should be
based. The World Bank conceded our demand for the construction of a
system of replacement works. This was to be a part of the settlement
arrangements, with India making a financial contribution. The World
Bank team, headed by its President, Eugene Black, offered us the
Mangla Dam plus certain headworks and the diversionary and link
canals. They also offered a dam at Rohtas near Jhelum. The resources
for these gigantic works were in the main to be provided by the fricndly
countries, cspecially the United States; some by India and some by
Pakistan.

But before I write of the negotiations with Eugene Black, I should
like to describe the confrontation I had with our own technical cxpe.rts
and administrators. I sensed that they did not fully realize the gravity
of the situation and were asking for the moon when wewereina posiﬁ.on
of weakness all along the line. They were also trying to dictate policy
and were taking up extreme positions. Some thirty or forty of them were
assembled in Government House, Lahore, where I addressed them. I
said: ‘Gentlemen, this problem is of far-reaching conscquences to us.
Let me tell you that every factor is against Pakistan. I am not saying
that we should surrender our rights but, at the same time, I will say
this: that if we can get a solution which we can live with, we shall
be very foolish not to accept it. Now when I say that, I am m fact
saying it to myself because I shall have to take the responsibility for the
solution,

“The responsibility does not lie on any one of you, <o let me tell you
very plainly that the policy is going to be mine. I shall consult you
whenever I am in doubt regarding technical details, but if any onc of
you interferes with the policy, I shall deal with him mysclf. This prob-
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lem, if not tackled properly, may well mean the end of the country.
I mean every word of it. So, don’t let any one make any mistake about
it.” I think they understood my meaning.

Eugene Black’s offer came to about Goo million dollars in terms of
money. I then consulted my technical advisers, who were firmly of the
view that in addition to a dam on the river Jhelum at Aangla, we
should need a dam at Tarbela to store the surplus Sow of the Indus
River. This would not only cater for replacement requirements but also
provide some water for development, especially to feed the canals in
Sind. So a dam at Rohtas was no answer. The difference in cost was of
the order of about 200 million dollars. This was a staggering figure, and
I knew that when Eugenc heard it he would hit the roof, And so he did.
But T told him, and I quote the words as I recall using them: ‘T have
been around these areas which are going to be affected by the with-
drawal of waters by India. People have told me very plainly that if they
have to die through thirst and hunger they would prefer to die in battle
and they expected me to give them that chance. Our jawans and the
rest of the people feel the same way. So this country is on the point of
blowing up if you don’t Iend a helping hand. This is a human problem
of a grave nature and cannot be blinked away.

“What we are being called upon to do is to barter away naturally-
flowing waters into our canals, for storage water, and the history of
storage is that it begins to silt the moment it is completed. Besides, we
are going to be put back by about ten years or so by building these
storages and link-canals. All this effort could have been put to more
constructive effort. So, we are making great sacrifices.

‘I know certain countries have been very kind in offering us assis-
tance, but unless we get our additional needs of water, apart from re-
placements, there is going to be chaos in this country. So a dam at
Tarbela is a must.’

Eugene Black thought I had made his task very difficult. Hedid not
know how he was going to persuade the donor governments to provide
another 200 million dollars. He wanted to have some time to think
over the matter. I urged him, ‘AMust vou have time to think over an
obvious thing like this?” We went over it again and again. Finally, he
agreed to support our demand and said that he would ask the donor
countries for the additional sum—the difference between Rohtas and
Tarbela. In the end we got a promise of over 740 million dollars. I
understand that, carlier, Chaudhri Mohammad Al was prepared to
settle for 100 to 150 million dollars, and that in the form of loans.

We should be grateful to the friendly countries and to Eugenc Black
for what they have done for us. Later they promised togive anadditional
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550 million dollars for Tarbela or its equivalent, because cOsts had gone
up. For the latter sum all credit is due to George Woods who succceded
Eugene Black as new head of the World Bank.

The Indus Waters Treaty was based on the division of the rivers,
according to which, aftera transitional period of ten years, extendableat
Pakistan’s request up to thirteen years, the three castern rivers—Ravi,
Beas, and Sutlej—will be allocated exclusively to India, while the
waters of the three western rivers—Indus, Jhelum, and Chenab—will be
available exclusively for Pakistan, except for limited uses by India in
upstream areas in Indian-occupied Kashmir, eastern Punjab, and
Himachal Pradesh. During the transitional period, Pakistan will under-
take to construct a system of works, part of which would replace, from
the western rivers, such irrigation uses :n Pakistan as had hitherto been
met from the eastern rivers.

The Indus works programme will be the largest of its kind to be
undertaken anywhere in the world and will cost about 1,070 million
dollars, of which about 870 million dollars will be spent on the works
in Pakistan. These works will include two large storagc dams, onc on
the Jhelum river (with a reservoir capacity of 475 million acre-feet)
and the other on the upper Indus (with a capacity of 4-2 million acrc-
feet), five barrages and cight link canals nearly goo milcs in total
length, transferring waters from the western rivers to areas formerly
irrigated by the eastern rivers; that is, to replace the supplies for arcas
served by the Central Bari Doab and Sutlej Valley canals. Power
stations will be installed at the Jhelum dam with a capacity of more
than 800,000 kw. Tube-wells will be installed and drainage undcrtalscn
to overcome waterlogging and salinity in irrigated areas tofalhr}g
2,500,000 acres. While this system of works is being built, India will
continue deliverics from the castern rivers according to an agreed
programme, which will take into account some development nceds of
Pakistan as well.

During the course of the protracted negotiations, it had become
apparent that the cost of financing the system of work in Pakistan and
India, to which the two governments had agreed as onc of the features
of an acceptable settlement, Was far beyond the capacity qf these two
countrics. The World Bank, therefore, set up an Indus Basin Develop-
ment Fund to finance the whole programme. India undertook to con-
tribute to the Fund about 174 million dollars, and the cost of the works
in Pakistan will be financed out of the Indus Basin Development Tund.

Details of the agreement show that the division of the total \'v:xtcrs
of the Indus svstcn; under the Treaty would be in the proportion of
So per cent for Pakistan and 20 per cent for India. The Treaty was
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signed in Karachi on 19 September 1960 by me, Mr, Nehru, and the
World Bank Vice-President, Mr. Ihff,

As I explained to my people at the time of signing the Treaty, the
solution that we had finally arrived at was not the ideal one but it was
the best we could get under the circumstances. It should be realized
that it was the immediate danger to the peace of this sub-continent
posed by the dispute that had impelled the World Bank to step in as
mediator in 1g51. We had no alternative but to make a genuine and
determined effort to assist the Bank to find an engincering solution to
this grave problem which constituted a threat to peace between the two
countries-—a solution that we could live with and that would provide
financial and technical resources to enable us to construct works which
would divert the waters of the western rivers to the canals taking off
from the eastern rivers. After years of negotiations of the utmost com-
plexity, heart-breaking delays and frequent stalemates, we had, I felt,
been able to obtain a solution which was adequate. So, whereas there
was no cause for rejoicing at the signing of the Treaty, there was
certainly cause for satisfaction that a possibly very ugly situation had
becn averted.

When one is dealing with a sensitive problem of this nature, one
has to be realistic and judge the situation dispassionately in order to
formulate a rational approach. Very often the best is the enemy of the
good. We abandoned the chase of the ideal and accepted what was
good after a careful and realistic appreciation of the overall situation.
Had we not done that, we might have drifted into a conflict at 2 time
when many factors were against us. The basis of this agreement, there-
fore, as far as we were concerned, was realism and pragmatism.
Emotions had no place in it, nor could they be allowed to have any
place where the future and safety of millions of people depended on a
solution. I have nothing but admiration for President Black and Vice-
President IHff and for the Bank’s technical tcam headed by General
Wheeler, who made this dispute an issue of technical skill and human
needs and lifted it from the planc of political controversy.

We are also grateful to friendly powers whose contributions to the
Indus Basin Development Fund were a vital factor in making the terms
of settlement aceeptable to us. The cost of the works was far beyond
our capacity. That these friendly countrics, including the U.S.A., the
U.K., Australia, New Zealand, Canada, and West Germany, have so
readily come forward with offers of financial assistance, is not only a
tribute to their sympathetic understanding of the issue, but also a
proof of their interest in the stability and well-being of this sensitive
part of the world. The World Bank, by its initiative, offercd a dis-
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tracted world an example of how problems could be solved by generosity
and goodwill. I must also say that in the final stages of negotiations Mr.
Nehru'’s personal intervention hielped to remove certain differences
which had arisen over arrangements during the transitional period.

The experience of the spint that prevailed during the closing stages
of the Treaty negotiations gave me hope that the problem of Kashmir
might also get resolved in an amicable and just manner, The very fact
that Pakistan had to be content with the waters of three western rivers
underlined the importance for us of having physical control over the
upper reaches of these rivers to secure their maximum utilization for the
growing needs of West Pakistan. In my mind, therefore, the solution of
the Kashmir issue acquired a new sense of urgency on the conclusion of
this Treaty,

With the signing of the Treaty, a chapter of long and uncasy nego-
tiations and suspense in our national affairs came to an end. We entered
a period of sustained hard work to provide the huge storages and
immensely long link-canals for alternative sources of water, By 1g70
we hope to have completed these works, and when that is done we shall
be independent of India in the matter of water supply.



9
Foreign Policy I

1

Nobody gives you freedom: you have to fight for it. Nobody fights for
you: you have to fight for yourself.

Pakistan’s foreign policy has a deep moral content. It is inspired by 2
consciousness of the equality of 21l nations and the right of all pcoples
to govern themselves according to their ideology. The principal objec-
tives of Pakistan’s foreign policy are security and development. The
consideration of security embraces the defence of our country and the
preservation of our ideology. The requirements of defence are com-
plicated by the fact that we are divided into two parts, separated by 2
hostile distance of over a thousand miles, and each part has to be pro-
tected within the framework of collective defence. This physical separa-
tion underscores the need for welding the peoples of the two parisinio 2
united and indivisible whole. Without complete unity, the security of
the country would ahways remain vulnerable. And since we live in a
world of combating philosophies, we have to fight to preserve our
ideology which is the basis of our national existence. The consideration
of development springs from the knowledge that survival without
devclopment is not possible, Survival cannot be an end in itself: it must
have some purpose. Qur purpose can be no other than the happiness
and progress of our people according to their faith, But these considera-
tions can best be promoted in an atmosphere of peace. This gives us 2
vested interest in peace gencrally, and peace in this part of the world
particularly.

We do not have unlimited resources or unlimited time to make the
grade. We must, therefore, utilize the time and resources available to
us in a judicious manner, building up our gains and cutting down our
losses. We must develop a national outlook and national policics. The
current jargon is ‘independent’ forcign policy. By ‘independence’ is
meant the freedom to eriticize and curse everybody clse. Now, we can-
not afford the luxury of induiging in unbridled criticism of others just
to prove our ‘independence’. Our foreign policy has to be 2 national
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policy which must take into account our vital interests and operate
towards the advancement of those interests. We do not have to indulge
in histrionics; we have to be quiet and earnest.

The world today is fighting for equality—equality among individuals
as among nations, regardless of whether they are big or small. This
requires an unequivocal recognition by the world that cvery nation is
entitled to equal rights and opportunities. The degrec of a country’s
sovereignty and self-respect is not determined by the size of its territory
or its resources. This sounds simple enough and no one would openly
contest the claim, yet there are no means to enforce it. It is a world of
the Big—~Big Two, Big Three or four or more. It is they who preside
over the destinies of the world and determine its direction, The smaller
countries, particularly those in the early stages of industrial develop-
ment, belong to a lower stratum of existence. They have thrown off
the yoke of imperialism but most of thern have yet to develop an identity
and vision of their own, afier sweeping away the cobwebs of colonial
influences. We too have to establish our identity and fight for 2 position
of equality and honour.

History has placed us in the pathway of the conflicting interests of
major powers. Qur location gives us a strategic significance both in
South-East Asia and in the Middle East. But the cause of our major
problems is India’s inability to reconcile herself to our existence as a
sovercign, independent State. The Indian attitude can be explained
only in pathological terms. The Indian leaders have a deep hatred for
the Muslims, and since they must disclaim and deny it 2ll the time, they
are the victims of continual tensions. From the beginning, India was
determined to make things difficult for us. The colossal problem of
refugee rehabilitation was created by India to cripple our ceonomy.
This was accompanied by denying us our share of the assets of undivided
India and the threat of diversion and stoppage of niver waters flowing
into our territory. Contrary to all agreements and principles, India
foraibly occupicé a major part of the State of Jammu and Kashmir
and concentrated her forces there, thus posing a constant threat to our
security.

At the back of it all was India’s ambition to absorb Pakistan or turn
her into 2 satellite. The Indian leaders made no secret of their designs.
Acharva Kripalani, who was President of the Indian ;\"ation:'.l
Congr;:ss in 1047, declared, Neither the Cozjgress ror the nation has
given up its claim of 2 united India’.! Sardar V. B. Patel, the first Indian
Home Minister and the ‘strong man’ of the Congress Party, announced
at about the same time, ‘Sconer than later, we shall azain be united in

1 Aot Bozor Potritz, Calzotta, 18 Avgust 1047,

T m
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common allegiance to our country.” From the day of Independence,
Pakistan was involved in a bitter and prolonged struggle for her very
existence and survival, By 1954 Pakistan was compelled to align herself
with the West in the interests of her security. She became a member of
the Baghdad Pact and the South-East Asia Treaty Organization, both
of which were suspect in the communist world.

By the time I became responsible for the affairs of the country in
1958, as President, the political identification of the country with the
West was complete. As Commander-in-Chief of the Pakistan Army I
was associated with the Baghdad Pact, which after the revolution in
Irag came to be known as CENTQ, but my interest was exclusively
in terins of the defence of the country. I was anxious to take maximum
advantage of this arrangement to build up the defence forces of Pakistan,
With the South-East Asia Treaty Organization I had no direct dealings
and, in fact, the army was informed only after Pakistan had accepted
membership of this Organization. I shall go into the genesis of these
arrangements later,

Here 1 want to state the precise situation in which I found the
country at the time of the revolution in October 1958, India had built
up massive military strength by acquiring arms from the Soviet Union
as well as from some western countries. She had consolidated her hold
over the occupied area of Jammu and Kashmir by establishing a reign
of terror: most of the Kashmiri leaders were languishing in jail and all
civil liberties had been completely suppressed. The United Nations no
longer seemed interested in having its own Resolutions, to which both
India and Pakistan were pledged in honour, implemented so as to give
the people of Jammu and Kashmir a free and fair opportunity to deter-
mine their future.

We had few contacts or dealings with the communist world. The
Soviet Union regarded us with suspicion and distrust as some kind of a
camp-follower of the United States. With the People’s Republic of
China we were on terms mercly of nodding acquaintance. In the
Middle East our position had been compromised by some of our leaders
who handled the situation, at the time of the Suez crisis, in a clumsy
fashion. President Nasser and certain other Arab countries under his
influence thought that we were involved in somc deep conspiracy to
divide the Arab world. With the Afro-Asian community we had no
association and Africa was a dark continent as far as we were concerned.
This then was the picture in October 1958,

We could not change all this overnight. But clearly the whole pattern
of our relations with others required fundamental re-thinking. Some
of the essential clements in our geographical situation had not been
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recognized, nor was there 2 clear concept of the nature of the political
compulsions to which we would be subjected. I think it was the force of
events which compelled us to undertake this exercise.

The carlier vears had proved conclusively that the threat from
India to our security and existence was both real and constant. Indian
efforts in the field of foreign policy were all dirccted towards one aim,
the isolation of Pakistan and its disintegration. I had dealt with the
problems created by this threat as the Commander-in-Chief, and I
knew the wezknesses and deficiencies in our position. We had done ali
that we could to convince India that we wanted to live in peace with
her, but India could not accept the existence of a strong and indepen-
deat Muslim State next door. We therefore had to examine our situa-
tion dispassionately and realistically and organize our relations with
other countries, particularly with our neighbours, in 2 manner con-
sistent with the needs of our security.

Faced with this problem, I was deeply struck by the geopolitical
situation of the country. The first queston I asked myself was, ‘which
are the major countrics interested in Pakistan?’ The exact nature of
their interest had then to be identified. The object was to trv and
evolve a pattern of relationship which would protect the country from
any threat of aggression and give us time to develop the country and
unite the people.

Take the geographical location first. Here is East Pakistan sur.
rounded on threc sides by India and the only approach is from the sea
which is not difficult for an cnemy to control. West Pakistan is wedged
in between three enormous powers with the Soviet Union at the top,
the People’s Republic of China in the north-cast, and India in the
south and cast. I know of no other small country which has the some-
what dubious distineton of having three such mighty neighbours.
Now, this Jocation is a source of weakness in physteal terms but it
could be coaverted into a source of strength if we could establish
normal and mutually 2cceptable relations with the countries hemming
us in,

With one of them, India, the prospects of establishing normal re-
Iations do not appear to be in sight. We must, therefore, accept the
situation of implacable Indian hostility and learn to live with it

Then there is the Soviet Union. By joining SEATO and CENTO
we had alienated her and lost her ssmpathy. Since we had never been
a party to any design against her and our membership of the Pacts was
dictated so'ely by the requirements of our security, it should be possible
to come ¢ an understanding with the Soviet Unioa by removing her
doubts and misgivings.
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And then there was the People’s Republic of China fast emerging
as a power to be reckoned with. China was making significant progress
in all spheres of life, and seemed anxious to have fiiendly relations with
her neighbours. All we had to do was to convince her of our sincerity
and friendly intent,

From this it was easy to deduce that if we could not establish normal
relations with all our three big neighbours, the best thing was to have
an understanding with two of them. They might have their internal
differences but we did not need to get involved in that. This was a vital
element in our new thinking: to keep clear of the internal disputes and
conflicts of other countries; neither to philosophize about their problems
nor to act as busybodies. It was on this basis that I set out to normalize
our relations with the People’s Republic of China and the Soviet Union.
It is in this sense that our geographical location and the political com-
pulsions inherent therein have determined the course of our forcign
policy in recent years,

Then there was the necessity of developing the country to provide
the people with better living conditions, and through this process bring
about greater unity among the people of the two wings. Development
presupposes resources, and in our social conditions and our scheme of
values these resources cannot all be generated or mobilized through
regimentation. Therefore we have to look for external assistance to
build up the social overheads and provide the initial capital investment.
This necessitates our having good relations with the United States and
other western powers who are in a position to help us economically.
Now any assistance creates certain liabilities; we have to ensure that
we do not incur such liabilities as would compromise or damage our
national interests.

All this must seem an over-simplification. But from our point of
view the approach was rational and pragmatic. The objective was to
establish normal relations with the four major powers involved in Asia
without antagonizing any one of them. A simple strategy was evolved
to achieve this objective. We should endeavour to sct up bilateral
cquations with each one of them, with the elear understanding that the
nature and complexion of the equation should be such as to promote
our mutual interests without adversely affecting the Iegitimate interests
of third parties. The merit of this approach was that our people, who
believe in honest and straightforward dealings, would be able to
appreciate and understand it.

I was not unconscious of the pitfalls. No bilateral equation could be
cstablished in isolation; other equations would influence jts Jevel. In the
end cach equation would be determined by the limits of tolerance of
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thiré pariies. So each equation would have to be acceptzbls to third
paries with whom we might be able to establish bilateral refations of
mutual bezefit. That is where all the complications and difficulties
would arize. It would be like walking on a triangular tightrope. It
would be vital to determine clearly the limits of tolerance within which
bilateral eguations might be constructed. To illusirate, the United
States would not be 100 ezger o provide us with unlimited economic
and military assistance if we were to estzblish bilateral relations with the
major communist powess without any regard to American interests or
strategy in Asia. If we cannot in an unlimited wey identdfy ourzelves
with American interests, we must learn to do with less than unlimited
American assistance.

Similarly, we must be able to explain to the United States the extent
to waich we could go 2long with them without compromising our ow
interests. It is not in our interest to 2lienate the People’s Republic of
China, Stmilarly, it is in our interest to develop normal 2nd friendly
relations with the Soviet Unioa. It should be passible to convince the
United States that our relations with the People’s Republic of China
or with the Soviet Union ave not directed against American interests in
Asia, In return for economic assistance, we offer to the United States our
goodwill and growing opportunides for collaborativn in the field of
trede and industry, But we caunot give in return something that would
harm 2 third country. If their global policy is served by our under-
stznding of their problems and by our not acting against them, well
and good. But if the demand goes beyond that and requires us to do
something that iz azainst the interests of another power, then we wiil
have to decline because that would be going against the interests of
Pakistan, I reafized that in our new approach such a choice might be
forced on us 2t times. In that event people in positions of responsibility
vould have to weigh the alternatives: either to saccumd to the pressure
of 2 major power or to forgo whatever assisiance might be involved,
colideal, military, or economic. The decision would ultimately rest
with the people of Paldstan. .

There it reason to believe that such 2 situation may not be fo-.-cca”
o1 us i we conduct ourselves with moderzation aad sobriety. B’JC:'-“-’c_O‘
the emergence of China, the earlier polarization between the Sovier
Union and the United States is gradualiv disappearing. And for many
vears to come all three of them will be involved in a relentless struggle to
create areas of influcnce for themselves in different countries. Noae of
them can afford to fsolate and antagonize any of the develeping coun-
trizs completely. In any ease, whether the choice is foreed on us 07 0ot

~

the only way in which we can sunvive is to tell the major powers that we
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cannot afford to get involved in their squabbles. All we want Is to be
left alone to work for the security of our country and the unity and
development of our people. We are not in the market for becoming
partisaps in their struggle for power.

Now this approach can be easily confused with the kind of ‘neu-
tralism’ that Indiz tried to practise during the early fifides, and that
came a cropper in the end. There Is a fundamental difference. India’s
neutralism was at best a posture of sitting on the fence and seeing how
best it could take advantage of both sides; at worst it was a kind of
sanctimonious hypocrisy and a subterfuge. For a time India could get
away with it because of its size and strategic position in Asia. India’s
‘neutralism’ was an attempt to act “big’ and to create 2 cover for the
expansion of her influence. We entertain no such illusions. QOur zp-
proach is essentially intended to conserve our resources and to cut our
commitments,

India had set herself up as a beacon light, ranging far and wide,
a true guide to errant humanity. She could sustain this pose so long 25
there was tension between the United States and the Soviet Union.
She could act as a bridge between them. As the major powers were
engaged in a struggle of their own, and China had vet to discover the
Indian mind, it was possible for the Indian leaders to preach philosophy
and promote India’s designs against her smaller neighbours. I think
they overreached themselves and, as time passed, the contradictions
between their profession and their practice became more and more
difficult to rationalize and explain away.

Our approach to world powers and to our neighbours is dictated by
a sense of our limitations. We have neither the desire nor the capacity
to get mixed up in their wranglings. We are not in a position cither to
influence their decisions or to solve their problems. The basis of our
foreign policy thus is that we stay within our own means, political as
well as economic. All we expect is that we should be left alone to deal
with our internal affairs, to bring about greater unity among our people,
to promote their welfare and to preserve our identity, political and
Idcological. It is within this framework of understanding that we seek
assistance from other countyies. And we have no intention of making
any demands on them which would be likely to strain cither their
willingness or their capacity to help. Our objective is to move into a
posttion where we have to make fewer and fewer demands on them,
Neutralism aims at establishing strong bargaining poesitions. Our con-
cept of developing bilateral relations aims at establishing equations
within our resources and limitations and within the resources and
limitations of others; we have no intention of bargaining with others.
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We expect them to help us to the extent they can and, in return, we will
help them to the extent we can.

It has been suggested that this would mean Pakistan having the
minimum of relations with the major powers, and with her neighbours
in particular. From there it is argued that if Pakistan were to get into a
situation of real trouble she would find no one willing to come to her
rescue. Now I accept that. But we must never forget that we shall have
to defend Pakistan ourselves. No other country can be expected to do
that on our behalf. That is the basis on which our defence effort and
other endeavours should be planned. The major powers have their own
problems and their policies may change with events and we may be
ultimately left entirely alone. That is where our faith in God Almighty
must reassure us. It is His law that if an aggressor rears his head in one
place someone equally strong emerges in another place to frustrate
him in his tyrannical designs. Conflicts between nations cannot remain
isolated. Should a conflict take place between India and Pakistan other
powers will inevitably get drawn inte it. But we must develop the
capacity and the will to stay the course regardless of what the others
may or may not do.

II

Having stated the general principles I shall now try to trace the actual
development of the various equations and discuss the problems we had
to face in establishing them.

I shali deal first with the Indo-Pakistan equation. The background
of Indo-Pakistan relations since Independence is well known. The Jast
twenty yvears have been vears of frustration for Pakistan in all her
attempts to find some level of existence as good neighbours with India.
I think political leaders in Pakistan before the Revolution tried very
hard to come to some understanding with India. The argument from
the Indian side has been on the following lines: ‘Let us forget our dis-
putes; let us have a “no-war pact”; let us have more trade, more
freedom of movement between the two countries and more cuitural
exchanges. This will sofien feclings on the two sides and once an atmo-
sphere of goodwill and understanding develops, all problems will
resolve themselves.” To the Indians this sounds highly plausible and
they often claim, with an air of injured innocence, that their sincerc and
genuine overtures have met with no response from Paldstan.

What is Pakistan’s posiion? It is to ask how goodwill and undc.r-
standing can develop when basic differences and disputes remain
unresolved. If India is willing to enter into a ‘no-war pact’ with Pakistan
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why should she be engaged in building up a tremendous war-machine?
The Indians reply that their war potential is intended to contzin
Chinese aggression. How is it then that the tvpe of machine which they
are evolving can opcrate essentially in the plains? How can Palistan
ignore the fact that India 1s in a position to unleash vast forces against
Palictan at a few hours notice? In matters of defence, countries do not
formulate their policies on the basis of the intentions of others; it is
their capability which must be taken into account. If a big country like
India has the capability to attack Palistan, the intentions can always
change, pact or no pact. A ‘no-war pact’ can make sense only if it is
accompanied by an agreement about the maintenance of forces at a
specified level.

We have also to consider how the need for a ‘no-war pact” has arisen.
It has arisen because of the existence of disputes which can lead to an
armed conflict between the two countries. Now, if nothing is done to
resolve these conflicts on 2 just and honourable basis, how does the
danger of conflict disappear merely because of the existence of 2 ‘no-
war pact’. To make sense, 2 ‘no-war pact’ must at least provide reason-
able machinery to deal with the disputes and to bring about an
honourable solution of those disputes. Such machinery should have
the confidence and support of both sides and must indicate how, in
the event of disagreement between the two sides, the issue would be
resolved in a peaceful manner. Without the reduction of force and
without the provision of any machinery for the solution of problems, a
‘no-war pact’ would only mean the expression of pious intentions at 2
given time. In isolation, such a pact would certainly help India to
strengthen her claim in the world that she has peaceful intentions;
it would certainly not help Pakistan who can foresee those intentions
changing any minute.

Finally, the assumption that disputes get resolved with the passage
of time is open to serious question. Fundamental disputes affecting the
life and freedom of people cannot be swept under the rug; nor do they
get buried under the dust of ime. They have 2 habit of crupting be-
cause human beings cannot be kept cternally in bondage.

This is the point which India, and indeed the world, has to realize
when dealing with the problem of the people of Jammu and Kashrmir
who are engaged in a life-and-death struggle to establish their right of
self-determination. And when India says let goodwill grow and the
problems will solve themselves, it gives no assurance that, in the mean-
time, the problems will remain frozen. in fact, 2l the a\m{a‘ﬂ» evidence
shows that the Indians are busy solving the problems on their own
terms. A large part of the State of Jammu and Kashmir is under their
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forcible occupation; they are busy consolidating their occupation; they
are changing the complexion of the population of the State. Their
thesis ‘let goodwill grow’ means ‘et’s have it our way'.

There is then the record of previous agrecments between India and
Pakistan on 2 number of issues. Onc has only to go through that record
to sce in what manner and to what extent India honoured those agree-
ments. I have mentioned how Pakistan was denied her share of assets,
finances, stores, and ammunition at the time of Independence. Each
one of these items was governed by an agrcement to which both the
countrics were pledged. There is the United Nations Commission for
India and Pakistan Resolution dealing with the Jammu and Kashmir
dispute, to which both India and Pakistan arc parties. Yet every time
an attempt is made to implement the Resolution, India finds onc pretext
or another to frustrate it. First she said that conditions in Jammu and
Kashmir must be allowed to become normal before the people could be
given an opportunity to exercise their right of self-determination. And
when conditions returned to pormal, she said that now that the situation
had settled down matters should not be disturbed by ascertaining the
wishes of the people. This has been the constant pattern of Indian
policy: ‘Let things become normal and we will deal with the problent’;
and ‘now that things are normal why raisc the problem’.

I had two meetings with Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru: onc at Palam
airport, New Delhi, on 1 September 1959, and the other when he came
to Pakistan to sign the Indus Waters Treaty between 19 and 23 Scptem-
ber 1g60. The Palam mecting lasted about two hours. We issucd a joint
statement at the end in which we stressed the need to conduct relations
on a rational and planned basis. We also agreed that ou.tsta'nding issues
and problems should be setiled in accordance with justice and fair
play, in a spirit of friendliness, co-operation, and good-nclghbc:urhncss.
Later, while speaking to the Press, I suggested that there was nccEI f:or
reappraisal, for forgetting and forgiving, and for a morc realistic,
rational, and sensible relationship with cach ?lhcr‘. o

I did not get the jmpression that Pandit Nchru was cxtmordlr‘laﬂl‘:'
pleased to seec me, but he was quitc moved by somc oftEu: suggestions I
made to him. He struck measa tired man, thou.gh he still had a reserve
of fight and political acumen. 1 miss'cd the xdc:}hsm or s.titl’l'}"c}'Cd
thinking which is often attributed to him. 1 told him I consulc-:rcd that
relations between India and Pakistan had been dictated by drift r:':thcr
than by any rational design. The rcason, 1 thought, was that neither

side had drawn up any plan for neighbourliness. People on both sides

thought that ail social and cconomic ills were due 10 the British and

onee they left everything in the garden W uld be lovely, Events proved
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that they were not entirely right, though a good deal of our misfortunes
were due to British occupation. Much distress and hatred was generated
and people in both countries began to belicve that they should have
nothing further to do with each other. I fclt it was not too late to formu.
late 2 plan to put our relationship on a rational and sensible basis.

Pandit Nehru talked of the no-war declaration. I explained to him
that before we entered into any such declaration there should be an
agreement on the setting up of machinery for the solution of outstanding
problems, and then that for a no-war declaration to be eflective it
would be necessary for us to disarm in relation to each other. In
military thinking the crucial factor was ‘capability’. If 2 country had
decisive military capability it could always change its intentions and
act aggressively. I reminded him of the concentration of the Indian
Army against us in 1950 and again in 1951 when there was hardly any
military cause for doing so.

I then raised with him the Kashmir problem. I put it to him that it
was the people of Kashmir who should have the decisive say in the
matter. It was vital that a solution satisfactory from the point of view
of the people of Jammu and Kashmir be found. Mr. Nehru did not dis-
agree with my ideas but emphasized the need for the creation of a
background of understanding between the two countries and for
eliminating, as a start, border incidents and firing.

We took up the threads during the second meeting in Murree, on
21 September 1961. I again broached the subject of Kashmir, I told
him that this was the most propitious moment for settling this dispute,
to bring peace to India and Pakistan, He was an accepted leader in
India and perhaps people in Pakistan would be prepared to listen to
me, too. Such a coincidence might not occur again for a long time, so it
would be 2 great pity if we were to lose this opportunity. Any thought
that time would make Pakistan forget the nced for an honourable and
fair solution to the problem of Jammu and Kashmir was highly un-
realistic. The whole country was united on this jssue and no government
in Pakistan could possibly forget the problem.

I showed him a map of Kashmir and West Pakistan and how all our
major rail and road communications and canal headworks were com-
pletcly outflanked. The scourity of Pakistan required a fair solution of
the problem. There was also the economic reason now that West
Pakistan was dependent on the usc of waters of only three rivers.
Pakistan had to conserve every single ounce of water in these rivers and
that could be done only in the hilly arcas of Kashmir. Similarly the
further power requirements of Pakistan could only be met by hydro-
electric gencration in those arcas, For India and Pakistan to live as good
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ncighbours this problem would have to be solved onc day. Ifit could be
solved peacefully and honourably and in accordance with the com-
mitments of the two governments, both sides would derive enormous
advantages. India should then be able to reduce its army by half and
we too should be able to cut down our military expenditure pro-
portionately.

On this occasion Pandit Nehru started replying haltingly but
\ith deliberation. He said that the K ashmir problem had become very
complicated with the passage of time. Hard positions had been taken up
and it was not easy to go back on them. Two ‘elections’ had been held
in Kashmir and a third was in the offing. India had spent an €nOTMoUs
amount of money, apart from military expenditure, on development
work in Kashmir, There wasalso the questionof a large Muslim minority
in India which was being integrated. Any hasty action on Kashmir, he
thought, would upset this process. India was trying to divert people’s
encrgy into comstructive channels and if the sfatus guo was disturbed
in Kashmir, people’s energy would be diverted into negative channcls.

1 told him that he knew very well the kind of “clections’ that had been
held in the State in the absence of any civil libertics, There was no deny-
ing the fact that the people of Jammu and Kashmir were most unhappy
about the continued occupation of their State by the Indian army. As
regards the Muslim minority in India, they could not be held ashostages
and their future did not have to be linked with the problem of Jammu
and Kashmir. There was little prospect of the Indian Muslims being
integrated into Indian society €0 long as there was no setidement
between India and Pakistan over Kashmir. As regards diverting
people’s encrgy into constructive channels, it could only be donc if 2
society had an ideology. Wehad 2 considerable argument OVer this.

Nehru finally asked what, accepting the fact that there was need for
peace between the two countrics and also that the room for manocuvre
for settlement of the Kashmir dispute was limited, I thought should be
our first step. I told him that this would depend on the objective we had
before us. Once the objective was determined, an organization could
be established to work out the method. Mr. Nehru said that he foresaw
scrious political opposition in his country. He mcntiom:d that Indian
public opinion had reacted violently to Chinese ‘occupation’ of ‘Indian

territory™. 1 could not s¢€ the relevance since Keshmir had never been
Indian territory and was the subject of an in ternational dispute on
which the two countrics were pledged to 2 <olution, in accordance with
a United Nations resotution.!
1 did not get the impression that Nehru was interested In any long-
- 1 Gee alto Apprrdix 1. p. 242.
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term and lasting solution. He was, perhaps, not averse to the dialogue
going on for the time being, but he was not visvalizing a future of
understanding between the two countries. Had he been interested in
such a future, I think he would have given more serious thought, for
example, to the proposal for joint defence which I made in May 193g.
For some odd reason he thought it was an attack on India’s integrity and
selfrespect. There was nothing sinister in the proposal, nor was I the
first one to have made it, The Quaid-e-Azam thought that it was of
vital importance to Pakistan and India, as independent sovereign
States, to collaborate in a friendly way jointly to defend their frontiers
both on land and sea against any aggression. Dr. Eric Streiff; Special
Correspondent of the Newe Siircher Leitung, Ziirich (reported in Dawn,
Karachi, 12 March 1948), had asked the Quaid-e-Azam: ‘In inter-
national affairs, will Pakistan and India work jointly and also join
hands for the defence of their borders—both land and sea—and co-
operate against any outside aggression?’ The Quaid-e-Azam replied:
Personally I have no doubt in my mind that our own paramount interests
demand that the Dominion of Palistan and the Dominion of India should
co-ordinate for the purpose of playing their part in international affairs and
the developments that may take place, and also it is of vital importance to
Pakistan and India, as independent sovereign States, to collaborate in 2
friendly way jointly to defend their frontiers both on Iand and sea against any

aggression,
But this depends entirely on whether Pakistan and India can resolve their

own differences and grave domestic issues in the first instance. In other words,
if we can put our house in order internally, then we may be able to play a
very great part externally in all international afiairs.?

In April 1953 Mohammad Ali Bogra, who was then Prime Minister
of Palistan, declared that, once outstanding disputes between the two
countrics bad been settled and a sujtable climate created, ‘joint defence
of India and Pakistan could be advantageously considered by the two
countrics’. He added that through joint defence, both countrics “would
be able to save a lot of defence expenditure which we could uscfully
employ for the national good and for raising the standard of living of
the masses’.?

On 24 April 1959 I said that in the case of external aggression both
India and Pakistan should come together to defend the sub-continent.
The Indian Ieaders thought that T was suggesting some kind of a defence
pact and their reaction was one of fright and distrust. A few days later
in Quetta T clarified my proposal, explaining that it did not mean any

! As reported in Dexn, Karachi, 12 March 1048,
2 Times of Indiz, Bombay, 26 April 1053
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special type of pact about which India need be so perturbed. What
1 had in mind was a general understanding for peace between the two
countrics. I emphasized that the prerequisite for such an understanding
was the solution of big problems Jike Kashmir and the canal waters.
Once these were resolved, the armies of the two countries could dis-
cngage and move to their respective vulnerable frontiers. This would
give us the substance of joint defence; that is, freedom from fear of cach
other and freedom to protect our respective frontiers.

Mr. Nehru deliberately chose to misunderstand the proposal and
declared in the Lok Sabha on 4 May 1959, ‘We do not proposc to have
a military alliance with any country, come what may.” He elaborated
this by saying, ‘I am all for settling our troubles with Pakistan and
living normal, friendly and neighbourly lives—but we do not want {0
have a common defence policy which is almost som¢ kind of a military
alliance—I do not understand against whom people talk about com-
mon defence policies. Are we to become members of the Baghdad Pactor
SEATO or somebody else P! Later, in January 1960, Mr. Nehru, while
speaking at the annual Congress Party meeting in Bangalorc, asked
“What does the military pact mean? Dogs it mean that armics must
march across India?’ He then added with som¢ heat, ‘Whatever the
consequences, India would never allow forcign armics on her soil even
for her defence.”?

What Mr. Nehru missed completely was that I was neither suggest-
ing any change in the foreign policics of the two count.rics nor any
formal defence arrangement. His vision of Pakistan armucs marching
over Indian soil on the pretext of defending India’s borders was cssen-
tially intended to divert pubtic opinion from the real 1ssuc, which was
to come to a settiement on outstanding disputes and to live on peaceful
terms. 1 kept coming back to this proposal a:Td c-iarifyir.lg it more a_nd
more to enable the peoplc of India to recognize its merits. I first tried
{o assure the Indian jeaders that the proposa] did not violate the ‘non-
alignment policy’ professed by India. The crux of the proposal, 1 stated
in uncqui\-'ocal terms, was that, once dxﬂcrt;nccs between -thc two
nations were resolved, the Indian and Pakistani forces then facing cach
other could be releascd 1o defend their respective territorics.

The Indian Primc Minister, however, rcfused to sec any merit in
resolving disputes with Pakistan oT living. at peace .with her. The two
countries had been Jocked in confrontation cver since Independence
and their armics were facing cach other in Kashmir and on the inter-
aational borders between India and Pakistan. My proposal was

\ Daun, Rarachi, 5 May 1959
2 \forning Narh Karachi, 16 January 1450,
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intended to bring home the fact that these armics were in the wrong
place: once the disputes were resolved, they could go to their right
positions and the people of India and Pakistan would be rid of the fear
of each other. There was also in the proposal the inherent possibility
that some understanding could be arrived at to ensure that if cither
country was engaged in war with some third power she would not have
the apprehension of being stabbed in the back by the other.

It was not the Indian Prime Minister alone who chose to mis-
understand the proposal. There were people in Pakistan, too, who
thought it might lead to some kind of a confederation between India
and Pakistan. How they came to such a conclusion was beyond me.
Only those who had neither knowledge nor appreciation of history
could think on these lines. India and Pakistan could never work as a
confederation even if such an arrangement were to be brought about
by force. And the reason is simple: Indian nationalism is based on
Hinduism and Pakistan’s nationalism is based on Islam. The two
philosophies are fundamentally different from each other. These two
nationalisms cannot combine, but it should be possible for them to live
side by side in peace and understanding. This is our foreign policy
objective towards India. Those who talk of confederation ignore the
past history and the temperament of the people, their whole ideology
and philosophy. When Sheikh Abdullah and Mirza Afzal Beg came to
Pakistan in 1964, they too had brought the absurd proposal of con-
federation between India, Pakistan, and Kashmir. I told them plainly
we should have nothing to do with it. It was curious that whereas we
were seeking the salvation of Kashmiris, they had been forced to mention
an idea which, if pursued, would lead to our cnslavement. It was clear
that this was what Mr. Nehru had told them to say to us: I did not
blame them because they were obviously acting under the compulsion
of circumstances but they left me in no doubt that their future was
linked with Pakistan.

I think Pandit Nehru and his people could not believe that I had
put forward the proposal in all sincerity; they might have thought I
was trying to get a solution of Kashmir on the cheap. What they did
not realize was that I was thinking in terms of cstablishing a long-term
basis for peace between the two countries. Of course I wanted the
future of the people of Jammu and Kashmir to be decided according
to their wishes, but I also wanted a change in India’s aggressive attitude
and hostility towards Pakistan. I was working for co-existence, for
relaxation, and for understanding,.

That was not to be. History had offered India and Pakistan a great
opportunity, It was missed because the Indian leaders felt they must
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go on arming themselves regardless of the ruinous burden they werc
imposing on their people. They decided that they must have not on¢
army but in fact two armies, one for their wars with China and the
other to intimidate Pakistan and other smaller neighbours of India. The
equation between the two countries, instead of stabilizing at a certain
Jevel, was thus destined to have a disturbed and violent future.

11X

The equation between the United States of America and Pakistan has
been one of close friendship and alliance. This cquation was firmly
established by the time I became President. I was certainly associated
with those elements in it which had a direct bearing on the defence
services, but the essential content was determined by the political
Jeaders. My own thinking, at that time, was that it was natural for the
United States to be deeply interested in the welfarc and safety of smaller
powers in Asia. My reasoning was that the Soviet Union and the
People’s Republic of China, and even India, in spite of her serious
internal weaknesses, would like to create and extend their spheres of
influence, and it was unlikely that they would be able to agree on the
kind and extent of influence that each one of them should exercise.
They would, however, be agreed on one thing, and that was not to let
the United States, an off-shore power, have any permanent foothold
in Asia.

Now, wedged in between these three big countries are 2 r}umbcr of
cmall nations starting from Turkey, Iran, Afghanistan, Pakls‘t:'m, .and
extending to Nepal, Burma, Malaysia, Indonesia, the Philippincs,
and Korea. These are strips of geography caught between masses of
Jand and their main concern, quitc naturaily, is their own sccurnity. It
was not unreasonable to assume that thesc smatler nations would be
looking for such friends as might help them in protecting themselves.
Assuming that the United States, 100, wanted to have an arcd of
influcnce in Asia, it was logical for her 1@ present herself as a natuml,
friend to countrics like Pakistan. For some gme the United States
policy conformed to this line of thinking, but with the emergence of
the People’s Republic of China as an Asian power and, more pa}'ucu-
larly, after the conflict between India and China over the question of
border demarcation, the United States’ thinking and policies in Asia
underwent a complcte and fundamental change. .

The United States’ thinkers and planners dc\'d?Pf-'d an anxiety
to build up certain countrics in Asia as bulwarks agatast China. They
sclected Japan and India for this purpose Building up Fndra meant
providing her with vast quantitics of military hardware which naturally
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created a sensc of apprehension among her smaller neighbours, Since
Pakistan was regarded by India as her enemy number one, Pakistan
was the first to be affected by the change in American policy. To
understand the exact significance of this change it'is necessary to go
over the history of Pakistan-United States relations.

Pakistan became an ally of the West in May 1954, when the
Mutual Defence Assistance Agreement with the United States was
signed. Later that year Pakistan became a member of SEATO along
with the United States, Britain, France, Thailand, the Philippincs,
Australia, and New Zealand. A year later Pakistan joined the Baghdad
Pact, another mutual defence organization, with Britain, Turkey,
Iran, and Iraq. The United States did not join this organization but
remained closely associated with it from its inception. In 1958, when
Iraq left this Pact, it was re-named CENTO (Central Treaty Organi-
zation). It continued to comprise Turkey, Iran, and Pakistan, as its
regional members, Early in 1959 Pakistan signed (as did Turkey and
Iran) a bilateral Agreement of Co-operation with the United States,
which was designed further to reinforce the defensive purposes of
CENTO, Thus Pakistan was associated with the United States through
not one, but four mutual security arrangements. In this sense, she was
sometimes regarded as “America’s most allied ally in Asia’. She was the
only Asian country to join both SEATO and CENTO.

Pakistan came in for bitter criticism from India when she joined
these alliances. India charged that by so doing, ‘Pakistan had brought
the cold war to the sub-continent’. The real purpose of the Indian out-
cry became clear, however, as time advanced, and more particularly
when in 1959 Pakistan signed the bilateral Agreement of Co-operation
with the United States of America. According to this Agreement, the
United States was required, under certain circumstances, to assist
Pakistan if she became the victim of aggression. India demanded and,
according to Mr. Nehru, received a specific assurance from Washing-
ton that this Agreement ‘could not be used against India’.! Shorn of
sophistry, this demand amounted to seeking an assurance that if India
should commit aggression against Pakistan, the United States would
not come to the assistance of Pakistan under this Agreement. There
could not be a2 more illuminating commentary on India’s historic
attitude towards Pakistan.

This attitude also explains why India has, throughout, opposed the
grant of military aid to Pakistan. Not that she feared Pakistan: afier
all, India is five times her size and Indian armed forces arc four times
the size of Pakistani forces. In actual fact the military aid to Pakistan

! Nehru speaking in the Indian Parliament, rg March 1950,
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was designed to provide merely a deterrent force. There was no question,
thercfore, of Pakistan posing any kind of threat to India.

I have spoken of India’s hostility to Pakistan’s alliance with the
United States. She had resorted carlier to direct pressure to try to
prevent Pakistan from joining it. In August 1953, afier bilateral negotia-
tions lasting some months, Nehru and Mohammad Al Bogra, Paki-
stan’s Prime Minister at that time, issucd a joint communiqué on
Kashmir. In it, they agreed that: ‘It was their firm opinion that this
[Kashmir dispute] should be settled in accordance with the wishes of
the people of that State. The most feasible way of ascertaining the
wishes of the peopie was by fair and impartial plebiscite.”! Further, it
was decided that the Plebiscite Administrator should be appointed by
the end of April 1954. He would then make such proposals as he
thought proper for preparations to be made for the holding of a fair
and impartial plebiscite in the entire State.

Shortly after this, Nehro got wind of the fact that Pakistan was
likely to enter into alliance with the United States and receive military
aid from that country. In a protracted and strongly-worded letter he
indicated that if Pakistan went ahead with the project, the Indo-Paki-
stan agreement on Kashmir would lapse.? Mohammad Al replicd that
he did not sec why any military assistance that Pakistan might receive
from the United States for purely defensive purposes should make it
less imperative for them to improve India-Pakistan relations by scttling
the Kashmir dispute. In particular, he did not scc why, if Pakistan
joined an alliance with the United States, this should disqualify the
people of Kashmir from cxercising their right, which the United
Nations, India, and Pakistan had acknowledged, to a free vote to decide
whether their State should aceede to India or Pakistan.

In Deccember 1953, although Pakistan had not by then cither
entered into any pact with the United States or received any military
assistance, Mr. Nchru indicated that he could not go forward with the
agreements sct out in the joint communiqué on Kashmir because ‘the
whole context in which these agreements were made will change if
military aid comes [to Pakistan} from America’.® Obviously Pakistan

! Joint Communiqué by the Prime Ministers of India and Pakistan, 20 August 1933,

2 W', in Indin, have endeavoured to follow a forcign policy which we feel is not
only in the interests of world peace but is particularly indicated for the countrics of
Asia, That policy is an independent one and of non-alignment with any power bloe.
11 is elear that the policy which Pakistan intends to pussue is different. Tt means that
Pakistan is tied up in a military sense with the U,S.AL and is alitmed to that particular
group of powers. This produces a qualitative change in the existing situation and,
therefore, it affects Tndo-Pakistan relations, and, more especially, the Kachmir

problem.’ {Nehru's letter of 21 December 1033 to the Pakistan Prime Minister.)
3 Statement in the Indian Patliament, 23 December 1933.
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could not allow Mr, Nehru to dictate her foreign policy. In May
1954 Pakistan went ahead with the signing of the Mutual Defence
Assistance Agreement with the United States. From that point on,
the fact that the Indian Prime Minister would repudiate the joint
communiqué on Kashmir became a foregone conclusion, Pakistan’s
efforts to save it eventually collapsed when the two Prime Ministers
met for the last tme in May 1955.

In that same year the alliance with the United States came under
still heavier pressure. The Soviet Union reacted when, in 19355, Pakistan
joined the Baghdad Pact (now CENTO). Up to that time, the Soviet
Union had maintained a neutral stand on the Kashmir dispute; its
representatives had abstained from voting whenever the issue came up
in the Security Council. But now the Soviet Union charged that, by
joining the Baghdad Pact, Pakistan had become a member of ‘an
aggressive western alliance’, and it responded by radically altering its
stand on Kashmir. Thenceforth, the Soviet Union began to subscribe
to India’s claim that no plebiscite was possible or necessary in Kashmir
and that Kashmir was an ‘integral part’ of India.

In contrast, over the last decade, the policies of the United States
have undergone a change which has operated progressively to the
disadvantage of her ally, Pakistan, vis-g-vis neutral India. When we
first joined the alliance with the United States, neutralism—‘non-
alignment’ as India prefers to call it—was suspect in American eyes.
It was in fact regarded as ‘immoral’; it was another name for *playing
both sides of the street’. Over the years, it has come to assume a mantle
of respectability in American eyes. Indeed, in the late fifties it gradually
began to be actively supported, in some cases in competition against
the Soviet Union. In particular, influential American circles began to
advocate ‘massive aid’ to India,

At the same time, there grew a feeling among the allies of the United
States—not in Pakistan only—that, in a variety of ways, they were
increasingly being taken for granted. Gradually, as a result of this
change in American thinking, neutral India became by far the largest
recipient of U.S. cconomic aid, while she continued freely to castigate
the United States in the United Nations and outside, whenever oppor-
tunity offered. Pakistan watched this transformation in American
foreign policy with increasing perplexity and dismay. Our conccrn
arose from the fact that the Indian military build-up was aimed largely
against Pakistan. The pronouncements of Indian leaders and the con-
tinuing massing of India’s army on Pakistan’s borders clearly suggested
that.

Until 1962, however, the policy of the United States continued to
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distinguish between 2 ‘non-aligned’ India and the American ally,
Pakistan, Although under 2 Mutual Defence Assistance Agreement
signed in 1931 (reaffirmed in 1958), India also was receiving military
aid from the United States—without accepting any of the obligations
that devolve on an ally-——American policy continued gencrally to
maintain, in the matter of dircet military aid, a substantial differcnce
between an zally and 2 neutral. However, this distinction between
Pakistan and ‘non-aligned’ India disappeared after the border disputes
between India and China which flared up into an armed clash in 1662.

Despite the fact that over the decade the distinction in American
eves between an ally and a neutral had become inereasingly blurred,
Palistan continued steadily to stand by the alliance. Our view has
been that, so long as we were in this alliance, we must continue honour-
ably to discharge, as far as we could, whatever obligations devolved on
us as a member.

In 1963, however, Pakistan rcceived a new cause for disillusion-
ment with American forcign policy. Following the India-Chinz border
clash, the United States proceeded to rush arms to India on a scale
which to us scemed totally unjustified by the requirements of the
situation. Since then, arms aid has been flowing into India continuously
on a very substantial scale, not enly from the United States but akso
in equal measure from Britain and, to a smaller extent, from some other
members of the Commonwealth,

People in the United States somctimes ask: 15 not the military
assistance given to India by the U.S.A. meant exclusively for fighting
Communist China? Has not India pledged that she will not usc these
arms against Pakistan? Have not the United States and Great Britain
also given assurances that if India employed these weapons in an
aggresston against Pakistan, they would act to thwart the aggression?
Are not these assurances, they ask, sufiicient to protect Pakistan against
the possible misuse of western arms against her?

Before I procecd to answer these questions, et me briefly recapitu-
Jate the facts Ieading up to the western policy of arming India.

On 12 October 1962 Mr. Nchru announced that he had instructed
the Indian army to ‘throw the Chinese” out of the disputed areas, This
announcement was deseribed by the New York Herald Trituze (15
October) as ‘tantamount to a formal declaration of war’, while the
British newspaper, the Guerdiar, called it an ‘ultimatum’. That the
Indians ficed the first shot was suggested by 2 subscquent report in the
Nae Yok Times of 19 April 1663, which mentioned that ‘General
Maxwell D, Tavlor, Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, indicated
in secret Congressional testimony made public here today that India
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might have started the border fight with Communist China’. On 20
October 1962 fighting flared up between China and India at 2 number
of points along their disputed border in Ladakh (Kashmir} and in the
North-East Frontier Agency {NEFA) area lying east of the state of
Bhutan.

What happened subsequently is, however, fairly generally known.
During two brief bouts of fighting—the first in October and the second
in November—the Indian army met with serious reverses. By 20
November the Indians had surrendered another 2,000 square miles of
disputed territory in Ladakh, thus putting the Chinese in control of
almost the entire 15,000 square miles of territory which they claimed
in that part of Kashmir. In the NEFA area, the military rout of the
Indian forces assumed even more serious proportions. By 20 November,
not only the entire disputed NEFA territory but even Assam seemed
exposed to the rapidly-advancing Chinese forces. Then suddenly, on
21 November, the Chinese declared a cease-fire and offered unilaterally
to withdraw to points behind the McMahon Line from the entire
territory they had overrun. This undertaking they subsequently fully
carried out, offering at the same time to negotiate their border differ-
ences with India peacefully. Since then there has been no significant
military incident on any part of the entire disputed border.

At Nassau, on 29 December 1962, long after the cease-fire on the
India-China border, the United States and Britain decided to continuc
to supply India, on an emergency basis, with up to 120 million dollars’
worth of military aid. The programme included a variety of military
equipment, but its central feature was the arming of six Indian divisions
for mountain warfare. Arising also from the Nassau decision, 2 United
States—British-Canadian Air Mission visited India to examine what
would be India’s air needs should China attack again. And another
U.S. Mission went out to India to study the question of how to expand
India’s arms-production capacity. Subsequently, on go June 1963, at
Birch Grove, the United States and Britain decided on 2 further sub-
stantial programme of military aid to India, over and above that agrecd
at Nassau. Apart from additional arms, this programme provided for
extensive radar communications, air transport and training facilities,
as well as for American and British assistance to expand greatly India’s
own armament production.

India has also been assured that there is no need for her to enter an
alliance with the West in order to continue to qualify for military
assistance against China. Indeed, she has been given to understand that
it is in the western interest that she should continue to remain ‘non-
aligned’ and receive military aid from the Soviet Union as well. Taking
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dvaniage of this favourable western response, India decided to raies
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ker standing army from 11 to 22 divisions as rapidly as possible, en
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to expand substantially her air force ard navy—all ostensiblv for use

Let us first examine briefiv whether the arming of India on this
extensive scale is necessary or justified. The American-Brtish military
aid pregramme to Iadia was orginally put in motion at a time when

12 West feared that the India-Chaina coaflict might escalate into a
major war. From the very outset it has been our viess that the fighting
was only in the nature of a border coxfiict. On 5 November 1gf2,
fter the first India-Chuna clash, 1 made 2 statement to that cffect,
ind expressed codcern over the western dectsion to rush militany aid
to India o a scale based apparently on an assumption that India was
faced with @ major war with Chinza. There was no valid basis for this
assummpion. It made no sense militarily, I said, that China should have
decided to launch an invasion of Indiz over the Himalavas at the heizht
of winter, Under the circumstances, it seemed logical to conclude that
the Chinese objecuves were himited. Later, when I visited China, the
kizhest zuthority In the country told me that the Sino-Indizn conflict
on the Tibetan border was the direct outcome of Indian military
provecatons. A stage had been reached when their Premaler and the
Chief of Staff could bear it no longer, They thercfore decided to hit
back. Subsequent events have proved that the Chinese had not planned
to emmbark on a major attack on India. Sigce then, the Chinese have
demonstrated their willingness to settle the dispute peacefully. The
Indianz, on their part, are anxious to avoid any further fizhting with
China and have been working steadily for 2 peacefud settlement. Yer
Indiz contnues to demand—and recelve—an inereasing amount of
raflitary assistance.

India currently presents three faces to the world: one to the West,
simulating 2 resolve to fight China in order to secure the maximum of
western arms assistance; 2 second to the Soviet Union, stressing her
resolve, nevertheless, to remain ‘non-aligned’; and a third to China,

a peaceful settlement of the dispute by seeret peace overtures
throuzh neutral ernissaries.
N
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reefisliy, Therefore, the contnuance of military 2id to India is un-
ted. Even in the unlikelv event of a recrudescence of border
rting betwees Chinz and Indiz, the Indians could not, considening
£ moun in temrzin, deploy more than three to feur ¢hvislens againn
the Chinese. One mav justifiably ask, then, why is India doubiing th
gro ofherstanding army to 22 divislons? Even allowing for the necessan
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reserves, who are the remaining divisions aimed against? The fact of
the matter is that, taking advantage of the favourable western response
to her demands for arms, India is planning to raise two armies, one
with which to face China and the other to use against Pakisten and
her other smaller neighbours in pursnance of her expansjonist objectives.
Any army meant for China would by the nature of things be so
positioned as to be able to wheel round swiftly to attack East Pakistan.
Thus both the armies pose a grave threat to Paldstan.

Having built up this enormous war machine, India’s lcadership
would neced to justifi- the great hardships it had imposed on the Indian
people in the process. It might al<o want to regzin face, which it lost
in the fighting with China. It was possible, therefore, that India might
decide to do so—as soon as a suitable opportunity offered itself—by
throwing her massive armour against Pakistan and possibly striling
in the first instance against that part of Kashmir which is under
Pakistan’s control but which India claims to be “Indian territory’.}

I have tried to recapitulate the events which put under strain the
Palistan-United States equation. It was clear to me even at the time
of the Kennedy-Nixon Presidential contest that the United States was
out to appease India and to get her in its orbit of political influence by
all possible means. If Pakistan did not feel happy abont it, it was just
too bad and there was nothing that the United States could do.

At the invitation of President Kennedy, I hed visited the United
States in July 1951. President Kennedy said, in his welcome address,
that Palistan was ‘a friend of immediacy 2nd constancy’.* He also
observed that ‘Americans in private and in their public lifc appreciate
the value of friendship and the constancy of friends’. T was heartened
by this because the value of friendship rests on reciprocity.

I addressed 2 Joint Session of the Congress of the United States on
12 July 1961. I explained at some length the basis of the partition of the
sub-continent. Qur demand for 2 homeland of our own was based on
the realization that we would have no place worth the name in a
society which was governed by z rigid caste system. The demand was
not based on bigotry or intolerance. It was, in fact, 2n ¢scape from the
bigotry 2nd intolerance to which we had been subjected for decades
in the Indian society. We were not wanting to create 2 priest-ridden
society but 2 liberal and enlightened one in which we should be able to
live according to our own ideclogy and fzith. In our sodety there would

! Tee substance of pp. 12935 is based oa an ariicle T wroie on the Pakistan-
Americzn alliznce, subsequently publithed in Ferripn 470s (Jaa 1952), 22 Amsicmn
quartesly resisw. Later events proved how well-founded my fears were.,

* 11 July 1051, ot Andrews Air Foree Base
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be no place for colour prejudice or race prejudice. “We people are,
shall we say, colour-blind and race-blind.” I reminded the Congress
of their responsibilities and world obligations. There was applause when
1 said, ‘the only people who will stand by you are the people of Paki-
stan’, but, before the applause died down, I added, ‘provided—
provided you are also prepared to stand by them. So, I would like you
to remember that, whatever may be the dictates of your commitments,
you will not take any steps that might aggravate our problems or in
any fashion jeopardize our security. And as long as you remember
that, I have no doubt in my mind that our friendship will grow in
strength.’

Throughout my visit, I emphasized the nced for bringing about a
Just and honourable settlement of the Kashmir dispute, without which
there could be no peace in the sub-continent. I urged the United States
to usc their growing influence in India to persuade the Indian leaders
to realize the value of living at peace with Pakistan. I was asked by a
Pressman how far President Kennedy could go in persuading Mr.
Nehru to, resolve the Kashmir dispute. My answer was: “We will see
how far he can go. He should be able to go a long way.’!

A few days carlier I had a luncheon meeting with the National
Press Club in Washington. One of the questions put to me there
was: ‘How would Pakistan react if arms aid was given to India?’ 1
said, *We have made our position clear to the United States and indeed
to the whole world. We want to live at peace with India. We are stuck
ot Kashmir. The problem of Kashmir involves the feclings and wishes
of the people of Kashmir. It is also a manifestation of India’s hostility
towards Pakistan. Apart from that there are considerations of cconomy
and security. India does not seem prepared to have peace with Paki-
stan. India’s armed forees are threc times our strength, out of which no
more than 15 per cent can really face China, the rest are poised against
Pakistan. In a situation of this kind, if any arms aid is given to India,
Pakistan would feel insccure, and there would be a tremendous ground
swell of public opinion in Pakistan against such a move. And it will put
a tremendous strain on our friendship with the United States.’

In my meetings with President Kennedy 1 tried to impress upon
him that the situadon in the sub-continent could not hecome stable
so long as India and Pakistan remained on inimical terms over Kash-
mir. I suggested to him that the U.S. Administration was in a decisive
position to exert a healthy influence on India in this matter, and that
their policy objectives could not be achicved unless there was peace
in the Indian sub-continent.

1 Mect-the-Press, Sunday 16 July 1967,
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I also asked President Kennedy about the shift in American policy
towards non-aligned countries and how it would affect Pacts like
CENTO and SEATO, I told him that regional members would find it
difficult to justify their membership of these Pacts in view of the change
in American attitude. President Kennedy assured me that he was
acutely conscious of the need for collective security. He felt that he had
not been correctly understood on the question of aid to ‘neutrals’. He
was not thinking in terms of abandoning friends and embracing
‘neutrals’: all he had in mind was that ‘neutrals’ should not be treated
as enemies. He particularly wanted to know how SEATO and CENTO
could be strengthened and how the United States could be of assistance
in helping to settle the disputes between India and Pakistan.

I also asked him about the U.S. Administration’s intentions to en-
large the scope of the Mutual Security Act to include neutral countries.
Would that mean giving arms aid to India? I lelt him in no doubt that
such a move would have serious repercussions on public opinion in
Pakistan. Already people, not only in Pakistan but from Korea to
Turkey, had started wondering whether the United States could
distinguish between ‘friends’ and those who were ‘not friends’. T was
assured that nothing would be done which might create difficulties
for us and that we would be consulted before any military aid was given
to neutral countries under the amended Act.

I described to President Kennedy the background of the Kashmir
dispute at some length. While India and Pakistan faced each other with
loaded guns, essential development remained insuffictently cared for.
If this dispute could be resolved it would be a great service not only
to this region but to the whole world. T told him of my mecting with
Nehru in London in May 1g960. Nehru had not been particularly
responsive when I raised the question of Kashmir with him. I had told
Mr. Nehru then that there was a general belief that his attitude towards
Kashmir was governed by certain emotional considerations. He had
replied that if that were so, the valley could be turned into 2 kind of
Switzerland for him to visit as ofien as he chose. He also added that
his mother came from Lahore, yet he had no emotional involvement
with the place.

It was obvious, I told President Kennedy, that Nehru was exploit-
ing the fact that he was in forcible occupation of a large part of Jammu
and Kashmir and that to him that was the end of the matter. The point
I was trying to get across was that arms assistance to India would only
cncourage her to remain in occupation of arcas which did not belong to
her and the prospects of any just settlement of the dispute would be
climinated.
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President Kennedy agreed with me that there was urgent need for
a solution of the Kashmir problem. But he scemed to think that he was
not in a2 position to play an active and direct role in the matter. He
struck me as a preoccupied and loncly man. He had not been long in
office and seemed under considerable strain, perhaps because of the
Bay of Pigs fiasco. He seemed unsure of his grasp of things and I could
sce that he was surrounded by too many theorcticians, who are useful
people to have but can sometimes divert one from the right and
practical course of action. You need to have hard-headed, realistic,
and experienced men around you, particularly in times of crisis,
President Kennedy mentioned to me that he would like to have a half~
hour talk alone with me. He took me by the arm and led me to a seat
under a tree on the lawns of the White House. When we sat down he
spoke of the Berlin situation and asked me what I would do in similar
circumstances. Obviously he did not expect me to give him 2 solution;
all he wanted was to talk about a matter which was causing him
considerable worry. I came away with the impression that he was
under great stress and could not really open his heart to anyone.

I returned from the United States satisfied in the sense that T had
put across my point of view to President Kennedy without any reserva-
tion. I could only hope that the United States would realize the
dangers inherent in allowing the Kashmir dispute to remain unresolved
and would not embark on large-scale supply of arms to India in a
hurry.

The United States at that time was beginning to show some con-
cern about the agreement for oil exploration which we were negotiating
with the Soviet Union, and the prospects of demarcation of the boundary
between Pakistan and China. My position on both these issues was that
in view of the changing situation it was important for us to normalize
our relations with the Soviet Union and the People’s Republic of
China. We could not afford to carry unnecessary political burdens.

I have mentioned above certain events during the Sino-Indian
conflict in 1g62. I think it is necessary to trace the devclopment in
greater detail in order to show how the United States reacted to the
situation and how we came to 2 gradual and painful rca!izatiorox that as
between India and Pakistan, the United States had chosen India.

The Chinese authorities in Tibet issued an order in July 1939,
declaring both Indian and Tibetan currencies illegal. Indian nationals
were advised not to enter Tibet in the interest of their own safety. In
August 1959 a Chinese force occupied the border post of Longju on the
Assam-Tibet border; they also occupied another post 1n .I,adakh. Thls
was followed by an exchange of protest notes between India and China.
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In November 1959 Nehru declared: I want to disabuse any suspicion
that might lurk in some people’s minds that we will not be able to
defend our integrity if the Chinese invade us. We have confidence in
our strength and determination to meet this challenge, and we will
meet it with our full strength.® Mr. Chou En-lai suggested to Mr.
Nehru that both sides should withdraw their troops 20 Lilometres along
the entire length of the 2,j00-mile border, thus creating a 23-mile
demilitarized zone pending ‘a friendly settlement of the boundary
question’. Mr, Nehru rejected the proposal. The Chinese government,
however, issued orders to its frontier units to stop sending out patrols,
in order to avoid incidents.

In April 1960 there was a meeting between Mr. Nehru and Mr.
Chou En-lai in New Delhi but the tatks did not resolve the differences.
There followed a series of meetings at the official level. In March 1961
some Chinese nationals were ordered to leave India. Throughout 1961
the relationship between Chira and India remained under considerable
strain. Nehru was beginning to adopt a belligerent attitude. Both sides
complained of violations of their airspace and territory. Mr. Krishna
Menon, who was Defence Minister, stated in the Lok Sabha on 11
April 1961 that the Indian governmeat had ‘taken all necessary steps’
to defend the Himalayan borders and that the idea that communist
invaders could ‘just walk in at any time’, was no longer true.

In July 1962 there were two other border incidents. In September
1962 the Chinese proposed, once again, that ‘the armed forces of both
sides should withdraw 20 kilometres along the entire border in order to
ease tension’; the proposal was again rejected by India, Towards the
middle of September 1962 there were further border clashes at the
eastern end of the Himalayan frontier. The NEFA border remained
quiet until 10 October when a serious clash teok place at the extreme
western end of the McMahon Line. On 13 October the Chinese
again called upon Nehru to “pull back from the brink of the precipiee’,
as, according to them, China was ‘absolutely unwilling to cross swords
with India’. A week later there was serious fighting in Ladakh. The
Chinese did not advance in Ladakh beyond the line claimed by them.
In the NEFA the Chinese ovenwhelmed two outposts. Their attack
then developed into 2 general offensive at both ends of the McMahon
Line. In three days the Chinese forces covered some go miles, capturing
Se La Pass and Bomdila. The Chinese government announced a uni-
lateral cease-firc on 21 Novernber 1962, and started withdrawing their
forces to positions 20 kilometres behind the line of actual control which
existed between India and China on 7 November 1939.

President Kennedy wrote me 2 letter on 28 October 1962. He ex-
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pressed alarm at the situation which had arisen as a result of the Sino-
Indian conflict and informed me that the United States intended to
give the Indians what help they could for India’s immediate needs, and
to cnsure that whatever help they gave to India would be used only
against the Chincse. He argued that Pakistan was in a position to make
an important move which, according to him, only Pakistan could make,
and that was to signal to the Indians, in a quict but cffcetive way, that
the concern, which President Kennedy himsclf thought totally un-
justificd but which had led the Indians to maintain the greater part of
their militiary power on their borders with Pakistan, should be put
aside in that crisis. He suggested that perhaps an cffective way would be
a privatec message from me to Nehru telling him that he could count on
Pakistan’s taking no action on the frontiers to alarm India. President
Kennedy emphasized that no possible outside aid could increase the
ability of the Indians to withstand the Chinese offensive as much as a
shift in their own dispositions. He said he knew the history of Kashmir
and was not making the suggestion lightly. He did so in the hope and
belief that the painful moments which India was then experiencing
would teach them how much more important the threat from the
North, as he put it, was to the whole of the sub-continent than any
regional quarrels within it. He assured me that action taken by me in
the larger interests of the sub-continent would do more in the long run
to bring about a sensible resolution of Pakistan-India differences than
anything else he could think of.

I give below in full the reply which I sent to President Kennedy on
5 November 1g62:

Dear My, President:

1 am grateful to you for your kind message of October 28, 1962, which was
delivered by your Ambassador. ]

For the last fiftcen years, India has posed a major military t‘hrcat to
Pakistan. She has built up her forces, may I say, mainly with American and
British cquipment three to four times our strength and has openly declared
that Pakistan is her enemy number one.

Eighty per cent or more of her Armed Forces have already been car-
marked against us and the bulk of them remain concentrated on our borders
on ten days’ state of readiness. We have been exposed to these aggressive
designs all these vears simply because the Indian Prime Minister himsclf is
not prepared to honour his pledge in regard to so many agreements and
especially in regard to the solution of Kashmir in which Pakistan i3 vitally
interested for profound economic and security reasons. :I:Imr:cforc, b\ and
large, we have spent these fiftcen years in a state of mobilization which has
been foreed upon us by India. On top of all this, the recent conflict between
India and China has led to developments of grave concern 10 us.
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However, our own information, although meagre, leads us to believe that
the Chinese intention seems to be to occupy the territory which they believe
belongs to them and over which there has been a dispute between her and
India, Even Mr. Nehru thought it fit in his wisdom te declare in the Indian
Parliament in 1954 with reference to the Chinese position in Tibet that ‘I am
not aware of any time during the last few hundred years when Chinese
sovereignty, or if you like suzerainty, was challenged by any outside country.
Al during this period, whether China was weak or strong, or whatever the
Government of China, China always maintained its claim to sovercignty
over Tibet. ... The British Empire in the days of Lord Curzon had cx-
panded inte and made several types of arrangements in Tibet, Now it is
impossible or improper for us to continue any such arrangements. . . . Thesc
maps and treaties are all prepared by the British Imperialists. These treaties
and maps are intended to show that we must act as they did.’

Militarily, however, we do not believe that China can bring to bear
against India her major forces through the difficult terrain of the Himalayas
to achieve decisive results, and even if she has any such intention the way to
do it would be to outflank India through Burma. In our opinion that would
be a simpler way of doing it and in cost it would be cheaper. If the Chinese
intentions were more than limited and they were to expand into the terri-
tories of Assam, we would have as much cause for concern as India, as our
East Pakistan would be directly affected. We are making this appreciation
about the actual situation in no light-hearted mood.

Why has such a situation developed on this sub-continent and around
India? We believe that this is the direct outcome of distorted and fallacious
thinking on the part of Mr. Nehru and his associates and a consequence of a
baseless foreign policy that he has been following. This foreign policy has
been based on the following factors:

(z) bending over backwards to appease communism;

(b} hoist the white flag of neutralism to appease communism and get
other wavering nations to join India in order to be able to create a
world nuisance-value for themselves;

{¢) intimidate and threaten Pakistan in order to politically isolate it
and economically weaken it; and

(d) abusc the West, and especially the U.S.A. in season and out of season.

The events have proved that all that is happening to Mr. Nchru is the
direct consequence of this warped thinking, We have been warning and
pointing to this all along,

Mr. President, what you now ask of us is to give an assurance to Mr.
Nehru of a kind that will enable him to deploy his troops, at present con-
centrated against us, elsewhere, T am surprised that such 2 request is being
made to us. After 2ll, what we have been doing is nothing but to contain the
threat that was continuously posed by India to us. Is it in conformity with
human nature that we should cease to take such steps as are necessary for our
self-preservation ? Or, will our own people cver accept such a position?

According to our information, India has withdrawn an infantry division
and a half away from us but there arc definite indications that they are
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No, Mr. President, the answer to this problem Fes elsewhere. It [iss in
2ing 2 sitmtion whereby we are free ffom the Indian threat, and the
Iz€izns are free Fom any apprehensions about us. This can only be done |
there is 2 setlement of the queston of Kashmir, This matter i3 sometinies
siated 27 vesy diffcult to resolve. I do not agree with that. I belisve that if
there is a change of heart ox the part of India, it should not be ditficult to
£o4 an equitable aod an honourable seidement.

Our obiect is to bave peace, and especially with our neizhbours. [ am
very grmarefd for e amurance yvou have given that the arms you are now
supplving to Indiz will not be used azainst us. This is very generous of you,

=t Xnowing the sort of people you are dealing with, whose history 15 2 con-
tnusss wmle of broken pledges, I would not ask a fHend like you to place
voussalf in an embarrassing stwuation. India’s conduct over the queston ot
Junagadh, Mangro!, Hyderabad, Kashmir and Goa skould be well-known
10 you. Our belief is that the arms pow being obiained by Indis fom you for
use ageinst China will undoubtedly be used against us at the very fimt
eppertuzity. However, in the light of the promise that you were goad enough
10 make, namely, that we shall be consulted before vou gave any mulitary
assirance to India, we ¢id expect to be consulted and also informed as to the
tvpes and the quantides of weapoas and eguipment which are now in e
process of being supplied to them. It is regretiable that nmone of this has
been doze,

1 wourld alwo ifke to draw vour attendon to the fact that aithough Indiz
today poses a: an aggrieved and oppressed party, in reality she has bees
censiently threatening and intmideting, in varying degress, smell neigh-
bouring countries around her. Let me assure you that in the eyes of many
pecple in Asia. Indian intentons are suspect and the Indion tmage a3 2
peace-loving cadon has been destroved.

Yeu have referred, Mr. President, 1o press comments in Pakistan. While
we have encezvoured (o restrain expression of extremist views in our RT3
is not possible to interfere with the freedom of the pros wiea
e real sendment of the people. It must be realized that pubte
gravely exercised by the pew developments as the sl of autns
Indiz, more so, as India contnuss to poss a seriows thrvat 1o ouT

am zfroid &k is going te be extremely difficule for my Government
2ot public opinion.

With kind rega-ds,

Yours sineerely,
Sigcned:

.\Io..an‘_rr.a; Ayub Khan,
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The New Zork Times carried a despatch in its issue of 31
October 1g62 on President Kennedy’s letter to me. The despatch
indicated that the letter was sent to me at the same time as President
Kennedy sent a letter to Mr. Nehru, ‘assuring him of United States’
support and sympathy in his country’s battle against China’. The
despatch further said that, “United States officials are said to be aware
of Pakistan’s isgivings about any Increase in India’s military potential,
but it is the hope in Washington that Marshal Ayub’s Government will
understand the motives of American military aid. It is also hoped here
that the Pakistanis will not make any new move now in their long-
standing dispute with India over Kashmir,’

On the same day the Washington Post editorial suggested that,

rude 2s the Indian awakening has been, it is not yet clear that the great
Asian power is fully alert to its peril. While it casts about for military re-
sources to meet the Chinese onslaught, it still has not felt sufficiently en-
dangered to draw upon military strength immediately at hand. While its
military forces engaging the Chinese fall back because they are outnumbered
and ill-equipped, the bulk of the powerfil Indian Army faces the Pakistan
frontier, immobilized, tied down, sterile. ... There is no help that the
Western world can give the sub-continent that would be as useful as the help
that India and Palkistan could give themselves by settling the quarrel [over
Kashmir]. ...

There was a section of the U.S. Press that warned the U.S. Ad-
ministration of the danger of blindly giving arms aid to India. The
Philadelphia Enquirer wrote editorially on go October 1962:

Nevertheless, there is good reason not to rush in blindly, handing out
largess we can’t afford or weapons which might shortly be turned about and
aimed at the Free World. This country has already given India billions of
dollars’ worth of economic aid, while that country, starting in 1947 with
Junagadh and Kashimnir, engaged in a long list of military adventures against
wezaker peoples, conquest of Goza being only the latest. In none of these cases
did India call upon the United Nations or permit the peoples involved to
voice their personal desires through plebiscite. Pakistan, onc victim of
Indian policy, is now understandably alarmed at the idea of massive gifis of
arms to its neighbour. . . . Prime Minister Nchru’s reputed desire to ‘pay for
the weapons’ should be encouraged in so far as it is not an excuse to con-
tinue on a path of aggression in the name of non-alignment or so-called
neutrality.

Our Ambassador to the United States had a meeting with a State
Department official on 2 October 1962. He inquired about the kind
of arms aid the Indians had asked for from the United States. He was

told that the Indians had not yet specificd their requircments for arms
but that Mr. Nehru had seen Ambassador Galbraith in New Dethi that
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very morning and had asked him for United States arms aid against
China. Ambassador Galbraith, on the authority of the United States
government, had informed Mr. Nehru that the United States would
give arms 2id to India, and that it was for Mr, Nehru to indicate his
rcquirements. The United States had already agreed to stand aside
in the matter of priority for two Caribou transport aircraft the Indians
wanted to acquire from the Canadians.

Our Ambassador recalled the assurance given by President Kennedy
to me that Pakistan would be consulted before any decision was taken
on the question of giving arms to India. Obviously, the United States
government had ignored two very important points, that their decision
to give arms aid to India was arrived at without prior consultation with
Pakistan; and it was communicated to India before it was communi-
cated to Pakistan. The Ambassador expressed the hope that Pakistan
would be consulted before decisions were taken regarding the terms and
volume of aid and the type of equipment to be supplied to India. He
was told that military aid might be provided to India cither under
lend-lease, against payment in local currency, or against deferred
payment.

It was conveyed to our Ambassador that the United States was
anxious to act without any loss of time. They regarded the Chinese move
as the biggest since Korea, In Korea the U.S. decision had been taken
with great rapidity and the same speed was necessary to mecet the present
situation. The Indians had taken five years to wake up to the Chinese
reality and their illusions had now been shattered. The United States
was anxious to give full support to India, subject, of course, 0 Fecciving
suitable assurances that the arms would be used only against China.

Tn another meeting in the State Department, the following day,
our Ambassador was informed that 2 specific request for arms ‘a.ld had
been received from Mr. Nehru. The request consisted of two lists: one
contained items for delivery over a period of 120 days, and the ot.h-cr
contained items which were required immediately and would be air-
lifted. The equipment was to be given to the Indians for rupees which
would be deposited in 2 fund and used as in the case of the .PL—430
programme. A provision was also being worked out for 2 \-.:mvcr.for
the initial shipment. The requirements tadicated by the Indians were
intended to meet the specific combat situation plus rclat.cd TCSCIVES-
The United States aim was to provide immediately 1.11atcnal to sui}“cgl
Indian combat capability. Our Ambassador was advised that the U.hi
arms would not be used by India against Pakistan and that he shpu
‘take the United States’ word for it'. He was also told that Pakistan
need have no anxiety regarding 2 situation of imbalance developing
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in the sub-continent as a result of the supply of arms to India. He was
advised that Pakistan should forget the past and make a gesture of
goodwill and co-operation towards India. Such a gesture would make
a tremendous impact on India and her attitude would, undoubtedly,
soften towards Pakistan. And who knew that this might not lead to a
satisfactory solution of the Kashmir problem. That, in bricf, was the
American point of view.

It was obvious that the United States had decided to give long-
term arms assistance to India, apart from providing emergency relicf,
It was also clear that while the United States wanted to see an amicable
settlement of the Kashmir dispute between India and Pakistan, they
were not prepared to use their full influence directly lest India should
feel that she was being subjected to pressure. The U.S. attitude, in fact,
was that India should have all sympathy and support and that Pakistan
would be well advised not to raise any difficulties.

Mr, Nehru wrote me a letter on 27 October 1962 in which he gave
me his version of the dispute that had arisen between India and China
on the question of border demarcation. I sent him the following reply
on 5 November:

It is a matter of great regret to us that this dispute should have led to
intensified military activities and induction of new war potential, thus en-
dangering the peace and stability of the region in which Pakistan is vitally
concerned.

I agree with you when you say that no effort should be spared to eliminate
deceit and force from international relations. In this respect I am constrained
to point out that various outstanding disputes between India and Pakistan
can also be resolved amicably should the Government of India decide to
apply these principles with sincerity and conviction.

We in Pakistan are pledged to a policy of peace and friendly relations
with all neighbouring countries, especially India. We have accepted this
course for we believe this is the only method through which we can pursuc
the gigantic tasks of economic and industrial development which must be
carried forward in the interest of the prosperity and well-being of the people.

Mr. Harold Macmillan sent me a message through his High
Commissioner on 25 October 1g62. A few days later I received a similar
message from the Australian Prime Minister, Mr. R. G. Menzics. To
both of them T replied in very much the same terms as I had replied to
Mr. Kennedy’s letter, repeating especially my reasoned belief that the
Chinese were not undertaking a full-scale military invasion of India.
I was hoping that the western countries sould take our point of view
into account before embarking on large-scale supplies of arms to India,
but it scemed that in their anxicty to rush to help her with arms and
ammunition they were neither willing to accommodate us nor to take
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the long-term view of the serious imbalance which their action would
create in the sub-continent.

There was a definite attempt, I think, to panic India into belicving
that there was going to be an attack by China with 25 to g0 divisions
through Burma and over Tibet. Mr, Nehru, who had started talking
about ‘a long fight’ with China, convinced himsclf that a Chinese
invasion was inevitable. It suited him to talk about such a possibility.

How much interference there was from Delhi in the conduct of the
battles I cannot say, but such interference is always fatal. A commander
in the field must be carefully chosen, then given his task and left alone
to carry it out in the manner he considers best. General Kaul, the
Indian Army Commander on the north-castern front, was a supply
and transport officer and had no experience of serious fighting. An
Indian Brigade was put right out on the forward slopes of the Se La
Pass, in full view of the Chinese. No experienced commander would
have done such a thing. The Chinese made a frontal demonstration
against this Brigade and then went round it. Kaul panicked and
ordered the rear Brigade to move forward in support. When this
happened the Chinese made a sccond encircling movement and got
into the trenches that the rear Brigade had Ieft. When the rear Brigade
found they could not break through the cordon of Chinese surrounding
the forward Brigade, they turned about in an attempt to return to their
original dispositions. They found to their utter astonishment their
trenches occupied by the Chinese. They broke to avoid destruction,
and, in thec meantime, the Chinese made another encircling movement,
and cntered the plains of Assam, where the civil population fled in
panic. By this time the Indian Army itsclf was on the run and had
ceased to be a fighting force. Given better Jeadcership, correct disposi-
tions, and reserves held for counter-attacks on the flanks, the results
might not have been so disastrous. .

The Chincse fought most skilfully under brilliant leadership. Of
course, they are much tougher people than the Indians and arc used to
soldiering in that climate. The mere fact of living in Tibet at a height
of about 18,000 fect is a great advantage. But the fact remains that
despite this talk of 25 to 30 Chinese divisions, which was nothing but
a figment of Indo-U.S. imagination, the Chinese had no more than
6 to 7 light divisions in the entire arca and in the limited arca of NEFA
they brought to bear against the Indian Army not more than one or
onc and a half divisions in any given scctor. Yet, fighting with remark-
able skill, they made rings round the Indians.

But lct me not denigrate the Indian soldiers, for some of them are as
good as any in the world. They were badly served, Had they been

FM=—i1
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better led they would have given a more satisfactory account of
thernselves.

iv

The Indians believed that they would soon be facing a full-fledged
invasion by China. In this view they were encouraged by the United
States. The result was the arms rush, of formidable magnitude. The
United States thought that all that need be done for Pakistan, in
consideration of past nnderstanding and alliance, was to give some kind
of an assurance that their arms would not be used against Pakistan
and to prepare the ground for direct talks between India and Pakistan
to resolve the Kashmir dispute.

The public assurance came in the form of a State Department
release, on 17 November 1962:

The Department of State released today the text of Exchange of Notes
concerning the provision of defence assistance by the Government of the
United States of America to the Government of India, In the Exchange of
Notes it is stated that the assistance will be furnished for the purpose of
defence against outright Chinese Communist aggression now facing India,

In 1954 when the United States decided to extend military aid to Pakis.
tan, the Government of India was assured that if our aid to any country,
including Pakistan, was misused and directed against another in aggression,
the United States would undertake immediately, in accordance with con-
stitutional authority, appropriate action both within and without the
United Nations to thwart such aggression.

The Government of the United States of America has similarly assured
the Government of Pzkistan that, if our assistance to India should be misused
and directed against another in aggression, the United States would under-
take immediately, in accordance with constitutional authority, appropriate
action both within and without the United Nations to thwart such aggression.

Needless to say in giving these assurances the United States is confident
that neither of the countries which it is aiding harbors aggressive designs.

President Kennedy himself issued a statement on 2 November
1962, saying, ‘In providing military assistance to India, we are mindful
of our alliance with Pakistan. All of our aid is for the purpose to defeat
Chincse communist subversion. Our help to India in no way diminishes
or qualifies our commitment to Pakistan and we have made it clear to
both governmeants as well.

In arranging direct talks between India and Pakistan, Mr. Duncan
Sandys, then Secrctary of State for Commonwealth Relations in the
U.K. Government, and Mr, Averell Harriman, U.S. Assistant Secretary
of State for Far Eastern Affairs, played a significant role. The following
joint statement was ssued by the Governmemt of India and the
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Government of Pakistan over the signatures of Nehru and mysclf on
29 November igh2:

The President of Paldstan and the Prime Minister of India have agreed
that a renewed effort should be made to resolve the outstanding differences
benween their two countries on Kashmir and other related matiers 0 as to
enable India and Pakistan to live side by side in peace and friendship.

In consequence, they have decided 1o start discussions at an eardy date
with the abject of reaching an honourable and cquitable settlement.

These will be conducted initally at the ministerial level, At the approp-
riate stage direct talks will be held between Mr, Nehni and President Ayub.

Signed: Signed:

M. A Khan., J. L. Nehru,
F.M . 29.11.62

29.11.62. 7.10 p.m.

Hardly had the joint statement been signed when Nehru made some
observations in the Lok Sabha which strengthened my doubts about his
intention to enter into any meaningful and constructive talks about the
Kashmir dispute. Mr. Duncan Sandys was shown the text of Nehru's
observations on 30 November, when he arrived in Karachi from New
Delhi on his way back to London. He was so surprised that he decided
to fly back to Delhi to clear the matter up. From the airport he drove
straight to the Prime Minister's house and caught Nchru as he was
going to bed.

Nehru first tried to show that he did not seem to understand what
all the fuss was about. He said that he had made his stzatement as he
always did without a prepared text. His remarks had been made in
answer to a question of which he had had little notice, about 2 rumour
on the B.B.C. which suggested that the idea of partitoning Kashmir
was already under discussion. He added that it was wrong to read too
much inte particular phrascs. He did not like the idea of making any
statement which could be Interpreted as 2 retraction. However, at Mr,
Duncan Sandys's suggestion, he agreed that some statement might be
worked out which, while not involving any cating of words, would put
a morce favourable construction on what he had said and would help
to allay some other doubts which his statement in the Lok Sabha had
aroused. The result was the following statement by Nchru on 1
December 10622

Thezre hat never been any question of pre—conditions gr of any restrictions
on the scope of the talks which the two governments are initating, As 1
indicated yesterday in the Lok Sabha, the problem of Kashmir is com-
plcated and difficelt. But I am sure that with goodwill on both = H
should be pesible towork out an honourable and equitable solution of this as
of other problems.
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In the meantime, Nehru had sent another urgent request for military
assistance to the United States. Tielve C-130 military transport planes
were sent to India by the United States on 20 November 1962. Further
assistance in the form of mountain-warfare equipment followed. The
planes were to be used for transporting supplies within the Indian
territories, and would perform “priority tasks’ in connection with the
formation of fresh defensive positions by the Indians in the NEFA area.

The military situation looked dismal from the Indian point of view
at that time. The Chinese were moving rapidly at both ends of the
valley in the NEFA area; major parts of the Indian forces in the NEFA
area—one to one and a half divisions—had been rendered ineffectve.
It appeared that the Chinese might take Tezpur, Jorhat, and Digboi.
A high-level team comprising officials from the Pentagon and the State
Department and a representative of the White House came to India in
the third week of November to assist the U.S. Embassy there in ‘assess-
ing Indian needs’ and to advise ‘on relevant policy considerations’.
The American assessment at that time was that if the Chinese moved
into India beyond the disputed territory, the conflict would no longer
remain ‘only India’s business': it would become “something more than
that’,

It was in this situatdon that Nehru had signed the joint statement
under which India and Pakistan were to make renewed efforts to
resolve the Kashmir dispute. Within weeks of the unilateral declaration
of a cease-fire by China, the Indian attitude changed completcly and
the talks, which had never held much promise, got bogged down in
procedural wrangles and academic inanities.

President Kennedy and Prime Minister Macmillan intimated to
me the extent of the arms they were supplying to India. 1 wrote to
President Kennedy on 2 January 1963:

Oaly a speedy and just Kashmir settlement can give us any assurance that
the contemplated increase of India’s military power is not likely to be
deployed against Pakistan in future.

I agree completely with your judgement that no single step could con-
tribute as much to the security of the sub-continent as the resolution of the
Kashmir problem. Despite the discouraging and provocative utterances of
Mr. Nehru on the subject, we are pursuing our sincere cfforts to negotiate
with India a solution which would meet three requirements: respect of the
withes of the people of Jammu and Kashmir; protection of the vital interests
of Pakistan; and due regard for such claims of India as can be considered
Iegitimate,

It is only with reference 1o these three hasic eriteria that a correct judge-
ment can be made as to the one-sidedness or otherwise of the intransigence
which India is very likely to show in the negetations.
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To Primc Minister Harold Macmillan I wrote on the same day:

My dear Prime Minister,

I thank vou for your message of December 24th. Sir Morrice James has
also explained to mc the extent of the military assistance which you and
President Kennedy have decided, at your Nassau meeting, to extend to
India.

The extent of the military assistance which Britain and the United States
have decided to extend to India for the present without making it contingent
on a Kashmir settlement, gives us cause for great concern. The Nassau deci-
sion based on the assessment of your military experts, may scem, in the
context of your global strategy, to be the minimum aid necessary to enable
India to defend itself from an attack through NEFA and Ladakh. We on the
other hand find it hard to believe that any invasion of the sub-continent is
likely to occur from these directions and consequently the quantum of
military support to India, quantitative as well as gualitative, which you will
be extending is fraught with serious consequences to the maintenance of the
present ratio of military strength in the sub-continent and hence to the
security of Pakistan.

I have always held the view that the most effective way of safeguarding
the security of the sub-continent is through a disengagement of the armed
forces of the two countries. A Kashmir settlement will assure to both the sub-
stance of disengagement. Without 2 settlement, sizeable military aid to India
is more likely to be deployed against Pakistan than for the defence of the
north-cast or the western sectors of India’s frontier with China.

We have kept the British High Commissioner informed of the talks that
took place a few days ago at the level of ministers in Rawalpindi, This
meeting was purely exploratory. The real test of India’s intentions regarding
Kashmir will come in the next ministerial meeting in New Delhi about the
middle of January,

Pakistan’s atutude will not be rigid. I have instructed my delegation to
be guided by three basic principles in its approach towards pessible solutions
that may be discussed:

{i} whether the solution is Likely to be accepiable to the people of
Jammu and Kashmir;
{ii} whether it safeguards the vital interests of Pakistan; and

{iii} whether it mects the legitimate claims of India.

I have no illusions that any formula which satisfies these three require-
ments will not be beset with difficulties; but if India sincerely desires an end
to the dispute, and given goodwill on both sides, there is no reason why the
two couniries should not be able, with the assistance of Britzin and the
United States, to reach an equitable and honourable settlement within the
next month or two.

Public opinion in Pakistan is such that while I am willing 10 exercise due
patience, I will find it extremely difficult to convince the people of the virtue
of this quality if one round of discussion after another does not open the way
to o solution.

I remain convinced that the key to 2 just and peacefusl settlement Hes with
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you and President Kennedy. If the flow of your arms supply is so regulated
as to influence India to be in a more amenable frame of mind, positive results
are bound to follow from negotiations now under way.

With best wishes for your health, happiness and prosperity in the New
Year.

Yours sincerely,
Signed:
Mohammad Ayub Khan.

I recall that during this period the Chinese Ambassador called on
me one morning. This was after China had declared the cease-fire. He
had been instructed to convey to me that inspired statements were
being made in certain quarters to create doubts in the minds of Paki-
stanis about the Chinese attitude towards the Kashmir settlement. He
assured me that the Chinese Government would be very glad if an
honourable settlement were to be reached between India and Pakistan.

I do not have to go over the details of the negotiations which
followed between India and Pakistan. It was the same old story. The
Indians were playing for time. They had been able to securc a great
deal of arms aid from the West and a joint statement promising talks
on Kashmir did not seem too big a price to them. We had known all
along that without direct 1.S. interest India would not budge an inch,
but the United States thought that in existing circumstances a direct
U.S. role in the talks would not be productive. The great opportunity
which history had offered for a settlement of the Jammu and Kashmir
dispute was thus lost. Once the United States and other western
countries had decided that they would not link arms aid to India with a
settlement of the Kashmir dispute, the Indians were under no compul-
sion to enter into any serious discussion with Pakistan.

I had a meeting with General Maxwell Taylor in December 1963,
He mentioned the American desire to station a nuclear task force in
the Indian Ocean. I said that the U.S.A. was free to do what it liked
on the high secas, but I could not understand what military or political
advantage they would get from such a move. They were in a position
to achieve their objectives from their existing locations. Where was the
need to add another element of tension in the Indian Ocean littoral?
Politically, the move would be most unpopular and countrics in Africa
and Asia would strongly resent it. So far as Pakistan was concerned,
such a force would only add to her problems and encourage India to
act in an even more irresponsible manner,

There was at that time, as I have mentioned, a bilateral arrange-
ment between the U.S.A. and Pakistan under which the U.S.A. was
to come to Pakistan’s assistance should the latter be subjected to attack
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from any quarter. On several occasions propoesals were made by the
U.S.A. to fly out a task force to Pakistan. We wanted to know whether
such a force would carry out a contingency plan with us in which our
combined forces would have a definite role to play. The Americans
would not agree to this; all they wanted was to demonstrate to us their
ability to fiv out to Palistan from far-off bases. In this we were not
interested. Since they did not agree to participate in the kind of exercise
we had suggested, we felt that no useful purpose swould be served by
having a U.S. task force come to Pakistan for any exercise. By this time
it was becoming clear to us that, in the event of India attacking us, it
was most unlikely that the U.S.A. would honour its commitment and
come to our assistance.
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I have mentioned earlier that Pakistan was the only Asian country
which joined both SEATO and CENTO. I have a feeling that the
reasons why we joined these Pacts are not always fully understood, even
in Pakistan. The crux of the problem from the very beginning was the
Indian attitude of hostility towards us: we had to look for allies to
secure our position, Then there was the strong desire which has always
existed in Pakistan that we should forge closer relations with our
neighbours in the Middle East and particularly with other Muslim
countries, not only because of the existence of common bonds of faith
but because we have an identity of attitudes and values and we share
the same historical experience and face similar problems.

The Baghdad Pact was sponsored by the United States. Originally
the United States was willing to come into the Pact as a full member.
The strong reaction of President Nasser, however, made her change
her mind and she decided to participate only as an observer. The
American interest in the Pact was well known; they wanted to establish
a counterpoise to communism in the Middle East. It was this fear of
communism that had impelled the Christian world to help the Muslim
world, for the first time in history. The Muslim world eccupied an area
which was vital strategically and cconomically and that was the reason
why the United States and other western countries thought it worth
their while to befriend the Muslims. The Muslim world itsell was at
that time emerging from the domination of western powers. It needed
material assistance and also time and the technical know-how to
develop its human and material resources. There was no reason why we
should not have taken advantage of the opportunity. For us, our own
needs for development were paramount and that was the reason we
joined the Pacts,

There is no doubt that if a larger number of countrices in the Middle
East had come into the Baghdad Pact it would have provided an
excellent opportunity and a unique platform for the Muslim countrics
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to get to know onc another and to co-ordinate their policies and plans.
The Muslims had no forum and the Baghdad Pact offered a promise of
becoming a powerful forum where the Muslim peoples could explore
areas of co-operation.

Xt was a great misfortune that the Arab countries did not take kindly
to the idea, One can understand the reasons why they were suspicious
of the Pact right from the beginning: they had suffered at the hands
of imperialists and the misadventure of Suez by the British and the
French, supported by the Israelis, did not help to soften the Arab
attitude towards the alliance. They were not prepared to trust any
form of association in which the British had any intcrest. I visited Cairo
in November 1960. There was a rally of the Nationat Union. I said
during my address that Pakistan’s representatives may have acted in a
‘clumsy’ manner at the time of the Suez crisis but every sensible man in
Pakistan had been deeply distressed by the invasion and their sympa-
thies were all with Egypt. As Commander-in-Chief of the Pakistan
Army I had approached the government at that time and warned them
about the possibility of Egypt being attacked by Britain in conjunction
with others. My anxiety was that the Egyptian authorities should
be alerted and something done to avert the disaster. While Pakistan
has always supported Arab causes, and the U.N. records are avail-
able to prove this, Pakistanis have reason to feel aggrieved that they
do not always get support from the Muslim world in their own
struggle,

Another reason for Pakistan joining the Baghdad Pact was the
appreciation that the Middle East was a vulnerable area, containing
vast natural resources which could become a source of conflict betwveen
the Soviet Union and the western world. Once such a conflict start‘cd,
it would spread to our borders and seriously endanger our sceurity,
It was natural that we should have been deeply interested in associating
with any arrangement for the defence and security of this area. We also
hoped that through this Pact we would get a certain measurc of pro-
tection against Indian designs in the Middle East. Our neighbours
would get to know our problems and understand more closely the
threat from India to which we were exposed. Through this process we
should be able to get their sympathy and support.

To sum up, our objective in joining the Baghdad Pact was to secure
our position and to contribute to the general consolidation and stability
of the entire region, particularly of the Muslim world. }\’e wanted to
promote peace and stability, but some of the Arab countries felt that we
were there to serve the interests of western powers, Now, I do not deny
that the objectives which the western powers wanted the Baghdad Pact
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to serve were quite different from the objectives we had in mind. But
we never made any secret of our intentions or our interests,

I do not know whether we could have convinced the Arab countrics
of our bong fides if we had tried harder, but it is a matter of great pity
that what could have been a powerful Muslim forum was undermined
by the Arab attitude, however understandable that attitude might
have been. Our objectives in the Pact did not run counter to Arab
objectives and, in fact, this get-together under the auspices of the
Baghdad Pact might have proved much more ¢ffective than the Arab
League. Asit was, wewere misunderstood and even accused of indulging
in divisive activities in the Arab world. It was alleged that we had
enticed Iraq into the western sphere of influence. Now there was
nothing that we could have gained by dividing the Arab world. How
would it help our national interests? It pains us to see the Arab world
divided. The Baghdad Pact was not the cause of this division; had it
been so, the breach would have been repaired after Iraq left the
Baghdad Pact. Qur action was designed not to divide the Arab world
but to bring all Muslims, including the Arabs, together on a common
platform.

Another major loss we suffered in joining the Pact was that we were
deprived of the opportunity to understand the Soviet Union earlier.
The Russians were our ncighbours and, as later events proved, we
would have been able to understand each other better if some contact
had been established between us. Because of the absence of any contact,
many misunderstandings cropped up and the lcaders of the Soviet
Union decided to give full support to India. This more than nullified
whatever economic and military advantages we gained from the Pact.

But it is not all a negative story. A major benefit of the Pact was the
association and friendship which we were able to develop with the
governments and peoples of Iran and of Turkey. It was on the basis of
this association and friendship that we were finally able to evolve the
scheme of Regional Co-operation for Development. People in Iran and
Turkey came to belicve in our sincerity as we learnt to appreciate
theirs.

Another indirect and paradoxical advantage of the Baghdad Pact
was that we came to realize the disadvantages and dangers inherent in
any political or military alliances of a regional character. 1 worked out
the concept of RCD on two assumptions: the first was that, irrespective
of sizc, each member should have an cqual say in any regional alliance.
Any arrangement in which there is 2 dominant partner would run into
difficulties. The sccond assumption was that we should exclude politics
and military affairs as far as possible. I belicve that if an alliance is
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restricted, at least in the initial stages, to collaboration in the economic
and cultural fields and in the field of development, it can establish 2
firm base of understanding on which it may be possible to raisc a lasting
structure.

When I put the RCD idea to His Imperial Majesty the Shahinshah
of Iran and to President Giirsel and Prime Minister Indnt of Turkey,
they received it most graciously. I am not suggesting that they found
the idea so convincing that they agreed to adopt it the moment they
heard of it. Their own circumstances had led them to believe that 2
regional understanding was a necessity. Small countries living in
isolation have no place in the world today; they have got to collaborate
with one another to command respect and to offer a strong and viable
front. We were not unconscious of our internal limitations. Turkey, for
example, is placed in a strategic position. It is an associate of the
European Common Market and has to rely heavily on NATO. Buteven
within our limitations we discovered that there was 2 large enough
area for co-operation, But for the Baghdad Pact we would not have had
the necessary experience of each other which helped us to evolve the
RCD pattern of association.

The other Pact that we joined was the South-Fast Asia Treaty
Organization. I do not quite know the reasons that prompted the
Government of Pakistan to join this Organization: one must really ask
Chaudhry Zafrullah Khan, who was then Foreign Minister. We
soldiers were not consulted; I think we learnt of it in the General Head-
quarters after the Toreign Minister had already signed the Pact. Even
at that time I thought that Pakistan had no reason to join SEATO at
all. Perhaps the main consideration was to oblige the United Statcs,
who had been giving us considerable economic help. Beyond that 1
really did not see any purpose in our being a member. If anyone
thought that membership of this Organization would in any way
strengthen the position of the eastern part of Pakistan, then he was
obviously overlooking the fact that the real danger to East Pakistan
was from India which surrounded it on all sides.

Both the SEATO and CENTO Pacts have Jost much of the value
they had, though they still retain some kind of a formal significance.
Onc of the reasons why these Pacts have lost relevance is that we now
have bilateral arrangements with most countrics, including the United
States; though the value of these arrangements, t00, IS doubtful. The
only real value these Pacts still have is that some of the member countrics
might feel it their duty to express their sympathy for another membef
in times of difficulty; but as far as their military value is concerned,
think they are more an irritant than a help. T doubt if it would do any-
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body very much harm if both these Pacts were done away with. For
the present, no member couniry wants to take the blame for breaking
the arrangement. The United States, for all their dislike of the Pacts,
would not snuff them out because they would not want to give the
impression that they were withdrawing their interest from this area.
Such an impression would create 2 vacuum which other bigger powers
would like to fill.

The Pacts do offer some kind of a fagade and give the United Stares
a measure of political influence. While these considerations might weigh
with the United States, I think there is increasing consciousness of the
fact that these regional arrangements are no longer realistic in present-
day conditions. The change in the American attitude towards the
Soviet Union has certainly reduced CENTO to an anachronism.

I

I have recounted how the years between 1960 and 1964 causced us grave
concern with regard to our relations with the United States. T had the
feeling that the United States was allowing its policies to be determined
by events and that the changes it was introducing were affecting the
confidence of people in the moral content of U.S. policics and pro-
grammes. People in Pakistan were becoming disillusioned; a relation-
ship which had been built up after a great deal of hard work during
the fifties was ceasing to command respect. We could not ignore the
growing military strength of India and we could not rely on the
United States coming to our assistance if India were to embark on
aggression against us. We had no means of preventing the United States
from following a policy that we knew could only weaken its position
in Asia in the long run. The U.S. government’s whole thinking was
dorminated by the fear of China and they were desperately clinging to the
prospect of India providing an answer to what they regarded as the
Chinese threat.

We rcasoned with the United States as I have tried to show in the
previous chapter, but we got no response. We could not even convince
them that so long as relations between India and Pakistan remained
what they were, there could be no stability or peace on the sub-
continent. I think the British were more conscious of the need for
bringing about an agreement between India and Pakistan, but they
had very litde leverage in terms of cconomic and military influcnce. It
was the United States alone that had the requisite influence but it
declined to exercise it. I have a feeling that the armed forces in the
United States were more sympathetic to our point of view, but they were
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not in a position to influence the planners in the State Department.
We remained extremely careful throughout this period of stress and
strain not to do anything which would give unnecessary offence or
provocation to the United States. But we could not afford to ignore our
national interests and we therefore had to take certain steps to normas
lize our relations with our neighbours. It is possible that this peeved the
State Department who could not reconcile themselves to the idea that
Pakistan should be acting in the field of foreign affairs without their
permission. Some among them may have thought that the United
States had given substantial aid to Pakistan and, even though the
circumstances might have changed, Pakistan had no right to protect
herself and ensure her security in whatever mannet she thought fit
and proper.

This is the only way in which I can explain the atterapts that were
made by the United States to put the squeeze on Pakistan. What they
did not realize was that no government in Pakistan worth the name
could have ignored the very real danger posed bY India and allowed
the security of the country 0 rest on flimsy assurances and paper
guarantees. Also, i think the United Gtates did not quite realize the
extent to which the peopie of Pakistan would be prepared to accept
cconomic distress and hardship for the sake of the honour and integrity
of their country. People in developing countrics seck assistance, but on
the basis of mutual respect; they want to have {riends not masters. We
knew of the U.S. relationship with China but the U.S., too, must
recognize our political and geographical compulsions. .

1t was only after our compulsions were anderstood and recognized
by the United States that our relationship was re-cstablished on the
basis of a new anderstanding. In normalizing our relations with the
People’s Republic of China and the Sovict Union we were not going
into the communist orbit with all its concomitants of military alliances.
The process of normalization followed clearly defined limits.

111

The Americans thought that as & result of the conflict between India
and China something important and fundamental had happened in
Asia. The shock of the conflict and the Indian defeat had altered
India’s orientaton. Before this conilict, India had no military policy
except in rclation to Pakistan, but now India had suddenly come to
believe that she had a long-range cnemy in China. The shift in Indian
¢ the United States, 00¢ of major importance. In
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the short run it put America in a position of leverage on the question
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of arms aid to India and all its military build-up. India had been forced
to review her political philosophy in the realm of international affairs.
Events had shown that she must establish closer economic and military
ties with the United States in the interest of her own security. From the
U.S. point of view, India had been awakened from slumber by China.
The United States could not afford to lose this opportunity to bring
about a better balance in Asia.

The Americans interpreted the Chinese move as something preg-
nant with ominous possibilities. They thought that in order to consoli-
date their hold on Tibet, the Chinese were looking towards the
Himalayan kingdoms of Nepal, Bhutan, and Sikkim, as well as towards
the NEFA region,

Also, there were indications that the Soviets and the Chinese had
had profound differences. Evidence of this was provided by the closing
of Sovict consulates in China, the reduction in Soviet economic aid to
the Chinese, and the Soviet demand for payments on schedule. A
dialectical argument of considerable seriousness was also going on
between the Soviet Union and the People’s Republic of China. All
evidence pointed to a deep division in the communist camp. The
Chinese had been expected to produce the atom bomb in 1962, but
this was delayed owing to a variety of factors, including the failure of
the Chinese agricultural programme. From all this the United States
experts inferred that the Chinese were in sore need of victorics and
successes to counter-balance these failurcs. They would, therefore,
want to make something important out of their conflict with India.
The Chinese wanted to establish a good position along the Himalayan
border region. This area was ‘softer’ than the off-shore islands of South-
East Asia. Working on this hypothesis, the American planners came to
the conclusion that the Chinese would attack India again over the
Himalayas and the eastern Assam border, based on Tibet and Burma
respectively.

To me the whole thing looked a military absurdity. Conquest of
cven a portion of India in Ladakh and Assam would only expose the
Chinese to U.S. intervention and nuclear war, putting a tremendous
burden on their transportation, resources, and ceonomy. I could not
believe that the Chinese would embark on such a futile and fruitless
venture. What would they get in return? If 120,000 Chinese soldicrs
sitting in Tibet, with the Himalayan barricrs between them, could
scare India into increasing her armed forees to about 1-2 million and
her military budget by 300 per cent regardless of the fearful privations
to which the people of the country were being exposed, China’s purpose
was fully served. India would crumble under the weight of her own
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problems. It was only a matter of time; all that was required was to
leave her to her fate.

Tt suited the Indians to tell the world that they were beaten because
they were heavily outnumbered. They conjured up visions of the
Chinese descending on them in ‘human waves’. The fact of the matter
is that the Chinese had only six or seven light divisions in Tibet and not
more than a division or two in each sector; and they were not within
supporting distance of each other. The suggestion that the Indian Army
failed to stem the Chinese advance because they were armed with bolt-
action rifles is nonsense: this type of vifle is still very effective. In any
case, even automatic rifles would have made little difference since the
Chinese did not throw themselves o1 the Indian firepower. From the
military point of view, the Indians failed because of poor leadership and
inadequate training. The basic reason for their collapse was that their
military thinking had not advanced with the times and they fought the
war on the 1939 pattern. The Indians lacked skill and experience and
their method of fighting was inferior t0 that of the Chinese. They
occupied defensive positions thickly, thus presenting better targets to
their opponents; and their defended localities were not within support-
ing distance of each other. Also they held narrow fronts and had no
counter-attack clements in their dispositions, and they failed to carry
out reconnaisance on their flanks.

In the event, the Chinese moves came as 2 complete surprise to the
Indians, culminating in the total collapse of their defensive positions.

1V

When the Chinese came into Tibet and the Dalai Lama sought‘rcfugc
in India, relations between India and China began to get su:amcd. 1
thought at the time that McMahon might have drawn a line on 2
map, but unless the line was demarcated on the ground there was
bound to be friction as soon as either side took up the question of
patrolling the border.

A similar situation could arise on our oWl undemarcated borders
in the Sinkiang and Baltistan areas. We had been receiving Tcports
from time to time that Chinese patrois were coming up o §h3m5hﬁl-
There had been no shooting incident, but the Chinese had driven away
some cattle in certain areas. I thought it might be 2 good idea 10
approach the Chinese and suggest t© them that the border be de-
marcated, After all, neither side had anything t0 gain by leaving the
border undefined. I inquired whether any attempt had been made 11t
the past to demarcate this border and I was shown the relevant maps
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and papers. Some atiempts had been made by the Botish, I asked our
experts to mark what from our point of view constituted the actual line
of control on the map, and this was done. We also found that we could
legitimately claim control up to 2 point opposite the Shamshal Pass,
The people of Shamshal village could, according to custom, take their
cattle for grazing in a fertile valley on the other side of the Pass where
the Chinese had established a couple of posts. They also used to get
salt, a rare and valuable commodity, from the soil in that area, I
mentioned this matter at a Cabinet meeting, but the feeling was that
the Chinese were unlikely to respond to any suggestion for the demnarca-
tion of the border. I felt that there would be no harm in preparing a
memorandum and getting in touch with the Chinese authoritics. This
happened towards the end of 1g59.

There was no response from the Chinese government for 2 long
time, Meanwhile, the question of the admission of China to the United
Nations had assumed considerable importance. We had, of course, all
along been of the view that China had a right to be in the United
Nations. I had made Pakistan’s position clear during my visit to the
United States in 1g61. I had publicly stated that it was only fair to
allow the People’s Republic of Ghina to occupy her legitimate position
in the United Nations, And for this I was criticized in the American
Press which felt that as a guest in their country I should not go openly
against the American position on the question.

On my return from the United States in July 1961, the Chinese
Ambassador came to see me. He asked for our support for the
proposition that the Chinese entry into the United Nations should be
decided on the basis of 2 simple majority rather than a two-thirds
majority. ¥ asked him about our suggestion of demarcating the unde-
fined border between China and Pakistan. He said that that was a very
complicated matter. I told him that if border demarcation was a very
complicated matter, China’s admission to the United Nations was even
more complicated. T suggested to him that we should ook at the two
problems on merit regardless of whether they were simple or compli-
cated. We should be prepared to do what was right and sensible. We
were supporting China’s casc for admission to the United Nations not
to please China but because we genuinely felt that China had 2 ight to
be in the United Nations. I expressed surprise that the proposal to
demarcate the border between China and Pakistan had evoked no
response. I think the Chinese Ambassador was impressed by what 1
told him.

Our Foreign Minister, Mr, Manzur Qadir, later took up the matter
with the Chinesc Ambassador and asked him pointedly whether they
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were refusing to discuss the demarcation of the border becausze of the
disputed nature of the Kashmir territory. The Foreign Minister got
the impression that that was the real reason, and that China at that
time did not want to get involved in another argument with India.
We were able to explain to the Chinese government that all we were
asking for was the identification of the line betwween two stated points.
The zrea to the north of the line would constitute Chinese territory; the
status ofthc are2 to the south of the line did not have to be determined.
Chinz swould be responsible for the defence of the area north of the line
and the defence of the arez south of the line would be Pakisian’s
responsibility. Soon after this the Chinese told s that they were pre-
pared 1o discuss the problem of demarcation of the border with wus.
The two sides nominated their teams of experts to ezamine the problem.

It was 2t about this time that Mr. Nehru vizited Pakistan to sign
the Indus Basin Treaty, He asked me whether we had approachcc{ the
Chineze to demarcate the border and I informed him of the positon.
He wanted me to show him the map on which we were basing our
claim and wanted to know exactly the area to which our ciuzm cx-
tended. 1 told him quite frankly that we had no intention of claiming
any arca which we did not honestly believe to be covered by the actual
line of control 25 determined by our experts. We might ask for certain
areas beyond the Hne of control to provide facilitics for the local
populaticn.

Mr. Nehru asked me to let him have a copy of the map and 1
agreed to this in principle. As soon as he went back to India, he
started criticizing us for having approached the Chinese to demareate
the horder. He mentioned the map I had shown him and sa2id that
we did not even know where the border was and that we were acting in
a childish manner. That was Mr. Nehru's style: he quite forgot the
spirit in which we had discuszed the matter and used the whole thing
as a debating point. Simulianeously, he sent an officizl request for the
map. Our people said that, considcnng the attitude he had adopted,
we should decline to give him the map. My rezction was that Mr.
Nehru was responsible for his own conduct and I was responsible for
mine. Since I had promised to give him 2 copy of the map we should
€0 1o, irrespective of what he was saving or doing. And thc map was
sent to him.

Formal discussion with the Chinese started onn after, The Chinese
were very difficelt in the beginning, but once they realized that we
were there mot to outwit them but to ¢eek an honourable solution
their attitude changed, They prcaucca z map on the basis of which
they claimed certain areas on our side of the actual line of controt, the
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valley of Khanjarab and some areas near K-2. Eventually they agrced
to the actual line of contrel as shown on our map and it was adopted
as the demarcation line with certain marginal adjustments. The water-
shed of the Indus Basin rivers was shown on our side and the watershed
of the rivers of Yakang and certain adjoining areas on their side. There
was some argument about K-2 and it was agreed that the line of control
should be put right on top of K-2, thusletting the mountain peak belong
to both sides as had been done for Mount Everest with Nepal. Once we
had agreed on the demarcation line, aerial surveys were undertaken
and the whole matter was settled amicably and without any difficulty.

We raised the question of the grazing ground which covered several
hundred square miles on the other side of the Shamshal Pass. We proved
to the Chinese representative that this arca had been traditionally under
the use of the people of Shamshal and that if they were denied access to
the area it would cause them great hardship. The Chinese said they
would check with the people of Sinkiang but agreed, in principle, that the
matter be resolved on merit. They finally agreed to let us have the area.

This agreement on border demarcation was the first step in the
evolution of relations between Pakistan and China. Its sole purpose was
to climinate a possible cause of conflict in the future. But as a result of
this agreement, the Chinese began to have trust in us and we also felt
that if one was frank and straightforward one could do honest business
with them.

This agreement was followed by the establishment of air communi-
cations between China and Pakistan. Pakistan International Airlines
had purchased Boeings, which are expensive aircraft, We could only
pay for these by earning a fair amount of foreign exchange. It was in
this context that the question of exploring the possibility of opening
foreign routes was taken up. I think that PIA suggested to the Chinese
at their own level that they should be allowed to fly to Japan through
China instead of Hong Kong. I belicve PIA was experiencing some
difficulty in flying through Hong Kong. At that time a number of other
airlines, including KL) and BOAG, too, had approached the Chinese
for flying rights.

The Chinese accepted the PIA proposition, presumably because
they thought it better to establish dealings with a neighbour rather than
with a European power with whom they did not even have diplomatic
relations, Even France did not have diplomatic relations with China at
that time, and with the British relations were only at the Counsellor
level. T believe the Chinese told the British that the question of flying
rights could be discussed only afier an exchange of Ambassadors.

So far as we were concerned, the whole thing was essentially dealt
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with as a commercial transaction. After the transaction had been
concluded, all kinds of political interpretations were put on it. It was
said that Pakistan had opened a window for the Chinese to look into the
rest of the world. Now that was obviously overdrewing the picture.
Surely, if we had not entered into the arrangement, KL)M or BOAG
would have bagged the contract. And there was no lack of windows for
the Chinese through which to catch a glimpse of the world. After this
there was increased travel between China and Pakistan, though even
before, the Chinese Prime Minister had visited Pakistan when Subra-
wardy was Prime Minister, and Suhrawardy had also visited China.

I think that western misgivings about our dealings with China were
due mainly to the fact that we started taking 2 more active part in
Afro-Asizn affairs. Afro-Asian conlerences have always been suspect
in western eves, and it was thought that we were collaborating closely
with the Chinese in building up the Afro-Asian forum,. the “Third
World’. I must say that the Chinese never tried to influence us, nor did
they ever approach us for support on any particular proposal in Afro-
Asian gatherings.

Our interest in the Afro-Asiap world was principally economic and
in the exchange of ideas and experiences. The object was to establish
some pattern whereby the developing world could live and trade with
the developed world., We had been put at 2 great disadvantage as
primary producers and it scemed necessary for us to establish 2 reason-
able cconomic relationship among Afro-Asian countrics to carry on
trade on a mutuzally advantageous basis. Some of us were entering into
the manufacturing stage and we found avenues for exports blocked or
severely restricted in the European and American markets.

These were the kind of things that we intended to talk about in
Afro-Asian conferences and we had made this clear not only 1o the
Chinese but alzo to other members of the conferences. But the western
powers thought the conferences had only one aim and that was to attack
western colonialism and neo-colonialism. Far from joining in a tirade
against the West, we wanted to operate as a steadving factor and a
moderating influence. Indeed, at the first meeting of Foreign Ministers
which took place in Djakacta in 1a6y, in connection with the orgariza-
tion of the Algiers Conference, a resolution was sponsored by scveral
members condemning Amcrican action in Vietnam. It was as a result
of our intervention that the resolution was dropped. Cur argument was
that no good would come of such a resolution and it would only act as
an irritant, We pleaded that the Conference concentrate on constructive
and positdve matters.

It is possible that some of the western countries thought that by
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coming into contact with the People’s Republic of China we would get
converted to communism. I told some of my American friends that
nothing could be more absurd. After all, they had been our close friends
for a long time, but neither had they converted us to Christianity nor
had we converted them to Islam. Communism is not something which
is imported; it springs from the socio-economic conditions within a
country. Wherever conditions deteriorate to an extent that people lose
all hope, they rise to demolish the existing oppressive order. A commu-
nist dignitary once expressed surprise that though Karl Marx was a
German, Germany never tock to communism. I told him that even at
the worst of times, after the two wars, there had been no complete
breakdown of the socio-economic structure in Germany, so there was
no need to resort to desperate measures, In Russia on the other hand,
and later in China, this phenomenon did occur. Society was completely
shattered and the only way it could find its salvation was through
adopting communism. Communism is not an exportable commodity,
it is a panacea for an acutely diseased society. How far it will be
efficacious after the disease has been overcome remains to be seen.
Pakistanis have an ideology of their own—an ideology of hopc—and
it was inconceivable that they should abandon this ideology and accept
some alien philosophy of life. This argument did not impress the
Americans, perhaps because in their life religion does not play the same
decisive role as it does in ours. The Americans think of communism
more as a contagion than as the result of economic distress and social
disintegration.

I think the limits within which Pakistan’s relations with China can
develop are fully understood and respected on both sides. There are
two factors that can influence the development of this relationship.
One is the Chinese feeling that the United States, in collaboration with
the Soviet Union, are trying to draw a ring round China so as to contain
and isolate her. Now, if Pakistan were to join in any such arrangement
either with the Soviet Union or with the United States of America,
then the relationship would collapse. So we have to convince the Chinese
that we are not in the market for any such deal and that, therefore, they
necd have no fear or doubt about us. )

The other factor is the possibility, sometimes talked about, that
India and China may come to an understanding. There is no doubt that
the Indians have been sending emissaries and using the good offices of
third countrics to explore the possibilitics of a rapprockement with China.
Personally, I do not forcsce the restoration of the ‘Bhai Bhai’! situation

1 Meaning ‘Brothers, this was used 2s a popular slogan when India and China
were on {riendly terms.
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between India and China in the near future for several reasons. For
one thing, the Chinese are not going to trust the Indians again in a
hurry. That is the impression I get from my mectings with the Chinese
leaders. And the Indians are not going to come to terms with the
Chinese because they are doing very well with the United States and
they sce no reason why they should lose such a profitable source of
income. With India’s dependence on the United States becoming more
and more pronounced, the Chinese would find it impossible to accept
that India was not aligned with the United States against them or that
in the case of an armed conflict India would hesitate to provide all
facilitics to the Americans for use against the Chinese.

It is sometimes suggested that India and China will always remain
apart because they are competing for the leadership of Asia. T do not
think the Indians arc in the race. India will never offer any real chal-
lenge to China because of the texture of her society and her way of life.
Far from playing a lecading role in the affairs of the world, she will
always be dependent on some major power cven for her survival, The
Indians realize the limitations of their social, economic, and political
structure. What can happen is a breakdown of the structure duce to
growing frustration within the Indian socicty. In that event, the
question will be which mode of communism will dominate India. Will
it be Chincse-oriented or Soviet-oriented ? I think if communism were
to come to India, it would be the Soviet type and it would then have
to adapt itsclf to the rigid caste structure of Indian society. That would
only cstrange relations between India and China still further.

v

The Chinese are deeply engaged in unifying their people and their
territorics. What is worrying them is the future of Taiwan (Formosa).
Connccted with this is the American presence and American bases
around them. It secems unlikely that the Taiwan problem will be
resolved for a long time. There are people in the United States who
think that it would be in the interest of the United States to come to a
settlement with China on Taiwan. But the Americans are heavily in-
volved in military as well as political terms with Chiang Kai-shek, who
commands an army about 600,000 strong. Meanwhile, a war is going
on in Vietnam which ¢an at any time escalate into 2 major confronta-
tion between China and the United States. The Chinese regard thisasa
real possibility and are making preparations to defend themselves.
Although the Chinese arc worried about Taiwan and the possibility
of a gencral war, yet I think they are primarily concentrating on
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developing socialism in their country so as to build their society and
fully utilize their resources. My personal feeling is that while they are
extremely self-confident and determined, they are unlikely to do any-
thing rash which might provoke a war. The long-term objective of the
People’s Republic of China is to secure for themselves an equal status
with the Soviet Union and the United States. That is going to take
time. The world must get used to the idea of continued tension and
conflict between China, the United States, and the Soviet Union.

The understanding between the Soviet Union and the United
States came about when the Soviet Union developed the capability of
hitting the United States directly from their land mass. It was then that
the two countries started thinking in terms of establishing some measure
of coexistence to prevent the possibility of mutual destruction through
some terrible mistake, if not through design. The understanding be-
tween China and the United States and the Soviet Union will also come,
but only after China has developed a similar capability, That might
take another fifteen years or so. In the meantime, any one of these
powers would be happy to see the other two locked in a limited conflict
which would have the effect of weakening them. There is very little that
any of the smaller powers can do in this situation. All these ideas of
dispatching peace missions are unlikely to produce any positive resuits.
Major powers do not change their policies until there is some compul-
sion for them to do so.

It might help to ease some of the tension if the People’s Republic of
China were to be admitted into the United Nations. I think direct
dealings and dialogue between the West and China might help to
remove unnecessary fears and misunderstandings. The United States
has a feeling that once China comes into the United Nations most of
the developing countries of Asia and Africa will line up behind her. My
beliefis that no emerging country would like to be whelly identified with
any of the big powers. They know that identification of this kind would
cost them their freedom of action and might also expose thcm to internal
instability.

Vi

It was not until April 1965 that Pakistan was able to cstablish dircct
contact with the U.5.8.R. For eighteen years we knew little about cach
other at the human level. Inevitably, both sides acted under precon-
ccived notions and suffered from a sense of distance. Liaguat Ali Khan
had accepted an invitation to visit the Soviet Union at one time, but
unfortunately that visit never materialized.
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I mentioned earlier that our membership of the Baghdad Pact
introduced an element of strain in our relations with the U.S.S.R. The
Indians were not averse to exploiting the situation and presented us to
the Soviet Union as some kind of theocratic State opposed to all liberal
movements, In Pakistan, too, there was a certain inhibition about the
U.S.S.R. and a section of the people believed that contact with Russia
would encourage the growth of communism in the country.

But the main cause, to my mind, was that even though our civiliza-
tion and culture had close connections with Central Asia, two hundred
years of British occupation had wiped out these connections. By the time
the British left, the contact had been lost. When we achieved indepen-
dence, our natural tendency was to Jook to the West rather than towards
our immediate neighbours, and the western countries were not too
anxious for us to have any dealings with the Soviet Union. My visit to
the Soviet Union in 1965 was essentially intended to recover the lost
links. The fact of neighbourhood was a physical and geographical one,
and I wanted to re-establish the validity and compulsion of this fact.

I had my first meeting with the present Soviet leaders on 3 April
1965. We had a formal conference in Mr. Kosvgin’s officc on a bitterly
cold and gloomy afternoon. Mr. Kosygin had Mr. Polyansky, Mr.
Gromyko, and some other members of the government with him. The
atmosphere inside the room was no less cold in spite of central heating.
The Soviet delegation looked stolid and sullen. After the usual exchange
of courtesies, I waited for the Soviet Prime Minister to make the first
move. But Mr. Kosygin thought that as guests(in their country it was for
ustomake the opening statement ; that, hesaid, was their custom. ‘A very
convenient custom, Mr. Prime Minister’, I said. “You would not like us
to have inconvenient customs, Mr. President’, Mr. Kosygin rejoined.

I realized that the Soviet reputation for opening gambits in chess
was not ill-founded ! The best thing, I thought, was to go straight to the
point, so I outlined our assessment of the world situation. I desertbed
the relations the Soviet Union had established with India and the
manner in which these relations were affecting us. I touched on Sovict
relations with the United States and China and explained how. we
viewed them in our context. The question was to consider how relations
between Pakistan and the U.S.5.R. could be improved and an area
of understanding established. . .

Mr. Kosygin started speaking, I thought, with considerable caution
and restraint. He mentioned the progress which the Soviet Union had
made in different fields and summed up by suggesting that Soviet policy
was to establish the broadest possible co-operation with the East as u'f:Il
as the West. T intervened to say that, placed in the middle as the Soviet
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TUnion was, she could establish such co-operation with great advantage,
He did not miss the point and said smilingly, “You live in the East but
even vou find it advantageous to co-operate with both sides.”

The ice was beginning to thaw., Alr, Kosvgin sensed it too and caid,
‘We should soon be able to get along without an interpreter.” He
warmed up and started dealing with specific points which I had raised.
He seemed anxious about the situation in Vietnam. It had been
reported at that ime that the United States had used gas in Vietnam.
Mr. Kosygin found it impossible to accept the explanation given by
President Johnson that this had been done by the military commanders
without his approval. ‘Surely the U.S. President has control over his
army!” He accused the United States of having launched unprovoked
aggression in Vietnam, in violation of the Geneva Agreement. His
reading was that the U.S. would get more 2nd more entangled in
Vietnam and would not know how to disengage itself. He mentioned
the assistance which the Soviet Union was giving to North Vietnam,
As he saw it the immediate question was how to end the war, It was for
those who had engineered the war to answer this question: so far as the
Soviet Union was concerned she would stand by North Vietnam.

Mr. Kosygin then said that perhaps the United States was trying to
take advantage of Sino-Soviet differences. But the U.S. should Inow
that these differences would not stand in the way of the Soviet Union
coming to the help of the Viemamese. The differences between the
Soviet Union and the People’s Republic of China were ‘not organic’;
they were a temporary phenomenen and the Vietnam situztion would
not accentuate them, it would only help to resolve them. The Soviet
Union and the People’s Republic of China belonged to ‘2 common
theory’. A great tradition of friendship among the people of the Sovict
Union and the people of China existed and the Soviet people had great
respect and admiration for the Chinese people.

Mr. Kosygin then turned to the Indo-Pakdstan diffcrences. As he was
explaining the rationale of Soviet military aid to India, I said that by 2
peculiar coincidence the policies of the U.S.S.R. and the United States
seemed to have coincided in India. This did not please Mr. Kosygin.
He said with some emotion, “Only some enemy of ours could have told
vou that.” I maintained that we did not have to be told by anybody; we
had come to this conclusion ourselves. Afier all, the security of the sub-
continent was not served by the massive supply of arms to India whether
the arms came from the western countries or from the Soviet Union.
The motives and reasoning might be different but the effect was the
same, and the safety of the smaller countries in the region had been
jeopardized by the arms build-up in India. The U.S. assumption was
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that India needed these arms because she was going to be attacked by
China. That made no military sense to us at all.

I went on to say that the Soviet Union was providing arms for India
because she did not want to leave the field to the United States. All this
was helping India to pursue her aggressive and expansionist policies. I
mentioned how India had recently driven out half a million Muskims
into Pakistan and how she was blatantly violating the cease-fire line in
Kashmir. We were unable to resolve our differences with India because
the increased military strength she had acquired was encouraging her to
perpetuate her forcible occupation of a large part of the State of Jammu
and Kashmir and to flout the United Nations resolutions with im-
punity. Whenever we brought the matter to the world forum, India
had the assurance that she would be bailed out by the Soviet veto,

Mr. Kosygin heard me with great patience and consideration. He
thought that the differences between India and Pakistan were not due
to the arms which were being supplied to India by the West or by the
Soviet Union. The differences were really a legacy of imperialism and
the imperialists were still interested in maintaining tension between
India and Pakistan. He then raised the question of Pakistan’s membet-
ship of SEATQ and CENTO, in which, as Mr. Kosygin put it, ‘the
U.S. rules the roost’. He talked specifically of the U-2 incident which
had generated much mistrust.

The Soviet Union had legitimate cause to complain about the
Pacts; but they had to appreciate our position. India’s avowed policy
was to isolate us and we had to seek ftiends somewhere, We had not
joined the Pacts to encourage aggression in any direction; our sole
concern was our security. In the U-2 incident we were clearly at fault,
but the whole thing had been as much of a shock to us as it was to the
Soviet Union. I then explained that our presence in the Pacts was
serving as a moderating influence and, in any case, the Pacts were not
hurting the U.S.S.R. Mr. Kosygin said, ‘They may not be hurting us,
but they give us no pleasure either.’ He then reverted to Indo-Pakistan
problems and advocated direct negotiations.

I think this first meeting, which lasted for nearly three hours, helped
us to understand each other. There was 2 great deal of plain talk from
both sides and one could see from the worried and tense faces of the
diplomats in the two delegations that the talks had not followed
protocol.

We met next day at a dacka, about twenty-five miles from Moscow.
It was an old country house located in the heart of a pine and birch
forest, by the bank of Moscow river, which was frozen. We had some
recreation shooting at clay pigeons.
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We started our discussions at about 11.30 a.m. and went on till hall
past one. Mr. Brezhnev joined the Soviet delegation for this meeting.
By and large we covered the same ground as in the first meeting but the
atmosphere was distinctly different; already, there was much warmth
and understanding. I reverted to the question of the Indian arms build-
up. If it was inconceivable that China should attack India then what
was she arming herself for? Could she have any objective other than
expansionism ? The Indian theoreticians were claiming boundaries from
the Oxus to Mekong., We could not attribute everything to the im-
perialists. India was not content with her present sphere of influence
and she knew that Pakistan had the will and the capacity to frustrate
her expansionist designs. She wanted te browbeat us into subservience.
All we wanted was to live as equal and honourable neighbours, but to
that Indiawould never agrec. It was Brahmin chauvinism and arrogance
that had forced us to seck a homeland of our own where we could order
our life according to our own thinking and faith. They wanted us to
remain as serfs, which was precisely the condition in which the Muslim
minority in India lived today. There was the fundamental opposition
between the ideologies of India and Pakistan. The whole Indian society
was based on class distinction in which even the shadow of 2 low-caste
man was enough to pollute a member of the high caste.

Mr. Kosygin thought that Indo-Pakistan relations had become
extremely complicated. He explained that the Soviet Union was 2gainst
arming any nation and that it would not like to see a situation of
military confrontation develop in any part of the world, much less in
our own region. He conceded the ideological differences between India
and Pakistan but thought that the answer lay in evolving some mode of
practical coexistence. The Soviet Union supplied arms to various
countries to fight imperialism. I wanted to know which particular
brand of imperialism or colonialism India was fighting against. Mr.
Brezhnev intervencd at this stage to suggest that India was non-aligned
and was not a2 member of any defence pacts. I expressed my surprise to
hear that India was regarded as ‘non-aligned’ in spite of her providing
bases for propaganda, joining in joint exercises, sccking 2 nuclear
umbrella, and receiving massive military aid, If 21l that added up to
non-alignment, what was alignment?

We came back to a discussion of the Pacts, and I restated our
position at some length. T think by then the Sovict leaders had begun
to see our point of view with more sympathy. We discussed various
possibilities of co-operation between the Soviet Union and Pakistan
on a bilateral basis. Mr. Kosvgin observed that we had been able to do
considerable positive work in less than twenty-four hours and that we
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had achieved more in one day than others had done in eighteen years.
‘All we knew about you was’, Mr. Kosygin said, ‘that you were 2
member of certain pacts—even though paper pacts—and we were
doubtful and cautious about you.’

I think there was general recognition on both sides that the meeting
might prove a turning point in our relations and that there were
tremendous possibilities of co-operation. I found the Soviet leaders
extremely knowledgeable. They were courteous, polite, and hospitable
but firm on their basic assumptions. I venture to think that they
recognized our sincerity and came to have a better appreciation of our
position.

During my visit to the Soviet Union I was also able to get a better
understanding of the nature of the Sino-Soviet differences. I was
interested in this problem because it has a direct bearing on our
security. It was in October 1962 that India provoked the conflict with
China and it was at about the same time that the Sino-Soviet differences
came out in the open. Both these events led to a closer association
between India and the western countries on the one side and India and
the Soviet Union on the other. Both the United States and the Soviet
Union started competing with each other in supplying arms to India,
as we have seen: one to prepare her to face China and the other to main-
tain the balance in Asia. The effect was that whatever compulsion there
was for India to come to terms with Pakistan disappeared.

The general nature of the Sino-Soviet differences is well known and
so are the arguments and the accusations used by the two sides. But
they do not fully explain the bitterness which persists, particularly in
the Chinese mind. The Chinese have a feeling that they were treated
unfairly. It is possible that there is a belief in China—how justificd it
is T do not know—that the Soviet Union would not like to see China
cmergeasa major power, The Chinese also think that the Soviet attempt
to establish coexistence with the United States contains an element of
hostility towards China. In other words, though the arguments are
mostly exchanged on an ideological plane and are couched in philo-
sophical jargon, the reasons for mistrust are basically nationalistic.
China’s major objective is to attain 2 position of cquality with the
United States and the U.8.8.R., and they fear that coexistence between
the Soviet Union and the West would delay the achievement of that
objective, .

The leaders of the Soviet Union argue that with the development of
auclear power, the dangers of conflict between the communist world and
the capitalist world have assumed dangerous proportions. Should such
2 conflict occur, not only would the two sides, but the whole world,
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be annihilated. They feel that it is vital for the two sides to prevent the
tragic possibilities of a nuclear war.

The Soviet Union is entering what one might call a state of satis-
faction, economiczlly and socially. It is progressing rapidly and the
standard of living of the people is improving. The Russians have found
vast resources which will take decades to develop fully, Quite naturally,
they do not want to risk what they bave achieved and to deay their
people 2 future of happiness by provoking 2 war. One might find all
this difficult to reconcile with Khrushchev’s decision to place rockets
and nuclear warheads in Cuba. That was the time when the two major
world powers looked over the precipice of world disaster and, properly
chastened, pulled back just in time. I think it was a terrible mistake,
unlikely to be repeated. To my mind it marked the real end of the
decades-old cold war when the prospects of confrontation ended and
coexistence as a hard fact of life in the nuclear age was forced upon the
United States and the U.S.S.R.

I think Sino-Soviet differences will continue even though, as Mr.
Kosygin said, they are not of an organic character. But if cither the
Soviet Union or the People’s Republic of China is exposed to attack
by a third country, the differences will disappear and the two communist
powers will offer united resistance. Whatever may be the views of the
leaders in the two countries, the people of one country will not sit back
and watch the people of the other country fighting a major war 2ll on
their own.

VIl

Our relations with Afghanistan have not followed the friendly and
fraternal lines which should have been expected of two neighbouring
Muslim States. When India and Pakistan came into existence as two
independent sovereign states there were two misconceptions in the minds
of many Afghans. The first, arising from constant Indian propaganda,
was that Pakistan could not survive as a separate State. The Afghan
rulers believed this to be true and decided to stake a claim to our
territory before Pakistan disintegrated. They consequenty laid claim
to part of our northern areas where the Pathans or Pushtoons live. In
this way the idea of an artificial State of ‘Pakhtoonistan’ inside our
borders was made an issue by the Afghan rulers. Now clearly this was
unacceptable to us for no sovercign State can allow another country
to interfere in its internal affairs.

In this claim the Afghans were backed by India whose interest lay
in ensuring that in the cvent of a war with us over Kashmir, the
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Afghans should open a second front against Pakistan on the North-
West Frontier. They also reasoned that if they had this understanding
with Afghanistan, we would not be able to use the Pathan tribesmen
against them. The Indians thought that they would thus be able to
hem us in and embarrass us by a pincer movement.

The second misconception lay in the attitude of the Afghan rulers
themselves. If their first premise proved wrong and Pakistan did survive,
they realized that it would have a democratic government. This would
naturally undermine the position of the rulers in Afghanistan, So they
made these claims to our lands and also carried out raids over the
Durand Line which divides the two countries; and they hired agents
and dissident tribesmen to create incidents in these areas. All this
helped them to divert the attention of their people from internal
difficulties,

We have throughout followed a policy of patience with Afghani-
stan. We have given them all possible facilities for the passage of goods
on our railways and we have not established exchange control on our
trade with them. We have done all this because we have the friendliest
feelings towards the people of Afghanistan. They have a land-locked
country with no outlet to the sea and we have given them commercial
and other facilities at a considerable cost to ourselves.

On several occasions we have discussed our mutual problems at
different levels. Qur experience has been that the Afghan claims be-
come stronger and more strident when there is a weak government in
Pakistan. When Pakistan has a strong and stable government Afghani-
stan’s claims become vague and less insistent, Of course, the Afghans
have taken good care never to define their stand on ‘Pakhtoonistan’.
In the past they produced maps showing areas right down to the Indus,
in fact right down to Karachi, as part of “Pakhtoonistan’. But whenever
we have seriously asked them to let us know what worries them they
have explained that they have no territorial claims; all they are inter-
ested in is the welfare of the people of ‘Pakhtoonistan’ and that they
should have an opportunity to express their will. When we remind them
that the Pahktoons have already expressed their will in a free and fair
referendum held at the time of Partition, and that every major
tribc was then consulted, they have no answer but they remain
dissatisfied.

I had a long meeting with Prince Naim in January 1959. I ex-
plained to him that Pakistan had come into existence as a result of the
struggle of the Muslims of the sub-continent to free themselves from
British and Hindu domination. British India had been divided on the
basis of religious majority areas and not on a racial basis. On achicving



196 FRIEXDS NOT MASTERS

independence, we naturally iooked to the Muslim world, especially
the Muslim countries in the Middle East, for understanding, friendship,
and support. We were disappointed that Afghanistan adopted an
attitude of open hostlity from the very day of our independence.

Ironically enough, Afghanistan was the only country that opposed
our admission to the United Nations. Since then we had been subjected
to a campaign of vilification and slander in the Afghan press and radio.
On one occasion our Embassy in Kabul was sacked by a mob and our
people hounded out of Afghanistan. It wasdifficult for us to comprehend
the Afghan attitude. They had defined ‘Pakhtoonistan’ in a variety of
ways—as a separate independent State, as an autonomous arca, as a
unit within Pakistan to be called ‘Pakhtoonistan’, and sometimes only
as a demand for a reference to be made to the Pathans to indicate
whether they were happy with Pakistan. I told Prince Naim that we
could well understand why the proposal they had in rnind was being
kept deliberately obscure. The Afghan rulers obviously wanted to
create a right of interference in the internal affairs of Pakistan before
starting on other ventures, What was not realized was that this kind of
talk was patently unwarranted and amounted to aggression across an
international frontier, the Durand Line, which had been, time and
again, solemnly confirmed by the Afghan authorities. The original
agreement arrived at in 1893 was confirmed in 1903, reaffirmed in the
Anglo-Afghan Treaty in 1g19, and finally endorsed when the present
ruling family in Afghanistan came to power.

The Afghan attitude could only be interpreted asanindirect atiempt
at expansionism. The preposterous claims which the Afghan rulers
were making could only Jead to trouble. All this concern for the
Pathans in Pakistan was based on the claim that at one time in history
Afghanistan held sway over some parts of what is now West Pakistan.
But there were also times, of much longer duradon, when Delhi’s
sovereignty extended up to Kabul and beyond. If old conquests were
to be our guide then Pakistan should have more interest in the fature of
Pathans living in Afghanistan. The world had moved away from old
historical positions and life in modern times was not governed by
legends of past glories. Pakistan’s patience should not be taken for
weakness or Jack of resolution. I appealed to Prince Naim to abandon
the policy of hostility toward Pakistan. ‘It would be to our mutual
advantage to live as fricndly neighbours’, T told him.

I think we will have to live with this situztion. In the meantime, we
must continuc to be patient and tolerant; it takes time to create good-
will and understanding and it never pays to act in a hurry in such
matters. The King of Afghanistan in recent years has accorded 2 certain
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measure of participation in the running of the country to people out-
side the royal circle. If, as I belicve, this process of giving more re-
sponsibility to ordinary citizens continucs, the artificial differences
between Afghanistan and Pakistan will disappear and the Afghans will
rcalize the obvious benefits of co-operation with us. Like other countrics,
Afghanistan too will have to go through a formative period while they
are conducting their first experiments with democracy. People there,
as elsewhere, have to understand the spirit of working a democratic
system. As the common man begins to have more say in the running of
the country, I think there will be greater recognition of present realities
and less nostalgia for past glories.

I have great admiration for the ruling family and for the King
personally, who is 2 man of wisdom and has shown willingness to share
potwer with the people. We share the same faith with our brethren in
Afghanistan and this alone should prove decisive in eliminating present
difficultics and providing a basis for good neighbourly relations. In this
lies the prosperity of the tribes who live on either side of the Durand
Line. The tribes on the Pakistan side have been given opportunities to
develop their area and considerable progress has been made towards
improvement in agriculture and the setting up of small industrics. Our
attitude in this matter has been to let the tribesmen decide for them-
selves what particular development scheme they would like to adopt. All
this has helped to integrate the people of this arca with thc. rest of the
country. They have an cqual share in the country’s prosperity and are
fully identified with the destiny of Pakistan.

VI

T have referred to the basic power-groups round the world——t!m West
led by the U.S.A., the Communist Bloc under the dual leadership of the
1).5.5.R. and China, and the presence of Hindu India on our bord'crs,
a continent by itsclf. But beyond this lics another world of teeming,
though not so articulate, millions, comprising scores of newiy-indepen-
dent countrics in Africa, the Middle East, and Asia.

Before the Sccond World War, onc heard of the S.ocia_list Sixth of tI_:c
World, meaning Russia. With the cmergence of Chm:} it was borne in
upon the world consciousness that every f?urlh man in thc- world was
Chinese. Yet the balance of power was still in favour of the U.8.A., with
its nuclear armoury, till it was challenged by the Sovict technologieal
and scientific break-through.

Simultancously, there was an mmkt.:ning fn the new nations from
Casablanca to Djakarta, from Cairo to Nairobi and beyond. The Third
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World of Asiz and Africa was responding to the shouts of ‘Uhury’,
‘Allah-0-Akbar’, and “Merdeka’. What is this Third World, peopled by
over seven hundred millions of black and brown races and nations-in-
the-making? In this world of have-nots there are no really dominant
members to overawe the rest. Numerically the most populous is Pakistan
with 110 million people, but it is closely followed by Indonesia with
107 million, Thailand with 28 million, Turkey, the United Arab
Republic, and the Philippines with 27 million each.

‘What is this Third World? It is not a geographic concept, nor a
social reality, It is not even a political idea capable of definition or of
being translated into 2 formal arrangement. It is essentially a reflection
of the collective consciousness of the people of a large number of
countries in different sub-continents at various stages of independence
and development. It is a claim staked by the developing world for
recognition; it is an urge for acceptance.

Until a decade ago, the world belonged to the twolargest industrially
developed nations, namely, the U.S.A. and the U.S.S.R., and the only
problem seemed to be for these powers to come to an understanding
regarding their respective spheres of influence and control. The world
at that time really meant the American World and the Soviet World.
But these two worlds suffered from serious internal contradictions and
were Jocked in a prolonged cold war for world domination, Meanwhile,
downtrodden and subject peoples in different parts of the world were
waging a powerful struggle for emancipation, and the internal strife
between the two major powers helped them to establish their claim to
freedom. One by one they burst forth from centuries of darkness to
reach for the sun.

These countries emerged with a vision of the Third World. \What
gave them some kind of homogeneity was their common experience:
they had all been exploited and oppressed. The pain and the misery of
exploitation was common to them and so were the hopes and aspirations
for a happier and more dignified life, because they all felt that they
should have a legitimate share in the good things of lifc. But the new
vision was disturbed and scarred. The problems they had inherited were
not all resolved with the running up of flags of independence. In fact,
the problems were just unfurling themselves and their solution required
more than the fluttering of the spirit. They discovered that their
erstwhile masters had left them in a state of isolation, that all traditional
ties of cultural contact and cormmunication had snapped. All the old
tradc routes and channels of exchange of knowledge had disappeared.

The Asian countrics were just recovering from the horrors of the
Second World War and there was enough bitterness among them to
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keep them involved in their internal conflicts for centurics. The African
countrics were in an even more dismal state, The European powers
had put the map of Africa on 2 table and divided it up into a number
of countrics by drawing straight lincs across the map and deciding
which country should be governed by which European power. It
was like dividing up the spoils of conquest. All they were concerned
with was to draw straight lines so that the boundary pillars between
different countries would be connected by the shortest possible distance.,
They were not concerned whether these lines cut across traditions,
affinitics, cultures, or cthnic and linguistic unities. And the people of
Africa had no say in this callous exercise in geometry; they all became
victims of straight lines. When these countries gained independence,
many of them found that they had neither an administrative structure
nor a body of civil servants. Most of them did not have a trained or dis-
ciplined army. There was no real education and little had been done to
prepare them for the responsibilities which they would be called upon
to discharge as citizens of an independent country.

In the Aliddle East a number of small countries hiad been carved
out by the western poiwers to suit their own interests after the break-up
of the Ottoman Empire. These countries had developed strong national
interests, often in mutual conflict, Different patterns of administration
had been imposed on different countries. The object of the major powers
was to ensure that this area should remain soft and that no country
should be strong enough to challenge their interests. They had taken
care to create so many inner conflicts that there would be little prospect
of these countries forming any association to build up a strong bargain-
ing position.

When the Arab League was established there was hope that some
kind of unity might be forged by the Arab nations. This hope remained
unfulfilled. Similarly, the emergence of President Nasser and his régime
led one to expect that he might be able to bring all the Arab countries
on to onc platform. Even if they did not join the other non-Arab
Muslim countrics, unity among the Arabs themselves would have beena
great blessing for them and a source of strength to the region as a whole.
Unfortunately, differences between the Middle Eastern countrieswere so
decp-scated that they could not be brushed aside. The situation was fur-
ther complicated by the fact that certain attempts were made, hoxs:cvcr
indirect and disguised, to interferc in each other’s internal affairs.

Apart from these problems of physical barriers, absence of contacts,
and national conflicts, the Third World had the problem of discovering
and cvolving its own philosophy and fashioning its own instruments to
deal with its problems, Whatever intellectual heritage had been be-

FaL—1%
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queathed them by the colonial powers had no relevance to their cultural
needs. They were all set in pursuit of alien ideas and alien objectives.
Not that the knowledge they had acquired under foreign rule was futile;
far from it. In most cases this knowledge had helped them in their
struggle for freedom, but it was the methods and disciplines of that
knowledge which were often unsuited to their conditions. These methods
and disciplines had been evolved to deal with specific problems which
had little in common with the problems and conditions prevailing
in the newly-emerging countries.

The major powers left behind them such a heavy atmosphere of
intellectual dominance and superiority that any attempt by the people
of the newly-emerging countries either to identify their problems accord-
ing to their own lights or to deal with them according to their own
methods was generally regarded by the intclligentsia as something
retrograde and reactionary. The only civilized system of government
was the system of the West; any deviation from that system
was suspect, The democratic sttucture which had been raised in the
West was regarded as the only system capable of sustaining independ-
ence and growth. Democracy had taken the place of religion in the life
of people in the western countries and they were guarding their pattern
of democracy as fanatically as religious zealots nurse and protect their
rituals and forms. They were more concerned with the form of demo-
cracy than the substance and principles, the assumption being that the
principles could find expression only in one particular form—their own.

All these problems and limitations have obstructed the growth of
the Third World, and, I am afraid, that growth may remain a dream,
or at best a grand strategic aim, for 2 long time to come.

The most precise expression which the Third World was given was
in the Afro-Astan movement. We in Pakistan identified ourselves com-
pletely with the Afro-Asian movement and, I think, made a definite
contribution in preparing for the Second Afro-Asian Conference. Un-
fortunately, the Conference counld not be held for reasons over which
those entrusted with preparatory work had no control. It was a great
disappointment and I felt at the time that a drcam had been shattered,
and that it would take a long time before the picces could be put to-
gether again.

One of the reasons for the failure of the Conference was—and to my
mind this might bave been decisive—that too much potlitics, with all the
incvitable controversies and tensions, had crept into the movement, The
rcal problem before the developing countries was to work out a system
of dealing with the major powers. Instead they spent all their encrgy
in dealing with their own internal differences and disputes,
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It taught us some wefid [sssons, Any get-together of the smaller natians
i3 the Afo-Asizn world will be resisted mot oaly by the big powers but

even Ly those who Ezve big-power Musisns, Take the case of India:
she czame out of ke Firmt Afro-A<ian Coxference in rg33, whick she had
kaiped to organize, dislliusioned and dizappsointed becauze Mr. Nehru
kad pot been able to estzblish himself a5 the leader of Asta, Ten vears
lzter, s2e approached the Second Afro-Asizn Conference with 2 great
c=al of hostility becauss other natisns of the area would not zceep: her

Ieadersiiy and were rather suspicious of her intentons. India started
sibverdoz Afro-Asien solidarity, and wrmed the proposed Cozference
2 of Sinn-Soiet tussle,
In 19335 Nehiru hzd successfully blacked Russia’s entrv into the
First Cozference by saying that the Sovist Unioa could not be invited
f Europe. Now Iadiz, ten vears later, turned
complste somerzault &y arguing that Sovist parddpation in the
Second Conference would be 2 saurce of grezat swrength to the Afro-
Asizn world. This pont of visw was put forward to divide the Afro-Asian
courtries 50 that they could ot take 2 unified stand against encroach-
rent: from zdvenced countries. Indiz alio tried to impese on the
Cozference her own definitdon of seldetermination by amertnz that
selfidetermination was the right of aoy couatry that was dominated
by angther to Eberate ielf; but that there could be no self-determin-
aidan for diffevent aress and regions withia a sovercign and independent
couztry, f5r thiz would Isad to fagmentation and disrupton and no

counmy's integrity would be safe, Obviousty, this would preciude alf
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pomtess of Indonesiz and the supporttess of Maleysia by demanding
t Malzvslz be =vited o attend the Conference.
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of countries like this would be a very powerful combination and would
have an effective voice in the world. Today, the small nations of the
world are taken for granted. If we were to speak with one voice, the
world would sit up and take notice. What, for example, is the origin of
the Turks, Iranians, Afghans, and many Pakistanis? We all have the
same origin, the steppes of Central Asia. How is it then that we have
forgotten our common ancestry to an extent that we do not even realize
that our safety lies in being able to put up a united front against the
ouiside world of major powers and hostile ‘isms’?

This particular constellation of ours, if we could bring it into being—
and the seeds are there in RCD—would be a shining example for others,
particularly the Arab constellation, of which the centre would be the
United Arab Republic. In this, I believe, President Nasser could play a
key role. I think he is the most important man in the region today and [
fervently hope and pray that he will help history to move in the right
direction. So long as countries of this area, which have so much affinity
and commeon points in the past and the present, do not develop depth
and bulk they will remain vulnerable and the entire zone will continue
to be a cockpit of international intrigues and strife.

The concept of one monolithic universe of under-developed countrics
would not be a very practical one in the present context. But once the
basic idea is accepted, any number of combinations can be tried to
reinforce the main aim of increasing unity with a common platform to
face the world outside. For example, there is great scope for fruitful
regional collaboration, say, between three or four countries in the
Maghreb, like Libya, Tunista, Morocco, and Algeria. For one thing,
they share a common faith and a similar past. They would be a viable
group with about go million people spread over two million square
miles of territory. It seems to me that it would be a very sound thing if
these countries were to get together and have some common arrange-
ments whercby they could collaborate with one another. Similarly, I
think that the destinies of Egypt and the Sudan lie together because
both depend on the same source of water and communication, and they
are in fact contiguous. By the same token, the wholc of the Arabian
peninsula, also, has 2 common destiny,

I personally favour such regional associations and then inter-
regional groupings so as to be able to get a better deal through collective
bargaining. Otherwise we shall be dealt with individually by the big
powers, and suffer immeasurably in the process; we would always
remain an arca of weakness. For whoever finds an opportunity to
swallow this part of the world, will not hesitate to do so; in our present
state, we shall not have the strength to step them. The only deterrent
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at the moment is the rivalry among the big powers. We will remain
‘sub-nations’ if we do not join together to offer united resistance to
power pressurcs.

The countries in this region from Casablanca to Djakarta are also
suspect in the cyes of the major powers because most of them profess
the faith of Islam. Whatever may be the internal differences among these
countrics about Islam, and regardless of the approach to Islam which
cach one of these countries has adopted, it is 2 fact of life that the
Communist world, the Christian world, and Hindu India treat them as
Muslim countries.

India particularly has a deep pathological hatred for Muslims and
her hostility to Pakistan stems from her refusal to see 2 Muslim power
developing next door, By the same token, India will never tolerate 2
Muslim grouping ncar or far from her borders.

The big-power rivalries, the diffusion of the focus of world power
by the emergence of China, and the ead of the U.S.-U.5.5.R. tussle for
world supremacy, all are hard realities, but they need not be a source of
weakness for small nations acting in concert. With a little far-
sightedness it should be possible to create such consteliations of power,
interlinked with one another, sustaining the whole universe of developing
nations and capable of withstanding the ravages of alien meteorites.

IX

Ever since the Soviet Union and the United States have come closer to
accepting the gospel of coexdstence, the need for their wooing of smaller
countrics for support has receded. Aid was used as an instrument of the
cold war, but in view of the new situation, it may become more and
morc difficult for the smaller countries to get large-scale assistance, In
fact, I doubt very much whether it will remain “atd’ at all; it will pro-
bably assume the form of purely commercial transactions. The in-
dustrialized countries have discovered that territorial imperialism is no
longer fashionable nor easy to maintain, They have tremendous accurnu-
lated economic power which they find it more advantageous to use.
Now, the developing countries need economic support for their
growth. They have also to pay for capital goods which they must import
to process their raw materials. They can only pay back what they receive
in the form of assistance and loans if they earn enough forcign exchange
by selling processed goods in forcign markets. They have limited access
to these markets because the developed countries prefer to buy only
raw materials from them and have their own ammangements for manu-
facture. Prices of mw materials being subject to wide seasonalvariations,
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the terms of trade have always tended to operate against the developing
countries. Then there are a variety of quantitative restrictions and tariff
barriers which they have to cross before their goods find entry into
western markets. So long as the developing countries are not able to
buy and sell commodities and goods under free market conditions, the
terms of trade will continue to move against them,

All this has put us, in Pakistan as in other countries, at a great
disadvantage. Our need to earn foreign exchange arises both from the
necessity of satisfying our commercial and industrial needs through
imports and from the necesstty of paying back the debts which we, like
most under-developed countries, have had to incur. Some of these
debts are very heavy, carrying interest as high as 6 per cent. I visualize
that a time may come when developing countries may have to ask for a
complete moratorium on repayment of their loans. If the developed
countries are not prepared to trade with us, and are not prepared to
buy our finished goods, what are we to do? How are we going to repay
and service our existing debts, let alone meet our own requircments of
foreign goods? A great clash of interests is bound to take placc on a
world-wide scale and I think the capitalist countries of the West may
eventually find themselves isolated if they do not open their markets
to us and bring about such structural changes in their industry as would
leave room for small countries to manufacture and sell semi-processed
and less sophisticated goods.

A recent U.N, survey indicates that if developed countries were to
purchase 10 billion dollars’ worth of manufactures by 1980 from under-
developed countries, this would substantially benefit the latter, although
the transaction would represent just one per cent of the additional
demand for manufactures in the world, But will they? It doesn’t look
like it. All America, for instance, expects and allows Pakistan to export
to her is 25 million yards of cloth a year-—a ridiculously small quantity.
Cloth is one of Pakistan’s major export hopes, but this principle also
applies to other goods.

Then Britain, which some years ago had no balance of payments
problem, imposed an import quota on cotton cloth and yarn from
Pakistan. When T took up the question in 1962 with Mr. Duncan
Sandys, Commonwealth Relations Sccretary, his reply was that the
textile industry in Manchester had been very badly hit and that the
government had to consider the Manchester votes. When I raised the
same question with Prime Minister Macmillan, his reply was, ‘This
voting business is something that we cannot ignore.’

So much for the cthics and goodwill of the developed nations. When
we ask why they don’t leave the ficld of simple manufactures to us and
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embark on more sophisticated production, they say, ‘It is casier said
than done. Who will buy these things from us?® This is onc reason for
their reluctance to free trade, this fear of losing the markets in the
casier, profitable goods; the other is that sophisticated manufactures
require higher capital investment. The industrialized countries no
doubt have their problems, too, but they have exploited these areas for
centuries and they should now be prepared at least to do legitimate
trade with them. At the first hint of new entrants, they hurriedly put up
protective walls of quotas, preferences, and tariffs.

I am afraid the developing nations, particularly those that arc
switching to light manufactures, will have to do some quick thinking
and take urgent collective measures. Salvation in the economic, as in
the political, field appears to lie in linking-up, and fast. Countrics that
produce similar goods should get together. Take tea, for cxample, or
Jjute or rice or any of the major commodities: if countries producing
them were to have an arrangement whereby the world had to trade
with a common organization, the producing countries could get better
terms. And if a rational arrangement were to be devised, then the
profits could be shared according to the volume of production in cach
country. We, the producers, might well be left with large stocks. What
if we are? Let those stocks remain and let no one country profit at the
expense of another or undercut another. And why must our trade be
tied to Europe or America? Wherever we can, we ought to trade with
cach other and make common arrangements for trading in commodities
that we are producing. I am well aware of the argument that inter-
regional trade in Africa was between one and five per cent of these
countries’ total trade because the African economies produced similar
and competitive rather than complementary goods and commeoditics.
The answer is for us all, now and in the long term, to act in conjunction
and considcer the possibility of changing and co-ordinating our respective
patterns of production. This is one very important reason why I so
strongly supported the Sccond Conference of the Afro-Asian countries.

From whatever angle onc looks at it, the salvation of the Third
World depends on the formation of homogencous groups to protect
common interests and to work for the solution of common problems.



11
The Constitution and Ideology

I

To follow my approach to the constitutional problems of Pakistan it is
necessary to go back a little in time. I was staying on 4 October 1954 at
a hotel in London where I had broken my journey for a couple of days
on my way to the United States. It was a warmish night and I could not
sleep, but it was not the weather alone that kept me awake. The news
from home was disturbing, the portents ominous. I was feeling uncasy
because I had heard that Governor-General Ghulam Mohammad
might do something reckless. He and Prime Minister Mohammad Ali
Bogra were feuding with each other. I had a premonition that Ghulam
Mohammad might draw me into politics which I wanted, above all
things, to avoid.

I was pacing up and down the room when I said to myself: ‘Let me
put down my ideas in a military fashion: what is wrong with the
country and what can be done to put things right.” I approached the
question much in the manner of drawing up a military appreciation:
what is the problem, what are the factors involved, and what is the
solution, if there is a solution? So I sat down at the desk in my room
and started writing. In the beginning my mind was confused but seon
everything stood out clearly. In a few hours I had produced a document
which contained my thinking and set out my approach to the proble: -
facing the country. I came to the conclusion that the affairs of thic
country, though in a desperatc statc, were not beyond redemption.
This is how the document read:

A short appreciation of present and filure problems of Palistan

THE AIM

1. The ultimate aim of Pakistan must be to become a sound, solid and
cohesive nation to be able to play its destined role in world history. This can
be achieved only if as 2 start a constitution is evolved that will suit the genius
of the people and be based on the circumstances confronting them, so that
they are st on the path of unity, team work and creative progress.
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2. Before such a constitution can be devised, it is obvious that certain pre-
liminary steps will have to be taken that will provide the sctting for un-
hindered evolution of such a constitution. Taking of such preliminary steps
therefore becomes the nuMEDIATE aim of Pakistan.

FACTORS

General

3

(a)

(6)

()

The people of Pakistan consist of a varicty of races each with its own
historical background and culture. East Bengalis, who constitute
the bulk of the population, probably belong to the very original
Indian races. It would be no exaggeration to say that up to the
creation of Pakistan, they had not known any real freedom or
sovereignty, They have been in turn ruled either by the caste
Hindus, Moghuls, Pathans, or the British. In addition, they have
been and still are under considerable Hindu cultural and linguistic
influence. As such they have all the inhibitions of down-trodden
races and have not yet found it possible to adjust psychologically to
the requirements of the new-born freedom. Their popular complexes,
exclusiveness, suspicion and a sort of defensive aggressivencss pro-
bably emerge from this historical background. Prudence, therefore,
demands that these factors should be recognized and catered for
and they be helped so as to feel equal partners :zznd prove an assel.
That can be done ouly if they are given a considerable measure of
partnership. .

The population in West Pakistan, on the other hand, is prc.;bably
the greatest mixture of races found an}:whcrc in the \\:orlc! . Lying on

the gateways to the Indian sub-contincnt, it was inevitable that
cach successive conquering race should have lefi its traces here.

Consequently, this forced mixture of races hns. bro:.xg-ht abo'ut fusion

of ideas, outlook and culture, despite the linguistic varjety that

obtained. Strategically and economically, 100, this arca is destined to
stand or fall as a whole, Lying as it does in the basin of the Indus

river and jts tributarics, its future cconorr'xic development must be

considered as a whole to achicvc' the maximum results, All this in-

dicates, therefore, that West Pakistan, in or-dcr to develop properly

and prove a bulwark of dcf'cnc.c f.rom 1!:(3 ;\?r:h or Soglh, must be
welded into one unit and all artificial provincial boundaries removed,

regardless of any prejudices to the contrary, which are more the

creation of politicians than real. When doing this, howm'ct:, regard

must be had for the prejudices and fears of people and their future

Lalanced development. This unit s.hould, therefore, be s0 subdivided

that each sub-unit embraces a racial group or groups with common

cconomy, communications apd potcniiality i'or.dm'clopmf:nt, and

administration decentralized in them to the maximum possible.

The creation of one unit i.n West Pakistan, however, is possible only

if the biggest constituent is prepared to show large-heartedness and

make & sacrifice for the common good. Punjab is the biggest and the



188 FRIENDS NOT MASTERS

most important province in West Pakistan with more than half its
population. If she insisted on proportionate representation the others
would at once shy off. Besides, no coalition can work with one
dominant partner. Therefore, for its preservation and the glory of
Pakistan, Punjab should be asked to accept 40 per cent representa-
tion in the legislature of this unit; others having representation in
proportion to their population, But before such a unit can be
brought info being, the existing provincial and state legislatures and
cabinets will have to be done away with so as not to interfere with
and impede reorganization,

Deductions from the above

(1} Call East Bengal one unit and give it as much partnership as
possible.

{2) Reorganize West Pakistan into one unit and give it similar pariner-
ship as above.

(3) Abolish present provincial ministries and legislatures to speed up
reorganization,

{4) Subdivide each unit into convenient sub-units, each embracing 2
racial group or groups with common economy, communications and
prospective development. Administration to be decentralized in
these sub-units as much as possible,

{(5) In order to remove any fear of domination, Punjab to be asked to
accept 40 per cent representation in West Pakistan unit legislature.

(6) Both East and West units to have their own legislatures,

4. Given the above, the fear of any one unit dividing and dominating others
would disappear; harmonious and unfettered development in cach unit
would be possible; fear of provincialism will be reduced to the minimum;
saving in manpower in climinating so many top-heavy provincial admin-
istrations would be cffected; expense of administration would be reduced to
the minimum, and the danger of politicians interfering with the local ad-
ministrators curtailed. In other words, very valuable gains would have been
made by such a reorganization.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE STRUCTURE OF EACH PROVINCIAL UNIT

5. Having created two provincial units in Pakistan, the next question is to
determine the structure of administration in cach unit. Before answering
such a question, it would be appropriate to reiterate the fact that our eventual
aim must be to develop democracy in Pakistan, but of a type that suits. the
genius of the people. Our people are mostly uneducated and our politicians
not so scrupulous. The people are capable of deing great things, but they can
also be casily misled. Unlettered democracy can, therefore, prove dangerous,
especially nowadays when Communism from within and without is so quick
to make use of its weaknesses. We, therefore, have to have a controlled form
of democracy with checks and counter-checks, This indicates that Icgislatu'rc
finds the cabinet, whose actions arc controllable by a Governor, who, in
turn, is controlled by the Head of State (President) ; in certain circumstances,
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Governor having the power to remove Ministers or Ministries. He should
also be in a position to protect the rights of the services and have them
carry out their obligations.

6. Connected with the elections of legislatures is the question of franchise.
It Is too late now to resile from universal suffrage however great its short-
comings may be. The answer would be to provide checks here too so as to
prevent its becoming irresponsible. YWe must not forget that democracy is a
means to an end and not an end by itself and that there is no set patteen of
democracy that can be applied to cvery country without modifications. It
would be advisable, therefore, to enable people to elect a college of people
in cach sub-unit, who, in turn, elect members for the provincial and central
legislatures. Such an election system would be more easily manageable and
would make for a good deal of responsibility.

7. As to the size and type of provincial and central legislatures, opinions
may differ, but the need for strict economy in men and money would in-
dicate that one legislature for each province of about 150 members each
would do. Similarly, the ceatral legislature, of which mention will be made
later, shounld not be of a strength more than that.

8. Whilst talking about administration, there is the problem of our legal
system, which is most expensive, ineffective, dilatory, tyrannical and totally
unsuited to our genius. This would need complete overhaul and made
humane, quick and cheap. The answer would secm to lie in having a Jirga-
cum-judicial system and revision of evidence and procedural laws with only
one right of appeal. The highest judicial court for dealing with cases other
than constitutional would have to be created in each sub-unit. The federal
or the provincial high courts should deal only with cases of a constitutional
nature.

Deduetions from the abore

(1} In each province there should be one legislature of about 130 mem-
bers cach, headed by a Cabinet. There should be a Governor in
each province appointed by President with powers of control over
the Cabinet and the services. .

{2) Electoral system should consist of election of electoral colleges in
each sub-unit by universal suffrage: these colleges to clect members
for the provincial legislature, the central legislature, and also clect
the President, of which mention will be made Jater. )

(3) The legal system should be simplified and decentralized to sub-units:
introduction of Jirga-cum-judicial system to be examincd.

{4) Government Servants’ Conduct Rules should be revisedsoasto make
summary dealings in cases of rewards and punishment possible.

THE STRUCTURE OF THE CENTRE

9. Having created two units of the country, their federation on an equal
basis without fear of domination of one aver the other becomes a practical
proposition, This federation should consist of ene legislative house of al.aout
150 strong, cqually divided amongst the two units, headed by a Cabinet.
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This Cabinet should have executive powers as voted by the legislature,
subject to some eflective control by the President, who should be clected.
The President should be made the final custodian of power on the country’s
behalf and should be able to put things right both in the provinces and the
centre should they go wrong. Laws should be operative only il certified by the
President except in cases where they are passed by three-fourths majority,
No change in constitution should be made unless agreed to by the President.
In case of serious disagreement between the President and the legislature,
provision should be made for fresh elections of either one or both. Acceptance
of the Mohammad Ali formula for election of President and passing of laws
would perhaps be necessary.

10, For reasons given before, the provinces should have as much amtonomy
as possible and that means that in addition to the subjects already in their
hands, communications, except inter-provincial, industries, commerce,
health, ete., should be handed over to the provinces, leaving defence, foreign
affairs and currency in the hands of the centre,

11. The quick development of our resources and raising the standard of living
of our people is one of the main problems which Pakistan has to solve. This
can be done effectively only if we overhaul our educational system to prepare
our manpower for the task and to have well-controlled and well-financed
organizations to undertake major development projects. That indicates
organization of development board rather on the PIDC-fashion for educa-
tion, cottage industries, land and power and hosts of other things in cach
province. This arrangement will help relieve local administrations of a lot
of headaches and will ensure quick development,

12. But nothing much will be gained unless we carry out land reforms in a
scientific fashion. Possession of vast areas of land by a few is no longer de-
fensible nor is acquisiion of land without compensation. The Egyptian
example is 2 very good one; they allowed the owner a certain limit of holding,
buying the rest for distribution amongst peasants, who will pay the cost in
seventy yearly instalments.

13. It was mentioned earlier that the President should be made therepository
of power. He can discharge this duty only if the services are made directly
responsible to him. To do that, a system of Joint Staff headed by 2 Supreme
Commander will have to be introduced. The Supreme Commander should
be appointed by the President. In addition to other duties, he should be
made Defence Member and 2n ex-officio member of the Cabinet. This will
not only knit the services together and lead to economy in pooling things
common to all the services, but would put a stop to any attempt by politicians
to interfere in the internal affairs of the services to promote their personal
interests.

14. The experience of the last seven years has shown how dangerous the use
of ambiguous clichés can be. Everybody said we should have Islamic Demo-
cracy without ever defining what it was and how it differed from the normally-
understood demecracy. Perhaps it is not possible to define it. Would it,
thercfore, not be correct to say that any variety of democracy when worked
in the spirit of the Qur'an can be called an Islamic Demogracy? We shall
perhaps do better and avoid many pitfalls if we accept this concept.
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OUTLINE PLAN

15. As a preliminary, abolish provincial ministries and legislatures in West
Pakistan and create one province of it under a Governor with the requisite
staff,

16. Create sub-units in East Bengal and West Pakistan equivalent to a com-
missioner’s division, each division containing racial group or groups with
common language, common economy and communications and common
development potential. Decentralize administration so that the head of the
division becomes the king-pin of administration.

17. Gverhaul the legal system so as to make it cheaper and quicker, placing
the highest appellate court in a division, except for cases involving points of
constitutional Iaw, for which a federal court or a high court in cach province
should suffice. A Jirga-cum-judicial system should be evolved and pro-
cedural law simplified,

18. Create Development Boards in each province covering education, water
and power, land reforms and development, cottage industries, etc.

19. Create a Joint Staff for the three services headed by a Supreme Com-
mander who, in addition to other duties, should be Defence Member and be
ex-officio member of the central Cabinet coming finally under the President.
20, The central government to consist of one Legislature of about 150 mem-
bers equally divided between the two provinces, a Cabinet and the President.
The President to have over-riding powers to assume control should things go
wrong in the provinces or the centre. To avoid undue domination of one
province over the other, apply the Mohammad Ali formula to the clection
of President and passage of bills,

21. The provincial government in East Bengal to consist of a legislature of
about 150 members headed by a Cabinet with a Governor appointed by the
President: the Governor to have some measure of control over the Cabinet
and the services. Same arrangement should apply in the province of West
Pakistan, except that the representation of the present Punjab to have 40 per
cent and the rest of the seats divided amongst others in accordance with
their population. .
22. Provinces to have maximum autonomy possible, the centre deaking
only with defence, foréign affairs, currency and such communications as are
inter-provincial,

23. Government Servants Conduct Rules should be revised so as to make
summary awards or punishments possible.

24. The sufitage should be adult franchise, who should be called upon to
elect an electoral college in each division, who will then elect the President
and members of the central and provincial legislatures. . .
25. Finally, hope and pray that this Constitution is worked in the spir
the Qur'an. If so, our solidarity, strength and future is assured.

it of

11

Shortly after the incident when I declined Governor-General Ghula;‘ﬂ
Mohammad’s offer to take over the administration of the country, 5i¢
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said to me, ‘Well one thing you must do, you must come into the
Cabinet.’ I did so, and my first act was to tell the Governor-General and
my Cabinet colleagues that we had to do something constructive.
They asked me, “What is it that you would have us do? I put forward
the 1954 document, “This is my programme. This is what we have got
to do. The first thing is to unify West Pakistan.’

1 do not claim that ‘One Unit® was entirely my idea; other people,
too, were talking about it. But my contribution was that when I joined
the Cabinet I wanted to work for two clear objectives: to save the armed
forces from the interference of the politicians, and to unify the pro-
vinces of West Pakistan into one unit. I pressed very hard for it and
initiated the process of merger of the provinces,

I well remember one of the personal experiences which helped to
convince me of the need for integrating West Pakistan. There was an
occasion when we were putting up a manufacturing plant at the Wah
Ordnance Factory. When I went there for inspection I found that the
machinery was installed but could not be operated because power from
Malakand hydroelectric station could not cross the Indus river. This
appeared strange, but, on inquiry, I found that power transmission
across the Indus was not possible because the Chief Minister of the
North-West Frontier Province, Khan Abdul Qayyum Khan, and the
Chief Minister of the Punjab, Mian Mumtaz Daultana, were not on
good terms. It was a ridiculous state of affairs and most distressing, No
one seemed to have any authority to control the provinces or to co-
ordinate their working.

The basic weakness in the political system was that there was no
focus of power. We had adopted a foreign system of parliamentary rule
without understanding the requirements of the system or having the
necessary conditions in which it could operate. I was not alonc in
recognizing the inadequacies of the parliamentary system applicd to our
circumstances. Professor Rushbrook Williams, who was closcly associ-
ated with the Quaid-e-Azam when the latter was 2 member of the
Indian Legislative Assembly in Delhi, recalled that the Quaid-c-Azam
had told him time and again, “This parliamentary system is not for us
but we have to show allegiance to it to defeat the British, to get you out
of the country. It is the only argument you will understand, but I doubt
very much if we can work this system.’

During the bricf period that the Quaid-e-Azam was Governor-
General of Pakistan we had, in cffect, a Presidential form of government
in the country. The Quaid-c-Azam was Governor-General and he was
also President of the Constituent Assembly. The Governor-General,
and not the Prime Minister, presided at Cabinet mectings and this was
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donc at the instance of the Cabinet itself. The Quaid-c-Azam was re-
luctant at first, for it was an unusual arrangement, but on reflection
he said that he would attend the meetings; that he would take the
Cabinet’s advice but would not be overruled.

I remember an interesting meeting I had with the late Aga Khan
soon after Liaquat Ali Khan's assassination. The Aga Khan used towrite
to me whenever I was in England for any conference. On this occasion
I went to Nice and stayed with him at Yakimore, a very fine place,
overlooking the sea. The Aga Khan was then suffering from heart
trouble. He had a tremendous personality and I was deeply impressed
by his knowiedge of world affairs and his foresight. I can recall several
of our conversations, and reconstruct them here from memory.

I said to him, ‘Sir, if you had been a little younger, you would be a
great asset to us.’ He said, ‘I wish I had been. Pakistan has been my
dream. Now that it has become a reality I wish I could be of some
assistance.” ¥le went on to say, “You have got Pakistan aftcr great
sacrifices. You do not want to lose it. But if the parliamentary system is
the one you are going to follow then you will Iose Pakistan. I have called
vou here to teil you that you will lose it this way, and that you are the
one man who can save it.’

T asked, ‘How do you think I can save it?’ He said, “This system
has to be changed. Something has to be evolved which is akin to your
history, your traditions and your way of thinking. And you are really t.hc
man concerned.’ I said, “Well, I understand, Aga’—1I began to call him
“Aga’ after a stage-—T know of your burning desire to see Pakistan
prosper, but you must have patience. Things will work out al-l right.
He replied, “No, you are a child. You do not understand. Things are
not going to work out all rght.’ ] o

Then, one day, the Aga Khan started talking about his association
with the Quaid-e-Azam. He said: ‘He and I never saw eye to eye, but [
regarded him as a very great man indeed. I say this be::ausc you get one
or two opportunitics in life when you have to take major decisions. The
Quaid-c-Azam had the choice of saying whether the Muslims ?f India
should or should not have Pakistan, and he said: “They will I}a\-c
nothing but Pakistan.” He took the right decision, at the right time,
You can see his breadth of vision, how greathe was, aman of tremendous
determination and sense of purpose. Once he made up his mind he put
evervthing into it. I wish he had lived.’ )

1 devoutly wished that, too, The Quaid-e-Azam had the personality
and the auth'ority, if he had been spared by Providence, to produce 2
workable Constitution. People would have accepted anything from him.
He was the undisputed leader and is still the idol of the people. Had he
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been able to give the country a Constitution things might have scttled
down well in time and the schisms which were later to divide the com-
munity might have been avoided.

I11

By the time I became responsible for the affairs of the country in 1958
the mood of the people had undergone a certain change. The earlier
enthusiasm had given place to lethargy and the first flush of robust
optimism had turned into disillusionment. Many hidden tensions and
conflicts had come to the surface and the worms of provincialism and
parochialism had riddled the fine woodwork of national unity. Regional
pulls and centrifugal forces were exercising great pressure and the
nation scemed to be at war with itself.

We Pakistanis are a great mixture, of races and of types. Individual-
istic in our outlook in civil life, we do not easily make a tcam and yet
when disciplined we make first-class soldiers. This offers every budding
leader an opportunity to make a team of his own. We arc apt to be
emotional and do not always take a realistic view of things. No dema-
gogue can resist the temptation of working on our cmotions and mis-
leading us. We criticize everybody except ourselves and as there is a
dearth of people with knowledge and experience there is a scramble for
offices. All this accounts for the distressing and dismal conditions in
which the country found itself after the first few years of independence.
Yet I was convinced that our people were willing and hard-working,
capable of facing great difficulties cheerfully and making great sacrifices
whenever called upon to do so. They can never fail in a crisis, blessed
as they are with a faith which is a great force for unity and inspires
them constantly with a sense of justice and feeling for mankind.

My task, as I saw it, was to set up institutions which should cnable
the people of Pakistan to develop their material, moral, and intellectual
resources and capacities to the maximum extent, The essential pre-
requisite of this task was to analyse the national problems objectively.
I could not convince myself that we had become a nation in the real
sense of the word; the whole spectacle was one of disunity and dis-
integration, We were divided in two halves, cach half dominated by a
distinct linguistic and cultural pattern. The geographical distance be-
tween the two halves was in itself a divisive factor which could be ex-
ploited to create all kinds of doubts and suspicions among the people.
We had inherited a deep antagonism which separated the people in
the countryside from the urban classes. The latter represented a small
minority in the total population, but it was a vocal minority and the
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people in the villages suffered from a sense of domination and cx-
ploitation by the élite of the towns,

Then there were the regional identitics which often asserted
themselves to the exclusion of the national identity. These identitics
created new demands on national resources and since there svas an
overall shortage of available funds, no region could secure all that it
wanted.

But more than anything else it was the irreconcilable nature of the
forees of science and reason and the forces of dogmatism and revivalism
which was operating against the unification of the people. A sharp cleav-
age had been created between the State and the Religion, and all the
old controversics—the temporal versus the spiritual, the secular versus
the religious—revived. In more precise terms the essential conflict was
between the ufema and the educated classes, All that was material,
temporal, and secular was identified with the educated and all that was
religious and spititual became the monopoly of the wlema. The educated
classes were regarded as those who had been Jed astray by western
thought and influcnce. The alema, who in some cases were versed in
Arabic and had made a special study of religious matters, were regarded
as the custodians of Islam. Among them were many who did not hesi-
tate to convert the influence which they excrcised over the minds of the
people into a political asset. They had gradually built up for themselves
a strong political position, opposed to that of the western-educated
groups in socicty. The conflict between these two classes has a Jong
history, which I shall have occasion to describe bricfly Iater. What
surprised me was that the conflict should have assumed such grave
proportions in spite of the fact that there was complete agrecment be-
tween the two groups in matters of principle. Both groups subscribed
wholcheartedly to Islam and both believed in building Pakistan into a
strong and dynamic nation. But the two had not been able to work out
2 common and positive approach to national problems. Instead, the
educated regarded the vlema as relics of the past and the wlema treated
the educated as heretics and unworthy,

How were these conflicts to be reconciled ? Islam visualizes life as a
unity and the Islamic code represents a complete cultural whole, How
can life be divided into scparate compartments, religious and material,
each compartment governed by its own Jaws? In Islam ail human
activity is determined by the same prineiple. Life is one and so are the
laws f.:;.n'crnin:: life. A man at home, at work, or at prayer is guided by
the s:'—lmc code of behaviour. The same rules which guide us in our
dealines with our own family apply to our dealings with others. There
are nowspccial spiritual rules distinet from rules of conduct in everyday

FAl-—14
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life. Man is judged as a whole and his actions are determined by their
moral content.

All this was true. But the picture of our society, as I saw it, did not
conform to this. In practice, our life was broken up into two distinct
spheres and in each sphere we followed a different set of principles.
How were we to get out of this morass and adopt a unified approach to
life ? That was the crux of the problem. If we failed, we would stagnate
and remain backward. And backwardness meant slavery: our own
experience had proved that, Others had abandoned their religion in
search of advancement. We were fortunate to have a religion which
could serve as a vehicle of progress. But superstition and ritualism had
given us a fatalistic outlook which was completely contrary to the teach-
ings and message of Islam, Muslim society could not move forward
unless Islam was relieved of all the inhibiting and alien influences which
had distorted its real character.

It was this that was my great concern and I recorded the following
note on 12 April 1959:

Ever since taking over the reins of government in the country, my main
anxiety has been to unite the people and to resolve the internal and external
problems- of the country. The problems we are facing are enormous, but
with God’s grace it should be possible to resolve them at least partially, if not
wholly. But how to unite the people is a matter which affects the realm of
faith and spirit and to which I have not been able to find an cfiective answer
so far, Yet it is imperative that an answer be found soonest possible, other-
wise we run the risk of being overwhelmed by other forces and ceasing to
exist as an independent people. In fact, then there is every possibility of
losing Pakistan. This must not be allowed to happen under any circumstance,
Hence the extreme urgency of finding an answer which is comprehensible,
tangible, and which should rouse spontaneous and constant enthusiasm and
prove workable in the light of the requirements of modern life, My feclings
are:

Man as an animal is moved by basic instincts for preservation of lifc and
continuance of race but as a being conscious of his power of thinking he has
the power to control and modify his instincts. His greatest yearning is for an
ideology for which he should be able to Jay down his life. What it amounts to
is that the more noble and eternal an ideology, the better the individual and
the people professing it. Their lives will be much richer, more creative and
they will have a tremendous power of cohesion and resistance, Such a society
can conceivably be bent but never broken.

Such an ideology with us is obviously that of Islam. It was on that basis
that we fought for and got Pakistan, but having got it, we failed to order our
lives in aecordance with it. The main reason is that we have failed to define
that idcology in a simple and understandable form. Also in our ignorance we
began to regard Islamic ideology as synonymous with bigotry and theocracy
and subconsciously began to feel shy of it, The time has now come when we
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must get over this shyness, face the problem squarely and define this ideology
in simple but modern termas and put it to the people, so that they can use it
as 2 code of guidance.

in order to define the ideolozy of Islam and to apply it to present-day
conditions of life and especially the conditions of ife in Pakista an, it seems that
the following broad outline wiil have to be elaborated:

{c; Singlepess of God. Man's urge to love Him in thought aad deed.

(&) All human beings are equal before God. Therefore the basic cquality
of man, wathout distinction of colour, race, or focation, must be
recognized.

f¢; True that in such a soclety nadonal territorialism has no place, vet
those living in an area are responsible for its defence and security
and development. Attachment to the country we live in and get
our sustenance from is therefore paramount.

{(d} Iftheabove are the ingredients of religion, then religion has to have
a say in matiers both temporzl and secular, Define how?

{¢) This world iz designed for us to live in constructively and fruitfully.
It is not designed to be shunned. In order th"t creative power is
developed modern education is absolutely vita

{f} Define the duties of the State and those of the mdn‘idu:ﬂ. What is the
definition of 2 “Momin® [believer]?

{g)} State fundamental rights for the individual which are wholesome
for the individual as well as for the State.

{#}) “"What method should we adopt to a2cquaint the present generation
and the future generations with this philosophy?

({) Considering tha: the people of Pakistan are a collection of so many

races with ifferent ba ackgrounds, how can they be welded into a
unified whole whilst keeping intact their loeal pride, culture, and
tradidons?

The requirement is to express the above in a language which should be
comprehensible to the kargest number of people and capable of being put into

ractice.

Who should undertake this task? I could not possibly attempt it
beecause I was conscious of my limitations. I could only emphasize the
need for bringing about unity and balance in society. We had to re-
concile the requirements of our faith with the requirements and com-
pulsions of the ime. No nation could live and survive in the glory of its
past alone.

There was universal agreement that the country should have a
democratic Constitution a and 2 Constitution which should enable the
community to organize itself according to the essential principles of
Istam and to develop and progress with the times. The question was
who should determine the democratc conteat of the Consdtution and
definc the esseatial principles of Islam. There were two ways of doing
this. We could determine these p-mczo*cs with or without the help of
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the ulema and then introduce them by decree. The other alternative
was to let people determine these principles themselves with the
assistance of specialized agencies acting in an advisory capacity. I chose
the latter course. The Constitution Commission was later to recommend
that we should set up an International Muslim Commission to advisc
us as to how our laws could be made to conform to the injunctions of the
Holy Qur’an and the Sunnah, I doubted whether 2 Commission of this
kind would serve any useful purpose. I sounded some Heads of States at
that time but they showed no enthusiasm for the idea. It was obvious
that we would have to address ourselves to our problems and work out
our own solutions. The burden of thinking must rest on the community
itself.

The essential decision that I made in dealing with the question of
giving an Islamic content to the Constitution for the country was that
the responsibility of determining the principles according to which the
affairs of the nation should be organized and conducted should be
entrusted to the community itself. The Constitution should provide 2
framework based on the experience and history of Islam and suited to
the genins, temperament, and traditions of the people, but within that
framework the community should be free to adopt principles derived
from the Holy Qur’an and the Sunnah and evolve methods for the
application of those principles to its own circumstances. This was the
only way in which the principles of democracy could be reconciled with
the principles of Islam.

The question arose as to how the community should discern and
define the principles of Islam. There was no ready answer to this. No
precedent of an Islamic Constitution was available, The Holy Qur’an
contained the principles of guidance but did not prescribe a detailed
Constitution for running a country. The example of the Holy Prophet
(Peace be upon him) in organizing an Islamic Statc was, of course,
available. After the Holy Prophet the four Caliphs organized and ad-
ministered the State according to their understanding of Istamic prin.
ciples. Each one of them had applied the principles of Islam and the
teachings of the Holy Prophet in accordance with their circumstances.
No specific pattern of government or even of the clection of the Head
of Government had been established. The conclusion was incscapable
that Istam had not prescribed any particular pattern of government
but had left it to the community to evolve its own pattern to suit its
circumstances, provided that the principles of the Qur’an and the Sun-
nah were observed. In more recent times 2 number of Muslim countries
had adopted constitutions to meet their requirements without claiming
that they had produced an Islamie Constitution which could be adopted
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by all Islamic countrics. It was clear to me that Pakistan must work out
its own system of application of the principles of Islam to its conditions.
It was cqually clear to me that this cxercise must be conducted within
the aceepted democratic norms, of which the most important is the
participation of the people in the affairs of the State. The right of the
people as a whole to organize and run their affairs conld not be curtailed
or compromiscd in any manner. And no person or group of persons,
however knowledgeable, could be allowed 1o sit in judgement on the
community expressing itself through its clected representatives. All this
cstablished the supremacy of the Legislature acting for and on behalf
of the people. It also established that the people must have the freedom
to choose their representatives and their leaders of government. To
cnsure that the Executive and the Legislature acted within the pro-
visions of the Constitution there was need to sct up an independent
Judiciary. In this scheme of things there was obviously no place for a
supra-body of religious experts exercising a power of veto over the
Legislature and the Judiciary.

In all this, T was guided by my understanding of the institution of
tjma {conscnsus) provided in Islam. According to one school of thought
ijma represents the agreement, in a matter requiring opinion or decision,
of the mujtakids, people who, by virtue of their knowledge of Islam, have
a right to form their own judgement. Another school of thought inter-
prets iyma as the opinion of the majority of alt Muslims. There is yet
another view that in modern times jma mcans the opinion of the
Legislature representing the elected representatives of the community
and that the right to formulate independent judgement on matters
affecting the iife of the people vests in the Legistature and not in any
body of scholars. I did not want to prejudge the issue and thereforein the
constitutional arrangement I left it to the representatives of the people
to decide how they would like to form their judgement in matters re-
lating to the Qur’an and the Sunnah. I thought it necessary to provide
an Islamic Advisory Council backed by an Islamic Rescarch Institute
to assist the Legistature in framing laws based on the concepts of
Islam. The council was to have as members not oaly those persons who
possessed a knowledge of Islam but also those who understood the
cconomic, political, legal, and administrative problems of the country
so that the requirements of Islam and the requircments of the time and
circumstances could be harmonized.

1 knew that the xleme would not be satisficd with this arrangement.
They claimed the exclusive right to interpret and decide maticrs per-
taining to Islam. While they maintained this claim lhcg‘ refrained from
producing any detailed constitutional document, knowing that such an
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attempt would only expose their internal differences. Their demand
was that the government should agree to adopt an Islamic Con-
stitution, leaving it to the ulema to decide whether any law or measure
was Islamic or not. I must pause here to discuss briefly the role of the
ulema in the political life of Pakistan.

The history of the #lema in this sub-continent has been one of per-
petual conflict with the educated classes. This conflict came to a head
during the struggle for Pakistan. It is well known that a number of
Muslim #lema openly opposed the Quaid-e-Azam and denounced the
concept of Palkistan. Now I do not suggest that those among the ulema
who opposed the creation of Pakistan were all men of easy conscience.
Among them were people of ability and conviction, but there were also
those who thought that Pakistan might mean the end of their authority.
The best among them argued that the Indian freedom movement would
be retarded if Hindus and Muslims did not act in union. Some also feit
that Pakistan was essentially a territorial concept and thus alien to the
philosophy of Islamic brotherhood, which was universal in character.
Both these arguments were the result of confused thinking and revealed
a lamentable ignorance of the problems which the Muslims of the sub-
continent were facing. Freedom was coming; it could not be delayed.
What worried the Muslims was not the pace of freedom but that when
freedom came they should be able to order their lives according to their
own lights. The end of British domination should not become for the
Muslims the beginning of Hindu domination. They were not secking
to change masters. They knew through past experience that the
Hindus would not agree to live with them on equal terms within the
same political framework. Those of the ulema who were members of the
Indian National Congress failed to realize the significance of this simple
truth and eventually found themselves completely isolated from the
mainstream of the Muslim struggle for emancipation.

Their opposition to Pakistan on grounds of territorial nationalism
was again the result of their failure to grasp contemporary rezlities.
How could the demand of 2 hundred million Muslims for a homeland
of their own conflict with the concept of universal Islamic brotherhood ?
A homeland is an identity and surely the Muslims of the sub-continent
couid not have served the causc of universal brotherhood by losing
their identity, which is what would have inevitably happened if they
had been compelled to aceept the political domination of the Hindus,
The ulema thought in terms of a glorious though ncbulous past and 2
vast but undefined future of Muslim brotherhood. And this more than
anything else damaged the growth of Muslim nationalism and retarded
the progress of Muslims in the sub-continent. Without a strong base of



THE CONSTITUTION AND IDEQLOGY 201

their own the Muslims of the sub-continent were no more than a bunch
of busybodies dabbling and interfering in the affairs of others on the
pretext of universal Islamic brotherhood. What use could they be to
other Muslim countries when they did not have even a home of their
own? Those who thought that a national outlook was incompatible
with the concept of universal brotherhood were reaily suggesting that
the Muslims of the sub-continent should not try to establish 2 homeland
of their own because there were homelands enough of Muslims in
other parts of the world. Why have a home of your own when there are
so many Muslim homes in the Middle East ? It was this kind of reasoning
which led the Khilafat Movement, inspired by such noble ideals, into
a blind-alley. Some of the ablest Muslim scholars in India argued that
the western powers, especially the British, were destroying the Ottoman
Empire. But they did not realize that the Arabs and the Turks were
locked in a grim battle to establish their respective national identities.
The Turks had started the Turkish nationalist movement and were
strongly advocating the concept of Turkey for the Turks. Arab national
sentiment demanded freedom from the Turks and a separate identity of
its own. It suited the British to exploit these national sentiments. Our
ulema, who led the movement for re-cstablishing the Khilafatin Turkey,
never realized that the idea of Khilafat had been abandoned by the
Turks themselves. Charmed by the vision of Islamic brotherhood, they
embarked on a prolonged struggle, thinking that if the Khilafat was re-
established, the Muslim world in the Middle East would be held to-
gether under the Turks and the Turks would, one day, become strong
enough to come to India and drive out the British!

Now, the opposition offered by some of the wlema to Pakistan was
not wholly the result of confused thinking or lack of awareness of the
problems of Muslims. Behind it was the consciousness of power,

I wish to make it clear that here I am referring to that class of
ulema who were openly engaged in politics and not those God-fearing
people who have served the community by teaching the Quran and
propagating the message of Islam in a selfless, humble, and devoted
manner. The political ulema that I am talking of were thosewho claimed
to be Indian nationalist Muslims as opposed to Muslim nationalists
and were the members of the Indian National Congress or of other
groups and organizations acting in collaboration with the Congress.
These people exercised considerable power through their association
with the Indian National Congress, which was the majority political
party in the sub-continent. Even after the Quaid-c-Azam had demon-
strated the representative character of the All-India Muslim League as
the only political party cntitled to speak on behalf of the Muslims of the
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sub-continent, Congress insisted on the inclusion of Muslim members of
the Congress Party in any political set-up proposed by the British.
These Muslim members of Congress believed that in undivided India,
with Congress as the ruling party, the leadership of the Muslims would
remain in their hands. The wlems knew that the leadership of the
Muslims in the sub-continent was gradually passing to the modern
educated classes who had found an eloguent and powerful spokesman
in the Quaid-e-Azam. The determined fight which the Quaid-e-Azam
was putting up against the British and the Hindus posed 2 serious
threat to the anthority of the ulema. The Quaid-e-Azam’s advocacy
of the cause of the Mushims, and his complete selflessness and devotion,
transformed a mass of disorganized individuals into a powerful
national reality. It was this new leadership that the ulema dreaded
and against which they aligned themselves with the Indian National
Congress.

The conflict between the educated Muslims and the wlema was not
new. It started in the early years of British rule and reached its cul-
mination during the struggle for Pakistan. For decades after the
British had consolidated their position in India, the wlema kept the
Muslims away from all sources of western knowledge. Not until the
middle of the ninctcenth century was this barrier of prejudice broken
or did the Muslims begin to recover from this voluntary denial of know-
ledge. The Muslim renaissance in the sub-continent began with Shah
Waliullah who started probing into the past and thinking in terms
of the future. Then came Sir Syed Ahmad with his gospel that the
Muslims could not progress without acquiring knowledge of modern
sciences and technology. He asserted the simple truth that knowledge is
not the preserve of any nation, it belongs to the whole of mankind.
Quickly he was dubbed a kafir (non-believer) by a scction of the
ulema, But Sir Syed Ahmad, in spite of all the calumny that was heaped
on him, refused to be browbeaten. He maintained a valiant posture and
succeeded in releasing the intellectual energy of a nation. As more and
more Muslims got educated in western sciences the hold of the #lemsz
over the Muslim community began to weaken.

Pakistan was the greatest defeat of the nationalist wlema. But they
are a tenacious tribe and power is an irresistible drug. Soon after the
establishment of Pakistan this type of ulema reorganized its forces.
Now that Pakistan had been established, these people asked, who
indeed, except the ulema, could decide, how the new Muslim State
should be run. Some of the nationalist «fema decided to stay In India;
others hastencd to Pakistan to lend a helping hand. If they had not been
able to save the Muslims from Pakistan they must now save Pakistan
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from the Muslims. Among the migrants was Maulana Abul Azla
Maudoodi, head of the Jamaat-e-Islami party, who had heen bitterly
opposed to Pakistan. He sought refuge there and forthwith Jaunched a
campaign for the “Muslimization’ of the hapless people of Pakistan. This
venerable gentleman was appalled by what he saw in Pakistan: an un-
Islamic country, un-Islamic government, and an un-Istamic people!
How could any genuine Muslim owe allegiance to such a government!
So he set about the task of convincing the people of their inadequacies,
their fzilings, and their general unworthiness.

All this was really a fagade. The true intention was to re-establish
the supremacy of the ulema and to reassert their right to Iead the com-
munity. Since the movement for Pakistan was guided by the enlightened
classes under the leadership of a man who was the symbol of western
education, the prestige of the #lema had been badly damaged. This
damage had to be repaired. The political ulema had two courses open
to them: either to re-examine their own position and to revise their
attitudes so that the people might be able to gain from their knowledge
in dealing with their problems; or to demolish the position of the
educated classes in the eyes of God-fearing but uneducated masses.
Not unnaturally, they adopted the latter course. A society which had
just emerged from 2 century of foreign domination and was faced with
the practical problems of building a new country suffered from many
defects and weaknesses. The wlema concentrated on these. They spread
throughout the length and breadth of the country to convince the
people of the misery of their existenice and the failings of their govern-
ment. They succeeded in converting an optimistic and enthusiastic
people into 2 cynical and frustrated community. The ulema claimed
that they knesw all the answers and could easily solve all the problems
of the country, but that they were helpless as the country was in the
control of the modern educated classes who had disowned Istam 'fmd
taken to western ways. Since no leadership could provide an immediate
solution to all the problems of the community, the ulema were able to
build up 2 large following for their point of view. .

It is in this context that the demand for an Islamic Constitution
was so ardently advocated by the ulema. Since no one had defined the
fundamental elements of an Islamic Constitution, no Constitution could
be called Islamic unless it received the blessings of all the uloma. The
onlyway of having an Islamic Constitution was to hand over the country
to the ulema and beseech them, ‘lead kindly light'. This is prcasct}'
what the ulema wanted. A Constitution could be regarded as Islan:nc
only if it were drafted by the ulema and conceded them the authority
to judge and govern the people. This was 2 position which neither the
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people nor I was prepared to accept, opposed as it was to the funda-
mental democratic principle that all authority must vest in the people.

Gradually the outlines of the Constitution began to emerge. While
all sovereignty belongs to Allah the people of an Islamic State have the
authority to organize and administer their affairs in accordance with the
injunctions of the Holy Qur’an and the Sunnah. God had given them
access to sources of guidance and reason, and the intelligence to in-
terpret and understand what was contained in those sources. They must
use these faculties and determine the principles of guidance, if necessary
with the assistance of experts. Having determined these principles,
they should find methods and procedures for their application to their
problems, They must be able to act in an organized manner through
their representatives to frame laws for the common good and they must
have a proper Executive to implement those laws and perform ad-
ministrative duties on their behalf, and an independent Judiciary to
determine that the Legislature and the Excentive conduct themselves
in accordance with the provisions of the Constitution.

After these basic questions had been decided I tried to determine
the form of government which would be best suited to the genius of the
people and would be in consonance with the teachings and history of
Islam. A thorough study of Islamic history and of the constitutions
adopted by different Muslim countries was undertaken. Two things
emerged clearly from this study: there was no place for kingship in
Islam and succession could not be determined on 2 hereditary basis.
The community as a whole must have the right to choose its leader and
the right to remove him. Another feature of Islamic history which had
found general acceptance was that the leader, once he is chosen by the
community, should have sufficient power to co-ordinate, supervise, and
control the activities of government. Delegation of authority was per-
missible but central control must remain in the hands of the choscn
leader who should provide unified direction to the country and its
administration. Such 2 central authority seemed all the more necessary
in our social and political circumstances. Without 2 strong central
authority the country could not be held together. Muslim rule in the
sub-continent started to decline and the community suffercd afier the
Moghul Emperor Aurangzeb mainly because of the weakening of the
central authority. And this was true of other periods of Islamic rule too.

The intelligentsia of Pakistan had become accustomed to 2 sort of
parliamentary democracy, but actual expericnee had shown that this
form of government, instead of serving the cause of the people, had
only ecncouraged divisive tendencies and brought the country to the
verge of collapse. We had suffered enough in the past on account of it
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and could ill afford to repeat the same mistake. The alternative form,
and the one which seemed to meet our requirements, was the Presi-
dential form of government.

An elected President free to choose his Cabinet was the answer; and
a legislature consisting of one or two houses, which should not be unduly
large because of the paucity of the type of manpower required. The
relationship between the President and his legislature must be so regu-
lated as to give the President adequate powers to maintain stability
and prevent frequent breakdowns: in other words, the type of exccu-
tive and legislature that approximated as far as possible to those that
existed at the time of the early Caliphs. We should provide reasonable
checks and balances to ensure that both the President and the Legisla-
ture acted with propriety, good sense, and responsibility. And if either
of them failed in their respective spheres of duty it should be possible to
climinate either one or both of them.

The Provincial Governors should be nominated by the President
to ensure that his writ would prevail in the provinces. Without this the
whole edifice would crumble. There should be a full measure of dele-
gation of subjects to the provinces to give them adequate responsibility,
autonomy, and flexibility. .

To me these seemed the minimum basic requirements of the Con-
stitution I visnalized for the country. But people who had got used to the
parliamentary form and knew how the form could be exploited, found it
difficult to accept my thinking. I once invited some people in East
Pakistan to meet me. The late Maulvi Tamizuddin Khan and Mr.
Nurul Amin were among them. I discussed with them the whole range
of constitutional problems.

Maulvi Tamizuddin said he was dead against the Presidential form
of government and I asked what his objection was. He replied: ‘My
objection is that Muslim history as well as our political expericnce has
been the rule of one man. My fear is that we will revert to it, even
though we have got freedom and democracy.’ I said: ‘If this is in the
Muslim blood, how are you going to take it out? In any case, don’t you
see the difference between an autocrat and an elected President? Docs
not the United States of America have a President and is the U.S. not
democratic? And how do you propose to sustain the parliamentary
form of democracy in this country, with ten or fifteen political paru’s:s,
none with a national outlook or programme, except the Mushim
League?’ He thought that we should decree by law that there were to
be only two parties, but I auswered: ‘Tamizuddin Sahib, if by law you
can control people’s conscience, then why don’t you make all Muslims
into one sect? In all, there are seventy-two sects in Islam, even though
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they all seek inspiration from the Qur’an. Let me tell you that you
cannot control people’s conscience by legal contrivances.” He said:
‘Even then, I would like to have a parliamentary form of government.’
In frustration and exhaustion I replied in strong terms. The old man
took it well.

Mr. Nurul Amin remained quiet. I think he wanted to keep out of
the controversy. But Maulvi Tamizuddin spoke with conviction,
genuine conviction, however unrealistic. I always admired his courage.

So a great debate started as to the respective merits of the parlia-
mentary and presidential systems of government. Some, like Maulvi
Tamizuddin Khan, held that the parliamentary system in the country
had been condemned without having been given enough time to
establish itself. What they meant, perhaps, was that we had not given
ourselves enough rope to hang ourselves with. Had we gone on for
another five or ten years the way we were going, we shonld have been
doomed.

The point is that a parliamentary system can only work when you
have well-organized parties, and a limited number of parties, cach work-
ing for a clear-cut social and economic programme. Some people say,
“What does it matter if we have five or ten parties? We can always have
a coaliion government? Is that the best we can do for the country?
Can coalition governments, in a developing country, take difficult and
firm decisions, sometimes against tradition and the customary way of
life? A responsible government cannot be a prisoner of wayward public
opinion. You have to move ahead of public opinion and draw people
in your direction. The objectives before me were the unification of the
people and the development of the country. To attain these objectives
we required a stable, representative government, continuity of ad-
ministration, and well-planned programmes of economic growth. The
nation had to move resolutely into the age of science and technology
while maintaining a firm hold on the essential principles of its faith and
ideology.

It is easy to talk abont removing the inhibiting effects of history:
it is a different thing dealing with them in practical lifc, How can you
run a parliamentary democracy when you have big landlords in the
country who can influence thousands of votes? How can you run 2
parliamentary democracy when you have pirs and fagirs who can in-
fluence the people indirectly? Hew can you have parliamentary
democracy or stability when you have ten or fiftcen or more political
parties in the country without any programme whatsocver? How can
you have parliamentary democracy when you have not even reached
the level of universal primary education?
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While trying to create institutions, the easiest thing to do is to get
hold of some textbook, English or American or Russian, and say, “This
is how they did it. Why not follow their text?’ The point is, will it work?
Will people take it to heart? Will they regard it as their own? If not,
then the whole exercise will end in futility.

v

I was once asked, ‘In which book did you come across the fundamentals
of the Constitution?’ ‘In the book of Pakistan’, I replied; ‘it is based on
my knowledge of the people and the soil of Pakistan.’

I do not know whether the term ‘Basic Democracies’ describes aptly
or fully the system of local governments which I envisaged. It was
basic in so far as the whole structure was to be built from the ground up-
wards, and it was democratic in the sense that the affairs of the country
were to be entrusted to the people within a constitutional framework.
I had two broad objectives in mind: one was to organize people to take
care of the problems of their areas and to inculcate in them the spirit
of self-help; the other, to find a meaningful electoral system for the
election of the President and the members of Assemblies.

The democratic instrument, as worked by the politicians, had been
warped beyond recognition. The Constitution which had been in-
troduced in 1956 was no better than a bundle of unworkable com-
promises. My endeavour from 1958 on had been to restore the nation
by introducing necessary reforms in various fields. All these reforms
were devised and oriented to prepare the country and the people for a
representative government in the shortest possible time. The object
was not to impose any particular system from above, but to cause a
system to grow from below in relation to the social, economic, educa-
tional, and moral realities of the situation. All changes and rcforms
that were introduced had only one purpose: to prepare the base on
which the upward pyramid of a sound political system could be
developed, )

Past experience had shown that the western type of parliamentary
democracy could not be imposed on the people of Pakzsta:::. There
were certain basic requirements in the western system wluc.h were
lacking here: this system presupposed a high degree of social and
political awareness, universal education, and an advan-ccd‘ system of
mass communication for speedy and accurate disscmination of in-
formation on a wide variety of themes of individual and general
interest. In the absence of these prerequisites, people could not be
expected to exercise their right of vote in the context of broad national
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policies. It is too much to expect a man, sick and iiliterate, and worried
about his next meal, to think in terms of national policies.

Now, we could not wait for these conditions to come into existence
before restoring democracy; we had to introduce a2 system which the
people would be able to understand and work in spite of their handicaps.
This meant going to the hard core of the nation. The large majority
of our people lived in villages; they were mostly uneducated ard illit-
erate. But they had the wisdom to understend their own problems.
What was needed was to put the problems to them in a simple and
straightforward manner to enable them to form 2 judgement. Again,
in asking them to make a choice between individuals, they should be
enzbled to know them personally or by reputation.

These difficuldes about the formulation of issues and providing
knowledge about individuals could be largely overcome if there were
well-organized political parties, supported by advanced media of
communication, capable of explaining their programmes to the people.
Unfortunately, we had no political parties worth the name; those that
existed had no national programme. To ask people to join in 2 mass
ritual of voting for candidates whom they had never seen or knovn
really meant robbing them of their vote by inducement or intimida-
tion. Such an arrangement suited only demagogues and charlatans.
Since these had nothing concrete to offer, they vied with cach other
in arousing the passions of the people and working on their emotions.
People engulfed by economic and social problems responded to their
appeals. They were promised the moon and, for 2 moment, they
allowed themselves to be deluded and duped. More oficn then not
these appeals had 2 negative and disruptive character. All this tended
to generate hysteria and created suspicion, disirust, and disunity
among the people. Under this system peeple were really being used
against themselves,

I was fully conscious of the opposition I would encounter on intro-
ducing any change in the system: first, from the inteliectuals, 2 small
but vocal minority fed on western ideas. These people, because they
have had the advantage of education, form the élite and regard them-
selves as leaders of public opinion. They talk in terms of the people,
often quite genuinely, but few among them have any real contact with
the people and fewer still have given any serious thought to the prob-
lems of the people. It is enough for them to claim that 21l power should
belong to the masses; they are not worried about how and in what form
the power should be exercised. They claim to fight against illiteracy,
poverty, hunger, and disease, but the fight is conducted through
slogans not solutions. They react strongly zgainst iiliteracy but do little
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for the illiterate. They condemn poverty but have no sympathy for the
poor. They blame hunger but offer no relief to the hungry,

Secondly, the opposition would come from the vested interests:
the politicians and the landlords. They are accustomed to commanding
the allegiance and loyalty of the people in their areas, and they will not
allow the individual to exercise his judgement or question their
authority. And finally, opposition would come from the orthodox
classes, the obscurantists who frustrate all progress under cover of
religion.

All these people would fight against any change in the electoral
system which would make the common man the master of his own will.
Yet one must do the right thing by the country, whatever the conse-
quences,

I v‘ent down to the viliage level in the rural aveas and the mokalia
level in the cites. That was the level at which one could get to know the
people directly and intimately; that was where the real problems
existed. I realized that the masses in the village, however uneducated,
were conscious of the immediacy and urgency of individual and
community interests. It was at that level that they knew the people on
whom they could depend to help and guide them and to swork for them.
A system of government which had its roots at that level would bear
fruit.

1 formulated the following principles to govera the future role of
Basic Democracies: first, they should reflect the representation of the
people obtained in the most direct manner; secondly, they should
become the nerve centres of their areas where all local problems of
development and civic responsibility could be studied at close range
and their solutions discovered and applied with concentrated attention;
thirdly, they should in course of time absorb the official agencies and
begin to function as people’s bodies; and, finally, they should be
operated to generate vigour and enthusiasm and liberate those moral
and intellectual forces which are essential to the development of a
dynamic and dedicated leadership in the country.

Two dayvs after Martial Law was promulgated, I told a Press
conference, on 10 Qctober 1958, that power would be flandcd back to
the people. Three months later I went on record as saying that as soon
as vital reforms had been carried out the country would have a Consti-
tution hased on the wishes of the people and capable of serving their
interests. I had made it clear that Pakistan would not copy any oﬁ}cr
country’s Constitution, but would have one entrely her own, in keeping
with the country’s social and economic conditions. _

The creation of Basic Democracies was the first step towards ful-



210 FRIENDS NOT MASTERS

filling this ohjective. And as experience has subsequently proved,
through the system of Basic Democracies we have been able to awaken
and organize the masses into taking intimate and practical interest
in their collective affairs and having a deep sense of sclf-help and
participation. The gulf between the officials and the masses has been
narrowed.

The decision to create Basic Democracies was taken at the Gover-
nors’ Conference held in Karachi from go April to 1 May 1959, More
detailed decisions on the new system were taken at the Governors’
Conference at Nathiagali on 12-13 June that year. The formal Basic
Democracies order was promulgated on 26 October, providing for the
setting up of institutions ranging from local councils to provincial
Development Advisory Councils.

Elections to the Basic Democracies units were completed carly in
January 1g6o, Martial Law regulations prohibiting the organization,
convening, or attending of any political meetings organized by
candidates, were relaxed for the forthcoming elections. Approximately,
a unit of 1,000 voters (adults, male and female) was required to elect
one representative. These single-member units, which numbered
about 80,000 (approximately 40,000 in each Province), were then to
be grouped together to form the tiers of the local administration system.
There were to be about 4,000 of these first-stage groupings in each
Province, and they were to be known as the Union Councils in the
rural areas and the Town or Union Committees in the urban areas,

At this stage, I felt that I should have a mandate from the people
to continue in my task. It was thereforc decided that before the
election resuits of Basic Democracies were announced, I should take
the opportunity of seeking a vote of confidence from the 80,000 Basic
Democrats so that I might be able to give the country a Constitution
under a mandate from the people. The results of the vote of confidence,
as announced by the Election Commission on 15 February 1960, were:
75,283 affirmative votes in my favour, representing 95°G per cent of the
approximately 80,000 votes cast.

After being sworn in as the first elected President of Pakistan, on
17 Febrvary 1960, I immediately announced the sctting up of 2
Constitution Commission, under Mr. Justice Shahabuddin of the
Supreme Court, with five members from each Province, The Com-
mission’s terms of reference were:

(1) To examine the ‘progressive failurc of parliamentary government

in Pakistan leading to the abrogation of the Constitution of 1956,
and to recommmend how a recurrence of similar causes can be -
prevented’.
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{2} To submit proposals for a Constitution, taking into consideration
‘the genius of the people, the general standard of education and
political judgement in the country, the present state of nation-
hood, the need for sustained development, and the effect of
constitutional and administrative changes in recent months’.

{3) The proposals would embody recommendations as to how best
the following ends could be achieved: {i) a democracy ‘adaptable
to changed circumstances and based on the Islamic principles of
Jjustice, cquality, and tolerance’; (i) consolidation of national
unity; and (iii} a firm and stable system of government.

Many people thought at the time that I was moving too fast and that
I should allow sufficient time for the reforms to take root. We had
carned considerable respect and prestige in the world by bringing
them about and achicving substantial results; much of this would be
imperilled by too swift a return to 2 constitutional government. An
English fmend asked me, “Why are you in such a hurry to bring in a
Constitution ?’ I said, ‘I thought you were a democratic people.” He
replied, ‘Yes, but you are running the country so well under the
present system and you are making sound progress. You will land
vourself in trouble again if you are not careful.’

At home, too, there were certain people, including some members
of my Cabinet, who were convineed that the vested interests who had
been badly hit by our rcforms, such as landowners, politicians, and
similar groups, would combine in an all-out attempt to unseat mec and
to destroy whatever had been achieved in the past few years,

I knew the feelings of the people at large also. Many thought I was
throwing them back to the wolves and that, once again, there would be
no respect for law, that corruption and jockeying for power would
return, with all the other ugly features of our political life in the past.
I realized that once the Iid was off, the politicians would run amuck
and try to demolish everything I had done. The Press would also lend
a helping hand, because newspapers that advocate irresponsibility and
opposition to government run up very high sales. I knew also that
people who had benefited from the reforms were not strong or organized
enough to defend their new positions, So it would be my task to defend
them and the new laws against pressure-groups and vested interests,

Nevertheless, I came to the conclusion that it was better to take the
risk, even if all our reforms had not yet taken root, and to let the people
carrv on from that point. They must assimilate and implement the
reforms according to their capacity. T was not forced to this decision
by any internal or external pressure, but I was deeply conscious of the
g;a\'c responsibility which I had undertaken to give the country the

FAL—15
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right sort of Constitution. I thought I had the answer and I wanted to
put it into effect.

I had announced in October 1958 that I intended to work ‘as near
as may be’ to the 1956 Constitution. Though Martial Law had operated
under the 1956 Constitution, it was effective because a focus of power
was created by the Martial Law apparatus which iwas lacking in the
1956 Constitution itself. T had worked out definite ideas about the future
Constitution. But I was fully prepared to ‘accept the Gommission’s
recommendations even if they are different from my ideas provided
they are better than mine and good for the country’.? Further, the
Commission ‘emjoys full freedom and full powers to make such recom-
mendations as it deems proper for the country. In this behalf it is not
to be influenced by anything except its own conscience and its Jove for
Pakistan.’?

After the establishment of the Commission there was nothing to do
but wait for its Report, which was presented to me on 6 May 1961.
The Commission found that the causes of the failure of the parliamen-
tary form of government in Pakistan were ‘mainly the lack of leader-
ship resulting in the lack of well-organized and disciplined parties, the
lack of character in the politicians and their undue interference in the
administration’. Under the circumstances it recommended that
Pakistan ‘should have a form of government where there is only onc
person at the head of affairs, with an effective restraint exercised on
him by an independent legislature, members of which, however, should
not be in a position to seriously interfere with the administration by
exercising political pressure for their personal ends’. The nced for a
strong centre with a quasi-federal structure was strongly advocated by
the Comrmission.

Dealing with the minority view that the centre should be given only
three subjects, defence, foreign affairs, and currency, the remaining
powers being left with the Provinces, the Constitution Commission said,

One of the main grounds for this view was that the Lahore Resolution of
1040 speaks of independent states and that, therefore, the provinces should
be autonomous. But the East Pakistan envisaged in the Lahore Resolution
was the whole of Bengal and Assam which could have been 2n autonomous
province as it would have had industries and large economic resources. It
could not have been anticipated at that stage that the former Bengal and
Punjab provinces would be divided and Pakistan would get, as its castern
half, the unindustrialized portion of Bengal. The partition of these provinees
was a later development arising from the last-minute cfforts of the majority
community of undivided India to avoid partition of the sub-continent.

1 Address to the Karachi High Court Bar Association, 15 January 1930.

2 Constitution Commission Report (Karachi, 1961}, pp- 2-3.
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If, at the time of the Lahore Resolution, it could have been foreseen that
ultimately 2 division would take place and that the present East Pakistan
would be the only portion of Pakistan in the East, the Muslim Leaguc would
not have thought of regarding it as an autenomous province because, without
industrial development, it is impossible for East Pakistan to sustain itself as an
independent unit. At the time the Lahore Resolution was passed, partition
of the sub-continent into two independent countries was not within the pale
of practical politics. It seems to us extremely unwise and unrealistic to insist
on a literal following of the said Resolution regardiess of whether the present
units of Pakistan can develop themselves, and manage their own affairs,
without a strong centre.?

The Commission advocated 2 bicameral legislature, a Vice-President,
direct clection on the basis of restricted adult franchise, and separate
clectorates,

I accepted the Commission’s suggestions regarding the Presidential
form of government, the federal structure, and its plea for a strong
centre. However, I was unable to accept its recommendation for a bi-
cameral legislature and a Vice-President. The franchise question was
left to the legisiature which decided in April 1964 in favour of Basic
Democracies serving as an Electoral College for clections to the national
and the provincial assemblies and to the office of President.

I must say I was impressed by the work of the Constitution Com-
mission. It had preduced a document worthy of the highest considera-
tion and I remember I made detailed comments on its Report for the
guidance of a Committee of the Cabinet which examined the Report.

My own analysis had led me to the conclusion that Pakistzn needed
a strong government capable of taking decisions which might not be
popular but which were necessary for the safety, integrity and, in
particular, development of the country. We could not afford the
luxury of a system which would make the existence of the government
subscrvient to the whims and opcrations of pressure-groups. On this 1
was not prepared to make any compromise.

A comparison is often sought between political conditions in India
and Pakistan. How s 1t, it is asked, that the Indians have been working
a parliamentary democracy while we have not been able to do so?
Well, first of all national consciousness came to the Hindus much
catlier than to the Muslims of the sub-continent; the Indian National
Congress Party was formed much carlicr. Among the Hindus there was
no schism as among the Muslims, There were several Hindu parties, but
thev were united on the fundamentals, The Muslims were divided.
Some wanted to trv out living with the Hindus in the mistaken belief

15bid, pp. go-g1.
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that they would have a place in Hindu nationalism. The majority of
Muslims, however, knew that after the British they would be subjected
to another form of domination, namely, that of the Hindu majority.
Among the Hindus there may have been some who thought, ‘let us
tolerate the Muslims’, but the majority wanted cither to drive them out
or keep them as serfs,

But the fact that the Hindus have been able so far to run a demo-
cratic State with a parliamentary form of government does not mean
that this system has come to stay in India. I believe changes will occur
and that the impetus and cohesion that the freedom movement gener-
ated is now dying out because of the emergence of personal wrangles,
regional tensions, and linguistic identifies. Disintegraton of the
Congress Party is inevitable. When that happens, India will face later
what we faced earlier,

To come back to the Constitution Commission’s Report, on the
question of franchise and the mode of voting I differed with the views
of the Commission. It recommended 2 system of direct elections based
on restricted franchise. It suggested that the extension of franchisc
should go hand in hand with the spread of education and, in our
present circumstances, the suffrage should be restricted to those
citizens of Pakistan who either were educated enough to read the
political debates, or had adequate property to give them ‘a stake in
the country’. For this purpose it recommended that a Franchise
Committee be appointed which should submit, within one year, its
report determining the required standards so that electoral rolls could
be prepared in time for direct elections for the second term.

¥ could not see why Basic Democrats should not become an Elec-
toral College. Here we had eighty thousand members elected directly
by the people on the basis of adult franchise and they, in fact, formed
the ‘Grand Assembly of Pakistan’. Why should not they choose the
President and members of the legistature? To condemn them because
a small proportion of Basic Democrats were uneducated was nothing
short of pedantry. Surely these cighty thousand members were better
equipped and qualified to elect members of the assemblics than the
previous eighty who used to make and unmake governments in the
days of parliamentary governments? A case is somctimes made out
against Basic Democrats acting as an Elcctoral College on the ground
that, being limited in number, they are susceptible to bribery and
corruption. I am afraid it is truc that in some constituencics money
docs change hands, especially in big cities and places where there are
moncyed people. But it is not entirely the fault of the Basic Democrats;
it is the monceyed candidates who corrupt them and compete with cach
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Ty~
other in bribery. I have come to I:'r&#‘ ,EP\:EN@FT))B
Karachi the opponents of a candidate thought of a simpte rmgp}i%
getting him defeated: they just went round and told voters to demand
so much money per vote. Now, some voters cannot resist such a tempt-
ation. This would happen even if elections were held on the basis of
dircet adult franchise. In fact, far more money would then pass hands
and only a millionaire would dare to contest. This, however, does not
absolve us from doing all we can to climinate or reduce chances of
corruption in elections. The trouble is that unless people are politically
conscious and realize their sacred duty of exercising the right of vote on
principle, no amount of legal provision against corruption can help.

I was quite clear in my mind that until our educational and cco-
nomic standards and the level of political responsibility improved
considcrably, the only course for us was to adopt indirect clections
through Basic Democracics. Moreover, there would be terrible confusion
and chaos in the country if the importance of Basic Democrats was be-
littled in any manner. It was the first time that representatives of the
people had come to a position of cquality with government officials at
different levels of administration, and had acquired a direct say in the
running of the country. If any attempt was made to by-pass them in
building the final ticrs of representative government, it would mect
with strong resistance. The system was fast taking root in the country
and an identification was being established between the official agencices
of government and the representatives of the people.

I also could not agree with the Commission’s recommendatious for
the creation of a post of Vice-President, to whom the President should
delegate some of his functions. The Commission’s view was that Vice-
President should represent one wing and President the other wing. The
idea that a Vice-President couid relicve a President of his onerous dutics
is not correct. He could not have the total picture before him: major
matters would always go up to the President, and a Vice-President
should not be confined to routine work., The idea of a Vice-President
as a running-mate was, in fact, unsound. The supreme need would
always be to find the best man for President, because so much would
depend on him. If he were to be bracketed with a second-ratc man the
focus of clective decision might be blurred.

Equally fallacious was the argument that a running-mate would
help the President secure votes from the Province other than his awn.
A Presidential candidate should be a national figure enjoying the
confidence of the people of all parts of the country. He would make a
poor President if he depended on a Vice-President for political support
in onc part of the country. The representation of one wing of the
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country through a Vice-President would, inevitably, create cast-west
controversies and set up factions within the Presidential cabinet itself.
What was needed was to provide for a stand-by to take over from the
President in the event of his death or absence from the country. This
could be done by establishing a convention that if the President was
from one wing, the Speaker of the National Assembly should be from
the other and that he should officiate in the absence of the President.

The Constitution Commission also recommended a complicated
procedure relating to any disagreement between President and legis-
Iature over the budget and money bills. I agreed with its view that the
President should have the right of partial veto, but I disagreed with the
rest of the recommendation which required the President and members
of the legislature to seek a fresh mandate from the people in the event
of their failure to resolve the difference. I felt that we should have
nothing but instability if we followed this procedure. To say, as the
Commission had said, that the members of the legislature would be
less inclined to act irresponsibly if they had to seek re-clection in the
event of any difference with the President, overlooked the fact that if
we made Basic Democracies the electoral college, as we must, then re-
election would hold no terror for an average legislator, whereas the
President would have the formidable task of canvassing all over the
country because his electorate would cover the entire strength of
80,000 electors.

The answer was to reduce to the minimum the causes of disagree-
ment between the President and the legislature. The budget should be
in two parts: one part should cover the expenditure required for the
administration and the continuing expenditure on development pro-
grammes carried forward from the previous year; the other part
should cover all new items of expenditure. Any reduction in cxpendi-
ture in the first part should require the consent of the President and the
second part should be voted by the legislature.

v

The proposals of the Constitution Commission were examined at 2
Governors’ Conference in Rawalpindi from 24 to 31 October 1961. 1
announced the Constitution in a broadcast to the nation on 1 March
1962. I said that the new Constitution cmbodied ‘a blending of
democracy with discipline—the two prerequisites to running a free
socicty with stable government and sound administration’.

The Constitution was generally well received though there was no
lack of eriticism in a certain section of the Press. Some of the old



THE CONSTITUTION AND IDEOLOGY 217

politicians thought that if the new constitutional scheme was allowed to
get cstablished, they would lose all importance. One of the bitterest
critics was Chaudhri Mohammad Ali, author of the 1956 Constitution:
he felt robbed of irmmortality. On the introduction of the Constitution
the country started behaving like a wild horse that had been captured
but not yet tamed. Every time you try to stroke it affectionately or feed
it, it bites you and kicks you. That was the state in which things were
at first. For a year or so, the going was hard, but then things began to
calm down and the virtue of stability was recognized.

The whole object of the critics during the first year or so, inside the
National Assembly, outside the Assembly, through the Press, through
ex-politicians or Ebdoed politicians,! was to break my will. Oncc they
had done that, they felt that I would have no option but to follow their
dictates. They wanted to reassert their control and, once again, be the
‘king-makers’ if not the ‘kings’. They wanted to bring about a sitnation
where not so much my position (that would not have mattered) but
the very cxistence of the country would depend on their sweet will,
They wanted me to feel that I would not be able .to run the country
without them. That was their game.

At the height of the agitation against the Constitution I learnt the
gist of a certain leading politician’s thoughts: *This President is a
funny man. He knows that the whole lot of them are up against him
and he also knows that I am the only man who can curb this agitation
and produce some understanding between the peeple and him. Yet he
has been back a fortnight from England and has made no overtures to
me. There must be something seriously wrong with him.” They really
thought I would go down on my knees and say: ‘All right, I give up,
vou fellows win?

Curiously enough, they also realized that they could not run the
affairs of the country without me. They wanted to keep me on some
pedestal so long as I left them free to do what they liked with the
country. They said they were not after me personally but were after
breaking my resolve and thereby putting me in a position where I
could not prevent them from wrecking the country. All they wanted
was an opportunity to get at the people through demagogy and empty
slogans and to usc them for sclfish ends. I was bent upon preventing
this—cost what it might. My faith in God and in the people sustained
me. Our people are good, I knew, but they are simple-hearted, hence
gullible, and they can be casily misled. It was this conviction which
helped me, but there were moments when it was extremely difficult

! Those who chose to withdrw frem political activity under the options offezed
by the Elective Bodies {Disqualification} Ordinance of ta3n.
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and trying. I would say to myself: “This outburst of irresponsibility
under a new Constitution is inevitable. Martial Law curbs have
come to an end. The lid has been lifted. The steam has to be let off.” I
knew that things would settle down in course of time, but it all depended
on whether I remained firm or not. The final test of the Constitution
would be the Presidential elections in 1965. For the first ime the entire
adult population in the country would choose the Head of State through
their elected representatives. The results of that election would establish
the support of the people for the Constitution. Until then the process
of persuasion and education must go on,

People must learn to give and take; without this there can be no
democratic system. After all, one cannot have it all one’s own way;
the minority must accept the verdict of the majority. They have the
right to criticize, but not the right to destroy. My opponents some-
times say: ‘This man is a dictator; he has all the power in his hands.’
How? I do not know. After all, there always has to be someone finally
in charge whatever the system, be it parliamentary or presidential, a
monarchy or a dictatorship. There are many to assist but, in the ulti-
mate analysis, one man has to take the final decision. This has been the
case throughout history, and it is so even today all the world over. If
the man is chosen by the people and if he is a good man, he has to be
trusted and given full co-operation.

To my knowledge there has never been so much ficedom in this
country as there is today. On a number of occasions I have been
accused, abused, and vilified, subjected to all kinds of rumours and
standers, all thoroughly unjustified and untrue, by some of the biggest
blackguards in the country, and I have swallowed it. T have put up with
it for the simple reason that I want to nursc and protect the system. I
will not allow it to be demolished.

I also feel that if the man at the top commands respecet, he does not
have to be a dictator. The people will follow him in their own interest,
because human nature demands and, indeed, cannot live without
leadership. And whether one likes or dislikes the lcader, nature compels
one to support him hecause one knows subconsciously that onc’s safety
and future depends on it. But to maintain a position of trust with the
people, one must be sincerc and selfless and have the fear of God in
one’s heart,

In the light of past experience, I had provided certain built-in
safeguards in the Constitution to enable the executive to withstand home
pressures without in any way hindering the working of the legislature,
The opposition, conveniently forgetting the mandate which the people
had given me, have continued to say that this Constitution has been
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thrust down their throats. Now, they can go to the people’s representa-
tives and ask them to change the Constitution: there is a clear provision
in the Constitution that if there is anything which does not mect with
the wishes of the people the members of the legislature can amend it.
They have the powers even to impeach the President. But to ensure
that thesc provisions are not frivolously used, they can be invoked only
subject to certain restrictions.

The Constitution Commission had provided for the impeachment
of President, Governors, Ministers, Chief Justice, and Judges of the
Supreme Court. The President could be impeached for gross mis.
conduct or wilful violation of the Constitution on a motion of one-
fourth of the clected members of the legislature: we decided to make the
motion admissible on a resolution signed by one-third of the total
members of the National Assembly. The Commission had recom-
mended that the President would vacate his office if he was found guilty
by two-thirds of the total members of the legislature: in the Constitu-
tion, we made him removable by not less than three-fourths of the
total members. In order to check irresponsible and vindictive moves
against the President it has been provided that if the resolution for the
removal of the President fails to obtain one-half of the total votes in
the National Assembly, the movers of the impeachment resolution will
cease to be members of the Assembly.

I felt that Governors and Ministers should be omitted from the list
of those who could be impeached, because they were to be the appoint-
ees of the President. It was natural that if he sensed opposition to his
Governors and Ministers in the legislature, the President would make
it his business to remove them in order to carry the legislaturc with
him. As nominees of the President, they did not have to be exposed to
the legistature.

The Constitution Commission had made the amendment of the
Constitution an easy process. It recommended that any amendment
would be subject to the assent of the President in the same manner as
any other piece of legislation, with the difference that the bill for the
amendment should be supported by a two-thirds majority. If the
President withheld his assent and referred the bill back to the legisla-
ture, the effect of his veto could be nullified by a three-fourths majority.
We decided that before a bill for the amendment of the Constitution
went to the President for assent, it should have a two-thirds majority
support, but if he referred it back to the legislature, then it would have
to be passed again by a three-fourths majority vote. However, when the
bill went again to the President for assent, he would have the option to
refer it back to the legislature once more, and if the legislature insisted
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he could submit the bill to a referendum by the cntire Electoral
College to decide whether it should or should not be assented to.

However, a bill to amend the Constitution that would have the
effect of altering the limits of a Province, cannot be passed by the
National Assembly unless it has been approved by 2 resolution of the
assembly of the province concerned by two-thirds of the total number
of members of the Provincial Assembly.

The structure of the Constitution has been raised on a number of
pillars. These are: the Presidential system, the devolution of power
to the Provinces to the maximum extent, the appointment of Provincial
Governors by the President, the system of Basic Democracies serving as
an Electoral College, the Advisory Council on Islamic Ideology for
consultation in law making, and finally the relationship between the
executive and the legislature and between the executive and the
Jjudiciary. If any of these pillars is shifted or removed, the whole struc-
ture would be weakened; the Constitution stands or falls as a whole.
With the creation of the Electoral College all that has been donc is to
interpose an additional large assembly between the people, and the
provincial and central assernblies and the President.

New ideas need time to gather support. It is after the benefits begin
to flow from those ideas that their defenders emerge. These defenders
then become the protagonists and protectors of those ideas. In human
affairs new concepts must produce new vested interests.

The reforms which I introduced have created powerful, though not
yet organized, vested interests, There are millions of men and women
who are tillers of the soil, deriving substantial benefits from the land
reforms. Then there are the commercial and business classes and the
educated classes who arc getting more and morc opportunities for
education and employment. Today it is a problem to find suitable
young men for government service, whercas some years ago to get into
government service was regarded as the height of on¢’s ambition. Now
a new vista of life and opportunities is opening, new things arc happen-
ing, new interestsof abroad-hased and popular character are developing,
and 2 large new middle class is emerging. It is these people who will
ultimately look after the new system given by the Constitution, though
this will take time.

It has been my task to identify the new philosophy which would
enable our people to lead a fuller and more progressive life. This philo-
sophy has to be such as people believe in and arc ready to defend and
support. Weaning people away from an established system which they
have long known, even if it is decadent and remote from their require-
ments, is a very difficult job. Peoplc tend to embrace the comforts of
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the old, rather than risk the hazards of the new. The most glaring
example of this is the parliamentary form of government: the moment
I offered a different and more practical system, some people started
an agitation that I was trying to perpetuate myself in power. That is
the last thing in the world that I desire. But I do want to perpctuate one
thing, and that is a new tradition of progress and development. I do
hope that I am creating some converts to my way of thinking and to this
way of life. I also feel that this way of life can only really be sustained
by young people. The older leadership must yield place to 2 new and
vounger lcadership. My endeavour has becn to create conditions for
younger people to take over, for they alone will be able to develop
this tradition and improve upon it.

That is the only vested interest I have: to save and protect the
svstemn for which I have sweated blood. I have had to work against
very heavy odds and I will not see this system trifled with. Modify it,
change it by all means, but in the light of experience, in a spirit of con-
viction and belief, and for the good of the people; not for any other
reason. In a Presidential system, if one has a man as President who can
stand up to pressure, the chances are that another five or ten years can
be gained for new institutions to take deeper roots, for cduca.tion to
spread farther, and for a larger middle class to come into existence.
There would then be enough people to defend these institutions. And
that is what is at stake in Pakistan today. )

The big change from the previous par]iamgnta{'}' system is thz::t
whereas the present National Assembly is sovercign in l‘aw-makmg, it
cannot change the government. True, political blckcnng .and'mud-
slinging by the Opposition goes on as in the past, but that is inevitable,
especially since our new parliamentarians are inexpericnced. But it is
important that they should have full frecdom of speech and expression.

T must confess to one miscalculation in respect of thf: .Constztu.non.
Having suffered through the perfidy of the so-cal‘ltfd po.lmcal parties, I
was hoping that we would be able to run our politics w:thqut the part-}-
system. Therefore the Constitution was so framed that, in theory, it
\:-ould function with or without political parties. After the introdt_xctxon
of the Constitution, I soon came to realize that onc could not do without
political partics. Within the legislature t.hc. m‘cmbcrs c-ould only be
organized on the basis of party .ru]c and dlsc.aphnc. Outside, there had
to be an organization to maintain contact with the pco;-ﬂc. There was
also a2 need to explain government pol‘ig.tcs to the people in the country-
side; this could only be done by a political party. So I came to the con-
clusion that under our conditions onc could not really work the system

without political partics. And I think a good deal of confusion in the
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first year after the announcement of the Constitution occurred because
it took us time to build the Muslim League party, especially in the
central and provincial legislatures.

This was not surprising since the legislators had been elected on
individual merit and I knew very few of them. Before the elections 1
told the Provincial Governors and the officials that these elections must
be completely free from influence or interference. I warned them that if
I learnt that anybody had meddled with the electons in any way I
would have serious cause for complaint. If we had decided to revive
political parties before the elections, I have no doubt that the govern-
ment would have had powerful support in the legislature. Revival of
parties had been suggested to me, but in a hesitant and feeble manner.
It is human to be wary of something from which you have suffered,
and we had suffered greatly through the party system.

There was considerable surprise in the country when I joined the
Pakistan Muslim League, This only showed how, like mysclf, many
people felt that we should have run the Constitution without political
partics. But the politicians, too, were dismayed at my decision to join
a political party; they wanted me to remain isolated. The question
was, could I remain outside the party system once partics had been
allowed to come into being by the Jaw?

People sometimes ask me to help organize an opposition party.
Now that is really a most unusual demand. How do I do that when the
ideology of most of our opposition parties is based on acute provincial-
ism, religious exploitation, and extra-territorial loyalty. Let any oppo-
sition party work for Muslim nationalism in Pakistan and a strong
centre, and it will have my support.

Unfortunately, even within the legislature, the opposition has been
behaving in a way which has forced me to rely entircly on my own
party. This necd not be. The President should be free to pick men for
his Cabinet, depending on merit and support, cither inside or outside
the legislature, regardless of party affiliations. A Presidential Cabinet,
in our conditions, necd not—indeed, should not—be a onc-party
Cabinet.

Vi

Before concluding this discussion on the Constitution I must refer to 2
phenomenon which has been the cause of considerable tension and
mnisunderstanding between the twe Provinces. This is the slogan of
‘disparity”, which has assumed considerable social significance and
usually refers to an assumed lack of cquality between the two Pro-
vinces of the country. It is a much-abused word and covers a wide
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variety of complaints and gricvances, very often of a personal character.
If a candidatc does not have the requisite qualifications and is, there-
fore, not sclected for a job, he dubs it ‘disparity’. So does a shopkeeper
who cannot collect enough capital to set up a jute mill. The jute mill-
owner, too, claims himself to be a victim of disparity because he cannot
expand into synthetics and chemicals. The politician has seized on this
general impatience for a personal advancement and turned it into a
popular political slogan. He bases his whole campaign against the
central government and West Pakistan on disparity.

Now dispanity is recognized by all and so is the nced to remove
disparity. What is not realized is that ‘disparity’ is a phase in the pro-
cess of development. Not all parts of Pakistan were equally developed
or undeveloped at the time of independence. Certain parts of West
Pakistan were relatively advanced industrially whereas in East Paki-
stan there was hardly any manufacturing capacity. During the carly
days of British administration in the central and eastern regions of
the sub-continent, all commercial and industrial activity centred round
Fort William in Calcutta. There was no significant shift when India
came under the direct rule of the British Crown. East Pakistan remained
a hinterland of Calcutta, Although the arca produced 70 per cent of
the world’s jutc not a single jute mill existed in the Province. The
entire preduce went to Caleutta in kalche bales to be processed and
exported. Transport and communication facilities were of a rudi-
mentary type, and no cflort was made to exploit natural resources like
coal, gas, oil, power, and water.

When the younger generation in East Pakistan is reminded of these
facts they feel that past history is being used to explain away their
present difficulties, They are encouraged to demand that progress in
other parts of the country should be stopped till their Province comes
up to the same level. Now they forget that the urge for advancement
which inspires them is shared equally fervently by people in other
parts of the country.

It is inconceivable that any government should be able to com?cl
people in one region to work at less than their capacity till others build
up an equal capacity. It should be the aim of 2 Welfare State to nairow
down the gaps and climinate imbalance, but the only way to do it is by
providing greater incentives to less developed arcas rather than by
denying existing incentives to the relatively developed ones. It would.bc
a futile and scl-defeating policy to bring about uniformity by lowering
levels of progress all round.

The problem of regional disparities in West Pakistan has bc.cn solved
t0 a large cxtent by the integration of the former provinces into Onc
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Unit. Resources are used to build up social overheads, the benefits of
which are available to the whole of West Pakistan regardless of the
former provincial boundaries.

The economic development of East Pakistan has been one of my
major interests. I had said in the 1954 document that East Pakistan
should be built up into an equal partner. That is the only way in which
the province will be able to pull its weight in national affairs. Even
though Suhrawardy as Prime Minister in 1957 had declared that East
Pakistan had achieved parity with West Pakistan to the extent of g8
per cent, I thought it necessary to make 2 provision in the Constitution
itself for the removal of inter-regional and intra-regional disparities.
It has been provided as a principle of law-making in the Constitution
that no law shall be enacted which may hinder the growth of any
distinct language, seript, or culture. And as a principle of policy, the
Constitution enjoins on the government to take special care to promote
the educational and economic interests of people of backward classes
or in backward areas,

The Constitution also provides for special consideration to be given
to people of a particular area to enter into the service of Pakistan to
perform functions in relation to that area. This is intended to cnsure
that in relation to the central government, persons from all parts of
Pakistan, and in relation to a provincial government, persons from all
parts of the province, should have an opportunity of getting employ-
ment under the government.

Apart from these general considerations, the Constitution provides
that parity should be achieved, as nearly as is practicable, between the
provinces of East and West Pakistan in all spheres of central govern-
ment. Similarly, the Constitution requires that persons from all parts
of Pakistan be enabled to serve in the Defence Services of Pakistan.

To attend to the special economic necds of less developed areas, the
National Economic Council is required, under Article 145 of the
Constitution, to formulate plans to ensure that disparitics between the
Provinces and between the different areas within a Province in relation
to per capita income are removed. It is the responsibility of the Council
to cnsure that the resources of Pakistan (including resources in foreign
exchange) are used and allocated in such a manner as to remove inter-
regional and intra-regional disparities in the shortest possible time.
The National Econemic Council is required to submit a report cvery
year to the National Assembly on the results obtained and the progress
made in removing disparitics.

I decided to make these provisions in the Constitution to raise the
problem of removal of disparity above the personal and parochial level.
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In the political sphere, East Pakistan has equal representation with
West Pakistan in the National Assembly and in the President’s Council
of Ministers. But parity in terms of uniform economic progress requires
more than constitutional provisions, While the government recognizes
the principle of parity, the people, too, have to discharge their responsi-
bility. It is not enough to claim parity of resources and parity of oppor-
tunities; it is equally important to rccognize parity of endeavour,
Equality in progress can be guaranteed only by equality in effort. So
the slogan of disparity should not be used as an excuse for personal
inadequacies,

And I think we have achicved a considerable measure of success in
building up cconomic capacity in East Pakistan to bring it to par with
the more advanced areas of West Pakistan. Until 1957-8, East Pakistan
was getting no more than 40 per cent of the total amount made avail-
able by the central government as assistance to the Provinces. According
to the latest figures, in 1966~7, East Pakistan will receive from the
central government 1,746-21 million rupees as against 1,200-7 million
rupees assigned to West Pakistan. There is no truth in the claim that
East Pakistan’s carnings of forcign exchange are utilized by West
Pakistan, The position in 1963~4 was that East Pakistan had a minus
balance of foreign trade to the tune of 224+6 million rupces and a minus
balance of 381-g million rupees in inter-wing trade between East and
West Pakistan. In 1964~5, the foreign trade balance of East Pakistan
was minus 434-5 million rupces and the inter-wing balance minus
3821 million rupecs. These figures are conelusive proof that there is
no transfer of capital from East to West Pakistan, nor is West Pakistan
using the foreign exchange carnings of East Pakistan.

What needs to be recognized is that the whole country must partici-
pate fully in the national effort for development. This I have said
requires not only making demands for parity but working for parity by
contributing equal endeavour.

Vi

You must always carry the people with you. You may have a first-class
idea, but that idea can be useful and effective only if it is put into
practice, And itis the people alone who can impiement ideas. Unless the
people are convinced of the validity of an idea, and are prepared to go
along with it, the whole purpose is defeated. My attitude and approach
has alwavs been that I am a Pakistani, and I feel for my people and my
country. Here arc some of my ideas which have in them the fire of my
heart; ‘gi\'c them a trial for vour own good. There has never been anyv
attempt on my part to force anything on people against their interests.
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The Constitution I have given is not an imported herb; it is a
genuine home-grown plant. It suits the conditions, the requirements,
and the genius of the people. It has all the elements of democracy and
it will work and give stability to the country. I have full faith in the
present system but it is for the people to give it a fair trial; it is for them
to protect its integrity. There is no institution or system in the world
that cannot be corrupted or brought into disrepute if the beneficiarics
decide to exploit it to further their Iimited ends regardless of the larger
interests of the community,

History will not go on giving us opportunities; we have to make
use of those we have. If we fail to develop the system we have got, we
shall be exposing ourselves to a bleak and chaotic future.



12

The Presidential Elections

I

The concept of Basic Democracies had been evolved and the scheme
prepared in cut-and-dried form. Towards the end of 1939 the adult
population of the country went to the polls to elect their representatives,
who came to be known as Basic Democrats. Constituencies were de-
limited and Martial Law Regulations amended to allow candidates
to organize public meetings. The results of this election were an-
nounced on 11 January 1960.

A few days before, I was advised by the Cabinet to seck a vote of
confidence from the 80,000 members elected to the Basic Democracics
Councils. I accepted this advice. 1 felt that I must have 2 clear mandate
from the people to set up the necessary constitutional machinery in the
country. I undertook an extensive tour of both Provinces. The mission
was to meet the people and to explain my thinking to them and the
lines on which I proposed to initiate the constitutional processes. I met
millions of people during this tour and addressed innumerable public
meetings. The Basic Democrats gave me an overwhelming vote of
confidence. The ballot was held on 14 February and the results were
announced on 15 February 1g60- As I have mentioned carlier, I
received confirmation in 9356 per cent of the approximately 80,000
votes cast. I was sworn in at Rawalpindi on 17 February 1960, for 2
four-vear term, as the first elected President and immediately thereafter
I znnounced the setting up of 2 Commission te draw up & new
Constitution for the country. .

From February 1960 to March 1 gb2 was the period during which the
system of Basic Democracies was nursed and developed. chrczcntativcs
of the people at various levels were cnabled, in an organized manncr, o
familiarize themsclves with the conditions and problems of thelr arcas
and a forum was provided for them 0 colve their problems in collabor-
ation with the official agencies of the government. Schemes and projects
were drawn up by the people themselves and 1mp1cmcnt.cd f]nrough
voluntary effort supplementing official initiative and organization.

Far—16
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During these two vears, people came to recognize the merit of
electing representatives from among themselves and observing their
work and watching their conduct at close range, in matters of im-
mediate concern to the people. Simultaneously, institutions were set
up to provide training to Basic Democrats in methods of government
development work. The official machinery came in for close scrutiny
by the people and gradually it began to identify itself with the
needs and requirements of the common man. My whole effort was
to build up the confidence of the people in their representatives so
that they would be able to entrust them with 'more important
political responsibilities in course of time. The mandate which I
sought from the Basic Democrats in 1g6o was the first step in this
direction.

I gave considerable thought to the question whether Basic Demo-
cracies should be given political functions or be restricted to economic
and social work. The theoreticians advised me that not ouly should the
Basic Democrats be given no political responsibility, but that their
association with government agencies should also be terminated. Now,
I thought that if I were to agree to this I should be making the whole
system ineffective. The association with the officials had produced two
wholesome results: in the first instance, it was acting as a check on the
working of the government; and secondly, and more important, it was
providing the Basic Democrats with an opportunity not only to under-
stand how government functioned but also to supervise and guide its
functioning. If the ulGmate aim was that all local government activities
should become the direct responsibility of people’s representatives, then
this association between the Basic Democrats and the officials was
unavoidable, I could foresce the time when officials would become the
functionaries of the local councils and the representatives of the people
would assume their legitimate role of administrators.

The idea that development and politics should be kept apart was
equally unrealistic. I did not want the Basic Democrats to be reduced
to the position of unwanted social workers without any authority or
say in the political affairs of the country. We did not have enough men
to provide parallel leadership, one for development activitics and the
other for political affairs. If the Basic Democrats were denied the right
to represent their constituencics in political matters, they would lose
all importance and become subservient either to the bureaucracy or to
those who exercised influence because of their wealth or other tribal and
sectarian considerations.

I was not unconscious of the fact that the Basic Democrats elected
by the people in 1959 were not in all cases the best that the community
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could offer. The old politicians had carried on an insidious propaganda
against the system, and all means were employed by them to prevent
people of merit from assuming lcadership in their areas. In certain
cases they had their houschold servants elected as Basic Democrats.
Their purpose was to disrupt the system and expose the “village folks’
to ridicule. In this they had the support of the urban “¢lite’ who often
laughed at the regional costumes and ‘native’ manners of Basic Demo-
crats. The big turban of one Basic Democrat was enough for the
intclectual to distrust the whole system. Fow could anyonc who did
not converse in English become a representative of the people? These
Basic Democrats, who had never read a Shakespearean play and could
not quote a line from T. S. Eliot, appearcd to them like some kind of
barbarians who had been clevated to positions of leadership,

All this propaganda was aimed at the dignity of the common man
and was the intellectuals’ response to a system in which all people,
regardless of wealth or education, had been provided with new avenues
of progress. But inadvertently they helped to prove my point. Leader-
ship was not the exclusive preserve of the few who had acquired pro-
ficiency in western sciences and humanities; leadership helonged to
the people. A houschold servant might make a better leader than the
master because he had more sympathy for the pcople and more time
for the problems of the community. It was this attitude of the old poli-
ticians and certain sections of urban society that finally convinced me
that if Basic Demoerats were not given political responsibility they
would be destroyed in no time and, along with them, the whole system
would crumble.

By the beginning of 1962 people had begun to realize the utility and
cliectiveness of Basic Democracics and it was becoming obvious that [
intended to give them political functions. The new Constitution was
announced on 1 March 1962, The Basic Democrats then procceded to
clect the representatives of the people to the National Assembly in
April 1962 and to the Provincial Assemblies in May 1962, Prior to these
elections I issued an Order authorizing the Election Commission to
take all necessary measures to ensure that the elections were conducted
honestly, justly, and fairly, and that corrupt practices were climinated.
The old politicians thought that if they did not seck clection they would
find themselves excluded from politicat life. It was interesting ta see
many of those who had publicly criticized and discredited the system
cating their words and approaching Basic Democrats for support. The
masters were going to houschold servants and the élite to ‘turbaned
natives’ for votes. It was a fitting nemesis!

The political parties had not yet been revived. I announced on
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10 May 1962 that the whole question of political parties would be con-
sidered by the National Assembly ‘after full and public discussion’.

The new National Assembly met in Rawalpindi on 8 June 1g62. I
was sworn in under the new Constitution of the Second Republic.
Martial Law was lified on that day and from then on the country was
to be governed by the mormal law of the land. I appealed to the
Assembly and to the people to give a fair trial to the Constitution. As
I saw it the main objectives before the National Assembly were:

(1) to ensure the integrity of Pakistan against external danger and
internal disruption;

(2) to make Pakistan as strong as possible and to promote among its
people a national outlook, removing all traces of distrust and
suspicion between the two wings; and,

(3) to adopt measures for the moral and material happiness of the
people, paving the way for a social welfare State.

These objectives could be achieved only through a strong and stable
government capable of formulating and implementing long-term plans
and policies. If the existence of government was subject to dishonest
alliances and pressures of political parties, the country would not make
any progress.

The next important thing was to bring about complete under-
standing and unity between East and West Pakistan, Because of the
distance separating the two Provinces some differences and mis-
understandings were inevitable, but it was of the utmost importance
to realize that if these differences were carried too far in certain arcas
disaster would follow: we had to recognize that the unity, sccurity,
and progress of the country were matters of common concern. In my
inaugural address to the National Assembly 1 said:

From today we are entering 2 new phase of our national life and activity.
In a major change of this nature I hope people will act and react with a
sense of maturity, wisdom, and discipline, it will give us great satisfaction
if the blessings of the restoration of constitutional institutions are appreciated
and recognized by people in all spheres in general, and by the members and
the intelligentsia in particular. As leaders of public thinking, it devolves on
them to give a lead in dignified behaviour and decorum. Confusion in
thought and action is the last thing we as a nation can afford.

I1vould like to remind you that the recommencement of the constitutional
process docs not mean the re-start of political life from the stage where it
stood on 8 October 1958, During the Jast three and a half years an enormous
amount of thinking and planning has taken place at a fast pace. During this
period, people have got used to expecting concrete results from the govern-
ment. They will expect the same from you as well. This means that only
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constructive efforts and sound statcsmanship will reawaken the discerning

consciousness of the people and not mere emotional and fiery outburses and
speeches.

On the measure of success we attain in working the Constitution in the
spirit in which it has been cvolved depends the well-being of our future
gencrations and also the vindication of the faith and belief of those who,
under the leadership of Quaid-c-Azam, Mahomed Al Jinnah, struggled so
hard and suffered so much for the creation of Pakistan.

The great debate on the Constitution did not abate with the in-
auguration of the National Assembly; indeed, the whole thing con-
tinued to be discussed with great passion inside the Assembly. I made
it clear that I would be prepared to accept any positive and construc-
tive amendments in the Constitution; that was the whole purpose of
providing a procedure within the Constitution itsclf to propose
amendments. But if any attempt was made to tamper with any of the
fundamental concepts, the whole constitutional framework would
collapse. And I would not be a party to any process which would
result in confusion and chaos.

The National Assembly had two important subjects to deal with:
onc related to the question of the revival of political partics, and the
other to the mode of voting under the system of universal franchise
provided in the Constitution. The Assembly came to the conclusion
that political parties should be allowed to operate and I gave my assent
to the Bill which was passed by the Assembly for this purpose. The
Report of the Franchise Commission was also submitted to the Assembly
and by a large majority the Assembly decided that people should elect
the President of the country and their representatives to the National
and the Provincial Assemblies through the Basic Democrats functioning
as an Electoral College. The Assembly also decided that the Basic
Democrats should first complete their functions as members of the
Electoral College before they were vested with responsibilities in the
sphere of social and development activities. I gave my assent to this also,

I would have thought that the National Assembly, having deter-
mined these two vital issues, would then get on with the work of nation-
building. But political groups and organizations outside the Assembly
maintaincd their pressure and kept the atmosphere charged with con-
troversy. The opposition, which consisted of several groups, was scverely
divided on the question of revival of formal political parties. A section
among them advocated that political parties should not be revived and
a fight for what they calicd the ‘democratization of the Constitution’
should be waged under some kind of a united command. Others were
more realistic. They decided to revive their respective political parties
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to prepare for the forthcoming general elections in 1965, under the
Constitution. As far as I could understand, the former group wanted to
avoid the general elections, In the days when they were in power they
had always managed to retain control by frustrating all programmes of
elections: they had rarely faced even a by-election, let alone general
elections. About them I was not worried because I knew that the system
had gained enough confidence among the people to be able to repel their
designs.

The groups which proceeded to set up political parties were welcome
to me. I knew that the Constitution would have to be submitted to 2
political test during the forthcoming general elections and I was deter-
mined that the country should have a full-fledged experience of clections
on a national level. I would need, I realized, a political party to fight the
final batile for the Constitution. The Pakistan Muslim League was
revived and I accepted the Presidency of the League. My real anxicty
about the opposition parties was that most of them had adopted political
programmes which were basically negative in character and depended
on emotionalism and agitaton; no one among them had any national
philosophy. There were some working for a virtual separation between
the two Provinces in the name of autonomy. They also wanted to bring
about the disintegration of West Pakistan. Others were working against
all progress and development and wanted to establish some obscurantist
type of dictatorship in the name of religion.

It was suggested to me at that time that I should not identify myself
with any political party, and therc was some advantage in that. But
considering the agitational role to which opposition was committed, I
decided to support the only political party which had presented to the
people a positive and national programme reflecting the idcology of
Pakistan and the people’s urge for progress.

As 1964 approached, the opposition stepped up its actvities and
started looking for a presidential candidate. They knew that no single
party was in a position to put up a candidate of its own. Somc of
them thought that, following their example, I might perhaps postpone
the clection on some pretext. But the scientific way in which electoral
rolls were being prepared by the Election Commission and the whole
programme of clection was being formulated, convinced them that I
was determined ta submit myself to the will of the people. It was only
thus that I could prove the Constitution was a rcal and dynamic
institution and not a fake document devised to suit my personal ends.
It was a people’s institution designed to serve the people’s ends.

I had a fair idea of the strength of the opposition. A number of
clements were unhappy with the reforms I had introduced. Certain
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religious groups were making a song and dance about the Family Laws
Ordinance. Those who had suffered as a result of the land reforms and
lost authority were finding it difficult to adjust themselves to the changed
conditions. Then there was an element in East Pakistan which wanted
a weak and ineffective centre; its aim was to work up hatred against the
central government and West Pakistan and thus undermine the soli-
darity of the country. I also knew that the opposition would Jose no
opportunity to blame me personally for all acts of omission and com-
mission, major or minor, of the Administration, They would hold me
responsible for what a foot-constable might have donc in a remote
village or a clerk in the court of some magistrate. Since the rule of law
was not a part of their life, they would tend to attribute everything to an
individual.

In September 1964 the Combined Opposition Parties (COP)
agreed to nominate Miss Fatima Jinnah as their candidate for the office
of President. Now Miss Jinnah had nothing in common with the various
opposition parties yet she did not hesitate to come into the ficld, having
obtained from them a unanimous pledge of support. To me, her
acceptance of the Opposition offer did not come as a surprisc. Since the
entirc Opposition campaign was to be based on cmotionalism, her
choice seemed logical: she was the sister of the Quaid-c-Azam and she
was bound to attract considerable attention for sentimental reasons, if
for nothing clse. The Opposition also knew that after she had served
their purpose they could casily get rid of her. In this they might have
been mistaken, but it was their calenlation at the time.

I do not know what considerations weighed with Miss Jinnah. She
was leading a solitary life and had shown little interest in politics except
for issuing perodical statements to the Press on days of national im-
portance. Since the death of the Quaid-c-Azam she had maintained a
consistent posturc of apposition and criticism towards every govern-
ment. Even during the days of Liaquat Ali Khan she was running an
opposition of her own, never missing an opportunity of creating a sensc
of depression and distress among the people 2nd undermining their con-
fidence in the government of the day. In her scelusion and under the
protection of the memory of the Quaid-c-Azam, she set herself up as an
arbiter and a mentor. When Martial Law was promulgated she
welcomed the change but soon after reverted to her customary role.
On one occasion, I wrote to her that she might 2equaint herself with the
full facts of government policies before pronouncing judgement on them.
1 think she never forgave me for offering this advice.

\iss Jinnah might have reckoned that there was 2 good deal more
opposition to me in the country than there really was, and that with the
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support of the old guard she would get to the position where she longed
to be. In one respect I was happy about her nomination. The Opposition
had brought into the field the strongest possible rival that they could
find. The elections would be well contested and would establish the
validity of my thesis based on reason and pragmatism against the
Opposition’s claim on people’s sentiment and emotion.

The nomination of Presidential candidates was anunounced before
the people chose their representatives for the Electoral College. Every
adult member of society knew that the Basic Democrat whom he elected
would be called upon to choose the future President of Pakistan. Under
the Electoral College Act, passed on 17 April 1964, each of the two
Provinces was divided into 40,000 territorial units and cach one of these
units was to elect one Basic Democrat to form the Electoral College for
the office of President and for the members of the National and Pro-
vincial Legislatures, The Election Commission defined these units,
‘having regard to territorial unity, distribution of population and ad-
ministrative convenience’. The average population for each unit worked
out at 1,073 persons on the basis of nearly 45 million registered voters
out of a total population of 110 million. The work of delimitation and
the settlement of objections was completed by 25 July 1964, and details
of electoral units were published, along with the unit-wise registration
of voters, by the middle of August. A large number of polling officers
were required ; they were drawn from the ranks of government officials,
doctors, and teachers.

These elections to the positions of Basic Democrats generated far
greater interest than the previous ones held in 1g955. Everyone knew
that the results would ultimately determine the pattern of democracy
in the country. In East Pakistan more than 100,000 persons contested
the elections. Tn West Pakistan over 128,000 persons filed nomination
papers in 44 districts only. By and large, the elections procceded
smoothly though there were incidents of violence at some of the polling
stations. A majority of the people clected as Basic Democrats belonged
to the 30~40 age group. In East Pakistan more than 34 per cent of the
elected members were educated up to the secondary standard; in West
Pakistan 21 per cent of the elected members had received secondary
education and over 27 per cent had received primary education. These
percentages were higher than the provincial average of education,

None of the political parties was organized enough to issue party
tickets for clections to 80,000 scats. The Opposition took advantage of
this situation and claimed any candidate who had any prospect of
winning as their candidate. The effect of this was that a most amusing
situation developed after the results of elections were announced during
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October and November 1964 in the two Provinces: every political party
claimed to have won nearly all the seats. To support their claim they 2l
started releasing lists of their candidates. It was not surprising that most
of the names were common to all the lists.

1t

Miss Jinnah launched her presidential election campaign in the third
week of October well before the election of the Basic Democrats. She
started from Karachi. In the very first public meeting she revealed her
full hand: there would be no holds barred. Cool reasoning and argu-
ment were to have little place; it was going to be emotionalism all the
way. She atiracted 2 huge crowd in Karachi and there was 2 great deal
of table-thumping and slogan-mongering.

I had a meeting with some of my political associates to review the
results of her first public meeting. They looked depressed and worried.
Their main concern was that the kind of attack she had launched would
be difficult to meet because she was after 2l an old lady 2nd widely
respected as sister of the Quaid-e-Azam. I told them that she had to be
treated as a presidential candidate—a rival—and that we had to fight
her all the way, though decency and decorum must be maintained,
regardless of the tactics which she and her associates might adopt. I 2lso
told them that the size of crowds should not cause any concern; the
people were having the first-ever general elections and they must meet
and hear both the candidates. The administration was firmly told not to
interfere with Miss Jinnah's meetings in any way and to provide her
with all facilities. She was given special consideration in the matter of
travel and accommodation throughout the country.

There was 2 suggestion that I should follow her from place to place.
I decided against this because I thought if meetings were held in the
same town on the same day or on consecutive days it would incvitably
lead to some clash among the supporters. She should have thcz first
round in each Province. Let her first complete her tour of West Pal_ust?-n,
and after she had gone to East Pakistan I should begin my campgn.

So Miss Jinnah travelled the whole of West Pa:l:istan addressing
public meetings in Karachi, Peshawar, Rawalpindi, Lahore, and ¢
number of other major towns. Her theme was the same cverywhere:
the country had gone to the dogs; there had been no development;
there was no liberty, no frecdom of speech; government had nf)_t:.ttcmal
or internal policy; I was a dictator who tolerated no opposm?r};-ﬁnd
s0 on and so forth. She came out strongly in supportof the old ?oht.lczans_.
forgetting that when they were in office she used o be their bitterest
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critic. She now claimed that everything that had been done was either
completed or initiated by the politicians. The Revolution was 2 big
hoax and I was responsible for all the misdeeds of the politicians. I was
to learn from her that cabinets had been made and unmade at my
behest! That every Prime Minister and Governor-General had acted
under my orders. The newspapers splashed her speeches on the front
pages and soon the whole country was in the grip of the presidential
clection,

I11

I opened my campaign with a public mecting in Peshawar. I talked
mainly of the improvements that had taken place since the Revelution.
It was an oppressive afternoon and a huge crowd had turned up. The
Muslim League volunteer corps was ill-organized and there was con-
stant pushing and pulling in the crowd. Suddenly I saw an old man
squatting in the front row with a cage in his hand; inside the cage was a
quail. In Peshawar quail-fights are very popular and it is common
knowledge that a certain type of quail, however well you might nourish
and look after him, deserts the feld as soon as he sees his adversary.
I pointed towards the cage and said that these COP lcaders were no
better than ‘run-away quails’; in their whole political life none of them
had ever stayed the course. This caused much amusement and the label
‘run-away quails’ stuck to the Opposition for the rest of the campaign.
1 avoided direct personal references, hoping to keep the campaign ata
dignified level.

Afier Peshawar, I addressed a large public meeting in Rawalpindi.
It was here that some of the Opposition speakers had indulged in down-
right slander and vilification, not only of the government but of myself
personally. I think the Combined Opposition Parties wanted the whole
campaign to degenerate into a vulgar exercise in mud-slinging. I was
determined not to Iet this happen. I knew I would have to tell some
home truths about my rival, but she must be shown the respect to which
she was entitled.

From Rawalpindi I travelled by road to Lahore, addressing 2 num-
ber of wayside meetings. I have never pretended to be an orator and it
took me a little time to improve the fluency of my Urdu. By the time I
reached Lahore I found that T could speak for hours without having to
refer to notes. This helped me to establish direct communication with
the audience. The Lahore meeting was held in Mochi Gate—the famous
political battleground. It was a tremendous audience full of eathusiasm.
We had arranged to have a few pocts and some local speakers to initiate
the proceedings but the crowd was not prepared to listen to any onc of
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them. They had come to hear me and wanted no poets, nor professional
orators. As I came up to the rostrum the whole chaotic scene turned
dramatically into a well-organized meeting. I spoke at length and ex-
plained the philosophy of the reforms and the Constitution in simplc,
straightforward language. That evening I felt that the West Pakistan
battle had been won.

In the meantime, Miss Jinnah was having the run of East Pakistan.
News of her meetings was creating quite an impression, While she scored
some gains in Bast Pakistan, she also brought to the surface serious inner
rivalries and tensions in the COP, particularly between the National
Awami Party and the Awami League. One of the Awami League
leaders had appointed himself Miss Jinnah'’s impresario, causing dis-
appointment to leaders of other parties. And the rough and summary
manner in which Miss Jinnah was inclined to treat her own workers was
beginning to make them wonder whether they had been wise in
nominating her.

The COP received a blow in the death of Khawaja Nazimuddin in
the midst of the campaign. He was a veteran political leader and his
presence lent considerable weight to the opposition. Worse still, Miss
Jinnah left East Pakistan without waiting to attend Khawaja Nazi-
muddin’s funeral, I was in Sukkur that evening. We passed 2 resolution
of condolence on Khawaja Nazimuddin’s death.

The COP had adopted a g-point programme. Nothing exposed them
more than the contents of this programme. With his customary shrewd-
ness Chaudhri Mohammad Ali of the Nizam-e-Islam Party, who had
been given the responsibility of drafting the programme, proc}uccd an
ignoble bundie of compromises, keeping the language deliberately
vague to accommodate all possible interpretations. When the pro-
gramme was announced the National Awami Party, an avowedly
leftist organization, found itself supporting a theocratic philosophy. All
issues of fundamental importance were avoided. The program?‘ﬁﬁ gave
no indication of the policy of the Opposition in foreign affairs. Nor durzl it
explain what pattern of political relationship betwecen East ::'!.nd \} est
Pakistan was envisaged. Did the Opposition support One I_-fr.ut or dlfi it
favour the disintegration of West Pakistan ? Was the Opposition behind
the system of Basic Democracies or opposed to it? Nothing was CICE!I:
and people started asking “What does COP stand for?’ In one of m}.
meetings I suggested that the COP stood for the “Cult of Power’. Thfﬁ
had nothing in common with each other except the urge to gra b power
at all costs, and were like so many wild cats with their tails tied to-
gether,

Now from our side we had provided all facilities to the Opposition
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to hold their meetings in an orderly and peaceful manner, They, on the
other band, were attempting to disturb my mectings, It was announced
that some of the Awami League leaders had given a pledge to COP that
they would not let me hold any public meeting in East Pakistan. The
Awami League, more than any other political party in the opposition,
wanted to create a situation of disorder and chaos in which the clections
could not be held. Local toughs in some districts had been organized
into a volunteer corps and they were going about intimidating the
voters, The Awami League was fanning provincialism in East Pakistan
and much of their political cnergy scemed directed towards creating
distrust and hatred of West Pakistan.

My own political party, which was working on 2 national basis for a
positive programme, was feeling distressed at the turn of cvents, We
could not adopt agitational tactics, or meet hatred with hatred.

In East Pakistan I opened my campaign with a meeting in Dacca.
The venue was Paltan Maidan, which is as famous as Lahore’s Mochi
Gate. The Opposition had apparently placed a number of people in the
audience with the object of disturbing the proceedings, but they found
themselves badly outnumbered. The place was overflowing with people
and I reccived a patient hearing. I was convinced that whatever might
be the strategy of the Opposition, the people at large were deeply in-
terested in acquainting themselves, at first hand, with the political
philosophy and programme of both sides.

I toured the whole of East Pakistan addressing large crowds; the
biggest meeting was in Rangpur. All around me was a veritable ocean of
humanity. In the countryside, wherever I went, I could point out signs
of prosperity for the people to see. Roads had been built where there
used to be cart-tracks, jungles infested with wild animals had been
cleared and irrigation facilities provided. People had got electicity,
better communications, and better marketing facilities. Their health
had improved and they had better food and clothing. Innumerable
projects of immediate benefit to the people had been completed under
the Rural Works Programme. These were solid achievements of the
régime which no amount of Opposition propaganda could belittle.

By the end of the first phase of the campaign, I think T had managed
to put across to the people my basic thinking. Without unity between the
two Provinces the country could not survive; their security and future
depended on working together. It was vital for the country to have a
strong centre to co-ordinate policies and to provide national guidelines.
If the centre was weakened, the Provinces would fall apart and dis-
integrate. Seven vears of stability had resulted in phenomenal progress
in all spheres of life. Whatever assistance we had received had been put
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to good use. Palistan was regarded in the world as 2 model of develop-
ment. The prestige of the country had risen, We had succeeded in
normalizing our relations with our big neighbours.

In the meantime, results of the elections of the Basic Democrats
had been announced and Miss Jinnah undertook another round of
West Pakistan. She was running into difficulties with her associates but
her whole approach was now based on arousing provincial and sectarian
feelings. Wherever she went she talked in terms of local gricvances,
ignoring the national perspective. The original curiosity of the people
was also beginning to wane. It was pathetic to see her being driven from
place to place by the COP leaders. They kept telling her that the whole
country was behind her and that the Basic Democrats, who had been
elected, all belonged to the Opposition.

I issued my Election Manifesto in which I set out my belicls and my
political programme. The Manifesto covered all aspects of national life
and gave a clear picture of my thinking and my plans. The Opposition
termed the Manifesto an election stunt but did not secm to specify any
particular faults in it.

The elections were scheduled to be held some time in March 1963.
The Opposition demanded that they should be held carlicr. They
thought that if there was a gap of three or four months between the
election of the Basic Demeocrats and the general elections, the admin-
istration micht trv to influence the voters. I took the Opposition at their
word and advanced the date of the elections by nearly three months.
This took them completely by surprise and caused considerable disarray
in their ranks, .

The presidentiz] election campaign now entered its final phasc, when
the candidates had to meet their electors, the Basic Democrats. These
confrontation mectings were organized by the Election Commission and
presided over by a Judge of the High Court. It was in these meetings
that the voters came in direct contact with the candidates. The pro-
cedure was that the candidate would make his opening statement and
this would be followed by questions from the voters. It was in these
meetings that Miss Jinnah displayed the full range of her ignorance of
national affairs: in spitc of rigorous coaching and prompting by her
associates, she could rarely find a precise answer to any question. The
arcument had finally reached the plane of reason and knowledge.

Y From Khvber to Cox's Bazar, people became intensely involved in
the process of clection. In every houschold there was only one subject
of conversation and that was the presidential clections, The Press was
divided into two distinet categories: one for the COP nominee and the
other for the nominee of the Pakistan Muslim League, The election
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issues were discussed and thrashed out and, by and large, people knew
what each candidate stood for.

The Awami League made one last bid to disrupt the elections. Their
volunteers approached individual Basic Democrats and tried to threaten
and frighten them. Miss Jinnah by then was saying in cfiect that if there
was going to be chaos in the country, let there be chaos.

1v

Polling commenced at 8 o’clock in the morning on 2 January 1963,
throughout the country. The first results started coming in towards
midday. The Election Commission had arranged for the results to be
announced over Radio Pakistan as they were received from each polling
station. By about 4 p.m. the trend of public opinion had become evident:
Miss Jinnah was losing almost everywhere. The Opposition strongholds
in principal towns of the country were falling one by one. Chittagong,
Khulna, Rajshahi, Sylhet, Hyderabad, Peshawar, Lahore, all returned
a verdict against her. The only towns in which she got a majority were
Dacca and Karachi. In West Palistan I gained a substantial lead in all
divisions and districts except Karachi. In East Pakistan I gained a
majority in thirteen districts out of seventeen. The number of votes cast
represented gg-62 per cent of the total electorate and I ended up witha
63 per cent majority against Miss Jinnah’s 36 per cent.

The nation had given a clear and final verdict on the Constitution.
Never before in the history of the country had general elections been
held. The interest and response of the people was most gratifying. The
country had chosen stability against chaos, security against disintegra-
tion, progress against stagnation.

Miss Jinnah's election strategy had been well-planned. I think some
of the elements in it were provided by her associates who were old hands
at the game. She knew that her main appeal was her relationship with
the Quaid-e-Azam, She therefore thought that she should fight the
entire campaign on the emodonal plane. Her effort sometimes scemed
to be to malign me personally and to present things out of context. She
showed prodigious energy and went through a gruelling campaign, no
mean achicvement for a septuagenarian, and I give her full marks for
that. I think she made a mistake in overestimating her personal appeal.
People soon realized that she deserved all respect and consideration as
the sister of the Quaid-e-Azam, but that did not necessarily mean that
she could serve the people as their President. The final vote was between
prejudice and reality and, I think, reality gained the edge.

I thanked the people who had supported me and also these who had
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differed with me: they too had served the cause of democracy. I wanted
the moment of vindication to become a symbol of lasting unity. No trace
of malice or of regret should inhibit anyone from rejoicing in the glory
of the people. I appealed to the nation to work for the fulfilment of the
ideology of Pakistan.

*Together let us build, together let us accomplish; so that Pakistan
shall endure and prosper.’

ParisTayx PAaixpaBAD
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JAMMU AND KASHMIR: EXTRAQGTS FROM
TELEGRAMS SENT BY THE INDIAN PRIME MINISTER

I must confess that my meetings with Pandit Nehru were 2 great disappoint-
ment. His whole attitude was characterized by a certain smugness based on
the knowledge that possession is nine points of law—however Hlegal and
immoral the possession. I could not imagine that the head of a country could
viclate agreements with such impunity. I am not relerring to his personal
assurances conveyed directly as well as through various channels, but to the
solemn pledges which Pandit Nehru had formally conveyed to the Govern-
ment of Pakistan on the subject of Jammu and Kashmir.

The following are a few extracts from telegrams sent from time to time
by the Indian Prime Minister on the subject:

(i} For Prime Ainister, Pakistan, from Prime Minister, India, dated 27 October
19477
‘I should like to make it clear that question of aiding Kashmir in this
emergency is not designed in any way to influence the State to accede
to India. Our view which we have repeatedly made public is that
the question of accession in any disputed territory or Statc must be
decided in accordance with wishes of people and we adhere to this
view.,’
(ii} From Prime Minister, India, to Prime Minister, Pakistan, dated 31 October
1947¢ '
‘Our assurance that we shall withdraw our troops from Kashmir as
soon as peace and order are restored and leave the decision regarding
the future of this State to the people of the State is not merely a
pledge to vour Government but also to the people of Kashmir and
to the world.’

(tii) For Liaquat Ali Khan, from Jawaharlal Nekru, doted g November 1947 ¢
‘I wish to draw your attention to broadcast on Kashmir which I
made last evening. I have stated our Government's policy and made
it clear that we have no desire to impose our will on Kashmir. I
further stated that we have agreed on impartial international agency
like United Nations supervising any referendum.’

(iv) From Fawaharlel Nehru, for Nawabzads Liaguat Ali Kkan, doted ¢

October 1948

‘We have never resiled from our position that there should as soon
as normal conditions return to Jammu and Kashmir be a fair and
free Plebiscite.
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(v) From Fowaharlel Nelsu, for Newsbzada Liaguat Ali Aker, deted 4
Octsber 1948:
‘I can only say that I share your desire to allow the will of people to
prevail in finding 2 solution of Kashmir question, and that 1 shall
always be ready to co-operate in finding 2 peaceful and honourable
solution of this problem.’



APPENDIX II

PRESIDENTIAL ORDER OF THE DAY

PROCLAMATION
(Deted 7 October 1958 made by the President of Pakicten)

No. F. 8B1fPres[58, 25th. October, 1958, Gazette, g1st, October, 1958—
The following PROCLAMATION made by the President at 10.30 p.m, on
the 7th. day of October, 1958, is published for general information:

‘For the last two years, I have been watching, with the deepest anxiety,
the ruthless struggle for power, corruption, the shamefil exploitation of our
simple, honest, patriotic and industrious masses, the Jack of decorum, and
the prostitution of Islam for political ends. There have been a few honourable
exceptions. But being in a minority they have not been able to assert their
influence in the affairs of the country.

‘These despicable activities have led to a dictatorship of the lowest
order. Adventurers and exploiters have flourished to the detriment of the
masses and are getting richer by their nefarious practices,

‘Despite my repeated endeavours, no serious attempt has been made to
tackle the food crises. Food has been a problem of life and death for usin a
country which should be really surplus. Agriculture and land administration
have been made a handmaiden of politics so that in our present system of
government, no political party will be able to take any positive action to
increase production. In East Pakistan, on the other hand, there is a well
organized smuggling of food, medicines and other necessities of life. The
masses there suffer due to the shortages so caused in, and the consequent
high prices of, these commodities. Import of food has been a constant and
serious drain on our foreign exchange carnings in the last few years, with the
result that the Government is constrained to curtail the much necded
internal development projects.

‘Some of our politicians have lately been talking of bloody revolution.
Another type of adventurer among them think it fit to go to foreign countries
and attempt direct alignment with them which can only be described as high
treason.

‘The disgraceful scene enacted recently in the East Pakistan Assembly is
known to zll. T am told that such episodes were common occurrences in pre-
partition Bengal. 1Whether they were or not, it is certainly not a civilized
mode of procedure. You do not raise the prestige of your country by beating
the Speaker, killing the Deputy Speaker and deseerating the National Flag.

“The mentzlity of the political parties has sunk so Iow that I am unable
any longer to believe that elections will improve the present chaotic internal
situation and enable us to form a strong and stable Government capable of
dealing with the innumerable and complex problems facing us today., We
cannot get men from the Moon, The same group of people who have brought
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Pakistan on the verge of ruinztion will rig tiie efectings for their own ends.
They will come back more revengeful, because I am sure the elections vdll ba
coztested, mainly, on personal, regional and sectarizn basis. When they
returs, they will use the same methods which have made a tragic farce of
democracy and are the main cause of the present widespread frusiration in
the country. However much the administration may tnv, I am convinced,
Jjudzing by shifing loyaldes and the ceaseless and unserupulous scramble far
odice, that electdons will be neither free nar fzir. They will not solve our
dificuldes. On the contrary, they are {ikelv to create greater unhappiness
and ditappointment leading ultimately to 2 really bloody revolutien.
Recently, we hzd elzctions for the Karachi Municipal Corporation. Twenty

o7 cent of the elactorate exercized their votes, and out of these, about fifty
per cent were bogus votes.

We hear threats and eries of civil disobedience in order o retain private
volunteer organizations and to break vp the One Unit. These disruptive
tendencies are a good indication of their patrindsm and the length to which
politicians and zdventuress are prepared to go to achicve their parochial 2ims.

‘Our foreign policy iz subjected to unintellizent and irresponsible
criticisz, not for patriode modves, but from =alfish view poiats often by the
very peaple whe were responsible for it. We desire to have friendly relations
with all natisns, but political adventurers try their best to create bad bloed
and misundersiandings between us and countricss like the USSR, the
U_AR. ard the Peaple’s Republic of China. Against India, of course, they
scream for war, knowing full well that thev will be nowhere pear the Bong
line. In no ¢ouniry 12 tne worlc, ao political parties treat foreign poliey in

Tthe manner it has been done in Palistan, To dispel the confusion o caused, I
categorically reirezate that we shall continge ta £3¥lgwe a policy which our
interests znd geogrenhy demand and that we shall honour 2l our inter-
national commiunents which, as i3 well known, we nave underiaken to safe-
guard e sacurity of Pakistan and, 25 2 peace Ioving nation, to play our part
in aventing the danger of war from this troubled world.

‘For the last threes yearss, T have been doing my utrnost to work the Cen-
simetion in 2 democrte way. T have laboured to bring about cozlition after
cealition, hoping that it would stabilize the administration and that the
affairs of the country would be run in the interests of the masses. My detrace-
tors, in their dishonest ways, have on every opportunity, called these attempts
Palace intrigues. It has become fashionable to put all the blame on the
Precidert. A wit said the otker day, “Ifit rains too much it is the fault of the
President and if it does not rain it is the fault of the President.” If onlyv I
alens were coacemed, I would go on wxking there fulminations with the
ceatempi they deserve. But the intention of these taitorsy and unpatiots

element: is to destrov the prestze of Pakistan and the Gevernment by

[t

atacking the Head of the State. They have suceeeded 1o 2 great extent, and
17 this state 6f offairs Is allowsed to £ on, they will achieve their uldmate
purpese.

My appraizal of the Intermal ity
majosity of the preple ro longer hav

s
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Goverrment and are grigng more 2
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and are becoming dangerously resentful of the manner in which they have
been exploited. Their resentment and bitterness are justifiable. The leaders
have not been able to render them the service they deserve and have failed
to prove themselves worthy of the confidence the masses had reposed in them,

“The Constitution which was brought into heing on 23rd, March. 1936,
after so many tribulations, is unworkable, It is full of dangerous com-
promises so that Pakistan will disintegrate internally if the inherent malaise
is not removed. To rectify them, the country must first be taken to sanity by
a peaceful revolution. Then, it is my intention to collect a number of patriotic
persons to examine our problems in the political field and devise a Constitution
more suitable to the genius of the Muslim people. When it is ready, and at
the appropriate time, it will be submitted to the referendum of the people.

‘It is said that the Constitution is sacred. But more sacred than the Con-
stitution or anything else is the country and the wellare and happiness of its
people. As Head of the State, my foremost duty before my God and the
people is the integrity of Pakistan, It is seriously threatened by the ruthless-
ness of traitors and political adventurers whose selfishness, thirst for power
and unpatriotic conduct cannot be restrained by a government set up under
the present systemn, Nor can I any longer remain a spectator of activities
designed to destroy the country. After deep and anxious thought, I have
come to the regrettable conclusion that I would be failing in my duty if I did
not take steps, which in my opinion, are inescapable in present conditions, to
save Pakistan from complete disruption. I have, therefore, decided that:—

(a) The Constitution of the 23rd. March, 1956 will be abrogated.

(b) The Central and Provincial Governments will be dismissed with
immediate effect.

(¢} The National Parliament and Provincial Assemblies will be dissolved.

(d) All political parties will be abolished.

(e) Until alternative arrangements are made, Pakistan will come under
Martial Law. I hereby appoint General Mohammad Ayub Khan,
Commander-in-Chief, Pakistan Army, as the Chief Martial Law
Administrator and place all the Armed Forces of Pakistan under his
command,

“To the valiant Armed Forces of Pakistan, I have to say that having been
closely associated with them since the very inception of Pakistan, I have
learned to admire their patriotism and loyalty. I am putting a great strain
on them. I fully realize this, but I ask you, Officers and men of the Armed
Forces, on your service depends the future existence of Pakistan as an in-
dependent nation and a bastion in these parts of the Free World. Do your
job without fear or favour and may God help you.

“To the people of Pakistan I talk as a brother and a fellow eompatriot.
Present action has been taken with the utmost regret but I have had to do it
in the interests of the country and the masses, fincr men than whom it is
difficult to imagine. To the patriots and the law abiding, I promise you vill
be happicr and freer, The political adventurers, the smugglers, the black-
marketcers, the hoarders, will be unhappy and their activities will be
severcly restricted. As for the traitors, they had better flee the country if they
can and while the going is good.’
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PROGCLAMATION OF MARTIAL LAW

(Gocermment of Pebiste Netification No. 977158 doted 7 Octeber 1558.
Gazetle Extroordinary, 15 Octsler 109568)

. Whercas 1 adjudge it essential for national requircments to exercise
jurisdiction within the international boundaries of PAKISTAN, I, the
Supreme Commander of the Armed Forces of PAKISTAN, do hereby
give notice as follows.
. Mardal Law Regulations and Orders will be published in such manner
as is convenicntly possible. Any person contravening the said Regulations
and Orders shall be liable under Martial Law to the penalties stated in
the Regulations.
. The said Regulations may prescribe special penalties for offences under
the ordinary Jaw.
. The said Regulations may appoint special Courts for the trial and
punishment of contravention of the said Regulations and Orders and of
offenices under the ordinary law.
Mohammad Ayub Khan, HP, HJ,
General,
Supreme Commander and Chief Mertial Law
Administrator in PANISTAN.
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STRUCTURE OF BASIC DEMOCRACIES

DIVISIONAL COUXCIL
16

DISTRICT/AGENCY COUNCIL
79

TEHSILITHANA COUNCILS, MUNICIPAL
COMMITTEES & CANTONMENT BOARDS

-

=

UNION COUXCILS/COMMITTEES AXND
TOWN COMMITTEES

8,863

WARD COMMITTEES
Bo,000

ELECTORATE
{TOTAL ADULT POPULATION ELIGIBLE FORVOTING]}

48,151,509
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REFORM COMAMISSIONS

SURMISSION
NAME APPOINTMENT OF REPORT
1. Land Reforms Commission 31.10.58 20.1.59
2. Maritime Commission 19.11.58 8.4.39
3. Law Reform Commission 23.11.58 27.12.61
4. Administrative Re-organization
Committee 2.12.58 25.4.62
5. Commission on National Education 30.12.58 26.8.59
6. Location of Federal Capital 21.1.59 12.6.59
7. Credit Engquiry Commission 24.2.50 10.9.50
8. Food and Agriculture Commission 8.7.59 29.11.60
9. Sciendfic Commission 15.7.59 8.9.60
ro. Pay and Service Commission 31.8.50 1.6.62
11. Company Law Commission 15.10.59 27.12.61
12. Medical Reforms Commission 19.11.59 16.4.60
13. Sports, Culture, and Youth Committees 10.12.59 6.8.60
14. Police Commission 2.1.60 15.5.61
15. Constitution Comumission 17.2.60 6.5.01
16. Commission on Price Structure 18.2.60 4.7.60
7. Film Fact-finding Committec 10.3.60 28.4.61
18. Surplus Manpower Commission 18.10.60 7.7.61
19. The Comemission for Social Evils 13.1.61 18.6.63
2p. Power Commission 12.5.61 8.8.62
21. Finance Cominission 12.12.61 15.1.62
22, Credit Committce 10.5.62 7.11.62
23, Franchise Committee 4.8.62 18.2.63
24. Naztional Income Commission 1.2.63 13.51.64
25. National Finance Commission 235.5.64 4.5.66
26. Commission on Minorities 1.5.65 Not yat out
2%. Broadeasting Committee 20.7.65 Not vet
finalized
28. Press Commission* 5.9.58 2.5.359
2g. Sugar Commission® 30.0.57 £.8.39
50, Marriage and Family Law 2.8.51 1.6.56
Commission® Report
implemen-
ted, 2.5.61

* Comrniesion sot up earlier. but repori s

ubmitted or tmplementad after October 1g358,



APPENDIX VI

PRESIDENT’S MANIFESTO

{issuzd on the eve of President Alokammad Ayub Khon's Election
io his second term of office and published af the insugiration ceremony on 23 March 1965}

I BELIEVE

1. that Allah, in His infinite mercy, created Pakistan to give the Muslims
of these regions a homeland in which to mould their lives in accordance
with the fundamental principles and the spirit of Istam.

2, that Paldistan is destined to play a glorious role in the history of mankind
and in particular in the advancement and progress of Muslims all over
the world.

3. that the will of the people is supreme in all matters of the State.

4. that democracy provides the surest means of securing the fullest par.
ticipation of the people in the affairs of their country,

5. that whatever the institutional form democracy may take in Pakistan, it
must be based on pragmatism rather than dogmatism and must safeguard
the basic right of the people to freedom of speech, freedom of association
and freedom of assembly under the rule of law.

6. that the people of Pakistan must themselves determine the form of govern-
ment which should be established consistent with the ideological basis of
the country and the fundamental need for preserving the sovercignty,
security and unity of the country.

7. that the people of Pakistan must move, as fast as possible, into the age of
science and technology, while steadfastly preserving the basic tenets of
their faith, in order to attain a higher standard of living.

8. that all class distinctions should disappear and Pakisianis should live and
prosper as a model community symbolising Islamic brotherhood and
equality of man,

9. that there must be complete equality of opportunities available to all
citizens of Pakistan.

10. that Pakistan should develop into a Welfare State where basic necessities
are available to all.

I MAINTAIN

1. that the reforms such as the land reforms, cducational reforms, con-
stitutional reforms and administrative reforms introduced during the last
six years are aimed at freeing the society from the shackles of past domina-
tion, and elimination of class tensions and conflicts.

2. that further progress, in pursuit of the beliefs T have cnunciated, would be
possible only il we develop sufficient self-reliance to study our own problems
and to solve them in our own way.

3. that only an enlightened approach based on practical realism rather than
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dominated by theorization, will help us to shed retrograde and antiquated
traditionalism and usher in an cra of true liberation: political, cultural
social, economic and intellectual.

4. that in all material and economic matters our attitude should not be
doctrinaire but one dictated by the basic requirements of the situation.
5. that Pakistan’s sovereignty and unity as a nation can be guarantced only
by a strong Centre capable of providing full provincial autonomy without

allowing centrifugal forces to re-assert themselves,

6. that in our dealings with other countries the determining factor must
abwvays be the interest of Pakistan and that we must always endeavour to
enlarge the arcas of understanding and friendship with other countries
particularly those who are our neighbours.

7. that we must work toward the cstablishment of world peace and human
happiness and strive in all possible ways to save mankind from the horrors
of war,

!

I UNDERTAKE

1. to maximize the utilization of national resources.

2. to provide for the widest possible and most equitable distribution of
wealth,

3. to adopt all practical means to raise the income of the common man so
as to reduce the disparity between the rich and the poor.

4. to cnsure that the burden of taxation is distributed in a fair and equitable
manner,

5. to climinate cartels and monopolies.

6. to rationalize the land revenuc system so as to give a fair deal especially
to the small fand-holder.

7. to adopt all practical measurces to prevent the recurrence of floeds in
East Pakistan and to provide, as far as possible, adequate facilitics for the
rchabilitation of those affected by this menace.

8. to adopt all such measures as may be nccessary to control waterlogging
and salinity in West Pakistan and to reclaim affected arcas as far as
possible.

9. to cnsure the stability of the prices of goods used by the common man
and to prevent inflation to the extent possible.

10. to take steps for the rehabilitaton of homeless people and to provide
better housing facilitics.

11. to ensure that improvement in the standard of living of the people is not
neutralized by unbalanced increase in population.

12. 1o associate local people in the administration of their affairs 2nd to
transfer gradually such functions as may be possible to the Basic Demo-

cracies,
13. to expand further the scope of rural works programme, in financial as

well as functional terms. ] _
14. to build up a strong rural community capable of looking after its own

nceds.
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15. to provide greater educational facilities s envisaged in the Outline of
the Third Five-Year Plan.

16, to work out a code of ethics for the press and to establish a voluntary
machinery within the press itself to regulate effectively its conduct
according to the code.

17. to take further measures to root out corruption in all branches of the
Administration and to raise the standard of efficiency in the public services,

18. 1o take expeditious steps o achieve parity between the two wings of the
country in the light of the constitutional provisions and to ensure that the
pace of progress of the varjous regions of West Palistan, as a single in-
divisible Unit, is increased further to bring about 2 balanced pattern of
growth throughout the country.

19. to provide growing faciliies for cultural integration and for the pro-
motion of original and creative thinking,

20. to advance the ideology of Muslim natiomaliem which will enable
Palistan to serve as a strong base for collaboration with other Muslim
countries of the world.

21. to support all liberal causes and to provide whatever assistance may be
possible to such people or communities as may be in bondage or under the
voke of colonialism, imperialism or a2ny other form of domination.

22. to continue to strive for the right of self-determination for the people of
Jammu and Kashmir, and for its exercise in accordanee with the UNCIP
resolutions and to provide all moral support to the freedom fighters of
Kashmir.

25, to provide full protection and safeguards to minorities in Pakictan and
to ensure for them egual opportunities, rghts and privileges.

I URGE

1. for Patience. Growth and development need time and not all the benefits
can be secured by one generation. We have to work not only for ourselves
but also for those who will follow us, and the thought that most of the
benefits of our efforts may be reaped by the coming generations should be
the mainstay of our effort.

2. for Faith, We must have fzith in ourselves and in our destiny, and what-
ever the community might embark upon should be a seuree of pride 2nd
satisfaction to all of us,

3. for Moderation. Reforms should be undertaken in a mitsionary and not
in a vainglorious spirit. The objective should be to produce a better
arrangement rather than to destroy an existing arrangement,

£. for National Outlock. We cannot afford to think in terms of provinces
or regions. The economic advancement which we have already achieved
hzs taken us to a stage where further progress will depend on our ability
to evolve 2 national outlook, a national visicn and to secure natonal unity.

5. for Hard Work. Empty slogans 2nd fond hopes will get us nowhere. It is
only through hard work undertaken in 2 selfiess spirit and in the service
of the community that we can achicve results,

It is in an endeavour to reach the objectives which I have outlined
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above that I am sccking re-clection to the office of the President of
Pakistan. My solc aim is to establish the sovereignty of the people and 1o
work for the progress of Pakistan and the happiness and prosperity of the

people of Pakistan,
PaxisTax Pamxpanan
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APPENDIX VIII
BIOGRAPHICAL NOTES

Nurvr Ayix (18g7- } In ro48 became Prime Mlinister of East
Bengal. In 1954 2 landslide victory of the opposition United Front cost
him his seat in the Legislature. In 1965 elected Member of the National
Assembly of Pakistan and Leader of the Opposition.

Mavrava Aspur Hasip Knax Brasmas: (1885~ ) Known for
his championship of peasant causes in Bengal and Assam. In 1954 election
in East Paldstan, formed United Front with other opposition parties on
the basts of a 21-Point Programme. After Martial Law was withdrawn in
1662, revived the National Awami Party of which he is the President.

Monayyap ALt Bogra {1909-1663) In 1955 became Prime Minister
of Pakistan, which office he held till August 1955. In April rg33 led
Palistan delegation to Afro-Asian Conference in Bandung. In 1962 was
elected Member of the National Assembly of Pakistan, Leader of the
Opposition, and later Leader of the House and Foreign Minister, which
office he held till his death in January 196s.

Cuavoprrr MoraMMAD ALl {1g05- } After Partition, in August
1947, appointed Secretary-General, Government of Pakistan, anfi con-
tinued up to 1951. Succeeded Mohammad Ali Bogra as Prime Minister of
Palistan in August 19535, holding office until September 1956, Is at present
Chief of the opposition Nizam-e-Islam Party.

Hayipor Hag Cuouvprry (1903~ ) Joined Khawaja ;\'azimudglin’s
Cabinet as Minister in East Bengal in 1948. Deputy Leader of the Pakistan
delegation to U.N. General Assembly in 1g49. Became Forcign Minister
of Pakistan (26 September 19535 to 12 September 1956). Proprietor of the
English daily paper, Pakistan Obserrer, Daccea.

Cuoubur! KrHariguzzamax (188g- ) Leader of the MMusiim
League Party in United Provinces for ten years (1937-47). Appointed
Governor of East Pakistan in 1933. In November 1954 was appointed
Palistan Ambassador in Indonesia and the Philippines.

I. I. Cuuxpricar (18gg-1960) On Partition in 1947 joined first
Palistan Cabinet under Liaquat Ali Khan. When Subrawardy succeeded
Chaudri Mohammad Ali as Prime Minister, Chundrigar became Leader
of the Opposition. With Suhrawardy’s fall, he became Prime Minister of
Pakistan for three months (Oct.-Dec. 1957}-

Miax Mumraz Musaymap Kuax Daverana (1916~ ) Xgﬁf
Partition joined the first Punjab Cabinet as Finance Minister unces
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Mamdot. In April 1951 became Chief Minister of Punjab and resigned
in April ig53 following anfi-Abmadiyva communal disturbances. In
October 1957 joined Pakistan Cabinet vnder Chundrigar.

A. K. Fazivr Hag (1873-1962) In 1037 became Prime llinister of
Bengal. He moved the famous Lahore Resolution in 1050. In April 19352
became Chief Minister of East Palistan heading the United From
Cabinet. Was a Afinister for the Interior in the Central! Cabinet under
Chaudri Mohammad Al in 1955. In 1956 became Governor of East
Palkistan and continued till 1958. For his championing of the cause of the
Muslirns of Bengal, he was called ‘Sher-i-Bangla’ (Lion of Bengalj.

H.H. Aca EKnax (:877-1057) The spirtual leader of the Ismaili
Sect, HH. Aga Khan in 1606 led historic Simla Deputation which
included outstanding Muslim leaders from all parts of India to demand
special safeguards for AMuslim rights. As President of the General Assembly
of the League of Nations, welcomed Egyvpt, Iraq, Turkey, and other
Auslirn nations into the fold of the League.

ATAUR Ranxax Knax (1907- ) In September 1936 became Chief
Minister of Awami League Cabinet in East Palistan. In April 1038 was
again appointed Chief Minister in Awami League Cabinet and held
office for two months. In August 1958 became Chief Minister of East
Pakistan and held office dll the promulgation of Martial Law on 5
October 1958.

Krax AspvL GrarrFar Kmax (18gi—- ) Known as the ‘Frontier
Gandh?’. In 1945 plaved hest to Pandit Nehru during his vizit to N.W.E.P.
In 1965 weat to London for medical treatment and on the way back
stopped in Afghanistan where he has been campaigning for so-called
“Pakhtoonistan’ ever since.

Kuax AspvL Qavyum Kuax (1g01- )} In August 1947, when
Partition took place, he wes appointed Chief Minister, N.W.F.P. In 1053
joined Mohammad Ali Bogra's Cabinet 2s Minister for Food, Agriculture
and Industrics.

Kuax Irrirear Hussaix oF MaupoT (1006 ) In ros7, after
Partition, became first Chief Minister of Punjab. After the 1051 dection
became Leader of Oppositon in Punjab Assembly. In April 1954 was
appointed Governor of Sind.,

LiaguaT AL1 KuAN (18g5-1051) Finance Minister in Interim Coalition
Government of India in 1946. In 1047 became Pakistan’s first Prime
AMinister, Was assassinated in Rawalpindisac 16 October 1951,

Mavivi Tarizupoix Kuax (188g-1953)  In 1938 became Minister for
Agriculture, Health, Indusiries and Commerce in Bengal Czbinet. In
1047 elected Deputy President, Pakistan Constituent Assembly, of which
Quaid-¢-Azam was President. After the death of Quaid-e-Azam he was
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elected President of the Constituent Assembly. On the dissolution of the
Constituent Assembly by Governor-General Ghulam Mohammad, he
filed a suit in the Sind High Court and won the case, but lost it in the
Supreme Court. In 1962 elected Member of the National Assembly and
elected unanimously Speaker of Assembly under 1962 Constitution.

Dr. Kuax Sanis (1882-1958) On 14 October 1955 became the first
Chief Minister of unified West Pakistan under One Unit scheme. In April
1956 founded Republican Party of which he was leader, Assassinated in
May 1958. o

RKuawaja Nazivuppin (18g4-1g64) Before Partition, was Home
Minister in Bengal Cabinet and later Prime Minister of Bengal. In 1947
became Chief Minister of East Pakistan. In 1948, on the death of Quaid-e-
Azam Mohammad Al Jinnah, Nazimuddin became Governor-General
of Pakistan. In October 1931 he became Prime Minister. VWas dismissed
by Governor-General Ghulam Mohammad; 6n 13 Aprl 1953.

M.A.Knukro (1gor- ) In 1947, after Partition, became First Cliief
Minister of Sind. In 1957 appointed Defence Minister in Pakistan Cabinet
under Noon.

MavrLaxa ABuL AaLa Mavpoopr (1go3- )} Staried public life as
Editor of the daily paper Al-Famiat. In 1934, during the anti-Ahmadi
disturbances in Lahore, was sentenced to death by a Martial Law Court,
but later the sentence was commuted to imprisonment. Author of several
books on Islam and Islamic History. A right-wing Opposition leader.

Miax IFTIRHARUDDIN (1g08-1g62) Before Partition started an English
daily, Pakistan Times, at Lahore, After Partition became Minister for
Refugees and Rehabilitation in Punjab Cabinet under Mamdot. In 1956-
% joined with Bhashani and Abdul Ghaffar Khan to form opposition
National Awami Party.

IskaxpER Mirza (1890~ ) In 1954 appointed Governor of East
Pakistan. Joined the Pakistan Cabinet as Minister for the Interor and
Frontier Regions under Mohammad Ali Bogra, Took over from Ghulam
Mohammad as Governor-General of Pakistan in 1955. In 1956, when first
Constitution was passed, was elected President of .Islamu: Republic Of
Pakistan, On 7 October 1958 promulgated Martial Law, and on 27
October 1958 handed over powers to Ficld-Marshal Mohammad Ayub
Khan,

Marik Firoz Kuax Noox (18¢3- ) In December 1957 became
Prime Minister of Pakistan and was removed from office on promulgation
of Martial Law on 7 October 1958,

% ini in Sind Cabinet
ABDUS SATTAR Pirzapa (1go7~ ) Was Minister In Sine
(1941-3). Became Minister for Food, Agriculture and Health in \t;}c first
Pakistan Cabinet headed by Liaquat Ali Khan. Became Chief Minister
of Sind which office he held 1l November 1954.
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Fazrnur RaHMAN (1905-1966) In 1947 appointed Aiinister for Com-
merce and Industries in the first Cabinet of Pakistan headed by the late
Quaid-e-Millat, Liaquat Ali Khan, and continued up to 16 October 1951.
Again he was Minister for Commerce and Education from 1g October
1951 to 17 April 1953 under the late Khawaja Nazimuddin.

Asvu Hussaix Sarxar {1804~ ) In Jure 1955 appointed Chief
Minister of East Palastan in the United Front Cabinet and held office up
to August 1956. Again, in June 1958, became Chief Minister for two days.
A leader of the Natioral Democratic Front.

SHEIRR Mujisur Rarymax (1920 } In 1954 became a M\linister
in the United Front Ministry in East Pakistan under A. K. Fazlul Haq. In
1935 again became 2 member of the Awami League Cabioet under
Ataur Rahman Khan. He is now President of the East Pakistan Awami
League in which capacity he launched the Six Point Movement for wider
regional autonomy for provinces.

H. S. SunrawarDpy (18g3-1969) In 1946 became Prime Minister of
Bengal. Elected Secretary, Bengal Provincial Muslim League, which
organized election campaign in 1945 resulting in overwhelming Muslim
vote in favour of Pakistan, In September 1956 became Prime Minister of
Pakistan, heading Awami League-Republican Coalition Government, and
continued up to 17 October 1957.
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adalat, a court of justice.

advaan, the section of string which holds the woven part of the bed to the
wooden frame of the charpey. If the adpaan is missing, the bed both sags and
has a gap towards one end.

d'lim, religious scholar, one who possesses knowledge.

Ansar, Civil Armed Guards.

auqaf, charitable endowment, trust.

basha, a thatched hut.

charpoy, simple bed, of woven string on 3 wooden frame.

chowkidar, watchman.

darbar, court, or audience or levee.

darul harb, the area of war. This is used to define areas where Muslims may
not practise their religion freely, and is contrasted with daru! Islam.

Eidul Fitr, Muslim festival at the end of Ramadhan, the month of fasting.

fagir, a beggar.

gulli danda, see Labaddi.

Hafiz-¢-Qur’an, one who knows the Qur'an by heart.

{jma, consensus.

jagir,alanded estate (from a type of land tenure cOmMmon under the Mughais).

fawan, soldier.

Fabaddi; gulli danda, both are children’s games, widely played in the Indo-
Pakistan sub-continent.

kafir, unbeliever.

Latcha, lay-built; literally ‘uncooked’.

malik, tribal leader. .

Marwaris, people from Marwar in India, widely known as & comrnumty
assiduous in trade. .

Maulsi, informal title, denoting some degree of religious standing in the
community.

mela, fair,

mohalla, a street, or & reasonably self-contained ne.ighbourhood i{i a t?“‘n-

Momin, true Muslim; literally a believer in God, one who has faith (iman}.

parchayat, local court of arbitration.

pir, a spiritual guide. ) .

Qaxzi courls, a f:urt (presided over by a Qazi) which concerns jtself with
matters of Muslim religious and family law. . f the

Quaid-e-Azcm, the great leader. The tile conferred by the Mushims ©
sub-continent on Mahomed Ali Jinnah.
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Risaldar, commander of a cavalry unit.

sherdal, herd of lions.

sherdil, lion-hearted.

tahafjud, particndar Muslim prayer said after midnight.

ufema, religious scholars (the plural of a'lim),

wag/f, charitable endowment, usually of Jand.

zakat, a sort of alms, a tax on the annual savings of Muslims.
zamindar, landowner.
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Army, Pakistan-conf.
Military College, 26
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Auchinleck, Field Marshal Sir
Claude, 34
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Aurangabad, 12
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Awami League, 70, 91, 237-8, 240
Awami Party: see National Awami
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Avub Khan, Mohammad: see KHAN,
Mohammad Ayub
Azad (ncwspaper), 25
Azad Kashmir, 31, 28, 64
Azam, General, 6o, 55
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United States and, 130, 154, 158;
re-named CENTO {g.r.), 116, 130

Bahawalpur, 16

Bzhawalpur Regiment, 46

Baltistan, 161

Baluch Regiment, 45-46

Baluchistan, 2, 54, 105

INDEX

Bangalore, 127

Bannu, 13, 18, 36

Bari Doab, Central, 108, 111

Barrackpore, 13

Basic Democracies; Basic Democrats,
207-10, 215, 227-31, 237, 240;
clections (195g), 210, 227, (1954),
284~5, 239; judicial functions, 104;
serving as Electoral College,
213-16, 220, 231, 234; structure
(diagram}, 248

Basic Principles Committee, reports,

48, 53
Bayar, President Celil, 66
Beas river, 108, 111
Belgium, visit to, fo
Bengal, East: see East Pakistan
Bengali language, 101-2
Bengali songs, 27
Bengalis, 187
‘Bbai Bhai’, 166
Bhashani, Maulana Abdul Hamid
Khan, 255
Bhonsle (cadet at Sandhurst), 11
Bhutan, 134, 160
Birch Grove, 134
Biack, Fugene, 10g-12
Black-marketing, 78
Bogra, Mohammad Ali of, 2030,
50-53, 126, 131, 186; ordered
home from United States by
Governor-General, 51-53;
biographical note, 2535
Bombay, g, 11, 24, 96, 143
Bomdila, 140
Bradley, General Omar, 59
Brahmins, 152
Brezhnev, L. 1., 172
Britain; British:
Afghanistan, in, 2-3
Army, Ayub Khan's trial period
with Roval Fusiliers, 11-12
Avyub Khan, at Sandhurst, g-12;
rclations with British, 105 visits
(1930), 35, {1951), 41, (1954),
51, 186
CENTO membership, 130
China, relations with, 162, 164
Import quota, 184
India, roilitary aid for, 133-6, 141,
150—2
India-Pzkistan relations, and, 158
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Indian Army before Partition: see
Army, British-Indian
Legal system, criticism of, 103
Pakistan, financial aid for, 112
Rule in India, 123-4, 169, 175, 187,
2002, 214, 223
SEATO membership, 130
Suez crisis, and, 155
Tibet, and, 142
British Overseas Airways (BOAC),
164-5
Broadcasts to the nation, Ayub Khan’s,
(1958), 84; (1961), 216
Brussels World Fair, 6o
Buddhists, 97
Budget procedure, 216
Burki, General, 75
Burma, 129; operations in, 13-4}
possible Chinese attack through,
142, 147, 160
Business conditions, 82

Cabinet, Pakistan, Ayub Khan as
member, 53, 192, his selection of,
81; meetings, 81-83, 192-3;
powers, 54; presidential choice of,
203, 222; reform proposals,
18991} size, 70

Cadets, colleges, 43; corps, 67

Cairo, visit to, 155

Calcutta, 13, 23, 223; communal
riots, 16

Caliphs, 205

Campbell-Johnson, Alan, quoted, 16-17

Campbellpur, 2

Canada, 51, 112, 134, 145

Canal waters dispute (see also Indus
Basin), 62, 107-13, 115, 124, 127

Capital, Federal, siting, 83, 95-98;
Comnmission, g6-g7; nesw capital:
se¢ Islamabad

Cadappa, General, 19

Caste system, 172, 187

Cawthorn, Major-General W. J., 75

CENTO {carlier Baghdad Pact, ¢.2.),
116-17, 130, 132, 138, 154, 1575,
171-3

Ceatral government, relations with
provinces, 49; dissolved and
Martial Law (g.r.) declared (1958),
71, 246 reform proposals, 189-91;
Constitution provisions discussed,
Pat==18
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204, 212-13; secretarial: ses
Capital, Federal
Changlagali, 35
Chaudhri Mohammad Ali, 32, 40-41,
51-52, 110, 217, 237; Prime
Minister, 54-55; author of 1956
Constitution, 54, 217
Chaudhry, Admiral, 65
Chenab river, 108, 111
Chiang Kai-shek, 167
China:
Air routes, 164~5
Britain, relations with, 162, 161
Comrnunism, 166
France, rclations with, 164
India, relations with, 116, 120,
158-61, 166-7, 171-3; summary
of events, 149—s53; border wer,
122, 125, 128-9, 158-61, 171-3.
armed clash {1962), 133-7 147,
147, 150, 161; India’s war
potential for possible use against
China: see under India: Military
strength
Kashmir, and, 152
Long-term objective, 168
Pakistan, relations with, 117-18,
159, 164-6; boundary, 117, 139,
1614
Soviet Union, relations with, 160,
166, 16870, 1734
Sphere of influence, 119, 129
Taiwan problems: see Taiwan
United Nations, and, 1062, 168
United States and, 158-60, 166-8
Chindwin river, 13
Chirrat, 66
Chitiagong, 240
Chou En-lai, 140
Choudhry {cadet at Sandhurst), 11
Choudhry, Hamidul Haq, 24, 255
Choudhry Khaliquzzaman, 41, a5
Christian world, 154, 183
Chundrigar, L I, 36, 55, 255
Civil administration, and Martial Law,
B1; decentralization, 83; reform
proposals, 188-91
Civil services; Civil servanis, 63, 723
Conduct Rules, 18g, 1913
political ambitions, 493 .
reeruitment, 220, 2245 refugees i
a4} reorganization, 82, 837 Wext
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Civil services—eont.
Pakistaniy serving in East Pakistan,
26, 27

Cloth exports, 184

Coaliion governments, 70, 200

Cold war, 174, 178, 183

Colonial powers, 2

Colour bar, 10

Combined Opposition Parties (COP),
233, 2369

Comilla, 23

Commando school, 67

Commissions, Presidential (list), 249

Commumnal riots and disorders, 15-17, 48

Communists; Communicm, 154, 173,
183, 188; India and, 142, 167;
Pakistan’s attitude 1o, 116, 110,
154, 166, 169; Sino-Soviet
differences, 160, 153

Confederation proposals, 128

Consensus (§imd), 199

Constituent Assembly, National, 1923
Resolution on Governor-General’s
powers (19354), 50; dissolved, 53;
new (1935), 53; dismissed {1938),
71, 246; proposals for future, 85,
189-g1, 203, 207, 212-14, 216-25;
supremacy of, 199, 221; elections
{1962), 2293 oeeting of new
Asserpbly, 230-1; main
objectives, 230

Constitution, process of Constitution
making, £8, 50, 53; reports of
Basic Principles Committer, 48,
533 Ayub Khan refuses offer of
authority to produce Constitution
in three months, 52—53, 61, 1913
produced by Chaudhri Mohammad
Ali and promulgated {19356),
54-55, 207, 212, 217; possible
abrogation, 57; abrogated, 71, 72,
210, 246; proposed interim, 77-78;
prospeets of new Constitution, 49,
84, 85, 185-g1; determination of
democratic and Islamic content,
19%-200, 203=7, 211; creation of
Basic Democracies {4.0.), 200-10;
Commistion’s recommendations,
168, 210-16, 219, 227; new
Constitution introduced {1662),
216-26, 220-32; provision for
amendment, 21g-20, 231

INDEX

Constitutional law, 103

Co-operative farming, g1~g2

Courts, special and summary, 8i;
military, 81; reforms, 103-3, 189, 191

Cox’s Bazar, 1, 235

Credit facilities, g2

Cuba, 121, 174

Curzon, Lord, 142

Dacea, 23, 27, 73; army
accommodation, 23, 50; «lections
{1995}, 238, 2203 police mutiny
{1918), 28; refugee colony, g5;
University, 1001

Dalai Lama, 161

Dalazaks (txibe), 2

Dane, Major, 7-8

Darvesh, 4

Daultana, Mian Mumtaz Muhammad

Khan, 40, 49, 192, 255

Defamation laws, 105

Defence, fundamentals, 47, 62, 653
Indo-Polistan common policy
seggested, 126—9

Defence Purchases, Director-General
of, 68

Dehra Pun, 14; 17, 20

Dethi: see New Dethi

Democracy, 180, 18800, 2013, 2183
Basic Democracies: see that enty;
Constitution and, 197-g9, 216, 226

Developing countries, regional
groupings of, 182-3; economic
support, 183-5

Development activities, organizations
for, 83, tgo—1; Advisory Councils,
210

Dhillon, General, 12

Dictatorship, accusations of, 218

Dighboi, 150

Disparity, 2225

Displaced persons: s& Refugees

Divisions] Commanders’ Conference, 34

Djakarta, 165. 183

Dogras, 12, 22

Dulles, Allen, 59

Durand Line, 175-5

East Bengal Regiment, 30, 46
East Palistan:
Army command, 13, 10, 22-30;
headguarners, 30
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Avub Khon in, 13, 22-30, 258
Civil services, West Pakistanis
serving in, 2627
Clirpate, 13, 22
Economic development, 23, 223-3,
238
Educational and training institutions,
lack of, 24-27
Flections, 53, 237-8
Geographical situation, 11518
Governments, 56, 71, 188, 19t
Industrialization opportunities, 25-24
Land reforms, g1
Law and order, 28—30
Legislature, 188, 1g1; brawl in, 36,
2413 se¢ else Provinees; Legislatures
Muslirns, 2023
Polisieal life, 24-30, 55-56;
agitational pressure, 25-27
Races, 187-8
Revolution, attitude teo, 73
Under-development, 23-24
Unification, 187-8, 191
West Pakistan, attitude to, 24-27, 41
East Palistan Rifies, 30
Ebdoed politicians, 217
Economic and Anancial agsistance,
183; for Pakistan, r12, 118-14,
157; for India, 65, 132, 144
Economic conditions, 56, 68, 81-82
Economic Council, National, ooy
Eduented classes, 2205 vlems’s conflict
with, 193, 200, 202-3
Educadon, 24~-27, 433 Commission,
g8~100; reforms, 8o, B2, g8-102,
1g0o-1; standard of Basic
Democrats, 234
Egyvpt (United Arab Republic), 153,
t78, 182, 190
Eid Days, 63-65
Elections, Basic Democracics {1039),
210, 227, (1953}, 232-5. 2393
General elections, prospects, 56-37,
61, held, 220; National Assembly
(1062}, 222, 220; Presidentia
{ra63}, 218, 232-41, manifesto
{text}, 250-3, returns (table),
251 proviness, 48, 53, 55. 222, 220
Elective Bodies (Dizqualification)
Ordinanee (1030), 217
Electornl College, 184, 213-16, 220,

231, 234

J

Electoral system, 189, tgr, 207-10,
219-15, 23¢, 234; toa] clectorate,
248

England: ses Britain

English language, 4

European Comrmon Market, 137

Everest, Mount, 165

Ex-soldiers, care of, 43

Faisal 11, King of Iraq, 63

Family faws, 106-7, 233

Federal structure, 212-13

Ferozepur, 14, 15

Finance, military, 31-33, 4£3; conirol,
83

Fiching, 63, 69

Food, shortage, B2; crises, 2.4

Foodstufls, adulteration an offence, 78

Foreign exchange, 56, B2-83, 183-4,
Palad 4_5

Forcign policy, 84-83, r14-33, 154-85;
general principles, 114-213
alignment with the West, 116, 118,
130, 189

Formosa: see Tatwan

Fort William, Calcutta, 225

France, 11, 130, 1535, 162

Franchiss, 85, 189, 191, 213-15, 231

Fronticr crimes regulations, 103

Frontier Force Regiment, 46

Frontier Force Rifles, 46

Gadap, near Karachi, 96

Galbraith, J. K., t44-5

Gallipolt peninsula, visit to, 66

Gardai Brigade, 22

Gas, ure in Vietnam, 1570

Geographical situation of Pakisean,
11718, 120

Garmany, 35, 112; and comrmunism,
166

Ghulara Abbas, 63, 65

Ghulam Mohammad, Governor-
General, 41, 20-31, 106, 101-2;
dismitses Minktry, sg-313 orders
Prime Minister home from United
Suates, 51-53: Avub Rhan refuees
ofier of *anthioriny’ from, 52-353,
61, 101

Gilgit, Go

Glossary, 2357

Goa, 143, 144
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Golf, in United States, 59

Government departments, working of,
83

Government of India Act, 50

Government services: see Civil services

Governor-General, powers, 49-54, 192

Gracey, General Sir Douglas, 31, 34, 35

Gromyko, A, A, 169

Gujiars (tribe), 2

Gujranwala, 15

Guldheri, 2

Gunther, John, 64

Gupis river, g

Gurdaspur, 15

Gurkhas, 20

Gurmani, Mushtaq Ahmad, 41, 55, 6o

Giirsel, President Cemal, 157

Hafiz-¢-Qur'an, 3

Hamid, General, 70, 73-74

Haq, A. K. Fazlul, 23, 28-30, 54, 56;
biographical sketch, 256

Haripur, 4, 103

Harriman, Averell, 148

Hazara district, 2-3, 103

Hidayat, General, 65

Himachal Pradesh, 111

Himalayas, 1, 108, 135, 140, 142, 160

Hindko language, 6

Hindus, 12, 23, 93, 172, 175, 183, 187,
200, 202; nationalism, 128,
213-14; officers, 13, 14} regiments,
20, 22

Hockey, 4

Hodson’s Horse, 2

Hong Kong, 164

Horse-breeding centres, 43

Hoshiarpur, 15

Hunza, 69

Hussain, Akhtar, 87

Hussain, Zakir, 28

Hyderabad (Deccan), 7, 143

Hyderabad (Pakistan), 240

Hyderabad Jail, g7

Hydro-eleciric power, 111, 124-5, 9

Ibrahim, Mohammad, 107

Ideology, of Pakistan, 166, 192, 241;
foreign policy and, 1143 Islamic
ideology defined: Avub Khan's
note, 196-7

Ifikhar, General, 35

INDEX

fjma {consensus), 199
Iiff, W., 112
Income tax, hidden wealth declared,
%6; time-limit for payment of
arrears, 82
Independence, i2, 14, 19-21, 48, 53,
17980, 194
India:
Afro-Asian movement, and, 18t
Air Force, expansion, 135
Armament production, 134
Army, 39, 40; Boundary Force: see
under Punjzab; strength: see Military
strength below
Army, pre-Partitdon: sze Army,
Britsh-Indian
Capital city, 95
China, border war and relations
with: see under China
Communism, and, 167
Defence, suggested joint, 126—9
Economic aid, 68, 132, 144
Evacuee Iaws, 68, 93-94
Foreign policy {non-alignment), 120,
127, 131-5, 142, 144, 172; A}'ub
Khan on, 142
Imigaton, 108~11, 115
Military aid, facts leading to western
policy, 133-6
Britzin, from, 133, 135, 141, 150-2
Soviet Union, from, 116, 134,
1701, 173
United States, from, 59-60, 68,
129, 131-9, 143-8, 150, 170-1,
173; Pakistan apprchensions as
10 use: se¢ Military strength
below
Military strength, 47, 68, 116, 130,
135-7, 141, 158, 160, 171-2;
build-up ostensibly for use only
against Chinese, 59, 122, 135-7,
141-B, 159; concentrations on
Pakistan border (1950 and 1951),
40, 124; fears of possible usz for
aggressive action against Pakistan,
47, 59-60, 68, 109, 122, 128-30,
132-7, 1418, 151-3, 150-t
Muslim minority, 125, 172
Navy, 135, 143
Pakistan, relations with {sez also
under Kashmir), India’s hostile
attitude towards, 20, 4548, 52,
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115-1%, 142, 183; Nehru
forecasts disintegration of Pakistan,
42; background of relations sinee
Independence, 121-53; proposed
‘no war pact’, 121-2, rag; cffect
of Pakistan joining defence
alliances, 130-3; direct talks,
148-g, 150—2; Russian views on,
t71-2; fears of India’s possible
aggressive action: ses under Military
strength chore
Political conditions, 213-14
Soviet Union, relations with, 120,
132, 1343, 156, 169, 173: military
aid from, 116, 134, 170~1, 153
Sphere of influcnce, 129, 172
United States, relations with, 120,
129, 156-7, 160, 167; shift in
American policy towards, 124,
132-3, 139; Indian abuse of
United States, 132, 142; cconomic
and military aid from: s2¢
Economic aid; end Mifitery aid
chare
War potential: ser Military strength
abace
Indian Independence Act, 1947, 28, 50
Indian National Army, 1
Indian National Congress, 12, 113, 127,
200-2, 2153-14
Indian Ocean, nuclear 1ask force, 132
Indonesia, 129, 18, 181
Indus Basin waters dispute, 107-13,
162, 175, 1871 Treatry, 111-13,
125, 1633 power transmisvion
across river, 102
Indnid, Ismet, 157
Intellizence Burcay, 73
Internationad Afuslim Commission, 198
Irzn, 6, 23, 65, 101, 129-30, 156-7;
Shahinshoh, 66, 157
Iranians, 182
Traq, 150, 156; coup ¢t (10358},
63-66, 116
Irrawaddy river, 15
Irrigation, 74; Indus Basin: see fR20 iy
Yslam (ser eles Mushims), application of
estentind principles to
Constitution, 107-200, 203-4;
eode, 105-6; democracy, 1091
differences, 183; ideology defined.
196-7; and law-making, 109, 102,
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220; Pakistan's nationalism based
on, 128
Islamabad (Federal Capital), 6708
Islamic Ideology, Advisory Council on,
166, 199, 220
Islamic Laws, 104, 106, 103
Istamic Rescarch Institute, 106. 19g
Islamic university': see Aligarh University
Israch, 153

Istanbul, 63, 66

Jama’at-e-Islami party, 203

James, Colonel, ro3

James, Sir Morrice, 155

Jammu and Kashmir: see Kashmir

Japan, rot, t129; air route to, t64;
operations against, 13-14, 20;
plans for defence of India against,
3

Jathas, 63

Jessore, 25

Jhelum, 6o, 109

Jhetum river, 110-11

Jinnah, Miss Fatima, 83, ze5-7, 239-4¢

Jinnah, Mahomed Al {Quaid-e-
Azam), s0-31, 8s, 192-4, 200-2,
233, 235, 2.40; work for creation
of Pakistan, 19, 48, 70, 193, 200,
2313 and jeint defence, 16, 126;
and Kashmir, g1; death {198},
£8; mausoleum, 83

Jodoons {tribz}, 2

Johnson, President L. B, 170

Joint Defenee Council, 16-17

Jorhat, 150

Judiciary, independence, 109, 204, 220

Jutiundur, ¢5

Jungadh, 543, 144

Jung=hahi, 35. 71

Jute trade, 23. 723

K-2, mountzin, 162

Kabul, 176

Kaghan weliey, 63

Kalat, proposed seceesion. 57; Khnn
arrested, 57

Karal, K. ML, 254

Raracki, 2e. 50-21, 57, 68-51, 73. 75,
1%35; elections, 213, 233, 249, 2243
growth. 65; refuges colony, 653
unsuitable ox Federnt Capital, 85,
03-97
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Kashmir:
Azad Kathmir, 31, 38, 64
China and, 134, 163
Confederation proposal, 128
Conlerence (1958), 62
Elections, 125
Fighting in, 21, 23, 38, 134;
cease-fire line, g1, 48, 63-63, 171
Indo-Pakistan dispute, 84, 107, 113,
115, 122-8, 1312, 1369, 146,
148-52, 174, 181; Nehru and,
124-35, 131-2, 137-8, 149, 242-5;
proposed plebiscite, 131-2;
President Kennedy and, 1537-g,
141, 1434
Irrigadon, 11t
Pakistan troops and entry, 34
United Nations and, 116, 125, 1235,
131, 171
Kathiawar, g6
Kaul, General, 147
Hennedy, President John F. 156-46,
148, 150-2; letter to Ayub Khan
and reply {1962), 140-4; letter
to Nehrm, 144
Khan, H.R.H. Aga, 193, 256
Khan, Akbar: sez Akbar Khan
Ehan, Prince Ali, Go
Khan, Ataur Rahman, 56, 256
Khan, Chaudhry Zafrullah, 51, 157
Khan, Khan Abdul Ghaffar, 256
Khan, Khan Abdul Qayyum, 57, 192,
2z6
Khan, Liaquat Ali, 48-1q, 53, 70, 168,
233; Prme Minister, 17, 34,
36-37, 40-41; assassination (1951},
4142, 193; character, 40;
biographical note, 256
Khan, Begum Liaquat Ali, 42, 4q, 6o
Khan, Maulana Akrem, 25
Khan, Maulvi Tamizuddin, 50, 2o5-6,
256
KHAXN, MOHAMMAD AYUB (se¢
clso subject headings througheut the
index):
Administration of the country,
declines Governor-General's offer
to take over (1934), 52~53, 61, 101
Army career, interviewed for, 7;
S:mdhurst course, F-11; trial
period with Royal Fusiliers, 11~12;
posied, 12-13; war service, 13-14;

INDEX

president of Selection Board,
14-15; rcprcst:ntzti\'c with Punjab
Boundary Force, 15; commands
bngadc in “annstan, 17, 22; patt
in formaticn a2nd training of
Pakistan Army, 19213 G.O.C,,
East Pakistan {(1948), 13, 19,
22-90; Adjutant-General, 19,
31-93, 353 Commander-in-Chief
(1951), 1, 19, 3547, 62-63;
command ol' alt Armed Forces
(1938)) 24
Birth (1907), and vouth, 1-8
Diary, extracts, 59-69, 83-83
Education, 1-11
Family history, 1-4; brothers, 2, 5,
113 sisters, T1
Father, 1-35, 8, 103; death (1927), 11
Health, 1, 41
AMartial Law Administrator, Chiefl
(1958), 71, 247
Mother, 1, 2, 11
President, 75, 210, 227, 241
Problems of Pakisten (text of
document), 185-01
Wife and family, 27, 35, Go-61
Khan, Qurban Ali, 36
Khan, Raja Ghazanfar Ali, 26-27, 57
hh.m, Sardar Bahadur, 57 -
Khan, General Sher, 335
Khan, Brigadicr Siddique, 36
Khan Sahib, Dr., 53, 56, 257
Khan Tarin, Sardar AMohammad, 2-3
Khan Tarin, Sardar Najibullah, 2
Khanikin, &5
Khanpjarab, 164
Khawnaja Nazimuddin, 23-23, 28, 53
Prime Minister, 41; dismizsed
(1934}, 49-50; death, 2373
biographical note, 257
Khilafat Mov craent, 201

Khrushchey, N., 174
Khuhro, M. A. 257
Khulna, 210

Khurshid, Colonel, 12
Khyber, 14, 239

Kiani (police officer), 36
King (ordely), 9

KLM (air line), 165-5
Kolka, 3

Korangt, 95

Kerea, 129, 138, 145
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Kosygin, A. N., 10g-74 Mardan, 67
Kripalani, Acharya, 115 Margalla Hills, 97

Rurmitola airfield, 22

Ladakh, 134, 139, 151, 160

Lahore, 3, 15~16, 109, 138, 235-6;
Martial Law {1953}, 72; Mochi
Gate, 236, 238

Lahare Resolution (1940}, 212-13

Land reforms, 79, 82, 84, 8603, 1901,
az0, 253; Commission, 82, B,
88-8g; refugecs and, 9495

Landi Kotal, 14

Languages, 187; scripts, 85, 102;
comumon language, 83, 1025 in
education, 101-2

Laiif, 20

Laws, Islamic Advisory Council set
up, 106, 190, 220

Leaders, choosing of, 204

Leadership, 26, g8-g99, 228-g

Lebanon, 66

Legal system, revision, 8o, 102-7;
Commission, 104, 106; reform
proposals, 1Bg, 191

Legistatures: Central: see Constituent
Asscmbly; provincial: see under
Provinces

Liaquat Ali Khan: sez Khan

Libya, 182

Local councils, 210, 228

Local governments: sez Basic
Democracics

Lodge, Cabot, 6o

Longiju, 139

Ludhiana, 15

Lyallpur, 15

Mackay, General Ross, 31

McMahon Line, 134, 140, 161

Mzemillan, Harold, 146, 1502, 184

Maghreh, 182

Majithia, 15

Malakand h)-dro-c!ccmc station, 192

Malaya, 14

Malaysia, 1 129, 18

Mamdot, Khan Iftikhar Hussain of,
40, 49, 2

Mandalag, 14

Mangla D:'.m 109, 110

Mangrol, 143

“-n.s.hm

Marriage laws, Islamic principles,
106-7; Commission, 106-7

Martial Law, in Lzhore (1933), 72;
proclaimed throughout Pakistan
{October 1958), 71; text of
proclamation, 247; Ayub Khan
appointed Chief Administrater, 71,
246; in operation, 71-72, 74,
76-83, 86, 209, 212, 218, 2313;
relaxed for elections, 210, 227;
lifted (June 1962}, 290

Marwaris, 23

Marx, Karl, 166

Mason, Philip {pscud., Philip
Woodrufl), The Men Wha Ruled
India, 63, G4

Masood, Sir Ross,

Maudoodi, Maulana Abul Aala, 203,
257

Mauripur airport, 73, 75

Mawaz, Gu), 45

Mckong, 172

Menderes, Adnan, 66

Menon, Krishna, 140

Menzies, R. G., 146

Mian Iftikharuddin, 257

Middle class, 88, go, g1, 220~

Middle East, 115-16, 154-3, 176-7,
179~-80, 201

Military Academy, 32

Military aid to India: see under Indiag
Pakistan fears as to use: see India:
Milieary strength

Military aid to Pakistan, 119, 130-1,
148, 183

Military coup plan (1951): see
Rawalpindi Conspiracy

Military organizations and uniforms,
banned, 57

Military Revolution (October 1958):
s¢¢ Revolution

Mir Ali, 1B

Mirza, Iskander, 36-37, 40, 31~52,54-50:
63, 64; ﬁrS_t__Pm__.tdcnt {1956), 54-59;
P2 Revolution {October
1958), 70-76, §6; proclamation,
244-6; hands over powers to Ayub
Khan, 75; leaves for Ilnglznd, 3%
hiographical note, 25

Mithas, 66



270

Moghuls, 187
Mohammadpur, g3
Montgomery (district), 15
Montgomery, Field Marshal Lerd, 67
Moon, Penderel, 16, 103
Morocco, 182
Moscow, 171
Mountbatten, Lord, 16, 34
Mule-riding, 1, 3, 4
Munir, Chief Justice, 74
Murree, 1, 67, 122
Musa, Generzl, 61, 79
Muslim League, 40, 48, 53, 38, 69, 91,
2035, 222, 236, 230; revived, 2323
Ayub Khan and, 222, 232; High
Commuand, 40; Natonal Guards,
57; president 232; Working
Committee, 40, 57
Musdlims (see also Islam), 3. 5, 22-25,
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(1056), 543 Jegral position after
Revolution {1958), 74} powers
handed over to Ayub Khan, 75;
Ayub Khan clected (1960), 2710,
pa7; re-elected {1965}, 241
Choice of Cabinet, 205, 222
Flection method, 207, 213-14 216,
2913 proposals 18901
Elections {1963}, 218, 232413
manifesto (text), 250-3; TEturns
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162, 168; 2and Kashmir, 116, 123,
125, 131, 178
United Proviness, 5, 24
United States of America:
Asian policy, 110, 129, 130, 158-60
Avub Khan's visits to (1954), 513
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